THE EFFECTS OF HYPOMORPHIC SIALIDASE EXPRESSION ON ATHEROSCLEROSIS

THE EFFECTS OF HYPOMORPHIC SIALIDASE EXPRESSION ON ATHEROSCLEROSIS

By

ABRAHAM ERNEST YANG, HON. B. SC.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

© Copyright by Abraham Ernest Yang, April 2012

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2012)

McMaster University

(Biology)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: The Effects of Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression on Atherosclerosis

AUTHOR: Abraham Ernest Yang, Hon. B. Sc. (University of Toronto)

SUPERVISOR: Professor S.A. Igdoura

NUMBER OF PAGES: xxiv, 332

Abstract

Atherosclerosis is a complex multifactorial disease which is an important risk factor for morbidity and mortality related to coronary heart disease and stroke in humans. Both lipoprotein metabolism and inflammation are related to atherosclerosis. Sialidase, a hydrolytic enzyme that is present in viruses, bacteria and vertebrates and catalyzes the removal of terminal sialic acid residues from glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides, has impacts on the activities of many blood cells and lipoproteins. Therefore, we aim to determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis. Our first objective has shown that hypomorphic sialidase expression alters lipoprotein metabolism in C57Bl/6 mice. We have dissected the mechanism showing that sialidase-deficient B6.SM mice have decreased hepatic cholesterol production via decreased microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) expression. We have further shown that a decrease in sterol regulatory element binding protein-2 (SREBP-2) expression is responsible for the decreased expression of MTP. Our second objective has shown that hypomorphic sialidase expression confers atheroprotection in apoe-/- mice as seen by the rescue of hypercholesterolemia cholesterol profiles and a decreased migration and infiltration of leuckocytes into atherosclerotic lesions. We have further shown that hypomorphic sialidase expression specifically in blood cells is sufficient to affect atherogenesis. Most importantly, we have discovered that treating apoe-/- mice with 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-Nacetylneuraminic acid (DANA), a sialidase inhibitor, is a potent treatment for atherosclerosis. Our third objective has shown that hypomorphic sialidase expression confers atheroprotection via an increase in monocytic cholesterol uptake and

macrophage cholesterol efflux to HDL. Taken together, hypomorphic sialidase expression is atheroprotective in C57Bl/6, ApoE-deficient and LDLR-deficient mouse models. Overall, these studies suggest that sialidase is a novel risk factor for atherosclerosis in humans and may set the stage to investigate the contribution of genetic variation within the sialidase gene to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in humans.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Dr. Grant McClelland for his excellent supervision. The author is grateful to Dr. Brian McCarry, Dr. Jianping Xu, Dr. Ana Campos. Dr. Elizabeth Weretilnyk. Last but not least, the author would like to thank his parents, Mr. Wilfred Yang and Mrs. May Yang.

Preface

All the work has been performed by Abraham Yang with the following exceptions:

Gabriel Gyulay performed LDLR and PCSK9 immunblotting (Fig. 2.3.5 A and C), LDLR quantitative real-time PCR (Fig. 2.3.5 D), lectins and pull downs (Fig. 2.3.5 E), macrophage Oil Red O staining (Fig. 5.3.10) and cholesterol efflux assay (Fig. 5.3.8 and 5.3.9). Gabriel Gyulay also contributed to folch lipid extraction in Ch. 2, Ch. 3 and Ch. 5. David Egier assisted in castration in Ch.3. Elizabeth White performed peripheral blood immunophenotyping, selectin and hyaluronic acid binding assay (Fig. 4.3.1, 4.3.6, 4.3.7 and 4.3.8), serum cytokine measurement (Fig. 4.3.5) and flow cytometry (Fig. 5.3.3, 5.3.4, 5.3.5 and 5.3.6). Šárka Lhoták performed paraffin sectioning and immunostaining in Ch. 3. Vivienne Tedesco and Mohamed Alsaied contributed to bone marrow transplantation of LDLR-/- mice in Ch. 5.

The author would like to thank Sheila Brown for contributing to technical assistance for cryosectioning in Ch.3, Darren de Sa and Jordon Wronzberg for contributing to FPLC in Ch. 3, Aline Fiebig for contributing to technical assistance for mini osmotic pumps implantation and bone marrow transplantation, and Hatem Abo-ouf for contributing to technical assistance for bone marrow transplantation.

Table of Contents

Abstra	stract iii		
Ackno	Acknowledgements v		
Preface	Preface vi		
Table of	of Contents	vii	
List of	Abbreviations	xv	
List of	Figures and Tables	XX	
Chapt	er 1 Introduction and Relevant Literature Review	- 1	
1.1	Atherosclerosis	- 1	
1.2	Atherosclerotic Progression	- 2	
1.3	Lipoprotein Metabolism	- 5	
1.4	LDLR and LDL	10	
1.5	Factors affecting VLDL assembly/secretion	13	
1.6	Sialic Acid	14	
1.7	Sialidase	15	
1.8	Sialic acid and sialidase involvement in immune, inflammatory response a	nd	
atheros	clerosis	21	
1.9	Sialidase Inhibitors	23	
1.10	Mouse Model	25	
1.10.1	SM/J mice	26	
1.10.2	ApoE-deficient mouse	28	
1.10.3	LDLR-deficient mice	28	
1.11	Objectives	30	

Chapter 2 Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Decreases Serum Cholesterol			
by Do	by Down- Regulation of VLDL Production in Mice 32		
Preface	Preface 33		
Summa	ary	34	
2.1	Introduction	36	
2.2	Methods	39	
2.2.1	Mice	39	
2.2.2	Collection of blood and tissues	39	
2.2.3	Serum lipid analyses	40	
2.2.4	Hepatic lipid analyses	40	
2.2.5	In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipid secretion	41	
2.2.6	Immunoblot analysis	41	
2.2.7	RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time PCR	42	
2.2.8	Mouse Liver Membrane Enrichment	42	
2.2.9	Immunoprecipitation	42	
2.2.10	Lectins and Pull-Downs	43	
2.2.11	Trueblot Immunoprecipitation of PCSK9	43	
2.2.12	Statistical analysis	43	
2.3	Results	44	
2.3.1	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases serum cholesterol levels	44	
2.3.2	Hypomorphic sialidase expression increases hepatic lipids levels	47	
2.3.3	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases in vivo hepatic VLDL-lip	id	
produc	tion	47	

References 74		
2.4	Discussion 68	
expression 65		
2.3.6	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases intestinal MTP and SREBP2	
2.3.5	Hypomorphic sialidase expression attenuates hepatic expression of LDLR 60	
2.3.4	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases hepatic MTP expression 57	

Chapter 3 Inhibition of Sialidase as a Potent Treatment for Atherosclerosis in		
АроЕ	Knockout Mice	· 84
Prefac	e	85
Summ	ary	- 87
3.1	Introduction	88
3.2	Material and Methods	- 92
3.2.1	Generation of mice	- 92
3.2.2	Treatment of mice	- 92
3.2.3	Surgical castration	- 93
3.2.4	Collection of blood and tissues	- 93
3.2.5	Serum lipid and lipoprotein analysis	- 94
3.2.6	Evaluation of atherosclerotic lesions	- 95
3.2.7	Histology and Immunocytochemistry	- 95
3.2.8	Hepatic and blood cell lipid analysis	- 96
3.2.9	In vivo measurement of hepatic VLDL-triglyceride secretion	- 97
3.2.10	Immunoblot analysis	97
3.2.11	Statistical analysis	98

3.3	Results 99
3.3.1	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases cholesterol levels in VLDL and
LDL-s	sized lipoproteins in apoe-/- mice 99
3.3.2	The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on serum and hepatic lipids
levels	in apoe-/- mice 103
3.3.3	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases in vivo hepatic VLDL-lipids
produ	ction rates in apoe-/- mice 106
3.3.4	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases hepatic MTP and SREBP2
expres	ssion in <i>apoe-/-</i> mice 113
3.3.5	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases atherogenesis in apoe-/- mice.
	117
3.3.6	Hypomorphic sialidase apoe-/- mice have less macrophages and T cells in
athero	sclerotic lesions 120
3.3.7	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases serum cholesterol levels and
athero	sclerosis in western diet-fed male apoe-/- mice 124
3.3.8	The impact of pharmacological inhibition of sialidase on levels of serum
choles	terol and atherosclerosis in <i>apoe-/-</i> mice 132
3.3.9	Impact of androgen withdrawal on serum cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis
in hyp	omorphic sialidase <i>apoe-/-</i> mice 142
3.4	Discussion 145
Refere	ences 152

Chapter 4Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression in Bone Marrow DerivedLeukocytes Reduces Atherogenesis in ApoE Knockout Mice ------ 160

Prefac	Preface 161	
Summ	ary	162
4.1	Introduction	164
4.2	Methods	168
4.2.1	Generation of the donor and recipient mice	168
4.2.2	Peripheral blood immunophenotyping	168
4.2.3	Selectin and hyaluronic acid binding assay	- 169
4.2.4	Serum cytokine measurement	- 169
4.2.5	Treatment of mice	- 170
4.2.6	Bone marrow transplantation	- 170
4.2.7	Blood and tissue collection	- 171
4.2.8	Serum lipids analysis	171
4.2.9	Hepatic and blood cell lipid analyses	- 171
4.2.10	Analysis of lesions in the aortic sinus	- 172
4.2.11	Statistical analysis	173
4.3	Results	174
4.3.1	B6.SM/ <i>apoe-/-</i> mice have increased $CD3\epsilon^+$ and decreased $CD11b^{lo}$ populat	ions.
		- 174
4.3.2	The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cell	s on
serum	and hepatic lipids levels in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice	- 178
4.3.3	Hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells red	uces
athero	sclerosis	185
4.3.4	LPS-injected B6.SM/apoe-/-mice secrete less IL-10 and show delayed	IFNγ
secreti	on	188

4.3.5	Anti-CD3ε injected B6.SM/apoe-/- mice secrete less IL-4 and IFNγ	189
4.3.6	B6.SM/ apoe-/- hematopoietic cells show impaired cell adhesion function	n <i>in</i>
vitro.		192
4.4	Discussion	200
Refer	ences	205

Chapt	er 5 Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Modulates Serum Choleste	erol	
and A	and Atherosclerosis by Enhancing Monocytic Uptake of Serum Lipoproteins in		
LDLR	Knockout Mice	211	
Preface	Preface 212		
Summa	ary	214	
5.1	Introduction	216	
5.2	Methods	220	
5.2.1	Mice	220	
5.2.2	Bone marrow transplantation	220	
5.2.3	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of genomic DNA	221	
5.2.4	Lipoprotein and serum lipids analysis	222	
5.2.5	Hepatic and blood cell lipid analyses	222	
5.2.6	In vivo measurement of hepatic VLDL-triglyceride secretion	223	
5.2.7	Immunoblot analysis	223	
5.2.8	Flow cytometry	224	
5.2.9	Quantification of atherosclerotic lesion at aortic sinus	225	
5.2.10	Macrophages	225	
5.2.11	Lipoproteins	226	

5.2.12	Macrophage Oil Red O Staining and Quantification 22	26
5.2.13	Cholesterol Efflux Assay 22	26
5.2.14	Statistical analysis 22	27
5.3	Results 22	28
5.3.1	Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells decreases cholesterol levels	in
VLDL	and LDL-sized lipoproteins in LDLR-/- mice 22	28
5.3.2	The effects of hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells on serum and hepat	tic
lipids	levels in LDLR-/- mice 22	32
5.3.3	Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells have higher blood cells lipid	ds
levels	in LDLR-/- mice 22	35
5.3.4	Peripheral blood CD11b ⁺ subsets of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR	-/-
mice c	contain higher free cholesterol than LDLR-/- mice after 3 weeks of western di	iet
feedin	g 2:	39
5.3.5	Peripheral blood $CD3\epsilon^+$ subset of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR	-/-
shows	a trend for increased free cholesterol compared to LDLR-/- after 3 weeks	of
wester	n diet feeding 24	44
5.3.6	Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoi-etic cells confer atheroprotection in LDL	R-
/- mice	e 24	44
5.3.7	Hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow derived macrophages have increase	ed
choles	terol efflux to HDL 2:	51
5.3.8	Hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow derived macrophages have an increase	ed
expres	sion of ABCG1 2:	51
5.3.9	Hypomorphic sialidase intraperitoneal macrophages accumulate more lipi	ds

5.4	Discussion 259
Supple	ementary Section 264
S 5.3.1	Hypomorphic sialidase decreases cholesterol levels in VLDL and LDL-sized
lipopro	oteins in LDLR-/- mice 264
S5.3.2	Hypomorphic sialidase decreases serum and increases hepatic lipids levels in
LDLR	-/- mice 264
S5.3.3	Hypomorphic sialidase decreases hepatic VLDL production in LDLR-/- mice.
	270
S5.3.4	The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100
and –A	poB-48 secretion in LDLR-/- mice 275
S5.3.5	Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases atherogenesis in LDLR-/- mice
	275
Refere	nces 280
Chapt	er 6 Significance, Conclusions and Looking Forward 286

References 29	90
---------------	----

List of Abbreviations

µm=Micrometer

- 4AAP=4-Aminoantipyrine
- ABCA1= ATP-binding cassette transporter A1
- ABCG1= ATP-binding cassette transporter G1
- ACAT=Acyl-CoA cholesterol acyltransferase
- ACAT1=Acyl-CoA cholesterol acyltransferase 1
- ACAT2=Acyl-CoA cholesterol acyltransferase 2
- ApoA-I=Apolipoprotein A-I
- ApoB=Apolipoprotein B
- ApoB-100=Apolipoprotein B-100
- ApoB-48=Apolipoprotein B-48
- ApoE=Apolipoprotein E
- ARH=Autosomoal recessive hypercholesterolemia
- ATP= Adenosine-5'-tryphosphate
- Bp=Base pair
- BSA=Bovine serum albumin
- CD11b=Cluster of differentiation11b
- CD15=Cluster of differentiation15
- CD22=Cluster of differentiation22
- $CD3\epsilon$ =Cluster of differentiation3 epsilon
- CD43=Cluster of differentiation 43
- CD44=Cluster of differentiation 44

CD45=Cluster of differentiation 45

CE= Cholesterol esterase

CO= Cholesterol oxidase

Cre=Cre recombinase

DANA=2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac2en)

DBP= Vitamin D3-binding Protein

DNA=Deoxyribonucleic acid

ER=Endoplasmic reticulum

FPLC=Fast protein liquid chromatography

GCS complex= β -galactosidase, protective protein cathepsin A and sialidase complex

GK= Glycerol kinase

GM=Monosialotetrahexosylganglioside

Gy=Gray

HA=Hyaluronic acid

HBA= Hydroxybenzoic acid

HDL=High density lipoprotein

HMG-CoA Reductase=3 hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA reductase

HRP=Horseradish peroxidase

ICAM-1=Intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1

IDL=Intermediate density lipoprotein

Idol= Inducible degrader of LDLR

IFN-γ=Interferon-gamma

IL-1 β =Interleukin-1 beta

IL-2=Interleukin-2

IL-4=Interleukin-4

IL-6=Interleukin-6

IL-10=Interleukin-10

IMDM= Iscove minimum Dulbecco medium

IκB-α=Inhibitor of kappa B-alpha

kDa=Kilo dalton

LAMP1= Lysosomal-associated membrane protein1

LDL=Low density lipoprotein

LDLR=Low density lipoprotein receptor

LPL=Lipoprotein lipase

LPS=Lipopolysaccharide

LRP=Low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein

LXR= Liver X Receptor

MAC-3=Macrophage-3 antigen

Maf= Macrophage-activating factor

MCP-1= Monocyte chemotactic protein 1

M-CSF= Macrophage-colony stimulating factor

MHC= Major histocompatibility complex

Min=Minute

ml=Milliliter

MTP=Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein

Mup= Mouse urinary promoter

MyD88=Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88

Neu1=Neuraminidase 1

Neu2=Neuraminidase 2

Neu3=Neuraminidase 3

Neu4=Neuraminidase 4

NFκB=Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

Nm=Nanometer

PBS= Phosphate-buffered saline

PCSK9=

POD= Peroxidase

PPCA= Protective protein cathepsin A

RAG=Recombination activating gene

RCT=Reverse cholesterol transport

RNA=Ribonucleic acid

RT-PCR=Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

S=Second

SCID= Severe combined immunodeficiency

SR-BI= Scavenger receptor class B type 1

SREBP-1=Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1

SREBP-2= Sterol regulatory element binding protein-2

Th1=T helper 1

Th2=T helper 2

THP-1=Human acute monocytic leukemia cell line

TLR=Toll-like receptor

TLR4=Toll-like receptor 4

TNF- α = Tumor necrosis factor- α

TRAF6=TNF receptor-associated factor 6

VCAM-1 =Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1

VLDL=Very low density lipoprotein

VLDLR=Very low density lipoprotein receptor

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter 2 Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Decreases Serum Cholesterol by Down- Regulation of VLDL Production in Mice

Fig. 2.3.1	FPLC cholesterol profiles of C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice 45
Table 2.3.1	Hepatic lipids levels in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice 49
Fig. 2.3.2	In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipid production in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice
	51
Table 2.3.2	In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipid production rates in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM
mice	53
Fig. 2.3.3	Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and -ApoB-48 secretion in C57Bl/6 and
B6.SM mice.	55
Fig. 2.3.4	Hepatic MTP, SREBP2 and ACAT2 expression in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM
mice	58
Fig. 2.3.5	mRNA-independent preservation of LDLR protein expression via
decreased PCS	SK9 expression in B6.SM mice 62
Fig. 2.3.6	Intestinal MTP, ApoB-48 and SREBP-2 expression in C57Bl/6 and
B6.SM mice.	66

Chapter 3 Inhibition of Sialidase as a Potent Treatment for Atherosclerosis in ApoE Knockout Mice

		. 100
Fig. 3.3.1	FPLC cholesterol profiles of <i>apoe-/-</i> and B6.SM/ <i>apoe-/-</i> mice	

Table 3.3.1	Serum and hepatic lipids levels in <i>apoe-/-</i> and B6.SM/ <i>apoe-/-</i> mice
	104
Fig. 3.3.2	In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipids production in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/-
mice	107
Table 3.3.2	In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipids production rates in apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/-mice 109
Fig. 3.3.3	Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and -ApoB-48 secretion in apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/- mice 111
Fig. 3.3.4	Hepatic MTP, SREBP2 and ACAT2 expression in apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/- mice 115
Fig. 3.3.5	Atherosclerotic lesion area in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice 118
Fig. 3.3.6	Macrophages and T cells quantities in atherosclerotic lesions in apoe-/-
and B6.SM/a	<i>poe-/-</i> mice 122
Fig. 3.3.7	FPLC cholesterol profiles in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/- mice 126
Table 3.3.3	Serum total cholesterol levels in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/- mice 128
Fig. 3.3.8	Atherosclerotic lesion area in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and
B6.SM/apoe-	/- mice 130
Fig. 3.3.9	FPLC cholesterol profiles in apoe-/- treated with DANA and control
apoe-/- mice.	134
Table 3.3.4	Serum and hepatic lipids levels in apoe-/- treated with DANA and
control apoe-	/- mice 136

Fig. 3.3.10	Atherosclerotic lesion area in apoe-/- treated with DANA and control
apoe-/- mice.	138
Fig. 3.3.11	The effects of sialidase inhibition using Oseltamivir on spontaneous
atherosclerosi	s in male <i>apoe-/-</i> mice 140
Fig. 3.3.12	The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on castrated and sham
male B6.SM/d	<i>apoe-/-</i> mice 143

Chapter 4Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression in Bone Marrow DerivedLeukocytes Reduces Atherogenesis in ApoE Knockout Mice

Fig. 4.3.1	Peripheral blood immmunophenotype comparison between apoe-/- and
hypomorphic	sialidase B6.SM/ apoe-/ 176
Fig. 4.3.2	Weights of male and female B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted with
B6.SM/apoe-/	- or <i>apoe-/-</i> bone marrow after feeding with western diet 179
Table 4.3.1	Serum and hepatic lipids levels in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted
with B6.SM/a	poe-/- or apoe-/- bone marrow 181
Fig. 4.3.3	Blood cells lipids levels in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted with apoe-
/- or B6.SM/a	<i>upoe-/-</i> bone marrow 183
Fig. 4.3.4	Atherosclerotic lesion area of B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted with
B6.SM/apoe-/	
Fig. 4.3.5	Blood serum cytokine levels in male apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- in
response to sti	mulation by LPS or anti-CD3ɛ antibody 190
Fig. 4.3.6	P-selectin binding assay in CD11b ⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood
subsets in apo	<i>pe-/-</i> and B6.SM/ <i>apoe-/-</i> mice 194

Fig. 4.3.7	E-selectin binding assay in CD11b ⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood
subsets in	apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice 196
Fig. 4.3.8	Hyaluronic acid binding assay in CD11b ⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood
subsets in	apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice 198

Chapter 5 Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Modulates Serum Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis by Enhancing Monocytic Uptake of Serum Lipoproteins in LDLR Knockout Mice

Fig. 5.3.1 FPLC cholesterol profiles of LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. ----- 230 Table 5.3.1 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. ----- 233 Fig. 5.3.2 Blood cells lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. ------ 237 CD11b⁺ subsets in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/-Fig. 5.3.3 mice fed western diet for 3 weeks. ----- 240 Free cholesterol content of CD11b⁺ subsets in LDLR-/- and Fig. 5.3.4 B6.SM/LDLR-/- peripheral blood. ----- 242 Fig. 5.3.5 CD3E⁺ subsets in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/mice fed western diet for 3 weeks. ----- 245 Free cholesterol content of $CD3\epsilon^+$ subsets in LDLR-/- and Fig. 5.3.6 B6.SM/LDLR-/-peripheral blood. ----- 247 Fig. 5.3.7 Atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. ----- 249

Fig. 5.3.8	Bone marrow derived macrophages from hypomorphic sialidase mice
have increase	d efflux to HDL compared to C57Bl/6 controls 253
Fig. 5.3.9	B6.SM BMDMs have higher levels of ABCG1 protein and lower levels
of LDLR prot	zein 255
Fig. 5.3.10	Intraperitoneal hypomorphic sialidase macrophages accumulate more
lipids after L	DL treatment compared to C57Bl/6 and LDLR -/- controls as measured
using ORO st	raining 257
Fig. S 5.3.1	FPLC cholesterol profiles of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice
Table S5.3.1	Serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice.
Fig. S5.3.2	Hepatic VLDL production in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice
Table S5.3.2	Hepatic VLDL production rates in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice.
Fig. S5.3.3	Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and -ApoB-48 secretion in LDLR-/- and
B6.SM/LDLF	R-/- mice 276
Fig. S 5.3.4	Atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice after
feeding weste	rn diet for 6 weeks 278

Chapter 1

Introduction and Relevant Literature Review

1.1 Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a leading preventable cause of death worldwide and a complex multifactorial disease which accounts for most of the morbidity and mortality seen in humans with coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction and stroke (Hegele RA, 2009). Cardiovascular disease remains the number one source of mortality in North America, Europe and Asia although many approaches have been implemented to decrease the occurrence and/or severity of atherosclerosis (Braunwald E., 1997). There are numerous risk factors for developing atherosclerosis (Steinberg and Witztum, 1990) such as obesity, high blood pressure, dyslipidemia, diabetes, smoking and genetic susceptibility (Ross R., 1995). Numerous studies have suggested that genetic and environmental factors can affect atherosclerosis (Hegele R., 1992). It has also been suggested that the composition and plasma levels of lipoproteins are strongly associated with atherosclerosis (Kashyap M., 1997). Genetic variation in the genes for several apolipoproteins and lipoprotein receptors affects lipoprotein metabolism additively and as such affects atherogenesis (Breslow J., 1988; Chen et al., 2003; Luc et al., 1994, Ross R., 1993). The extent of the contribution of each gene to the disease is under extensive investigation (Braunwald E., 1997), as many recognize that dissection of the relative contribution of the various genetic and environmental factors is necessary for developing effective therapies.

1.2 Atherosclerotic Progression

The progression and the development of atherosclerotic lesions are highly dependent on the presence of disrupted laminar flow as well as gaps between endothelial cells and proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix of the subendothelium (Dabagh et al., 2009; Skålén et al., 2002). The accumulation of subendothelial low density lipoprotein (LDL) at these sites is amplified if there is remodeling of the extracellular matrix and/or if there is an elevation of the LDL level in blood (Glass and Witztum, 2001).

LDL is protected from oxidation in blood. However, enzymatic modification, and specifically oxidation increases significantly when LDL particles accumulate in the subendothelium (Parthasarathy et al., 1992; Schwenke et al., 1989a; Schwenke et al., 1989b). Minimal oxidation will still allow LDLs to be taken up by the LDL receptors (LDLR). However, if there is extensive oxidation or enzymatic modification of LDL and its protein moiety ApoB, the ApoB component will become unidentifiable to the LDLR. As a result, the LDLs cannot be bound or internalized by LDLR (Navab et al., 1996; Steinberg and Gotto, 1999). The accumulation of oxidized LDL induces early inflammatory responses and expression of cell adhesion molecules on endothelial cells such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), inter cellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), P-selections, E-selectins, and hyaluronic acid (HA) enabling the binding of leukocytes to the endothelium (Glass and Witztum, 2001). These leukocytes will then migrate into the intima in response to monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1), and macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) (Glass and Witztum, 2001; Hansson G., 2005). Scavenger receptors allow scavenger receptor-mediated endocytosis of the modified LDL (Daugherty et al., 2005; Steinbrecher U., 1999;

Trigatti et al., 2003). Furthermore, since scavenger receptor expression is not regulated by macrophage cholesterol content, this will lead to unregulated uptake of oxidized LDL and modified LDL (Steinbrecher U., 1999; Trigatti et al., 2003). Eventually, the unregulated uptake of oxidized LDL and modified LDL by macrophages will induce macrophages to release more MCP-1 resulting in additional monocyte recruitment. These monocytes then differentiate into macrophages, releasing more MCP-1 and recruiting more monocytes, further propagating the recruitment pathway (Lucas A and Greaves D, 2001). These macrophages continue to take up oxidized LDL and modified LDL. Eventually, these subendothelial macrophages become engorged with lipid droplets and a triglyceride core surrounded by a lipid monolayer (Brown and Goldstein, 1983; Daugherty et al., 2005; Parthasarathy et al., 1992; Steinbrecher U., 1999). These lipid filled cells are called foam cells which can continue to enhance atherosclerotic progression by oxidizing lipoproteins and remodeling the extracellular matrix (Aviram and Rosenblat, 1994; Daugherty et al., 2005). In addition, when these foam cells die, they can propagate the inflammatory process (Lucas A and Greaves D, 2001).

Another pathway exists that enables macrophage cholesterol efflux. This pathway is called reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) (Hegele R., 2009). Macrophage cholesterol efflux utilizes ATP-binding cassette transporters, ABCA1 and ABCG1, which allows transport of intracellular cholesterol to ApoA-I and high density lipoprotein (HDL) acceptor molecules respectively (Goldstein and Brown, 1975; Simons and Ikonen, 2000). Subsequently, HDL will deliver cholesterol to hepatocytes via SR-BI receptor (Hegele R, 2009; Suzuki et al.1997).

The development of fatty streaks resulting from accumulation of sub-endothelial LDL and macrophages mentioned above is followed by excessive inflammatory response (Ross R., 1999). The maturation of fatty streaks and the progression of atherosclerotic lesions occur through the expression of a variety of cytokines and inflammatory molecules as well as through the upregulation of cytokine receptors and toll-like receptors (TLR) on the macrophages and T-cells (Daugherty et al., 2005; Hansson G., 2005). T-cell activation occurs by inducing Th1 and Th2 responses which entails the release of cytokines, including but not limited to IFN- γ and IL-4, respectively (Hansson G., 1997). At the same time, Th1 cells can produce IFN-y to induce the expression of various proinflammatory genes in the macrophage (Hansson G., 2005). IFN- γ can as well upregulate LDLR and downregulate VLDLR in the macrophage (Daugherty et al., 2005). The formation of atherosclerotic lesions expands when smooth muscle cells migrate into the intima from the tunica media resulting in smooth muscle cells proliferation, binding and uptake of more modified LDL by scavenger receptors (Lucas and Greaves, 2001; Ross R., 1999; Steinbrecher U., 1999). Eventually, these smooth muscle cells can dedifferentiate to become foam cells (Ross R., 1993).

VLDL can attract additional smooth muscle cells to the atherosclerotic lesion (Endemann et al., 1987; Zhao et al., 2001). At this stage, smooth muscle cells add complexity to the atherosclerotic lesion by forming fibrous layers between the fatty deposits and the intima. Eventually, calcification of the vascular smooth muscle cells will lead to calcium deposits (Ross R., 1993). Due to the appearance of necrotic foam cells, smooth muscle cells and calcification content, these mature atherosclerotic

lesions are also referred to as plaques (Ross R., 1995). In addition to narrowing the artery, these plaques can cause the accumulation of blood platelets, which may eventually lead to stenosis and thrombosis (Glass and Witztum, 2001). Nevertheless, plaque rupturing can also occur in areas where a thin fibrous cap of smooth muscle cells covering the plaque is present (Fishbein M., 2010). Thrombus usually develops in macrophage-rich regions of the artery (Daugherty et al., 2005). Thrombosis and stenosis can potentially lead to myocardial ischemia and ultimately infarction, which are often lethal (Glass and Witztum, 2001).

1.3 Lipoprotein Metabolism

Cholesterol is a steroid that is essential for a variety of cellular functions including phospholipid membrane integrity and steroid synthesis (Maxfield and Wüstner, 2002; Simons and Ikonen, 2000). Cholesterol is produced by many cells and can be obtained both exogenously and endogenously. Cholesterol and other lipids such as fatty acids and triglycerides, are highly hydrophobic and as a result are transported in the blood by lipoproteins (Steinberg and Witztum, 1990). The major carrier of blood cholesterol is LDL; however, other lipoproteins also play roles in its transport (Simons and Ikonen, 2000). Lipoprotein metabolism is important to understanding atherosclerosis and cholesterol homeostasis. Liver is the major organ for cholesterol metabolism (Goldstein and Brown, 1975; Simons and Ikonen, 2000).

Typically, chylomicrons are assembled in the intestinal mucosa as a means to transport dietary cholesterol and triglycerides to the rest of the body. The predominant lipids of chylomicrons are triacylglycerides (Hegele R., 2009). The major

apolipoproteins in chylomicrons are ApoB-48 (Hegele R., 2009; Karpe et al., 1996). Chylomicrons are then secreted into the lymphatic system and enter the circulation where they acquire ApoE and ApoC from high-density lipoproteins (HDL) (Redgrave, 1983). In the capillaries of adipose tissue and muscle, triacylglycerides are removed from chylomicrons by the action of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), which is found on the surface of the endothelial cells of the capillaries (Hegele R., 2009). Chylomicron remnants, containing primarily cholesterol, ApoE and ApoB-48, are delivered to, and taken up by the LDLR (ApoE/ApoB receptors) both in peripheral cells as well as the liver (Goldstein et al., 1985).

Hepatically synthesized triglycerides and cholesterol are packaged into very-lowdensity lipoproteins (VLDL) and released into the blood circulation for delivery to extrahepatic tissues for storage or production of energy through oxidation (Mahley et al., 1984). In addition to triglycerides and cholesterol, VLDL contain ApoB-100, ApoC and ApoE. Like chylomicrons, newly released VLDL acquire ApoC and ApoE from circulating HDL. The action of lipoprotein lipase converts VLDL to intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), also termed VLDL remnants (Berneis and Krauss, 2002; Packard et al., 2000; Packard et al., 1984) that are transient intermediates in the delipidation cascade from VLDL to LDL. IDL are lipolysed by hepatic lipase, converting into LDL, or taken up by the liver through the interaction with hepatic ApoE/ApoB receptors (the LDL receptor is also called the ApoE/ApoB receptor) and/or LDL-related protein (LRP) (Chappell and Medh, 1998). LDL are taken up by cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis through the interaction of ApoB-100 component of LDL with LDL receptors located on plasma membranes (Twisk et al., 2000). Thus, ApoB-100 can be used as a marker for tracing the metabolism of VLDL, IDL and LDL with the use of labelled amino acid precursors.

Receptors for ApoE containing lipoproteins include VLDLR, LDLR-related protein 1 (LRP1) and ApoE receptor 2, although their roles have not been as well studied as LDLR (Lillis et al., 2008; May et al., 2005). After the binding of LDL, LDLR is internalized into primary and early endosomes (Linton et al., 1999). Depending upon the intracellular cholesterol level, the LDLR is recycled back from late endosomes to the cell surface to be reused for further LDL endocytosis (Linton et al., 1999). Subsequent lysosomal degradation yields cholesterol and amino acids to the cell (Linton et al., 1999).

Excess cellular cholesterol is processed via reverse cholesterol transport (Hegele R, 2009; Suzuki et al.1997). It can occur from periphery cells back to the liver via ATPbinding cassette transporter's (ABCA1/G1) lipidation of ApoA-I and High Density Lipoprotein (HDL), respectively (Goldstein and Brown. 1975; Simons and Ikonen, 2000). Subsequently, these molecules will be taken up by the liver via the SR-BI receptor (Hegele R, 2009; Suzuki et al.1997).

Intracellular cholesterol level is controlled by sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP). SREBP is membrane-bound transcription factor that is responsible for the activation of genes involved in cholesterol synthesis (Brown and Goldstein, 1997; Horton et al., 2002). There are three mammalian isoforms of SREBP, namely, SREBP-1a, SREBP-1c and SREBP-2 (Yokoyama et al., 1993; Hua et al., 1993; Brown and Goldstein, 1997). SREBP-1a and -1c are transcribed from the same gene with alternative mRNA splicing. SREBP-1a and -1c are mainly involved in activating genes of fatty acid synthesis (Soccio and Breslow, 2004). SREBP-2 is responsible for activating genes of cholesterol synthesis (Soccio and Breslow, 2004).

SREBPs consist of four domains with two membrane-spanning regions. Their N- and C-terminuses project into the cytoplasm (Yokoyama et al., 1993). The N-terminus is constituted of a transcription factor, being followed by a glycine, serine, proline, and glutamine rich region. The glycine, serine, proline and glutamine rich region is followed by a basic-helix-loop-helix leucine zipper (bHLHZip) protein. The C-terminus is a regulatory domain which allows interaction with cleavage activating protein (SCAP) (Hua et al., 1996; Sakai et al., 1997). Scap is embedded in ER membranes via its N-terminal domain. The Scap N-terminus is composed of eight transmembrane (TM) helices separated by hydrophilic loops with TM helices 2-6 being involved in cholesterol-sensing (Nohturftt et al., 1998a; Nohturfft et al., 1998b; Hua et al., 1996).

When the cholesterol level is low, the Scap/SREBP complex exits the ER in COPIIcoated vesicles that bud from ER membranes (Nohturfft et al., 2000; Espenshade et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2005). The Scap/SREBP complex enters the Golgi apparatus where site-1 protease, a serine protease of the subtilisin family, cleaves SREBP at the loop region (Espenshade et al., 1999), followed by the second cleavage in the first membrane spanning region by site-2 protease, a Zn2+ metalloprotease (Zelenski et al., 1999), to release the N-terminal of SREBP (bHLH-Zip-containing domain) (Sakai et al., 1998; Duncan et al., 1997; Espenshade et al., 1999; Duncan et al., 1998; Rawson et al., 1997). The cleaved form of SREBP (bHLH-Zip-containing domain) is transported into the nucleus by binding directly to importin β with Ran-GTP causing dissociation of the SREBP-importin β complex (Nagoshi et al., 1999). Scap travels back to the ER to interact with another SREBP molecule. In the nucleus, SREBP activates transcription of target genes by binding to the sterol regulatory element (SRE) in the promoter region of LDLR and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMGCoA reductase) genes (Briggs et al., 1993; Wang et al., 1993). When the cholesterol level is high, choesterol binds to Scap causing a structural change in SCAP. This structural change in SCAP allows Insig to bind to Scap. There are two isoforms of Insig. Insig-1 is a SREBP target gene (Janowski B., 2002; Horton et al., 2002). Insig-2 is expressed at a low but constitutive level and is not regulated by SREBP (Yabe et al., 2002). When Insig binds to Scap, the Scap/SREBP complex remains in the ER (Sun et al., 2005). Thus, transcription of genes involved in cholesterol synthesis decreases.

In order to monitor the level of intracellular sterols, cells have, in addition to SREBP, an ER resident transmembrane protein, HMG CoA reductase,. At the transcriptional level, HMG CoA reductase is controlled by SREBPs. At the posttranscriptional level, it is regulated by sterol-accelerated degradation (Gil et al., 1985; Skalnik et al., 1988; Sever et al., 2003b). HMG CoA reductase is embedded in ER membranes through its N-terminal domain that contains eight TM helices (Roitelman et al., 1992). TM helices 2-6 are involved in the sterol-sensing (Hua et al., 1996; Nohturfft et al., 1998a; Sever et al., 2003a). The C-terminal domain of the reductase is projected into the

cytoplasm and is attached to the ER membrane by a proline-rich region (Liscum et al., 1985). The mechanism for sterol-regulated HMG CoA reductase occurs when the cholesterol precursor, lanosterol, triggers the binding of the reductase to Insig (Sever et al., 2003a; Song et al., 2005a). Insig exists in a complex with E3 ubiquitin ligase, gp78, which binds to the E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme Ubc7 (Song et al., 2005b; Ponting, 2000). Gp78 also binds to Valosin-containing protein (VCP), an ATPase implicated in the postubiquitination steps of ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD) (Zhong et al., 2004; Ye et al., 2005). ERAD is the process of retrotranslocating denatured ER proteins across the ER membrane for degradation by the cytosolic proteasome (Meusser et al., 2005). Gp78 ubiquitinates the reductase and then the ubiquitinated reductase is extracted from the membrane by VCP and delivered to the proteasome for degradation (Sever et al., 2003a; Song et al., 2005b).

1.4 LDLR and LDL

Cholesterol, a complex four-ring structure, was first isolated from gallstones in 1784. Cholesterol transport in blood requires esterification and packaging of these esters within the hydrophobic cores of lipoproteins. In the 1950s, four major classes of lipoproteins were identified, i.e., VLDL, IDL, LDL and HDL (Gofman et al., 1954). LDL, being the most abundant cholesterol-carrying lipoprotein in blood, plays a significant role in cholesterol homeostasis by a receptor-mediated pathway. LDLR is a cell surface glycoprotein that contains two asparagine-linked (N-linked) oligosaccharides (Cummings et al., 1983; Kozarsky et al., 1988). About two-thirds of the O-linked glycans are clustered in the extracellular region of the protein near the membrane spanning region (Davis et al., 1986; Kingsley et al., 1986; Kozarsky et al., 1988). The binding domain of LDLR contains 202 amino acids and consists of regions that bind ApoB-100 and ApoE respectively. It was shown that lipoproteins that contain multiple copies of ApoE bind to LDLR with higher efficiency compared to lipoproteins that contain only one copy of ApoB, e.g., LDL (Innerarity and Mahley, 1978).

The expression of LDLR is tightly regulated at both the transcriptional and posttranscritpional levels. Transcription of the LDLR gene is regulated by intracellular cholesterol levels via sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) (Yokoyama et al., 1993; Hua et al., 1993). When intracellular cholesterol decreases, the more active form of SREBP is processed and can induce the transcription of the LDLR gene (Goldstein et al., 2006).

Post-transcriptional regulation of LDLR expression is regulated by a LDLR adaptor protein that is involved in autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia (ARH) (Garcia et al., 2001; Cohen et al., 2003) and proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) (Abifadel et al., 2003; Cohen et al., 2005; Seidah et al., 2003; Maxwell and Breslow, 2004; Park et al., 2004), which itself is a SREBP target gene. Recently, Zelcer and colleagues (2009) have demonstrated that Liver X Receptor (LXR), an important regulator of metabolic and inflammatory signalling, has the ability to regulate LDLR expression via inducible degradation of LDLR (idol). Idol is a protein that interacts with myosin regulatory light chain (Olsson et al., 1999). The authors believe that the altered expression of LDLR is caused by idol-mediated ubiquitination of LDLR.
In addition to the cholesterol-mediated expression of LDLR, the degree of sialylation and glycosylation has also been shown to affect LDLR activity (Zelcer et al., 2009). When human fibroblast cells are treated with sialidase, which cleaves sialic acid from oligosaccharides, there is a 7 to 11 kDa reduction of LDLR size. In addition, sialic acids on the LDLR contribute a net negative charge (Shite et al., 1990). Most importantly, treatment of human fibroblasts with sialidase results in reduced LDL binding and internalization compared to LDLR with normal sialylation (Sprague et al., 1988).

The sialic acid content of lipoproteins varies between different lipoprotein fractions (Millar et al, 1999; Sobenin et al., 1998; Anber et al., 1997). Sialic acid content of lipoproteins is determined by the action of sialyltransferases that sialylate apolipoproteins prior to their secretion into blood. The site of sialylation on apolipoproteins is influenced by the conditions under which the apolipoprotein is synthesized and is highly dependent on the level and type of sialyltransferases since sialyltransferases are differentially expressed in different tissues (Dwek et al., 1993; Ravindranaths et al., 1988). It has been shown that sialic acid level of ApoE produced by monocytes is much higher than those in blood (Ravindranaths et al., 1988). Tissue-specific sialylation of apolipoproteins can be affected by hypercholesterolemia and inflammation (Tsunemitsu et al., 1990; Ghosh et al., 1991; Ghosh et al., 1999).

Sialidase activity has been detected in blood. Interestingly, its pH optimum is between 4 and 5 (Schauer et al., 1976). While sialidase levels in blood increase following myocardial infarction, little is known about the source of the enzyme (Hanson et al.,

1987). However, many believe that the presence of sialidase activity in the blood is likely due to tissue injury (Gross and Brossmer, 1991). Desialylated ApoB-100 has normal clearance from blood compared to the sialylated controls (Malmendier et al., 1980; Attie et al., 1979; Hatton et al., 1978; Morell et al., 1971). It has been shown that LDL with low level of sialylation has increased propensity to aggregate (Tertov and Orekhov, 1994). However, desialylation of LDL has no effect on LDL binding and uptake by fibroblasts or hepatocytes (Attie et al., 1979; Shireman and Fisher, 1979). LDL and LDL with a low level of sialylation both show an increase in uptake by aortic smooth muscle cells (Orekhov et al., 1989; Filipovic et al., 1979). Camejo and colleagues have demonstrated that desialylation of LDL increases its interaction with chondroitin-6-sulfate-rich proteoglycans isolated from arterial wall matrix (Camejo et al., 1985). Furthermore, sialylated ApoE promotes cholesteryl ester uptake from HDL to HepG2 cells more efficiently than sialidase treated HDL or desialylated ApoE (Ghiselli et al., 1986).

1.5 Factors affecting VLDL assembly/secretion

VLDL assembly/secretion pathway is dependent upon: (1) the production of apolipoprotein B (ApoB); (2) the availability of sufficient lipids (triglycerides, free cholesterol and cholesterol esters); (3) the normal activity of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP). In the absence of any one or more of these factors, ApoB is diverted from the VLDL assembly/secretion pathway and is degraded (Davis R, 1999; Gibbons G, 1990; Kang and Davis, 2000; Thompson et al., 1996).

Triglyceride enters the cisternal space of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) when ApoB is present in the membrane but into the cytoplasmic space in the absence of ApoB (Olofsson et al., 1987). Thus, the presence of ApoB is critical to the VLDL assembly/secretion pathway. It has been suggested that MTP, a specific triglyceride transfer protein, play a role in this process (Wetterau and Zilversmit, 1984; Wetterau and Zilversmit , 1985). MTP facilitates the transfer of lipids between membranes and is important in the assembly of lipoproteins in the lumen of the ER (Wetterau and Zilversmit, 1986). This is supported by the discovery that MTP is the defective "abetalipoproteinemia" gene responsible for the inability to secrete ApoB-containing lipoproteins (Wetterau et al., 1992; Sharp et al., 1993). In addition, heterozygous mice expressing a mutated MTP gene have decreased levels of ApoB-containing lipoproteins (Raabe et al., 1998). Furthermore, conditional cre/lox liver MTP gene knockout mice showed a marked impairment in the production and secretion of ApoB-containing lipoproteins (Chang et al., 1999). Therefore, MTP plays an essential and rate-limiting role in the secretion of ApoB-containing lipoproteins in mice.

1.6 Sialic Acid

Sialic acid, also known as neuraminic acid, is a nine carbon hexose terminal sugar residue found on a variety of oligosaccharides. It is commonly bound by an α 2-3, α 2-6 or α 2-8 glycosidic linkage to other sugars (Cross and Wright, 1991; Millar J., 2001). The most common linkage is α 2-3 linkage to galactose. Sialic acid is found in animal tissue and in bacteria bound to glycoproteins and glycolipids and is a significant contributor to the overall net negative charge of the cell surface. It compresses 50% of the overall charge (Carrillo et al., 1997; Millar J., 2001; Sprague E. et al., 1988). In

addition, the degree of sialylation regulates cell identification, cell adhesion, cell-cell interactions, cell proliferation and conformational stabilization (Millar J., 2001; Monti et al., 2000).

1.7 Sialidase

Lysosomal storage diseases are metabolic disorders caused by defects in the synthesis, targeting, or functioning of lysosomal enzymes. They are characterized by a massive accumulation of undegraded substrates of deficient enzymes in the lysosomes. A major fraction of lysosomal storage diseases is caused by deficiency in glycosidases involved in the catabolism of the sugar chains of oligosaccharides, glycoproteins and glycolipids (Kornfeld and Sly, 2001). It includes Tay-Sachs disease caused by a deficiency of beta-hexosaminidase A; Fabry disease which is caused by a deficiency of acid alpha-galactosidase A; Gaucher disease which is caused by a deficiency of acid beta-glucosidase (Kornfeld and Sly, 2001).

Sialidosis and galactosialidosis are autosomal recessive disorders. They arise due to a deficiency of lysosoaml sialidase and are caused by two different primary genetic defects. Sialidosis is an autosomal recessive disease caused by mutations in the sialidase gene (Thomas G., 2001). Galactosialidosis is an autosomal recessive disease caused by mutations in the protective protein cathepsin A (PPCA) gene, encoding a lysosomal carboxypeptidase (d'Azzo et al., 2001; Galjart et al., 1988). PPCA was cloned in 1988 and characterized for its mutation associated with galactosialidosis. It is responsible for the stabilization of the active conformation of sialidase and protects

it against proteolytic degradation in the lysosome (Vinogradova et al., 1998; van der Horst et al., 1989; d'Azzo et al., 1982).

There are two major types of sialidosis. They are the late-onset sialidosis type I and early-onset sialidosis type II. Type I and type II dffer in both the age of onset and severity. Late-onset, Type I sialidosis manifests in the second or third decade of life. Patients of Type I sialidosis usually develop bilateral cherry-red spots, impaired vision, myoclonus of the extremities and gait abnormalities (O'Brien and Warner, 1980; Sasagasako et al., 1993; Bonten et al., 2000). Early-onset, Type II sialidosis may be diagnosed in utero or during infancy. Patients of Type II sialidosis exhibit developmental delay, short stature, mental retardation, hepatosplenomegaly and corneal clouding (Lowden and O'Brian, 1979; Matsuo et al., 1983; Young et al., 1987).

Sialidases constitute a family of hydrolytic enzymes that are found in viruses, bacteria and vertebrates and catalyze the removal of terminal sialic acid residues from glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides whereas sialyltransferases catalyze the addition of sialic acid to oligosaccharides (Achyuthan and Achyuthan, 2001; Pilatte et al., 1993; Pshezhetsky and Ashmarina, 2001; Vimr and Lichtensteiger, 2002). Neu1, the lysosomal form of the sialidase enzyme, cleaves terminal α 2-3 and α 2-6 sialic acid residues with an optimal activity pH of 4.5 (Igdoura et al., 1998; Pattison et al., 2004). These enzymes influence a number of important biological processes including cell-cell interactions, T-cell activation, catabolism and antigenicity (Varki, 1997; Pilatte et al., 1993; Corfield, 1992; Reuter and Gabius, 1996). In mammals, four distinct sialidases have been identified. Genes encoding lysosomal (*neu1*) (Igdoura et al., 1998; Carrillo et al., 1997; Pshezhesky et al., 1997), cytosolic (*neu2*) (Monti et al., 1999; Ferrari et al., 1994), ganglioside specific (*neu3*) (Miyagi et al., 1999; Wada et al., 1999), and mitochondrial sialidases (*neu4*) (Comelli et al., 2003; Monti et al., 2004; Yamaguchi et al., 2005) have been cloned. It has been reported that neu1 sialidase is present in the cell membrane in addition to the lysosome (Liang et al., 2006; Millar J., 2001; Rottier et al., 1998). In mice, there are three *neu* alleles (a, b and c) that have different rates of activity (Carrillo et al., 1997).

The human *neu1* gene is located in the HLA histocompatibility locus on chromosome 6p21.3. The murine *neu1* gene maps to the H-2 locus on chromosome 17 (Bonten et al., 1996; Pshezhetsky et al., 1997; Rottier et al., 1998; Igdoura et al., 1998). The human *neu1* mRNA shares 90% sequence identity with the murine *neu1*. Both the human and the murine neu1 have a signal sequence which initiates the translocation of the polypeptide into the ER. There are three Asn-linked glycosylation sites in the human neu1 and four Asn-linked glycosylation sites in the murine neu1 (Bonten et al., 1996; Rottier et al., 1998). It has been shown that glycosylation sites can affect the stability and folding of the proteins (Wang et al., 2009). Neu1 has a sequence motif of eight amino acids, designated as "Asp-box" which is highly conserved among sialidases (Roggentin et al., 1993). The precise role of this Asp-box is still uncertain. Neu1 also has a (F/Y) RIP motif. This motif is located near the N-terminus of neu1 and is a highly conserved domain in non-viral sialidases (Bonten et al., 1996).

17

Sialidase (neu1) plays major roles in homeostasis. Neu1 is a negative regulator of lysosomal exocytosis (Yogalingam et al., 2008). It controls the extent of sialylation and the turnover of lysosomal-associated membrane protein (LAMP). Loss of neu1 is associated with hypersialylation of LAMP1 at the lysosomal membrane. Hypersialylated LAMP1 are more prone to dock at the plasma membrane causing excessive exocytosis of lysosomal content. This results in premature degradation of VCAM-1 in the bone niche by excessive serine proteases (Yogalingam et al., 2008). Loss of neu1 has also been shown to be associated with hearing loss and muscle atrophy which is believed to be due to hypersialylation of LAMPs, particularly LAMP1 (Wu et al., 2010; Zanoteli et al., 2010). Loss of neu1 in skeletal muscle is associated with excessive lysosomal exocytosis of fibroblasts which can lead to abnormal remodeling of the extracellular matrix and excessive proliferation of connective tissue (Zanoteli et al., 2010).

Lysosomal sialidase, a 46kDa enzyme, exists in a multienzyme complex consisting of β -galactosidase, protective protein cathepsin A (PPCA) and sialidase (GCS complex) (Igdoura et al., 1998; van der Spoel et al., 1998). All sialidase enzymes have a similar conformation consisting of six, four-stranded antiparallel beta-sheets arranged in a propeller-like fashion (Igdoura et al., 1998). The active site of sialidase consists of an arginine triad, a hydrophobic pocket, a tyrosine residue and glutamic acid residue. The length and conformation of the loops connecting the beta-sheets may play a role in determining sialidase substrate specificity (Magesh et al., 2006).

For the lysosomal routing, sialidase is inefficiently transported to the lysosome via interaction with mannose 6-phosphate receptor (MPR), the canonical mode of lysosomal transport for soluble lysosomal enzymes (Hille-Rehfeld et al., 1995), and is believed to be due to low mannose 6-phosphorylation (van der Spoel et al., 1998). Two different mechanisms of lysosomal targeting of sialidase have been described. For the first mechanism, sialidase is proposed to be an integral membrane protein that is compartmentalized in lysosomes via the interaction of its C-terminal tetrapeptide (YGTL) with the adaptor protein complex-3 (AP-3). Sialidase is transported to the lysosomes, linked to membrane vesicles, and is released as soluble enzyme into the lumen by proteolytic cleavage (Lukong et al., 2001). It remains to be determined whether lysosomal proteolytic cleavage exists. For the second mechanism, PPCA is required for optimal lysosomal targeting as illustrated by changes in biochemical and structural properties of sialidase when in complex with PPCA (Bonten and d'Azzo, 2000). PPCA has a functional mannose 6-phosphate receptor (MPR). Therefore, by interacting with PPCA, sialidase is compartmentalized in lysosomes via the MPR pathway. When PPCA is absent, sialidase remains in the ER and is eventually degraded (van der Spoel et al., 1998).

PPCA, sialidase and β -galactosidase forms a high molecular weight multienzyme complex that enables subsequent activation of the sialidase enzyme (van der Spoel et al., 1998; Bonten et al., 1995; Rudenko et al., 1995; Igdoura et al., 1998; Bonten and d'Azzo, 2000). The carboxypeptidase activity of PPCA does not appear to play a role in sialidase activation (Galjart et al., 1991). The exact mechanism of the catalytic activation of sialidase is still uncertain. Nevertheless, PPCA has been shown to be the

rate limiting factor for sialidase activation as demonstrated by a positive correlation between the proportional increase of sialidase activity and PPCA levels in the lysosomes (Bonten et al., 2009). Mutations in the neuraminidase gene can lead to sialidosis, whereas defects in PPCA can cause galactosialidosis (van der Spoel et al., 1998). In addition to PPCA, another glycosidase, GALNS (N-acetylgalactosamine-6sulfate sulfatase), is found to be associated with the GCS complex and may play roles in additional hydrolases (Pshezhetsky and Potier, 1996; van der Spoel et al., 1998; Yamamoto and Nishimura, 1987; Zhou et al., 1995).

PPCA mutations have been shown to associate with the loss of neu1 activity and reduced β -galactosidase activity (Itoh et al., 2000). Galactosialidosis patients differ in both the age of onset and severity of the disease. The early-onset form has symptoms of cardiac and renal failure, visceromegaly, skeletal dysplasia and early death. They have similar phenotypic manifestations of sialidosis, caused by neu1 deficiency. PPCA-/- mice have been generated and display symptoms similar to that of galactosialidosis patients including early death, renal failure and hepatosplenomegaly (Zhou et al., 1995). Loss of Purkinje cells has been detected in the PPCA-/- mice although researchers are still uncertain of the cause. In addition, PPCA has been shown to play a role in regulating blood pressure and circulation (d'Azzo et al., 2001). Recently, the cardiovascular role of PPCA has been demonstrated by a PPCA-deficient mouse model showing that PPCA acts as an endothelin-1-inactivating enzyme. Endothelin-1 is a vasoconstrictive peptide. PPCA-deficient mice have a reduced degradation rate of endothelin-1 and increased arterial blood pressure (Seyrantepe et al., 2008).

1.8 Sialic acid and sialidase involvement in immune, inflammatory response and atherosclerosis

In the immune system, sialidase and sialic acid are mainly involved in the activation of macrophages (Lambré et al., 1990; Liang et al., 2006; Stamatos et al., 2005), T cells (Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Xu and Weiss, 2002) and neutrophils (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004). It has been demonstrated that THP-1 monocyte differentiation involves upregulation of neu1 sialidase and its targeting to the cell membrane (Liang et al., 2006). The CD45 antigen, required for T-cell activation, is negatively regulated by homodimer formation (Xu and Weiss, 2002). The rate of homodimerization is controlled, at least in part, by the degree of sialylation and O-glycosylation of CD45 (Pappu and Shrikant, 2004). T-cell activation is increased as a result of desialylation, sialidase expression and secretion of many inflammatory factors, such as, IL-4 (Chen et al., 1997; Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Wang et al., 2004). In addition, sialidase activation plays a significant role in CD44-HA adhesion in LPS and TNF stimulated THP-1 monocytes (Gee et al., 2002; Gee et al., 2003). Sialidase movement to the plasma membrane plays a role in activation, adhesion, and migration of neutrophils (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004). The activation and adhesion can be blocked by sialidase inhibitor, 2deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetyl-neuraminic acid (DANA) (Cross et al., 1991). Furthermore, Vitamin D3-binding Protein (DBP) is converted to DBP-maf (macrophage-activating factor) via post-translational modification with β galactosidase from B-cells and sialidase from T-cells (Swamy et al., 2001). DBP-maf converts monocytes into macrophages, which play role in immune response (Yamamoto et al., 1991).

Recently, CD15s (sialyl Lewis X), a glycan moiety which is commonly found on myeloid lineage cell surface glycolipids and glypoproteins, was shown to be desialylated during differentiation which enable selectin binding (Gadhoum and Sackstein, 2008). Activation, recruitment and differentiation of monocytes and leukocytes play an important role in the inflammatory response which is prominent in the atherosclerosis process (Ross R., 1999). Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1), enables leukocytes to bind to the endothelial cells (Glass and Witztum, 2001). Recently, it was demonstrated that neu1 deficiency results in hypersialylation of LAMP1 (lysosomal-associated membrane protein) at the lysosomal membrane and excessive exocytosis of lysosomal content. These lead to premature degradation of VCAM-1 in the bone niche by excessive serine proteases (Yogalingam et al., 2008). VCAM-1-deficient mice are less susceptible to the initiation of atherosclerosis compared to control in LDLR-/- background (Cybulsky et al., 2001). Therefore, neu1 sialidase deficiency has atheroprotective potential on atherosclerosis.

The investigation of atherosclerosis needs to consider inflammation. This is because atherosclerosis is not due solely to lipid accumulation. Many inflammatory molecules were affect atherosclerosis. This view is supported by the finding of decreased atherosclerosis in IL-4/ApoE double knockout mice compared to ApoE knockout mice (Davenport and Tipping, 2003). Simiarly, inhibition of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) in ApoE knockout mice reduces atherosclerosis (Branen et al., 2004). RAG-1 knockout mice, which lack functional T and B cells, were crossed with ApoE knockout mice to produce RAG-1/ApoE double knockout mice. RAG-1/ApoE double knockout mice mice exhibited a reduction of atherosclerosis compared to ApoE knockout mice (Dansky et al., 1997). Severe combined immunodeficient mice (SCID) carrying ApoE knockout mutation, showed a decrease in the level of atherosclerotic lesion (Zhou et al., 2000).

Atherosclerotic lesions are mostly made up of macrophages, smooth muscle cells and T lymphocytes (Jonasson et al., 1986; Emeson et al., 1988; Hansson et al., 1988; Katsuda et al., 1992). Recently, several studies have described a key role for sialylation in the regulation of CD44 and CD45 important in the activation and/or recruitment of monocytes/macrophages (Gee et al., 2003; Katoh et al., 1999; Xu and Weiss, 2002). In addition, CD44 promotes atherosclerosis by inducing activation of both inflammatory and vascular cells (DeGrendele et al., 1996; Hodge-Dufour et al., 1997; McKee et al., 1996). Most importantly, CD44-null mice had reduced atherosclerosis compared with heterozygote and wild-type mice (Cuff et al., 2001).

1.9 Sialidase Inhibitors

In 1942, Hirst discovered an enzyme activity on the influenza virus surface that removed virus receptors from erythrocytes. Burnet used this concept and deduced that inhibition of an enzyme involved in this receptor-destroying mechanism could lead to the treatment of the influenza virus. After that, Gottschalk characterized the chemical structure of neuraminic acid (sialic acid) (Neu5Ac), its linkage to glycoconjugates, and the specificity of the enzyme for terminal sialic acid residues. It was not until 1969 when the first inhibitor of influenza virus sialidase, 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac2en) (DANA) was developed (Meindl et al., 1969; Meindl et al., 1971; Meindl et al., 1974). DANA functions as a competitor with sialic

23

acid for binding to the active site of the sialidase. It resembles the transition state configuration of sialic acid during the enzymatic reaction. However, DANA had low potency and specificity.

In the 1980s, Colman and colleagues reported the crystal structure of influenza virus sialidase and of its complex with sialic acid (Colman et al., 1989). This set the stage for the development of sialic acid derivatives that better suited to function as competitors of sialic acid in the binding to the active side of the sialidase. In 1993, von Itzstein and his colleagues attempted to increase the interaction between Neu5An2en and the amino acid residues forming the enzyme active site by substituting a guanidinyl group for a hydroxyl on carbon atom 4. This led to the development of 4guanidino-Neu5Ac2en (Zanamir). Von Itzstein and his colleagues also demonstrated that Zanamir had high poteny and specificity (von Itzstein et al., 1993). However, Zanamir needed to be inhaled. The first orally active sialidase inhibitor, Oseltamivir, was developed by Kim and colleagues in 1997 by using a cyclohexene ring and by replacing a polar glycerol with lipophilic side chains (Kim et al., 1997). Thus, Oseltamivir was not only the first orally active sialidase inhibitor, but also it was the first intracellular sialidase inhibitor as the lipophilic side allowed entry through the cell membrane. In 2000, Babu and colleagues combined the guanidinyl group and lipophilic side chains concepts from Zanamir and Oseltamivir and developed Peramivir (Babu et al., 2000). Peramivir is a cyclopentane derivative with a guanidinyl group and lipophilic side chains. The inhibition caused by these inhibitors is reversible. Inhibition of non-influenza virus sialidases requires concentrations at least a million times higher that of influenza virus sialidases and cellular cytotoxicity has not been determined (Gubareva et al., 2000).

1.10 Mouse Model

The mouse (*mus musculus*) has evolved an invaluable tool for identifying genetic factors that affect atherosclerosis and lipid metabolism. Extensive genetic characterization is available (Lyons and Searle, 1989) as seen by the relative ease of mapping relative genes for atherogenesis (Paigen et al., 1987).

Inbred mouse strains differ in plasma lipoprotein concentrations, responsiveness to high-fat, high-cholesterol diets, and susceptibility to aortic lesion development. Interestingly, comparison of nine inbred strains of mice fed high-fat diet identified a sialidase-deficient inbred mouse strain, SM/J, as susceptible to aortic lesion formation but maintained the same high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) level (Nishina et al., 1993; Paigen, 1995).

A related line of mice, B10.S/SgSlc (B10.S;H-2^s), which also lacks sialidase shows increased atherosclerosis susceptibility relative to a control line, SJL. This atherosclerosis susceptibility has been associated with bone marrow derived cells. However, this study is not conclusive since B10.S/SgSlc or SJL bone marrow were mixed with wild type ApoE-/- bone marrow (Ishimori et al., 2001) producing a heterozygote genotype for sialidase deficiency.

1.10.1 SM/J mice

In the early 1940s, the SM/J mouse was characterized by its small body size following cross matings with seven different inbred strains. A partial deficiency of sialidase was first identified in the SM/J strain by Potier and colleagues (Potier et al., 1979). In 1981, Womack and colleagues demonstrated that there were abnormal sialylation of at least four lysosomal glycoproteins (Womack et al., 1981). Womack and colleagues deduced that this hypersiallylation was attributed to a reduction in sialidase activity. In the same year, Clark and colleagues demonstrated that SM/J mice had an impaired immune response, which is thought to result from the altered processing of sialic acids present on cell surface molecules of subpopolations of T cells (Clark et al., 1981). The SM/J mice can only stimulate the IFN- γ -producing (Th1)-mediated immune response, but not the IL-4-producing (Th2)-mediated immune response (Chen et al., 1997; Chen et al., 2000). This altered response has been attributed to reduced sialidase activity (*neul* gene), which is thought to prevent desialylation of surface molecules on naïve T cells. D'Azzo and colleagues suggested that the SM/J strain sialidase deficiency resulted from a missense mutation (Leu209Ile) (Rottier et al., 1998). Carrillo et al. showed that SM/J liver expressed low sialidase mRNA and suggested a possible promoter defect (Carrillo et al., 1997). We examined the sialidase promoter region and identified a point mutation (-517G \rightarrow A) in the SM/J strain, one of which results in reduced sialidase gene transcription (Champigny et al., 2009).

Nkx3.2 is highly expressed in liver and leukocytes (Schneider et al., 1999). Nkx3.2 can repress transcription by recruiting HDAc/SinsA complex in a smad-dependent manner (Kim and Lassar, 2003). Previous studies from our laboratory have shown that

Nkx3.2-mediated repression does not depend on the Nkx3.2 DNA binding domain. This implies that Nkx3.2 suppression of the *neu1* gene works in an HDAcindependent manner. In addition to Nkx3.2, Nkx3.1, which is an estrogen-dependent transcription factor, can bind to the sialidase promoter and may compete with Nkx3.2 resulting in increased sialidase gene transcription (Champigny et al., 2009).

We have isolated the *neul* mutation from the SM/J background by backcrossing onto the C57Bl/6 inbred genetic background, producing B6.SM. This new strain provides us with the opportunity to test whether this mutation in isolation can affect atherosclerosis susceptibility. B6.SM mice are optimal for our study because they do not show the sialidosis phenotype unlike the Neu1-/- mice which have a complete knockout of the *neul* gene (de Geest et al., 2002). Jacob and colleagues showed that peritoneal macrophages of SM/J mice had decreased levels of TNF-a production relative to that of C57Bl/10 (Jacob et al., 1993). Branen and colleagues reported that atherosclerosis was decreased by inhibiting tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) in ApoE-/- mice (Branen et al., 2004). Recently, we demonstrated that there is a decrease in the level of TNF- α stimulated sialidase-deficient leukocyte adhesion to the walls of hepatic sinusoids although TNF- α stimulated leukocyte adhesion to the walls of postsinusoidal venules is not affected significantly (Champigny et al., 2009). In addition, an increase in the TNF- α stimulated sialidase-deficient leukocyte rolling in postsinusoidal venules was observed (Champigny et al., 2009). Therefore, these results infer that sialidase deficiency may cause reduced atherosclerosis susceptibility.

1.10.2 ApoE-deficient mouse

Inbred mouse strain, C57Bl/6, fed high fat diets develops very limited atherosclerotic lesions in the arterial intima of the proximal aorta (Nishina et al., 1990; Paigen et al., 1985; Paigen et al., 1987). Thus, a more atherosclerosis-susceptible model is needed. ApoE-deficient mice generated by gene targeting show elevated plasma cholesterol levels, even when fed a regular chow diet and the mice develop severe atherosclerotic lesions (Piedrahita et al., 1992; Plump et al., 1992). Lesions are found dispersed throughout the arterial tree forming at the base of the aorta, and along the entire length of the aorta. The development of atherosclerotic lesions in this model more closely resembles those of humans than did the previous atherosclerotic model (Zhang et al., 1992; Plump et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 1994). Many different approaches have been performed to study atherosclerosis using the *apoe-/-* mouse model, such as, nutritional intervention, pharmacological and genetic studies. However, when using this mouse strain, we need to consider the site specificity of atherosclerosis, age of lesion, and gender-specific effects. For example, estrogen has been shown to be atheroprotective in several mouse models (Hodgin and Maeda, 2002). In contrast, both ApoE-deficient and LDL receptor-deficient female mice generally develop larger lesions than males at the aortic sinus (Pastzy et al., 1994; Reardon et al., unpublished data, 2003 mentioned in Vanderlaan et al., 2004).

1.10.3 LDLR-deficient mice

After the generation of ApoE-deficient mice in 1992, LDLR-deficient mice were generated as another widely used model to study atherosclerosis (Ishibashi et al, 1993). ApoE-deficient mice and LDLR-deficient mice differ in both the distribution of cholesterol in lipoprotein particles and the susceptibility to atherogenesis. In ApoEdeficient mice, cholesterol is mostly found in the VLDL particles (Reddick et al., 1994; Nakashima et al., 1994). In LDLR-deficient mice, cholesterol accumulates in the LDL particles (Ishibashi et al., 1993). ApoE-deficient mice develop atherosclerotic lesions spontaneously and these are found dispersed throughout the arterial tree forming at the base of the aorta, and along the entire length of the aorta (Zhang et al., 1992; Plump et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 1994). However, the development of atherosclerotic lesions in LDLR-deficient mice is limited on normal chow diet (Ishibashi et al., 1993). Nevertheless, LDLR-deficient mice develop extensive atherosclerotic lesions feeding on a western diet.

LDLR-/- mouse models have been used to study the role of very low density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) on lipoprotein metabolism. Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of VLDLR reverses hypercholesterolemia in LDLR-/- mice (Kobayashi et al., 1996; Kozarsky et al., 1996). In addition to the work with the first generation adenovirus, helper-dependent adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of VLDLR has been shown to correct the hypercholesterolemia phenotype in LDLR-/- mice (Oka et al., 2001). Moreover, it has been shown that VLDLR-/-/LDLR-/- mice show a significant increase in serum lipid levels, whereas overexpression of VLDLR in LDLR-/- mice causes a significant decrease in the serum lipid levels (Tacken et al., 2000).

Bone marrow transplantation experiments have been carried out to determine the effects of the LDLR in macrophage on atherosclerosis (Boisvert et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). Bone marrow of LDLR+/+

donors transplanted into LDLR-/- recipients show no significant difference in atherosclerotic lesion areas compared to LDLR-/- donors ⁽Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). However, when the recipient is C57Bl/6, the LDLR +/+ donors showed more atherosclerosis compared to the LDLR-/- donors (Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). The researchers believed that this outcome was caused by the reduced expression of LDLR in a hyperlipidemia environment.

1.11 Objectives

In this study, we aim to define the role of sialidase (neu1) in atherosclerosis. Development and progression of atherosclerosis is dependent on lipoprotein metabolism and inflammation which, in turn, are interconnected. Our first objective was to study the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on lipoprotein metabolism in C57Bl/6 mice using both static and kinetic parameters. Our second objective was to study the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in *apoe-/-* mice. In this objective, we determined the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis using genetic and chemical approaches. The genetic approach involved comparing atheroscelerotic lesion areas of apoe-/- to that of B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. The chemical approach involved the use of sialidase inhibitors such as DANA, and comparing atherosclerotic lesion areas found in apoe-/- to that of DANA-treated apoe-/- mice. As mentioned above, inflammation is an important factor for atherogenesis and is related to lipoprotein metabolism. Blood cells, including monocytes/macrophages and T cells, play roles in the inflammatory process that leads to atherosclerosis. Thus, we determined the blood cell specific sialidase effects on atherosclerosis using bone marrow transplanted B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Our third objective was to study the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDLR-deficient mice. To that end, we conducted studies to determine the role of hypomorphic sialidase blood cells in the uptake of serum cholesterol and how it impacts the atherosclerotic lesion progression in LDLR-deficient mice transplanted with hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells. This study defined a novel role for hypomorphic sialidase leukocytes in the regulation of lipoprotein metabolism. Overall, these studies showed that sialidase is a novel risk factor for atherosclerosis and that sialidase inhibition is a potent treatment for atherosclerosis.

Chapter 2

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Decreases Serum Cholesterol by Down- Regulation of VLDL Production in Mice

Abraham E. Yang¹, Gabriel Gyulay¹, Bernardo L. Trigatti² and Suleiman A. Igdoura^{1,3}

Department of ¹Biology, ²Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, ³Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Preface

Abraham Yang performed FPLC cholesterol profiles (Fig. 2.3.1), hepatic lipid analyses (Table 2.3.1), hepatic VLDL-lipid production (Fig. 2.3.2 and Table 2.3.2), hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion (Fig. 2.3.3), hepatic MTP (Fig. 2.3.4 A), SREBP-2 (Fig. 2.3.4 B), ACAT-2 (Fig. 2.3.4 C), LRP-1 (Fig. 2.3.5 B), intestinal MTP (Fig. 2.3.6 A), ApoB-48 (Fig. 2.3.6 B) and SREBP-2 immunoblotting (Fig. 2.3.6 C). Gabriel Gyulay performed folch extraction for hepatic lipid analyses, LDLR (Fig. 2.3.5 A) and PCSK9 immunblotting (Fig. 2.3.5 C), LDLR quantitative real-time PCR (Fig. 2.3.5 D), lectins and pull downs (Fig. 2.3.5 E).

Chapter 2

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Decreases Serum Cholesterol by Down- Regulation of VLDL Production in Mice

Summary

Lipoprotein metabolism is an important contributing factor in the development and progression of atherosclerosis. Plasma lipoproteins and their receptors are heavily glycosylated and sialylated. Sialylation of lipoproteins has been associated with lipoprotein assembly, secretion, uptake and lipid-binding. Sialylation is modulated by the activities of sialyltranferases and sialidases. In order to address the impact of sialidase (neu1) activity on lipoprotein metabolism, we have generated a mouse model with a hypomorphic neul allele (B6.SM) that displays reduced sialidase expression and sialidase activity. The objectives of this study are to determine the impact of sialidase on serum cholesterol and to determine if hypomorphic sialidase expression affects the rate of hepatic lipoprotein secretion, and/or rate of lipoprotein uptake. Our results indicate that hepatic levels of cholesterol and triglyceride are significantly higher in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice; however, VLDL-cholesterol and VLDL-triglyceride production rates in B6.SM mice are significantly lower than those of C57Bl/6 mice. In addition, significantly lower levels of SREBP-2 as well as hepatic microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) are observed in B6.SM mice indicating that loading of triglyceride and cholesterol esters onto Apo-B during the formation of VLDL particles is reduced. Furthermore, hypomorphic sialidase expression results in stabilization in hepatic protein expression of LDLR and decreased PCSK9 secretion. This allows sialidase to promote lipid clearance via

LDLR. These findings provide evidence for a central role for sialidase in the cross talk between the uptake and production of lipoproteins.

2.1 Introduction

Previous studies have suggested that different level of sialylation of apolipoproteins may impact lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis (Orekhov et al., 1989; Sobenin et al., 1991; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Orekhov et al., 1992). Sialylation is modulated by the activities of sialyltranferases and sialidases. Neu1 sialidase belongs to a family of hydrolytic enzymes that cleave terminal $\alpha 2-3$ and $\alpha 2-6$ sially linkages of glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides (Reuter et al., 1996). The enzyme is found in a multienzyme complex which includes β -galactosidase (β -gal) and protective protein/cathepsin A (ppca) (van der Horst et al., 1989; van der Spoel et al., 1998; Bonten et al., 1995; Galjart et al., 1988, Galjart et al., 1991). While the role of the enzyme in the lysosome is well defined, its functional consequences on the cell surface, including its role in cell-surface receptor recognition, catabolism, tumorigenicity and antigen masking, are still being explored (Collard et al., 1986; Pilatte et al., 1993; Varki et al., 1997; Bonten et al., 1996). Sialidase activity can also regulate the function of cell surface molecules, such as, TLR4, CD15, CD22, CD43, CD44 and CD45 (Braesch-Andersen and Stamenkovic, 1994; Katoh et al., 1999; Cuff et al., 2001; Gee et al., 2003; Khan et al., 2004; Gadhoum and Sackstein, 2008; Amith et al., 2009; Amith et al., 2010; Katoh et al., 2010; Katoh et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2011). In the inflammatory response, sialidase is involved in modulating the function of macrophages (Lambré et al., 1990; Liang et al., 2006; Stamatos et al., 2005), T cells (Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Xu and Weiss, 2002) and neutrophils (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004) indicating their potential effect in chronic inflammation, such as, atherosclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. To date, genes encoding lysosomal/membrane, neu1 (Igdoura et al., 1998; Carrillo et al., 1997; Pshezhetsky et al., 1997), cytosolic, neu2 (Monti et al., 1999; Ferrari et al., 1994), plasma membranebound, neu3 (Miyagi et al., 1999; Wada et al., 1999) and mitochondrial forms, neu4 (Comelli et al., 2003; Monti et al., 2004; Seyrantepe et al., 2008) have been cloned. A deficiency in lysosomal/membrane sialidase (neu1) is associated with sialidosis, an autosomal recessive disease, which is characterized by accumulation of sialylconjugates within the lysosomes in the central nervous system as well as in the peripheral tissues (O'Brien and Warner, 1980).

A partial deficiency of sialidase was identified in the SM/J mice in the 1970s (Potier et al., 1979; Womack et al., 1981). In addition to the abnormal sialylation of glycoproteins, SM/J mice show an impaired immune response resulting from the altered processing of sialic acids present on cell surface molecules of T cells (Clark et al., 1981). D'Azzo and colleagues suggested that the SM/J sialidase deficiency resulted from a missense mutation (Rottier et al., 1998). Campbell and colleagues demonstrated that the SM/J liver expresses low level of sialidase mRNA (Carrillo et al., 1997). We have recently identified a point mutation (-519G \rightarrow A) in the mouse lysosomal sialidase promoter (neu1), which results in reduced sialidase gene transcription in the SM/J mice. This promoter mutation creates a binding site for a transcriptional repressor, Nkx3.2, resulting in reduced gene expression (Champigny et al., 2009). We have isolated this mutation from the SM/J mice by backcrossing onto a C57Bl/6 genetic background, generating a hypomorphic sialidase mouse, namely B6.SM. In this study, we focus on the effect of hypomorphic sialidase (neu1) expression on the regulation of lipoprotein metabolism in the liver. We demonstrate that hypomorphic sialidase expression lowers serum cholesterol levels by modulating hepatic VLDL production as well as LDL uptake. The results described in this chapter show that sialidase is a novel contributor to impact lipoprotein metabolism.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Mice

B6.SM mice were obtained by crossing SM/J mice with C57Bl/6 mice six times. The presence of the the regulatory mutation, (-519G \rightarrow A) within the *neu1* promoter was confirmed by PCR using DNA extracted from tail biopsies. The following primers were used for the PCR: 5' ATC CCT GTC CAG GAA CTG GT 3' (Primer ML-07-06, Mobix, McMaster University) and 5' CTT AAG GGC ATT GGG GTC AT 3' (Primer ML-07-07, Mobix, McMaster University). PCR (40 cycles) were performed with denaturing temperature of 94°C for 2 minutes, annealing temperature of 60°C for 30 seconds and elongation temperature of 72°C for 30 seconds. PCR products were digested with MspA1I (New England BioLab) which serves as a genetic diagnostic since it only cleaves the PCR product carrying the B6.SM mutation. Mice were housed in filter-top cages and given unlimited access to food and water. Mice in cages were housed in a room with 12-hour light and dark cycle. All experimental protocols were approved by institutional animal research ethics committees.

2.2.2 Collection of blood and tissues

Under anesthesia with ketamine/xylazine, blood was obtained by cardiac puncture. Serum was obtained by centrifugation of blood for 5 min at 15,000 rpm using serum collection tubes. Mice were perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) through the left ventricle of the heart. The liver was harvested and frozen in liquid nitrogen, then stored at -80°C for further use in protein and RNA studies.

2.2.3 Serum lipid analyses

Serum was fractionated by gel filtration-FPLC using a Superose 6 column, and serum total cholesterol was analyzed with enzymatic assay (Infinity[™] Cholesterol Liquid Stable Reagent, Thermo Scientific). The enzymatic colorimetric assay product was measured at 500nm. Serum free cholesterol was analyzed with Free Cholesterol E Reagent (Wako Diagnostics). The absorbance of the reaction product was measured at 600 nm. Serum cholesteryl esters concentration was calculated by subtracting serum free cholesterol concentration from serum total cholesterol concentration. Serum triglyceride was analyzed with enzymatic colorimetric assay (L-Type Triglyceride H Reagents 1 and 2, Wako Diagnostics). The absorbance of the reaction product was measured at 600 nm.

2.2.4 Hepatic lipid analyses

Part of the liver (150 mg) was homogenized in 1ml of TNES (10 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 400 mM NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 0.6% SDS). Folch mixture (chloroform/methanol, 2:1; 3 ml) was added to 300ul of liver homogenates and the tubes were vortexed for 1 minute. After that, 0.6 ml of distilled water was added to the tubes and the tubes were vortexed for 1 minute. Then, the extraction mixture was left at 4°C for 2 hours. After 2 hours, the tubes were centrifuged at low speed to facilitate phase separation. The lower phase (chloroform phase) was dried completely by sitting in water bath at 37°C. The dry chloroform phase was resuspended in 60ul of isopropanol. Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and triglyceride concentrations were measured as described in serum lipid analyses using enzymatic colorimetric assays.

2.2.5 In vivo hepatic VLDL-lipid secretion

Hepatic production of VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol, and cholesteryl esters were measured in 3-month-old male C57Bl/6 and B6.SM after intravenous injection of Triton WR 1339 (Tyloxapol T0307-10G, Sigma BioXtra, Sigma-Aldrich) [15g/dl in 0.9% NaCl]. Mice were fasted overnight prior to the experiments, and 500mb/kg mg of Triton WR1339 was injected. Blood samples were taken from the cheek under light anesthesia before and at 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours after Triton injection for triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol, and cholesteryl esters measurements. VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters production rates were obtained by calculating the slope of the regression line of the graph with VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol, and cholesteryl esters concentration respectively versus time in hours.

2.2.6 Immunoblot analysis

Liver lysates were prepared in RIPA buffer containing protease inhibitors (Roche) and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay (Biorad). Samples were separated on SDS/polyacrylamid gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. The following antibodies were used: anti-ApoB (goat anti-ApoB, 1:6000, Midland Bioproducts), anti-MTP (mouse anti-MTP, 1:2500, BD Biosciences), anti-ACAT2 (mouse anti-ACAT2, 1:200, Santa Cruz), anti-SREBP-2 (mouse 1:500, Pharmingen), anti-LDLR (mouse anti-LDLR, 1:1000, Calbiochem), anti-LRP1 (rabbit anti-LRP1, 1:10000, Epitomics), anti-β-actin (mouse anti-β-actin, 1:1000, Cell Signalling Technology) and anti-beta-tubulin (mouse anti-beta-tubulin, 1:1000). Secondary HRPconjugated antibodies (1:10000, Santa Crutz Biotechnology) were used and visualized with chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham). Intensity was measured by ImageJ densitometry software.

2.2.7 RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time PCR

Livers were homogenized and RNA was isolated using Norgen Total RNA Isolation Kit. Total RNA (1-5 ug) were then reverse transcribed using oligoDT primers following the protocol of Invitrogen's SSIII RT reverse transcriptase. cDNA was then used for qRT PCR using Applied Biosystems Power Sybr Green. Plates were loaded with 20ul reaction per well including appropriate blanks and standard. (PCR cycle was as follows: 10min 95°C, 40x - 15sec 95°C, 60sec 60°C). Primers were designed by our laboratory and synthesized by MOBIX facility, McMaster University.

2.2.8 Mouse Liver Membrane Enrichment

Livers were perfused with saline followed by removal and chopping of the liver at 4°C. They were then homogenized in a 0.25M sucrose solution. After that, samples were centrifuged at 3000xG, and the supernatant was centrifuged at 170000xG yielding a pellet. The pellet was resuspended in RIPA buffer with protease inhibitors.

2.2.9 Immunoprecipitation

Liver lysates with equal amount of protein were immunoprecipitated using LDLR antibody and Protein A, prior to immunoblot analysis.

2.2.10 Lectins and Pull-Downs

We utilized SNA (Sambucus nigra agglutinin) which binds alpha 2,6 linkages of sialic acid and MAL (Maackia amurensis leucoagglutinin) which binds alpha 2,3 linkages of sialic acid. The biotin labelled lectins were incubated with lysates and pulled down with streptavidin. The enriched samples, containing glycoproteins pulled down by their sialic acids, were used for immunoblot analysis

2.2.11Trueblot Immunoprecipitation of PCSK9

Serum (200 ul) was incubated with anti-mouse PCSK9 antibody (courtesy of Dr. Nabil Seidah) and TrueBlot (30ul, eBioscience) agarose anti-rabbit beads overnight at 4°C. Samples were spun and washed with RIPA 5X. Resulting pellet was boiled in 60ul Laemlli Sample Buffer, spun down, and 30ul of the supernatant was subjected to SDS-PAGE and blotting with the same antibody. A special secondary antibody which only detects full length Immunoglobulins and not reduced ones was used on the western blot to avoid non-specific bands.

2.2.12 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses between groups of data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by Tukey Comparison Test and t test using Prism 5 (version 5.04). Error bars represent standard error of the mean. Data were considered statistically different only if p value is less than 0.05.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases serum cholesterol levels.

In order to determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on cholesterol levels of serum lipoproteins, we separated serum lipoproteins by size exclusion using Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography (FPLC) with a superose 6 gel filtration column. The cholesterol profiles of B6.SM mice show significantly lower cholesterol levels in low density lipoproteins (fractions 20 -30) than those of the corresponding C57Bl/6 controls as illustrated by the left shoulder difference (Fig. 2.3.1). Also, the HDL peak appears to shift slightly toward a higher fraction number (smaller apparent size), which may represent a smaller HDL particle in B6.SM mice (Vaisman et al., 1995; de Silva et al., 1994; Rigotti et al., 1997) (Fig.2.3.1). This result suggests that hypomorphic sialidase expression appears to lower cholesterol levels in LDL-sized particles because of the decreases observed in the IDL/LDL-sized fractions (fractions 20-30).

Fig. 2.3.1 FPLC cholesterol profiles of C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice. Serum lipoproteins from unfasted mice were fractionated by size using Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography (FPLC) using a superose 6 gel filtration column. The FPLC cholesterol profiles of the male B6.SM animals (n=3) have significantly less total cholesterol in LDL-sized particles than those of the corresponding C57Bl/6 controls (n=3). In addition, there is a tendency of the HDL peak to be shifted slightly to the right. Each circle represents mean±SE. (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle).

Fig. 2.3.1



2.3.2 Hypomorphic sialidase expression increases hepatic lipid levels.

In order to determine whether the altered cholesterol profile is caused by altered hepatic lipid metabolism, we have measured the hepatic total cholesterol, triglyceride, free cholesterol and cholesteryl ester levels in both the B6.SM and C57Bl/6 mice. We observed a significant increase in hepatic total cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and triglyceride in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice (Table 2.3.1). A trend of increase in hepatic free cholesterol of B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice is also observed. These results point to sialidase activity as playing a role in modulation of lipid metabolism in the liver.

2.3.3 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases *in vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipid production.

In order to determine whether the decrease in serum cholesterol levels is caused by a decrease in hepatic VLDL-lipid production, we have measured the lipid concentrations at several intervals post lipoprotein lipase inhibition. Administration of Triton WR1339 prevents the hydrolysis of triglyceride and the uptake of VLDL, and as a result, allows for the assessment of the production rates of VLDL-cholesterol and VLDL-triglyceride. Our results indicate that B6.SM mice have significantly lower production rates in VLDL-triglyceride and VLDL cholesterol over a 4-hour period (Fig. 2.3.2 A-D) (Table 2.3.2). These results show that hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases VLDL-cholesterol production which results in lower serum cholesterol levels in B6.SM mice.
In addition to the lipids, VLDL is composed of Apolipoprotein-B. Apolipoprotein B exists in VLDL, IDL and LDL. Therefore, it is useful as an indicator of quantities of these atherogenic lipoproteins. By Western blot analysis, we examined serum levels of Apo-B100 and Apo-B48 at 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours after Triton WR1339 injection in B6.SM and C57Bl/6 mice. No significant difference was observed in ApoB-100 or in Apo-B48 between C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice (Fig. 2.3.3 A and B). Therefore, these results indicate changes in the composition of VLDL and not a change in particle number, as each lipoprotein only bears one Apo-B molecule. This further leads us to consider levels of MTP which mediates loading of triglyceride to Apo-B during the formation of VLDL.

Table 2.3.1 Hepatic lipids levels in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice. Lipids from livers of C57Bl/6 (n=3) and B6.SM mice (n=3) were extracted using folch extraction. There is a significant increase in hepatic total cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and triglyceride levels in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 (P=0.048, P=0.02 and P=0.01 respectively). In addition, there is a trend of increase in hepatic free cholesterol levels in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 (P=0.19 respectively). Mean±SE are shown.

Table 2.3.1

	Hepatic total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mM)
CS7B16 Male	1.13±0.11	0.67±0.08	0.46±0.04	7.78±0.13
B6.SM Male	137±0.01*	0.76±0.04	0.61±0.004*	8.56±0.16*

Fig. 2.3.2 *In vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipid production in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice. Male C57Bl/6 (n=3) and male B6.SM mice (n=3) were fasted overnight and injected with Triton WR1339 (500mg/kg). Serum samples were drawn at just before the injection of Triton WR1339 (time 0 hour) and at 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the injection of Triton WR1339. There is a decrease in serum (A) VLDL-triglyceride, (B) VLDL-cholesterol, (C) VLDL-free cholesterol and (D) VLDL-cholesteryl esters concentrations in different indicated times after 0 hour (* denotes P<0.05). Note that there is a decrease in the steepness of the slope of the B6.SM mice compared to that of the C57Bl/6 mice. These imply that hypomorphic sialidase expression causes decreased hepatic VLDL-lipid production rates. Values represent the means \pm S.E. with n=3 in all groups.

Fig. 2.3.2



Table 2.3.2 *In vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipid production rates in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice. Male C57Bl/6 (n=3) and male B6.SM mice (n=3) were fasted overnight. Serum were collected at just before the administration of Triton WR1339 (time 0 hour) and at 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the administration of Triton WR1339. There is a significant decrease in hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol, VLDL-free cholesterol and VLDL-cholesteryl esters production rate in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice. Values represent the means±S.E. with n=3 in all groups.

Table 2.3.2

	Triglyceride PR (mM/hr	Total Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Free Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Cholesteryl Esters PR (mM/hr)
C57BL/6 Male	4.64 + 0.26	4.21 + 0.18	0.50 + 0.02	3.71 + 0.21
B6.SM Male	* 2.15 + 0.11	* 2.28 + 0.16	* 0.31 + 0.06	* 1.97 + 0.17

Fig. 2.3.3 Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice. Serum samples were obtained at just before the injection of Triton WR1339 (time 0 hour) and at 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the injection of Triton WR1339. Serum was subjected to SDS-PAGE (4-20%). Membranes were probed with anti-ApoB (goat anti-ApoB, 1:6000) and HRP-conjugated antibodies (donkey anti-goat, 1:10000). No significant difference was observed in serum (A) ApoB-100 and (B) ApoB-48 levels between C57Bl/6 (n=3) and B6.SM mice (n=3). Apo-B levels were determined by the intensities of ApoB bands normalized to IgG bands. Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software. This implied that decreased VLDL lipid secretion is not caused by decreased VLDL particle secretion. Fig. 2.3.3

А



В



2.3.4 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases hepatic MTP expression.

In order to explain the decreased loading of lipids to Apo-B, we evaluated the expression level of hepatic microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP). MTP is required for the secretion of Apo-B-containing lipoproteins from hepatocytes and from the enterocytes of the intestine (Gordon D., 1996; Wetterau et al., 1998). Our data show a significant decrease in hepatic MTP protein expression in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice (Fig. 2.3.4 A). As a result, the decrease in VLDLtriglyceride appears to be due to decreased protein expression of MTP. We also examined hepatic sterol regulatory element binding protein-2 (SREBP-2) protein expression and found a significant decrease in its expression in B6.SM mice (Fig. 2.3.4 B). It has been shown that MTP promoter contains sterol regulatory element binding protein response elements (Rubin et al., 2008; Sato et al., 1999). Furtheremore, we assessed the expression of hepatic acylCoA: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT2), which mediates esterification of hepatic cholesterol and found an increase in ACAT2 expression implying that there is sufficient excess of cholesterol esters (Fig. 2.3.4 C). Overall, the decrease in VLDL-lipid production rate observed in B6SM mice appears to be caused by decreased MTP expression which is due to down-regulated SREBP-2 levels.

57

Fig. 2.3.4 Hepatic MTP, SREBP2, ACAT2 expression in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM

mice. Liver lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE (8%). Membranes were probed with (A) anti-MTP (mouse anti-MTP, 1:2500), (B) anti-SREBP-2 (mouse anti-SREBP-2, 1:500), (C) anti-ACAT2 (mouse anti-ACAT2, 1:200), anti- β -actin (mouse anti- β -actin, 1:1000), or anti-beta-tubulin (moue anti-beta-tubulin, 1:1000) and HRP-conjugated antibodies (goat anti-mouse, 1:10000). Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software. B6.SM mice have shown a significant decrease in the protein expression of MTP (* denotes P<0.05) and SREBP2 (* denotes P<0.05) and a trend of increase in the protein expression of ACAT2 (P=0.11) in liver compared to C57BI/6 mice.



А



В



С



Hypomorphic sialidase expression attenuates hepatic expression of LDLR. 2.3.5 In order to determine whether the decrease in serum cholesterol levels in B6.SM mice is caused by an increase in uptake via increased expression of lipoprotein receptors, we have evaluated the hepatic expression of LDLR and LRP-1. Although there is no significant difference in hepatic protein levels of LRP-1 or LDLR in B6.SM male mice compared to C57Bl/6 controls (Fig. 2.3.5 A and B), there is a significant reduction in LDLR mRNA levels compared to C57Bl6 mice with no differences in hepatic SREBP-2 mRNA levels (Fig. 2.3.5 D). This is reasonable because an increase in hepatic cholesterol levels plays a role in reducing the cleaved form of SREBP-2 protein without affecting the SREBP-2 mRNA levels directly. The decrease in SREBP-2 protein expression observed in B6SM livers is consistent with a decrease in LDLR transcription since LDLR promoter contains SREBP-2 response elements. Thus, the maintanence at the protein level caused by hypomorphic sialidase expression can be attributed to a post translational mechanism such as slower receptor trafficking/recycling. In view of these results, we have measured the serum protein expression of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9), a SREBP-2 target gene that affects the turnover of the LDLR (Abifadel et al., 2003; Cohen et al., 2005; Seidah et al., 2003; Maxell and Breslow, 2004; Park et al., 2004). Our results indicate that B6.SM mice show a decrease in the serum protein expression of PCSK9 compared to C57Bl/6 mice (Fig. 2.3.5 C). It has been demonstrated that PCSK9 can bind to LDLR at the cell surface and target them for degradation instead of recycling (Horton et al., 2007). Therefore, the lower level of PCSK9 expression may result in an increase in the rate of receptor recycling and could be the reason behind the higher level of hepatic cholesterol in B6.SM mice.

In order to determine whether the hypomorphic sialidase expression is affecting the sialic acids on LDLR in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice, we performed lectin pull downs followed by western blotting. Membrane enriched liver lysates were pulled down with streptavidin using biotin labelled SNA or MAL II which bind specific alpha 2,6 and alpha 2,3 linkages of sialic acid respectively. This was followed by LDLR blotting to assess how much LDLR was pulled down via the sialic acids. We have included control samples blotted for total LDLR to ensure equal starting amounts. We have observed higher levels of LDLR-associated sialic acid in livers of B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 (Fig 2.3.5 E). Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression leads to hypersialylation of LDLR which may affect the binding of the LDLR.

Fig. 2.3.5 mRNA-independent preservation of LDLR protein expression via decreased PCSK9 expression in B6.SM mice. (A) B6.SM male mice have equal hepatic protein levels of LDLR compared to C57Bl/6 controls. Liver lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blotting for LDLR and SR-BI (as a control). Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software (* denotes P<0.05; n=3 in each group). (B) B6.SM male mice have a trend of increase in hepatic protein levels of LRP-1 compared to C57Bl/6 mice. (C) PCSK9 trueblot immunoprecipitation of B6.SM and C57Bl/6 mouse serum. B6.SM mice have lower levels of secreted PCSK9 compared to C57Bl/6 controls. (D) B6.SM mice have lower levels of hepatic LDLR mRNA compared to C57Bl/6 controls while showing no difference in SREBP-2 mRNA (* denotes P<0.05; n=3 in each group). (E) LDLR from B6.SM mice have higher levels of terminal α -2,6 linked and α -2,3 linked sialic acids when compared to C57Bl/6 mice. Sialylated conjugates from membraneenriched liver lysates (equal protein) were pulled down using biotinylated SNA and MALII lectins followed by streptavidin sepharose. Pulled down glycoproteins were immunoblotted for LDLR. Control LDLR blotting of LDLR IP samples show no starting difference between C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice.

Fig. 2.3.5

А



В





ß actin











Fig. 2.3.5

D



E



2.3.6 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases intestinal MTP and SREBP2 expression.

The intestine contributes to the production of ApoB48-containing lipoproteins and is another important compartment for manipulating lipoprotein metabolism. Most importantly, MTP is highly expressed in the intestine in addition to the liver. Therefore, we evaluated the intestinal expression of MTP protein by western blotting. There is a significant decrease in intestinal MTP of sialidase-deficient mice compared to controls (Fig. 2.3.6 A). ApoB-48 is the only ApoB secreted from the enterocytes and its production implicates intestinal chylomicron production. Thus, we evaluated the intestinal expression of ApoB-48 protein and observed that intestinal ApoB-48 is significantly decreased in sialidase-deficient mice compared to controls (Fig. 2.3.6 B). In addition, there is a significant decrease in SREBP-2 in sialidase-deficient mice compared to controls (Fig. 2.3.6 C). Taken together, these imply that hypomorphic sialidase expression reduces the intestinal MTP level via decreased intestinal SREBP-2 which eventually leads to decreased chylomicron production. These results implicate a common molecular switch between the liver and intestine which maintains higher levels of hepatic cholesterol and triglycerides in the livers. **Fig. 2.3.6 Intestinal MTP, ApoB-48 and SREBP-2 expression in C57Bl/6 and B6.SM mice.** Lamina propria of proximal jejunum lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE (8%). Membranes were probed with anti-MTP (mouse anti-MTP, 1:2500), anti-ApoB-48 (goat anti-ApoB, 1:6000), anti-SREBP-2 (mouse anti-SREBP-2, 1:500), or anti-GADPH (goat anti-GADPH, 1:2000) and HRP-conjugated antibodies (donkey anti-goat or goat anti-mouse, 1:10000). Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software. B6.SM mice have shown a significant decrease in the protein expression of intestinal (A) MTP (* denotes P<0.05), (B) ApoB-48 (* denotes P<0.05) and (C) SREBP-2 (* denotes P<0.05) compared to C57Bl/6 mice.

Fig. 2.3.6

А





2.4 Discussion

In this study, we examined lipoprotein metabolism in a unique mouse model expressing hypomorphic levels of sialidase (neu1). While sialylation of lipoproteins and lipoprotein receptors has been invoked frequently as an important determinant in lipoprotein metabolism, little has been reported toward dissecting the impact of sialidase (neu1) on lipoprotein production or clearance.

Our study has revealed a significant decrease in cholesterol levels in the IDL/LDLsized particles in the B6.SM mice with a shift in the HDL-sized particles' peak in our FPLC cholesterol profiles. We demonstrated that hypomorphic sialidase mice have lower serum cholesterol levels as a result of lower hepatic VLDL production and higher hepatic LDL uptake. In addition, higher levels of hepatic esterified cholesterol as a result of high level of Acyl-CoA: cholesterol acyltransferase (ACAT2) expression were observed in hypomorphic sialidase mice. ACAT2 is an ER-bound intracellular enzyme that forms cholesterol esters from cholesterol. ACAT2 activity decreases the solubility of cholesterol and prevents its incorporation into lipid membranes. As ACAT2 is mostly expressed in hepatocytes and enterocytes, ACAT2-derived CE can be packaged directly into VLDL via MTP or stored as neutral lipid droplets in the cytosol. The latter option is more likely since B6.SM mice show reduced lipid incorporation.

Our observations of higher hepatic cholesterol levels resulting in lower hepatic SREBP-2 and lower MTP is consistent with previous studies. The antibody shows

band for the cleaved form of the SREBP-2 instead of the uncleaved form. SREBP-2 is typically bound to SCAP which can escort SREBP to the Golgi where Site-1 and Site-2 protease can convert SREBP to its cleaved form which in turn induces the transcription of genes involved in cholesterol synthesis (Brown and Goldstein, 1997). As intracellular cholesterol levels increase in heptocytes of hypomorphic sialidase mice, Insig can bind to SCAP. The insig and SCAP complex will lock SREBP in the ER (Sun et al., 2005) limiting the transcriptional activation of cholesterol synthesis genes as well as the MTP and LDLR genes. We conclude that the decreased hepatic expression of MTP in B6SM mice is likely due to reduction in hepatic SREBP-2. Interestingly, B6.SM mice have no significant difference in hepatic SREBP-2 mRNA compared to C57B1/6 mice as determined by quantitative RT-PCR. Therefore, our model indicates that the decreased SREBP-2 protein expression is a direct result of the altered cholesterol levels in the liver and not a downstream negative feedback on SREBP-2 gene transcription. For the SREBP-mediated effect of MTP, Sato and colleagues have shown that SREBP negatively regulates MTP gene transcription (Sato et al., 1999). However, Horton and colleagues have reported that transgenic mice overexpressing SREBP-2, but not SREBP-1, can positively regulate MTP gene transcription (Horton et al., 1998; Horton et al., 1999). Nevertheless, Bartels and coworkers have demonstrated that SREBP-1 positively regulates MTP gene transcription (Bartels et al., 2002). Our results appear to be consistent with the work reported by Horton and colleagues by showing that a decreased hepatic expression of MTP is regulated by a decreased expression of SREBP-2. The contradictory results between the reports can be due to the lipid level in the liver as SREBP is affected by intracellular cholesterol level as discussed above. In addition, this altered SREBP level can cause changes in the level of transcription facuters such as hepatic nuclear factor 4 (HNF-4) and/or activator protein 1 (AP-1) (Hagan et al., 1994). These transcription factors are capable to modulate MTP gene transcription (Hagan et al., 1994).

Hepatic cholesterol is typically dependent on LDL endocytosis via LDLR or chyomicron uptake via LRP-1. The stabilized levels of hepatic LDLR in the hypomorphic sialidase mice appear to be due to post-translational events since LDLR mRNA level is in fact lower in B6SM mice livers. The hypersialylation of LDLR appears to increase the effeciency of LDL endocytosis indicating that sialidase typically targets LDLR for processing, most likely in a late endosomal/recycling compartment. Interestingly, the levels of PCSK9 which are dependent on SREBP-2 are lower in hypomorphic sialidase mice enabling LDLR protein to recycle more and potentially to endocytose more LDL from serum. This sialidase-dependent increase in LDLR recycling is an interesting aspect of this work which requires further investigation.

In addition to the liver, the intestine contributes significantly to lipoprotein metabolism. Chylomicron production by entrocytes requires MTP to load lipids to ApoB-48 (Hussain M., 2000; Xiao et al., 2011). We have observed a significant decrease in SREBP-2, MTP and ApoB-48 in entrocytes from hypomorphic sialidase mice compared to C57Bl6 mice. Intestinal absorption involves several transporter proteins including adenosine-triphosphate binding cassette A1 (ABCA1), ABCG5, ABCG8, Niemann-Pick C1 like 1 (NPC1L1) and scavenger receptor class B type 1

(SR-BI). NPC1L1 and SR-BI are responsible for intestinal uptake of cholesterol (Sane et al., 2006). NPC1L1-deficient mice have 69% reduction in cholesterol absorption (Kramer et al., 2005). NPC1L1 is heavily glycoslylated (Iyer et al., 2005) and is shown to be regulated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) by decreasing its transcription, and thereby decreasing intestinal cholesterol absorption (van der Veen et al., 2005). ABCG5 and ABCG8 deficient mice have increased cholesterol absorption efficiency (Yu et al., 2002b). Overexpression of ABCG5 and ABCG8 in mice reduces cholesterol absorption (Plösch et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2002a; Yu et al., 2003). Transcription of ABCG5 and ABCG8 is regulated by liver X receptor (LXR) (Zelcer and Tontonoz, 2006). SR-BI deficient mice show minor reduction of cholesterol absorption (Mardones et al., 2001). Overexpression of SR-BI specific in intestine leads to increased cholesterol absorption (Bietrix et al., 2006). Mice deficient in ABCA1 show minor effects in cholesterol absorption (Drobnik et al., 2001; McNeish et al., 2000). Therefore, ABCA1, ABCG5, ABCG8, NPC1L1 and SR-BI are potential targets for further studies of the impact of sialidase deficieny on intestinal cholesterol absorption. We deduce that the reduction in cholesterol levels is due to a decreased production of the chylomicron from the enterocytes in addition to a reduced production of hepatic VLDL. Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression modulates lipoprotein metabolism in both the liver and intestine. While it was expected to see lower levels of serum cholesterol levels as a result of lower chylmomicron production, the significantly higher cholesterol levels in the liver was not expected. It points to a dysregulation of hepatic cholesterol uptake as a result of the sialidase expression in the liver.

Overexpression of PCSK9 typically causes an increase in LDL cholesterol levels (Maxwell and Breslow, 2004). While overexpression of PCSK9 has no effect on LDLR mRNA levels, LDLR protein was nearly not detected (Maxwell and Breslow, 2004). PCSK9 gene transcription is regulated by SREBP-2 (Horton et al., 2003; Maxwell et al., 2003). PCSK9 has a SRE in the promoter region which enables SREBP-2 binding (Dubuc et al., 2004; Jeong et al., 2008). As a result, PCSK9 is highly responsive to changes in intracellular cholesterol levels and as seen in B6.SM mice, increased hepatic cholesterol levels lower hepatic SREBP-2, which in turn result in reduction in the transcription of the PCSK9 gene. Therefore, the observed decrease in hepatic PCSK9 in B6.SM mice would be expected to increase the half life of LDL receptors. In fact, we have observed a maintenance in hepatic LDLR protein in B6.SM mice. Various studies have implicated PCSK9 in the degradation and turnover of LDLR (Park et al., 2004; Benjannet et al., 2004; Maxwell et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2005). Currently, three major lines of evidence pointing to the role of PCSK9 in LDLR degradation have been suggested. First, cells overexpressing PCSK9 with clathrin heavy chain deficiency show a reduction in LDLR degradation (Nassoury et al. 2007). Second, PCSK9 co-localizes with markers of late endocytic compartment (Legace et al., 2006; Benjannet al., 2006). Specifically, PCSK9-mediated degradation of LDLR occurs in the lysosomal pathway as demonstrated by the inhibitory effects of acidotropic agents (Lagace et al., 2006; Benjann et al., 2004; Maxwell et al., 2005; Nassoury et al., 2007; Holla et al., 2007). Third, PCSK9 requires the epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeat A of the LDLR for it to bind (Kwon et al., 2008). It has been reported that the structure of PCSK9 rather than its catalytic activity is responsible for inducing LDLR degradation (Grefhorst et al., 2008; Li et al., 2007;

McNutt et al., 2007; Schmidt et al., 2008). However, it remains to be determined if sialylation has an impact on the formation of PCSK9-LDLR complex which leads to LDLR degradation. The binding site of PCSK9 has been localized to the EGF-like repeat A domain of the LDLR. Whether the EGF-A region contains hypersialylated glycosylation sites which are targets of sialidase is still to be determined.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that the changes in lipoprotein metabolism observed in hypomorphic sialidase mice are mediated by both a decrease in the production of VLDL-lipid in the liver which is mediated by a reduced MTP expression and an increase in uptake of LDL regulated by an increased stabilization of LDLR. Taken together, these events are predictive to lead to an overall atheroprotective effect through lowering LDL cholesterol in serum. These findings provided evidence for a central role for sialidase in the cross talk between the uptake and production of lipoproteins.

References

Abifadel M, Varret M, Rabes JP, Allard D, Ouguerram K, Devillers M, Cruaud C, Benjannet S, Wickham L, Erlich D, Derre A, Villeger L, Farnier M, Beucler I, Bruckert E, Chambaz J, Chanu B, Lecerf JM, Luc G, Moulin P, Weissenbach J, Prat A, Krempf M, Junien C, Seidah NG, Boileau C. Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat Genet. 2003 Jun;34(2):154-6.

Amith SR, Jayanth P, Franchuk S, Finlay T, Seyrantepe V, Beyaert R, Pshezhetsky AV, Szewczuk MR. Neu1 desialylation of sialyl alpha-2,3-linked beta-galactosyl residues of TOLL-like receptor 4 is essential for receptor activation and cellular signaling. Cell Signal. 2010 Feb;22(2):314-24.

Amith SR, Jayanth P, Franchuk S, Siddiqui S, Seyrantepe V, Gee K, Basta S, Beyaert R, Pshezhetsky AV, Szewczuk MR. Dependence of pathogen molecule-induced tolllike receptor activation and cell function on Neu1 sialidase. Glycoconj J. 2009 Dec;26(9):1197-212.

Bartels ED, Lauritsen M, Nielsen LB. Hepatic expression of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein and in vivo secretion of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins are increased in obese diabetic mice. Diabetes. 2002 Apr;51(4):1233-9.

Benjannet S, Rhainds D, Essalmani R, Mayne J, Wickham L, Jin W, Asselin MC, Hamelin J, Varret M, Allard D, Trillard M, Abifadel M, Tebon A, Attie AD, Rader DJ, Boileau C, Brissette L, Chretien M, Prat A, Seidah NG. NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. J Biol Chem. 2004 Nov 19;279(47):48865-75.

Benjannet S, Rhainds D, Hamelin J, Nassoury N, Seidah NG. The proprotein convertase (PC) PCSK9 is inactivated by furin and/or PC5/6A: functional consequences of natural mutations and post-translational modifications. J Biol Chem. 2006 Oct 13;281(41):30561-72.

Bietrix F, Yan D, Nauze M, Rolland C, Bertrand-Michel J, Coméra C, Schaak S, Barbaras R, Groen AK, Perret B, Tercé F, Collet X. Accelerated lipid absorption in mice overexpressing intestinal SR-BI. J Biol Chem. 2006 Mar 17;281(11):7214-9.

Bonten E, van der Spoel A, Fornerod M, Grosveld G, d'Azzo A. Characterization of human lysosomal neuraminidase defines the molecular basis of the metabolic storage disorder sialidosis. Genes Dev. 1996 Dec 15;10(24):3156-69.

Bonten EJ, Galjart NJ, Willemsen R, Usmany M, Vlak JM, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal protective protein/cathepsin A. Role of the "linker" domain in catalytic activation. J Biol Chem. 1995 Nov 3;270(44):26441-5.

Braesch-Andersen S, Stamenkovic I. Sialylation of the B lymphocyte molecule CD22 by alpha 2,6-sialyltransferase is implicated in the regulation of CD22-mediated adhesion. J Biol Chem. 1994 Apr 22;269(16):11783-6.

Brown MS and Goldstein JL. The SREBP pathway: Regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell. 1997 89: 331-340.

Carrillo MB, Milner CM, Ball ST, Snoek M, Campbell RD. Cloning and characterization of a sialidase from the murine histocompatibility-2 complex: low levels of mRNA and a single amino acid mutation are responsible for reduced sialidase activity in mice carrying the Neu1a allele. Glycobiology. 1997 Oct;7(7):975-86.

Champigny MJ, Mitchell M, Fox-Robichaud A, Trigatti BL, Igdoura SA. A point mutation in the neu1 promoter recruits an ectopic repressor, Nkx3.2 and results in a mouse model of sialidase deficiency. Mol Genet Metab. 2009 May;97(1):43-52.

Clark EA, Engel D, Windsor NT. Immune responsiveness of SM/J mice: hyper NK cell activity mediated by NK 1+ Qa 5- cells. J Immunol. 1981 Dec;127(6):2391-5.

Cohen J, Pertsemlidis A, Kotowski IK, Graham R, Garcia CK, Hobbs HH. Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet. 2005 Feb;37(2):161-5.

Collard JG, Schijven JF, Bikker A, La Riviere G, Bolscher JG, Roos E. Cell surface sialic acid and the invasive and metastatic potential of T-cell hybridomas. Cancer Res. 1986 Jul;46(7):3521-7.

Comelli EM, Amado M, Lustig SR, Paulson JC. Identification and expression of Neu4, a novel murine sialidase. Gene. 2003 Dec 4;321:155-61.

Cross AS, Sakarya S, Rifat S, Held TK, Drysdale BE, Grange PA, Cassels FJ, Wang LX, Stamatos N, Farese A, Casey D, Powell J, Bhattacharjee AK, Kleinberg M, Goldblum SE. Recruitment of murine neutrophils in vivo through endogenous sialidase activity. J Biol Chem. 2003 Feb 7;278(6):4112-20.

Cross AS, Wright DG. Mobilization of sialidase from intracellular stores to the surface of human neutrophils and its role in stimulated adhesion responses of these cells. J Clin Invest. 1991 Dec;88(6):2067-76.

Cuff CA, Kothapalli D, Azonobi I, Chun S, Zhang Y, Belkin R, Yeh C, Secreto A, Assoian RK, Rader DJ, Pure E. The adhesion receptor CD44 promotes atherosclerosis by mediating inflammatory cell recruitment and vascular cell activation. J Clin Invest. 2001 Oct;108(7):1031-40.

de Silva HV, Mas-Oliva J, Taylor JM, Mahley RW. Identification of apolipoprotein B-100 low density lipoproteins, apolipoprotein B-48 remnants, and apolipoprotein E-rich high density lipoproteins in the mouse. J Lipid Res. 1994 Jul;35(7):1297-310.

Drobnik W, Lindenthal B, Lieser B, Ritter M, Christiansen Weber T, Liebisch G, Giesa U, Igel M, Borsukova H, Büchler C, Fung-Leung WP, Von Bergmann K, Schmitz G. ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) affects total body sterol metabolism. Gastroenterology. 2001 Apr;120(5):1203-11.

Dubuc G, Chamberland A, Wassef H, Davignon J, Seidah NG, Bernier L, Prat A. Statins upregulate PCSK9, the gene encoding the proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase-1 implicated in familial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Aug;24(8):1454-9.

Feng C, Zhang L, Almulki L, Faez S, Whitford M, Hafezi-Moghadam A, Cross AS. Endogenous PMN sialidase activity exposes activation epitope on CD11b/CD18 which enhances its binding interaction with ICAM-1. J Leukoc Biol. 2011 Aug;90(2):313-21.

Ferrari J, Harris R, Warner TG. Cloning and expression of a soluble sialidase from Chinese hamster ovary cells: sequence alignment similarities to bacterial sialidases. Glycobiology. 1994 Jun;4(3):367-7.

Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 expression in human myeloid cell differentiation is regulated by sialidase activity. Nat Chem Biol. 2008 Dec;4(12):751-7.

Galjart NJ, Gillemans N, Harris A, van der Horst GT, Verheijen FW, Galjaard H, d'Azzo A. Expression of cDNA encoding the human "protective protein" associated with lysosomal beta-galactosidase and neuraminidase: homology to yeast proteases. Cell. 1988 Sep 9;54(6):755-64.

Galjart NJ, Morreau H, Willemsen R, Gillemans N, Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Human lysosomal protective protein has cathepsin A-like activity distinct from its protective function. J Biol Chem. 1991 Aug 5;266(22):14754-62.

Gee K, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces functionally active hyaluronan-adhesive CD44 by activating sialidase through p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytic cells. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37275-87.

Gordon DA, Jamil H, Gregg RE, Olofsson SO, Boren J. Inhibition of the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein blocks the first step of apolipoprotein B lipoprotein assembly but not the addition of bulk core lipids in the second step. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 20;271(51):33047-53.

Grefhorst A, McNutt MC, Lagace TA, Horton JD. Plasma PCSK9 preferentially reduces liver LDL receptors in mice. J Lipid Res. 2008 Jun;49(6):1303-11.

Hagan DL, Kienzle B, Jamil H, Hariharan N. Transcriptional regulation of human and hamster microsomal triglyceride transfer protein genes. Cell type-specific expression and response to metabolic regulators. J Biol Chem. 1994 Nov 18;269(46):28737-44.

Holla OL, Cameron J, Berge KE, Ranheim T, Leren TP. Degradation of the LDL receptors by PCSK9 is not mediated by a secreted protein acted upon by PCSK9 extracellularly. BMC Cell Biol. 2007 Mar 1;8:9.

Horton JD, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Molecular biology of PCSK9: its role in LDL metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci. 2007 Feb;32(2):71-7.

Horton JD, Shimomura I, Brown MS, Hammer RE, Goldstein JL, Shimano H. Activation of cholesterol synthesis in preference to fatty acid synthesis in liver and adipose tissue of transgenic mice overproducing sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. J Clin Invest. 1998 Jun 1;101(11):2331-9.

Horton JD, Shah NA, Warrington JA, Anderson NN, Park SW, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Combined analysis of oligonucleotide microarray data from transgenic and knockout mice identifies direct SREBP target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Oct 14;100(21):12027-32.

Horton JD, Shimano H, Hamilton RL, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Disruption of LDL receptor gene in transgenic SREBP-1a mice unmasks hyperlipidemia resulting from production of lipid-rich VLDL. J Clin Invest. 1999 Apr;103(7):1067-76.

Hussain MM. A proposed model for the assembly of chylomicrons. Atherosclerosis. 2000 Jan;148(1):1-15.

Igdoura SA, Gafuik C, Mertineit C, Saberi F, Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M, Trasler JM, Gravel RA. Cloning of the cDNA and gene encoding mouse lysosomal sialidase and correction of sialidase deficiency in human sialidosis and mouse SM/J fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Jan;7(1):115-21.

Iyer SP, Yao X, Crona JH, Hoos LM, Tetzloff G, Davis HR Jr, Graziano MP, Altmann SW. Characterization of the putative native and recombinant rat sterol transporter Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 (NPC1L1) protein. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005 Apr 15;1722(3):282-92.

Jeong HJ, Lee HS, Kim KS, Kim YK, Yoon D, Park SW. Sterol-dependent regulation of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 expression by sterol-regulatory element binding protein-2. J Lipid Res. 2008 Feb;49(2):399-409.

Katoh S, Kaminuma O, Hiroi T, Mori A, Ohtomo T, Maeda S, Shimizu H, Obase Y, Oka M. CD44 is critical for airway accumulation of antigen-specific Th2, but not Th1, cells induced by antigen challenge in mice. Eur J Immunol. 2011 Nov;41(11):3198-207. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141521.

Katoh S, Maeda S, Fukuoka H, Wada T, Moriya S, Mori A, Yamaguchi K, Senda S, Miyagi T. A crucial role of sialidase Neu1 in hyaluronan receptor function of CD44 in T helper type 2-mediated airway inflammation of murine acute asthmatic model. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010 Aug;161(2):233-41.

Katoh S, Miyagi T, Taniguchi H, Matsubara Y, Kadota J, Tominaga A, Kincade PW, Matsukura S, Kohno S. Cutting edge: an inducible sialidase regulates the hyaluronic acid binding ability of CD44-bearing human monocytes. J Immunol. 1999 May 1;162(9):5058-61.

Khan AI, Kerfoot SM, Heit B, Liu L, Andonegui G, Ruffell B, Johnson P, Kubes P. Role of CD44 and hyaluronan in neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol. 2004 Dec 15;173(12):7594-601.

Kramer W, Girbig F, Corsiero D, Pfenninger A, Frick W, Jähne G, Rhein M, Wendler W, Lottspeich F, Hochleitner EO, Orsó E, Schmitz G. Aminopeptidase N (CD13) is a molecular target of the cholesterol absorption inhibitor ezetimibe in the enterocyte brush border membrane. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jan 14;280(2):1306-20.

Kwon HJ, Lagace TA, McNutt MC, Horton JD, Deisenhofer J. Molecular basis for LDL receptor recognition by PCSK9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008 Feb 12;105(6):1820-5.

Lagace TA, Curtis DE, Garuti R, McNutt MC, Park SW, Prather HB, Anderson NN, Ho YK, Hammer RE, Horton JD. Secreted PCSK9 decreases the number of LDL receptors in hepatocytes and in livers of parabiotic mice. J Clin Invest. 2006 Nov;116(11):2995-3005.

Lambré CR, Greffard A, Gattegno L, Saffar L. Modifications of sialidase activity during the monocyte-macrophage differentiation in vitro. Immunol Lett. 1990 Jan;23(3):179-82.

Li J, Tumanut C, Gavigan JA, Huang WJ, Hampton EN, Tumanut R, Suen KF, Trauger JW, Spraggon G, Lesley SA, Liau G, Yowe D, Harris JL. Secreted PCSK9 promotes LDL receptor degradation independently of proteolytic activity. Biochem J. 2007 Sep 1;406(2):203-7.

Liang F, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Ahmad R, Ahmad A, Stamatos NM, Pshezhetsky AV. Monocyte differentiation up-regulates the expression of the lysosomal sialidase, Neu1, and triggers its targeting to the plasma membrane via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive compartments. J Biol Chem. 2006 Sep 15;281(37):27526-38.

Mardones P, Quiñones V, Amigo L, Moreno M, Miquel JF, Schwarz M, Miettinen HE, Trigatti B, Krieger M, VanPatten S, Cohen DE, Rigotti A. Hepatic cholesterol and bile acid metabolism and intestinal cholesterol absorption in scavenger receptor class B type I-deficient mice. J Lipid Res. 2001 Feb;42(2):170-80.

Maxwell KN, Breslow JL. Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 May 4;101(18):7100-5.

Maxwell KN, Fisher EA, Breslow JL. Overexpression of PCSK9 accelerates the degradation of the LDLR in a post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Feb 8;102(6):2069-74.

Maxwell KN, Soccio RE, Duncan EM, Sehayek E, Breslow JL. Novel putative SREBP and LXR target genes identified by microarray analysis in liver of cholesterol-fed mice. J Lipid Res. 2003 Nov;44(11):2109-19.

McNeish J, Aiello RJ, Guyot D, Turi T, Gabel C, Aldinger C, Hoppe KL, Roach ML, Royer LJ, de Wet J, Broccardo C, Chimini G, Francone OL. High density lipoprotein deficiency and foam cell accumulation in mice with targeted disruption of ATP-binding cassette transporter-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Apr 11;97(8):4245-50.

McNutt MC, Lagace TA, Horton JD. Catalytic activity is not required for secreted PCSK9 to reduce low density lipoprotein receptors in HepG2 cells. J Biol Chem. 2007 Jul 20;282(29):20799-803.

Miyagi T, Wada T, Iwamatsu A, Hata K, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Sawada M. Molecular cloning and characterization of a plasma membrane-associated sialidase specific for gangliosides. J Biol Chem. 1999 Feb 19;274(8):5004-11.

Monti E, Bassi MT, Bresciani R, Civini S, Croci GL, Papini N, Riboni M, Zanchetti G, Ballabio A, Preti A, Tettamanti G, Venerando B, Borsani G. Molecular cloning and characterization of NEU4, the fourth member of the human sialidase gene family. Genomics. 2004 Mar;83(3):445-53.

Monti E, Preti A, Rossi E, Ballabio A, Borsani G. Cloning and characterization of NEU2, a human gene homologous to rodent soluble sialidases. Genomics. 1999 Apr 1;57(1):137-43.

Nassoury N, Blasiole DA, Tebon Oler A, Benjannet S, Hamelin J, Poupon V, McPherson PS, Attie AD, Prat A, Seidah NG. The cellular trafficking of the secretory proprotein convertase PCSK9 and its dependence on the LDLR. Traffic. 2007 Jun;8(6):718-32.

O'Brien JS, Warner TG. Sialidosis: delineation of subtypes by neuraminidase assay. Clin Genet. 1980 Jan;17(1):35-8.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN, Mikhailenko IA. Modification of low density lipoprotein by desialylation causes lipid accumulation in cultured cells: discovery of desialylated lipoprotein with altered cellular metabolism in the blood of atherosclerotic patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1989 Jul 14;162(1):206-11.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN. Desialylated low density lipoprotein--naturally occurring modified lipoprotein with atherogenic potency. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Feb;86(2-3):153-61.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Smirnov VN, Via DP, Guevara J Jr, Gotto AM Jr, Morrisett JD. Sialic acid content of human low density lipoproteins affects their interaction with cell receptors and intracellular lipid accumulation. J Lipid Res. 1992 Jun;33(6):805-17.

Pappu BP, Shrikant PA. Alteration of cell surface sialylation regulates antigeninduced naive CD8+ T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004 Jul 1;173(1):275-84.

Park SW, Moon YA, Horton JD. Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. J Biol Chem. 2004 Nov 26;279(48):50630-8.

Pilatte Y, Bignon J, Lambre CR. Sialic acids as important molecules in the regulation of the immune system: pathophysiological implications of sialidases in immunity. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):201-18.

Plösch T, Bloks VW, Terasawa Y, Berdy S, Siegler K, Van Der Sluijs F, Kema IP, Groen AK, Shan B, Kuipers F, Schwarz M. Sitosterolemia in ABC-transporter G5-deficient mice is aggravated on activation of the liver-X receptor. Gastroenterology. 2004 Jan;126(1):290-300.

Potier M, Lu Shun Yan D, Womack JE. Neuraminidase deficiency in the mouse. FEBS Lett. 1979 Dec 15;108(2):345-8.

Pshezhetsky AV, Richard C, Michaud L, Igdoura S, Wang S, Elsliger MA, Qu J, Leclerc D, Gravel R, Dallaire L, Potier M. Cloning, expression and chromosomal mapping of human lysosomal sialidase and characterization of mutations in sialidosis.Nat Genet. 1997 Mar;15(3):316-20.

Reuter G, Gabius HJ. Sialic acids structure-analysis-metabolism-occurrence-recognition. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler. 1996 Jun;377(6):325-42.

Rigotti A, Trigatti BL, Penman M, Rayburn H, Herz J, Krieger M. A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Nov 11;94(23):12610-5.

Rottier RJ, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. A point mutation in the neu-1 locus causes the neuraminidase defect in the SM/J mouse. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Feb;7(2):313-21.

Rubin D, Schneider-Muntau A, Klapper M, Nitz L, Helwig U, Folsch UR, Schrezenmeir J, Doring F. Functional analysis of promoter variants in the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTTP) gene. Hum Mutat. 2008 Jan;29(1):123-9.

Sakarya S, Rifat S, Zhou J, Bannerman DD, Stamatos NM, Cross AS, Goldblum SE. Mobilization of neutrophil sialidase activity desialylates the pulmonary vascular endothelial surface and increases resting neutrophil adhesion to and migration across the endothelium. Glycobiology. 2004 Jun;14(6):481-94.

Sané AT, Sinnett D, Delvin E, Bendayan M, Marcil V, Ménard D, Beaulieu JF, Levy E. Localization and role of NPC1L1 in cholesterol absorption in human intestine. J Lipid Res. 2006 Oct;47(10):2112-20.

Sato R, Miyamoto W, Inoue J, Terada T, Imanaka T, Maeda M. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein negatively regulates microsomal triglyceride transfer protein gene transcription. J Biol Chem. 1999 Aug 27;274(35):24714-20.

Schmidt RJ, Beyer TP, Bensch WR, Qian YW, Lin A, Kowala M, Alborn WE, Konrad RJ, Cao G. Secreted proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 reduces both hepatic and extrahepatic low-density lipoprotein receptors in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008 Jun 13;370(4):634-40.

Seidah NG, Benjannet S, Wickham L, Marcinkiewicz J, Jasmin SB, Stifani S, Basak A, Prat A, Chretien M. The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Feb 4;100(3):928-33.

Seyrantepe V, Hinek A, Peng J, Fedjaev M, Ernest S, Kadota Y, Canuel M, Itoh K, Morales CR, Lavoie J, Tremblay J, Pshezhetsky AV. Enzymatic activity of lysosomal carboxypeptidase (cathepsin) A is required for proper elastic fiber formation and inactivation of endothelin-1. Circulation. 2008 Apr 15;117(15):1973-81.

Sobenin IA, Tertov VV, Orekhov AN, Smirnov VN. Synergetic effect of desialylated and glycated low density lipoproteins on cholesterol accumulation in cultured smooth muscle intimal cells. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Aug;89(2-3):151-4.

Stamatos NM, Liang F, Nan X, Landry K, Cross AS, Wang LX, Pshezhetsky AV. Differential expression of endogenous sialidases of human monocytes during cellular differentiation into macrophages. FEBS J. 2005 May;272(10):2545-56.

Sun XM, Eden ER, Tosi I, Neuwirth CK, Wile D, Naoumova RP, Soutar AK. Evidence for effect of mutant PCSK9 on apolipoprotein B secretion as the cause of unusually severe dominant hypercholesterolaemia. Hum Mol Genet. 2005 May 1;14(9):1161-9.

Sun LP, Li L, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Insig required for sterol-mediated inhibition of Scap/SREBP binding to COPII proteins in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 2005 280: 26483-26490.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Gabbasov ZA, Popov EG, Jaakkola O, Solakivi T, Nikkari T, Smirnov VN, Orekhov AN. Multiple-modified desialylated low density lipoproteins that cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Isolation, fractionation and characterization. Lab Invest. 1992 Nov;67(5):665-75.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Orekhov AN. Characterization of desialylated low-density lipoproteins which cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Int J Tissue React. 1992;14(4):155-62.

Vaisman BL, Klein HG, Rouis M, Berard AM, Kindt MR, Talley GD, Meyn SM, Hoyt RF Jr, Marcovina SM, Albers JJ, et al. Overexpression of human lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase leads to hyperalphalipoproteinemia in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. 1995 May 19;270(20):12269-75.

van der Horst GT, Galjart NJ, d'Azzo A, Galjaard H, Verheijen FW. Identification and in vitro reconstitution of lysosomal neuraminidase from human placenta. J Biol Chem. 1989 Jan 15;264(2):1317-22.

van der Spoel A, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. Transport of human lysosomal neuraminidase to mature lysosomes requires protective protein/cathepsin A. EMBO J. 1998 Mar 16;17(6):1588-97.

van der Veen JN, Kruit JK, Havinga R, Baller JF, Chimini G, Lestavel S, Staels B, Groot PH, Groen AK, Kuipers F. Reduced cholesterol absorption upon PPARdelta activation coincides with decreased intestinal expression of NPC1L1. J Lipid Res. 2005 Mar;46(3):526-34.

Varki A. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J. 1997 Mar;11(4):248-55.

Wada T, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Kuwabara M, Akita H, Miyagi T. Cloning, expression, and chromosomal mapping of a human ganglioside sialidase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999 Jul 22;261(1):21-7.

Wetterau JR, Gregg RE, Harrity TW, Arbeeny C, Cap M, Connolly F, Chu CH, George RJ, Gordon DA, Jamil H, Jolibois KG, Kunselman LK, Lan SJ, Maccagnan TJ, Ricci B, Yan M, Young D, Chen Y, Fryszman OM, Logan JV, Musial CL, Poss MA, Robl JA, Simpkins LM, Slusarchyk WA, Sulsky R, Taunk P, Magnin DR, Tino JA, Lawrence RM, Dickson JK Jr, Biller SA. An MTP inhibitor that normalizes atherogenic lipoprotein levels in WHHL rabbits. Science. 1998 Oct 23;282(5389):751-4.

Womack JE, Yan DL, Potier M. Gene for neuraminidase activity on mouse chromosome 17 near h-2: pleiotropic effects on multiple hydrolases. Science. 1981 Apr 3;212(4490):63-5.

Xiao C, Hsieh J, Adeli K, Lewis GF. Gut-liver interaction in triglyceride-rich lipoprotein metabolism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2011 Sep;301(3):E429-46. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00178.2011.

Xu Z, Weiss A. Negative regulation of CD45 by differential homodimerization of the alternatively spliced isoforms. Nat Immunol. 2002 Aug;3(8):764-71.

Yu L, Hammer RE, Li-Hawkins J, Von Bergmann K, Lutjohann D, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Disruption of Abcg5 and Abcg8 in mice reveals their crucial role in biliary cholesterol secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Dec 10;99(25):16237-42.

Yu L, Li-Hawkins J, Hammer RE, Berge KE, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Overexpression of ABCG5 and ABCG8 promotes biliary cholesterol secretion and reduces fractional absorption of dietary cholesterol. J Clin Invest. 2002 Sep;110(5):671-80.

Yu L, York J, von Bergmann K, Lutjohann D, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Stimulation of cholesterol excretion by the liver X receptor agonist requires ATP-binding cassette transporters G5 and G8. J Biol Chem. 2003 May 2;278(18):15565-70.

Zelcer N, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors as integrators of metabolic and inflammatory signaling. J Clin Invest. 2006 Mar;116(3):607-14.
Chapter 3

Inhibition of Sialidase as a Potent Treatment for Atherosclerosis in ApoE Knockout Mice

Abraham E. Yang¹, Gabriel Gyulay¹, David A. Egier¹, Richard C. Austin⁴, Bernardo L. Trigatti², Suleiman A. Igdoura^{1,3}

Department of ¹Biology, ²Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, ³Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, ⁴Department of Medicine, Division of Nephrology, McMaster University, St. Joseph's Healthcare Hamilton and Hamilton Centre for Kidney Research, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Preface

Abraham Yang performed the followings: FPLC cholesterol profiles of apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.1), serum and hepatic lipids levels in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Table 3.3.1), in vivo hepatic VLDL-lipids production in apoe-/and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.2), in vivo hepatic VLDL-lipids production rates in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/-mice (Table 3.3.2), hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and -ApoB-48 secretion in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.3), hepatic MTP, SREBP2 and ACAT2 expression in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.4), atherosclerotic lesion area in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.5), quantification of macrophages and T cells in atherosclerotic lesions in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.6), FPLC cholesterol profiles in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.7), serum total cholesterol levels in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Table 3.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in western diet-fed male apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.8), FPLC cholesterol profiles in apoe-/- treated with DANA and control apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.9), serum and hepatic lipids levels in apoe-/- treated with DANA and control apoe-/- mice (Table 3.3.4), atherosclerotic lesion area in apoe-/- treated with DANA and control apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.10), the effects of sialidase inhibition using Oseltamivir on spontaneous atherosclerosis in male apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.11) and the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on castrated and sham male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.12).

David Egier contributed to castration. Šárka Lhoták performed paraffin sectioning and immunostaining. Jordon Wronzberg and Darren de Sa contributed to FPLC (Fig. 3.3.9

and Fig. 3.3.11 A respectively), Sheila Brown contributed to cryosectioning, Aline Fiebig contributed to technical assistance for mini osmotic pumps implantation.

Chapter 3

Inhibition of Sialidase as a Potent Treatment for Atherosclerosis in ApoE Knockout Mice

Summary

Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory process, which is highly dependent on lipoprotein metabolism. The level of sialic acid modification of several cell surface molecules as well as serum apolipoproteins have been implicated in the modulation of inflammation and lipoprotein metabolism respectively. In order to examine the role of sialidase during the development of atherosclerosis, we generated ApoE knockout mice expressing hypomorphic levels of sialidase (B6.SM/apoe-/-). These hypomorphic sialidase apoe-/- mice show decreased VLDL production rate and decreased recruitment and infiltration of monocytes and T cells in the atherosclerotic lesions as well as reduced aortic sinus atherosclerosis. In addition, the atheroprotective effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression are maintained in apoe-/mice fed western diet and are not altered by androgen withdrawal. When male apoe-/mice are treated with a mammalian sialidase inhibitor, 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-Nacetylneuraminic acid (DANA), the size of aortic atherosclerotic lesions are significantly reduced by 40% in comparison to saline-treated male apoe-/- controls. On the other hand, viral sialidase inhibitor, Oseltamivir has no effect. Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression confers protection against atherosclerosis in male ApoE-deficient mice and, as a result, neu1 sialidase represent a novel target for the treatment of atherosclerosis.

3.1 Introduction

Atherosclerosis causes thickening of the innermost layer of the artery, the intima, and is responsible for causing myocardial infarction. Inflammation and lipoprotein metabolism play important roles in the development of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerotic lesions, the asymmetric focal thickenings of the intima, involve the transmigration of macrophages and T cells. Despite keen interest in atherosclerosis, the molecular events that lead to atherosclerotic progression have not been fully elucidated. Several studies have suggested that different levels of sialylation of apolipoproteins may affect atherogenic potential (Orekhov et al., 1989; Sobenin et al., 1991; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Orekhov et al., 1992) and that different level of sialylation of certain cell surface molecules modulate inflammation which in turn drives atherosclerosis (Gee et al., 2003; Katoh et al., 1999).

Sialic acids are a family of N- and O-substituted derivatives of sialic acid. Over 40 different derivatives of sialic acid have been identified. They are generally found as terminal sugar residues, frequently found in α -2,3- or α -2,6-linkages with galactose, on oligosaccharides of both glycoproteins and glycolipids. The function of sialic acid on apolipoproteins is not completely understood but has been associated with secretion, lipid-binding, and plasma clearance of apolipoproteins (Paulson J., 1989). Sialylation is modulated through the action of sialyltransferases and sialidases.

Sialidases constitute a family of hydrolytic enzymes that are present in viruses, bacteria and vertebrates and catalyze the removal of terminal sialic acid residues from glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides (Achyuthan K. and Achyuthan A., 2001; Pilate et al., 1993; Pshezhetsky and Ashmarina, 2001; Vimr and Lichtensteinger, 2002). Desialylation influences a number of important biological processes including cell-cell interactions, T-cell activation, catabolism and antigenicity (Varki A., 1997; Corfield T., 1992; Reuter and Gabius, 1996). In mammals, four distinct sialidases have been identified. Genes encoding lysosomal (neu1) (Igdoura et al., 1998; Carrillo et al., 1997; Pshezhetsky et al., 1997), cytosolic (neu2) (Monti et al., 1999; Ferrari et al., 1994), ganglioside specific (neu3) (Miyagi et al., 1999; Wada et al., 1999), and mitochondrial sialidases (neu4) (Comelli et al., 2003; Monti et al., 2004; Yamaguchi et al., 2005) have been cloned. Among them, neul is expressed and targeted to the cell surface and lysosomes during the activation of T cells, B cells, macrophages, and neutrophils (Landolfi et al., 1985; Landolfi and Cook, 1986; Cross and Wright, 1991; Stamatos et al., 2005). We have previously demonstrated that *neul* overexpression results in an overall reduction in cell surface sialylation in C2C12 cells (Champigny et al., 2005). More recent evidence has implicated a sialidase in the conversion of Sialyl-CD15 to CD15 on myeloid cells. This desialylation occurs on glycoproteins such as PSGL-1 and CD43, which are essential for homing of leukocytes during inflammation (Gadhoum and Sackstein, 2008).

There is mounting evidence that sialylation of apolipoproteins is an important determinant of plasma lipoproteins levels. For example, desialylated ApoB LDL has a more rapid rate of clearance than sialylated ApoB LDL (Malmendier et al., 1980), and

desialylated LDL is taken up more readily by aortic smooth muscle cells than sialylated LDL (Orekhov et al., 1989; Filipovic et al., 1979). A strong negative correlation between LDL sialic acid content and the degree of cholesterol accumulation has been shown in vitro (Orekhov et al., 1989; Sobenin et al., 1991; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Orekhov et al., 1992; Filipovic et al., 1979). Furthermore, the LDL of patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) has low sialic acid content as compared to healthy controls (Orekhov et al., 1989; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Ruelland et al., 1993).

An inbred strain, SM/J mice show a partial deficiency of sialidase leading to hypersialyated hepatic enzymes and cell surface molecules on leukocytes (Potier et al., 1979; Clark et al., 1981). Hypomorphic sialidase mice (B6.SM) are generated by backcrossing SM/J mice carrying the mutant *neu1* allele to C57Bl/6 mice. B6.SM mice become a valuable model since they do not show the fatal Sialidosis phenotype seen in *neu1*^{-/-} mice (de Geest et al., 2002). Therefore, we utilized these mice to examine if hypomorphic neu1 sialidase expression attenuates serum lipoprotein levels and/or inflammation and as a result may have an impact on atherosclerosis. In this study, we present evidence that hypomorphic sialidase expression results in reduced VLDL production in ApoE knockout mice. We also show that low sialidase reduced leukocytes frequency within atherosclerotic lesions and significantly reduced aortic sinus atherosclerosis in ApoE knockout mice. In addition, we demonstrate that pharmacological inhibition of sialidase significantly reduced (>50%) atherosclerotic lesion formation in ApoE-deficient mice. Therefore, our study not only reveals a novel

role for neu1 sialidase but also points to a new avenue for treatment of cardiovascular disease.

3.2 Material and Methods

3.2.1 Generation of mice

B6.SM mice were crossed with *apoe-/-* mice to generate compound B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice on a C57Bl/6 background. *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* were used for the spontaneous atherosclerosis studies. Mice were housed in microisolator cages, maintained on a 12-hr light/dark cycle, and given free access to food and water. All procedures involving animals were in accordance with guidelines established by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were subjected to prior approval by the institutional Animal Research Ethics Board.

3.2.2 Treatment of mice

Spontaneous atherosclerosis studies were performed in 7- to 9-month-old, male and female, apoe-/- mice and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. For the sialidase inhibition studies, at 8 months of age, one group of male apoe-/- mice was sacrificed for baseline quantification and examination of atherosclerotic lesions. The remaining male mice administered with the sialidase were inhibitor N-acetyl-2,3-dehydro-2deoxyneuraminic acid (DANA) or saline using mini-osmotic pumps (Alzet osmotic pump, Model 2004, DURECT Corporation). DANA was administered at a rate of 0.06µg per hour for six weeks. Mice were sacrificed at 6 weeks after injection (9.5 months of age) for quantification and morphological characterization of atherosclerotic lesions. Serum was obtained on weeks 0, 4, and 6 after DANA injection for analysis of lipids. For the Oseltamivir-treated apoe-/- mice, Oseltamivir was dissolved in drinking and was administered daily to male apoe-/- mice for 6 weeks. For the western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice, western diet feeding was started when the mice were 1 month of age. Western diet used contains 21% butterfat and 0.15% cholesterol diet with 1% safflower oil (Modified Stanford University, Dyets Inc, catalogue #112286). The mice were fed with western diet for 1 month. The mice were harvested when they were 2 months of age.

3.2.3 Surgical castration

B6.SM/*apoe-/-* male mice (4 months old) were anesthetized and two separate incisions were made through the skin on the ventral side of the scrotum. The vas deferens and the testicular blood vessels at the junction between the testis and epididymis were ligated using synthetic absorbable 4.0 gauge sutures. The testicle was then removed. The remaining pieces of the vas deferens, the fat, and the epididymis were replaced back into the scrotal sac. The wound was closed with surgical staples. This procedure was repeated for the other testis. Sham-castration followed the above procedure without ligation of the testicular vessels or removal of the testes was used as control. The sham and castrated B6.SM/*apoe-/-* male mice were fed western diet starting at 24 hours after the surgery for 4 weeks.

3.2.4 Collection of blood and tissues

Mice were anesthetized with ketamine/xylazine. The abdominal and thoracic cavities were opened and the heart was perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) through the left ventricle of the heart (drainage via the right atrium). At the termination of the experiment, blood was obtained by cardiac puncture. Serum was prepared by centrifugation of whole blood for 5 min at 15,000 rpm using serum collection tubes.

The heart was removed and placed in Krebs Henseleit Solution. After 30 min, the heart was placed in 4% formaldehyde. The liver was removed, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in -80°C.

3.2.5 Serum lipid and lipoprotein analysis

Serum was fractionated by gel filtration-FPLC, and serum total cholesterol was analyzed by enzymatic assay (InfinityTM Cholesterol Liquid Stable Reagent, Thermo Scientific) (Covey et al., 2003; Rigotti et al., 1997). Briefly, cholesterol esters in the serum were enzymatically hydrolysed by cholesterol esterase (CE) to cholesterol and free fatty acids. Free cholesterol was then oxidized by cholesterol oxidase (CO) to cholest-4-en-3-one and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide combined with hydroxybenzoic acid (HBA) and 4-aminoantipyrine (4AAP) in the presence of peroxidase (POD) to form a chromophore (quinoeimine dye) which may be quantified at 500nm. The absorbance of the reaction product was measured at 500 nm using spectrophotometer. Serum free cholesterol was analyzed by enzymatic assay (Free Cholesterol E Reagent, Wako Diagnostics). Briefly, free cholesterol in the serum was oxidized by cholesterol oxidase (CO) to Δ^4 -cholestenone and hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide caused DAOS and 4-aminoantipyrine (4AAP) to undergo an oxidative condensation in the presence of peroxidase (POD), to produce a blue color which may be quantified at 600nm. The absorbance of the reaction product was measured at 600 nm using spectrophotometer. Serum esterified cholesterol concentration was calculated by subtracting serum free cholesterol concentration from serum total cholesterol concentration. Serum triglyceride was analyzed with enzymatic assay (L-Type Triglyceride H Reagents 1 and 2, Wako Diagnostics).

Briefly, free glycerol in the serum was decomposed by glycerol kinase (GK), GPO and catalase in reagent 1. When reagent 2 was added after decomposition of free glycerol, triglycerides in the serum were hydrolyzed to glycerol and fatty acids in a reaction catalyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL). Glycerol is converted to glycerol-3 phosphate by GK in the presence of adenosine-5'-tryphosphate (ATP). Glyerol-3-phosphate formed is then oxidized by GPO in a reaction that produced hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide produced caused HDAOS and 4-aminoantipyrine to undergo a quantitative oxidative condensation catalyzed by peroxidase (POD), producing a blue color which may be quantified at 600nm. The absorbance of the reaction product was measured at 600 nm using spectrophotometer.

3.2.6 Evaluation of atherosclerotic lesions

Hearts were embedded in Cryomatrix (Shandon Corp) and serial 10 μ m sections were collected using a Shandon Cryostat. Sections were stained with Oil Red O for neutral lipid and hematoxylin for nuclei, and atherosclerosis was quantified as the total cross sectional area of atherosclerotic lesion in each given section. Lesion volume was determined by measuring the cross sectional area of lesions in sections spaced 100 μ m apart as the average lesion area for the 100 μ m stretch of the aortic sinus, multiplying by 100 μ m, and then adding these values together.

3.2.7 Histology and Immunocytochemistry

Paraffin sections of the aortic root were blocked with rabbit serum for MAC-3 or goat serum for CD-3, antigen heat retrieval in citrate buffer pH 6.0 and stained with a monoclonal rat antibody MAC-3 (Pharmingen; 1:500 dilution) or CD-3 (Dako; 1:200

dilution), followed by detection with biotinylated secondary antibody (Vector; 1:500 dilution) (Zhou et al., 2005). For smooth muscle cells detection, paraffin sections were blocked with goat serum, and stained with a monoclonal mouse antibody SMA clone 1A4 (Neomakers; 1:200 dilution), followed by detection with anti-mouse Envision-HRP secondary antibody (Dako) (Zhou et al., 2005). Immunoreactivity was visualized by using NovaRED (Vector). Sections were counterstained with hematoxylin (Sigma).

3.2.8 Hepatic and blood cell lipid analyses

Contents of total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride in liver or blood cells (obtained from the low phrase in the serum collection tubes after centrifugation as mentioned in collection of blood and tissues) were determined after lipid extraction (Folch et al., 1957) using an enzymatic method. Briefly, liver or blood cell homogenates were prepared by homogenizing 150 mg of liver in 1ml of TNES (10 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 400 mM NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 0.6% SDS). Folch mixture (6ml; chloroform/methanol, 2:1) was added to 300ul of liver homogenates and the tubes were vortexed for 1 minute. 1.2ml of distilled water was added and the tubes were vortexed for 1 minute vigorously. The extraction mixture was left at 4°C for 2 hours. The tubes were centrifuged at low speed to facilitate phase separation. The upper phase (methanol/water phase) was discarded and the lower phase was saved. The lower phase (chloroform phase) was dried completely. The dry chloroform phase was resuspended in 60 μ l of isopropanol. Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride concentrations were measured as described in serum lipid and lipoprotein analysis. Blood cell lipid analysis was performed the same as the hepatic lipid analysis except that lipids concentrations were normalized to protein concentrations after performing protein assays.

3.2.9 In vivo measurement of hepatic VLDL-triglyceride secretion

Male *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (3 months old) were used for hepatic VLDL production studies. Mice were fasted overnight before the initiation of synthesis studies. To determine the rate of lipid synthesis, after injection of 500mg/kg of Triton WR1339 mixture ((Tyloxapol T0307-10G, Sigma BioXtra) (Sigma-Aldrich)) [15g/dl in 0.9% NaCl] to inhibit plasma lipoprotein lipase, blood was collected hourly at 0 hour (before Triton WR1339 injection) and 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours after Triton WR1339 injection (Kuipers et al., 1997; S. Otway and Robinson, 1957; Li et al., 1996; J. Millar et al., 2005). Blood was collected by serum collection tubes. Serum was obtained from the supernatant by centrifuging the blood in serum collection tubes at 15000rpm for 5 min. Serum was used for triglyceride, cholesterol and free cholesterol assays. At the termination of the experiment, mice were sacrificed. VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters production rates were obtained by the regression lines of the graph with VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol setures concentration respectively versus time in hours.

3.2.10 Immunoblot analysis

Livers of male *apoe-/-* or B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were removed and immediately frozen with liquid nitrogen. Liver lysates were prepared in RIPA buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors. Protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay (Biorad) with BSA as standard. Samples (50 µg) were separated on 6%

SDS/polyacrylamide gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Serum (1 µl) was subjected to SDS/4-15% or 4-20% PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were probed with the following antibodies: anti-ApoB (goat anti-ApoB, 1:6000 from Midland Bioproducts), anti-MTP (mouse anti-MTP, 1:2500 from BD Biosciences), anti-ACAT2 (mouse anti-ACAT2, 1:200 from Santa Cruz), anti-SREBP-2 (mouse 1:500 from Pharmingen), anti-B-actin (mouse anti-B-actin, 1:1000 from Cell Signalling Technology) and anti-GADPH (goat anti-GADPH, 1:1000 from R&D). Anti-goat or anti-mouse secondary HRP-conjugated antibodies Santa Crutz Biotechnology) (1:10000,were used and visualized with chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham). Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software.

3.2.11 Statistical analysis

One-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by Tukey's Post Hoc Multiple Comparison Test, and additional statistical analyses were conducted using Prism 5 (version 5.04, GraphPad). Mean \pm SE were shown with error bars. Data were considered statistically significant different only if P < 0.05.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases cholesterol levels in VLDL and LDL-sized lipoproteins in *apoe-/-* mice.

In order to determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on blood lipid profile, serum lipoproteins arre separated using Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography (FPLC) utilizing a superose 6 gel filtration column. Serum cholesterol associated with IDL/LDL-sized particles is evaluated and found to be significantly lower in male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.1 A). However, there is no difference in fasted serum cholesterol FPLC profile of male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.1 C). In addition, there is no difference in serum cholesterol FPLC profile of fasted or unfasted female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.1 B and D). The majority of serum total cholesterol is found in fractions corresponding to VLDL and larger sized particles (fractions 3-10) and to IDL/LDL sized particles (fractions 11-25). Our data indicate that hypomorphic sialidase expression affects lipoprotein cholesterol level in a gender-specific manner, such that male mice show lower levels of serum lipoprotein cholesterol than female mice. Fig. 3.3.1 FPLC cholesterol profiles of *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. (A) Serum cholesterol FPLC profile show a significant decrease in VLDL- and LDL-sized particles between unfasted male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3) and *apoe-/-* controls (n=3) at 7 months of age. (B) Serum cholesterol FPLC profile show no differences between unfasted female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3) and *apoe-/-* controls (n=3) at 7 months of age. (C) There is no significant difference in cholesterol FPLC profile of fasted male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3) compared to *apoe-/-* controls (n=3), and (D) fasted female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3) compared to *apoe-/-* controls (n=3). Each circle represents mean \pm SE. * denotes P<0.05 (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle).

Fig. 3.3.1

А



В



Fig. 3.3.1

С



D



3.3.2 The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on serum and hepatic lipids levels in *apoe-/-* mice.

After observing changes in cholesterol level in VLDL and IDL-LDL-sized particles in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* controls, we investigated the levels of other lipid parameters, such as, triglyceride (a major component of chylomicrons and VLDL), cholesterol esters and free cholesterol (components of all lipoproteins). We demonstrate that hepatic cholesteryl esters concentration is increased and hepatic free cholesterol concentration is decreased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice when compared to *apoe-/-* mice although hepatic triglyceride concentration is unchanged (Table 3.3.1). Serum free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters concentrations are decreased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice when compared to *apoe-/-* mice with no change in serum triglyceride levels. In fact, the decrease in serum total cholesterol concentration is consistent and refected in the FPLC profile illustrated earlier (Table 3.3.1).

Table 3.3.1 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. We used enzymatic assay to measure lipids in serum of mice. There is a significant decrease in serum total cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=8) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (n=3). We used folch extraction to extract lipids from liver samples that we obtained from the mice and then used enzymatic assays to analyze lipid levels. Hepatic cholesteryl esters concentration is increased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=8) when compared to *apoe-/-* mice (n=3).* denotes P<0.05; ** denotes P<0.001.

Table 3.3.1

	Hepatic total cholestezol (mg/g liver)	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum fiee cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mg/g liver)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mg/g liver)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
ApoE-/-	3.62±0.29	32.24±2.12	3.16±0.30	14.43±2.38	0.46±0.13	1781±0 <i>6</i> 9	16.98±1.52	332±0.19
B6.SM/ApoE-4	222±0.11 **	14.97±1.42**	1 52±0.18 *	7.45±0.75 **	0.70±0.18	7.52±1.14**	14.69±1.74	4.38±0.49

3.3.3 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases *in vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipids production rates in *apoe-/-* mice.

In order to assess the potential mechanism behind the lower levels of serum VLDLsized particles observed in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to those of the *apoe-/-* mice, we measured hepatic VLDL production *in vivo* over 4 hours. Our results show that hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* mice produces significantly lower levels of VLDLtriglyceride and VLDL cholesterol (free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters) over 4 hours in comparison to *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.2 A to D). The production rates of VLDL-lipids as illustrated by the slope are also significantly lower (Table 3.3.2). The difference was greatest in VLDL-triglyceride production rate with 60% less VLDL-TG in hypomorphic sialidase mice. The levels of ApoB100 and ApoB48 which are components of VLDL show little difference between hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/*and *apoe-/-* mice at the end of 4 hours (Fig. 3.3.3 A and B). Thus, sialidase expression is a significant determinant of hepatic VLDL-lipid secretion but not of ApoB expression. Therefore, we performed further experiments to assess the expression of MTP, which mediates loading of lipids to ApoB. **Fig. 3.3.2** *In vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipids production in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Male *apoe-/-* (n=4) and male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=4) were fasted overnight and injected with Triton WR1339 (500mg/kg). Serum samples were drawn at just before the injection of Triton WR1339 (time 0 hour) and at 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the injection of Triton WR1339. There is a significant decrease in hepatic (A) VLDL-triglyceride, (B) VLDL-cholesterol, (C) VLDL-free cholesterol and (D) VLDL-cholesteryl esters concentrations in different indicated times after 0 hour (* denotes P<0.05). In addition, there is a decrease in the steepness of the slope of the B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to that of the *apoe-/-* mice. These imply that hypomorphic sialidase expression causes decreased hepatic VLDL-lipids production. Values represent the means \pm S.E.

Fig. 3.3.2



Table 3.3.2 *In vivo* hepatic VLDL-lipids production rates in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-*mice. Male *apoe-/-* (n=4) and male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=4) were fasted overnight and administered Triton WR1339 (500mg/kg). Serum samples were collected at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the administration of Triton WR1339. Hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, total cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters production rates are calculated from the slope of the VLDL-triglyceride, and VLDL-cholesterol levels versus time curves, which were fitted by linear regression over the 4-hours period. There is a significant decrease in hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol, VLDL-free cholesterol and VLDL-cholesteryl esters production rate in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice. Values represent the means±S.E.

Table 3.3.2

	Triglyceride PR (mM/hr	Total Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Free Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Cholesteryl Esters PR (mM/hr)
ApoE-/- Male	0.69 + 0.14	3.98 + 1.11	0.56 + 0.21	3.42 + 0.90
B6.SM/ApoE-/- Male	0.27 + 0.08	1.70 + 0.23	0.32 + 0.04	1.38 + 0.19
P value	0.02	0.045	0.15	0.03

Fig. 3.3.3 Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in *apoe-/-* **and B6.SM/***apoe-/-* **mice.** For the determination of VLDL contents of (A) ApoB-100 and (B) ApoB-48, serum samples obtained at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours, were probed for ApoB. There is no significant difference in the levels of either ApoB-100 or ApoB-48 between *apoe-/-* (n=3) and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3). ApoB levels were determined by the intensities of ApoB bands normalized to IgG bands. Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software. This implies that decreased VLDL lipids secretion is not caused by decreased VLDL particle secretion.



А



В



3.3.4 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases hepatic MTP and SREBP2 expression in *apoe-/-* mice.

We have shown that sialidase-deficient mice have decreased VLDL-lipids production rate compared to controls in *apoe-/-* background. In addition, we have demonstrated that there is no significant difference in hepatic ApoB-100 and ApoB-48 production implying that the decrease in VLDL-lipids production rate is not caused by decreased hepatic VLDL particle production. In order to explain the decrease in the hepatic VLDL-lipids production rate, we examined hepatic expression of microsomal transfer protein (MTP). MTP is required for the secretion of ApoB-containing lipoproteins from hepatocytes and from enterocytes (Gordon D., 1996; Wetterau et al., 1998). Our results indicate a significant decrease in hepatic protein expression of MTP in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice compared to apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.4 A). Thus, the decrease in VLDL-lipids appears to be the result of lower expression levels of hepatic MTP. Since the MTP promoter contains a SREBP binding site (Rubin et al., 2008; Sato et al., 1999) and since transgenic mice overexpressing SREBP-2 show increased MTP mRNA level in the liver (Horton et al., 1998), we examined the levels of hepatic SREBP-2 in B6.SM/apoe-/- and apoe-/- mice. Our results demonstrate that the hepatic expression of SREBP-2 is significantly reduced in hypomorphic sialidase apoe-/- mice compared to apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.4 B). On the other hand, the hepatic expression of ACAT2, which performs intracellular cholesterol esterification (Chang et al., 1993) is significantly increased in hypomorphic sialidase apoe-/- mice compared to apoe-/- controls (Fig. 3.3.4 C). ACAT2 is instrumental in providing cholesteryl esters for VLDL assembly in the liver (Chang et al., 2009). Thus, an increase in hepatic ACAT2 implies that the decreased expression of hepatic MTP is not a downstream effect of insufficient supply of cholesteryl esters.

Fig. 3.3.4 Hepatic MTP, SREBP2 and ACAT2 expression in *apoe-/-* **and B6.SM/***apoe-/-* **mice.** Liver lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE (8%). Membranes were probed for MTP (A), SREBP-2 (B), ACAT2 (C), and GADPH anti-β-actin. B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice show a significant decrease in the expression of MTP and SREBP2, and a significant increase in the expression of ACAT2 in the liver compared to *apoe-/-* mice. Representative blots and graphs representing quantification of normalized band intensities are shown. Intensities of bands are measured by ImageJ densitometry software. Numbers of animals used are as follows: MTP (n=3 for *apoe-/-*; n=3 for B6.SM/*apoe-/-*), SREBP-2 (n=4 for *apoe-/-*; n=5 for B6.SM/*apoe-/-*), * denotes P<0.05; ** denotes P<0.001. Mean ± SE are shown.

Fig. 3.3.4

0.00

A



3.3. 5 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases atherogenesis in *apoe-/-* **mice.** To assess the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis, aortic root sections from mice were stained with Oil Red O. Histologically, atherosclerotic lesions were smaller in male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice than corresponding *apoe-/-* controls (Fig. 3.3.5 A and B). This significant reduction in lesion area was only observed in male mice (Fig. 3.3.5 C and D). Quantitatively, we evaluated atherosclerosis by measuring the sizes of lesions in the aortic sinuses of male and female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* and *apoe-/-* mice. The average size of the atherosclerotic deposits in the male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (P=0.0097) (Fig. 3.3.5 E). The average size of the atherosclerotic deposits in the female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Similar results were obtained when the volumes of atherosclerotic lesions were determined in male and female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* and *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.5 F).

Fig. 3.3.5 Atherosclerotic lesion area in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Cross-sections of the aortic sinus from (A) male *apoe-/-*, (B) male B6.SM/*apoe-/-*, (C) female *apoe-/-* and (D) female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Sections were stained with Oil Red O for neutral lipid and hematoxylin for nuclei. Scale bar = 200μ m. Atherosclerotic lesion is significantly reduced in male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=15) compared to male *apoe-/-* mice (n=17) (P=0.0097 and P=0.032 for (E) lesion area and (F) volume respectively). Female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=15) reveals a similar amount of atherosclerosis as in female *apoe-/-* mice (n=15) (P=0.79 and P=0.57 for lesion area and volume respectively). * denotes P<0.05. Each bar represents mean±SE.

Fig. 3.3.5


3.3.6 Hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* mice have less macrophages and T cells in atherosclerotic lesions.

Atherosclerotic lesions are mostly made up of macrophages and T cells (Jonasson et al., 1986; Hansson et al., 1988; Katsuda et al., 1992). To assess whether the decrease in atherosclerotic lesion is associated with the quantity of macrophage in the lesion, aortic root sections from male mice were immunostained with anti-MAC-3, a macrophage-specific antibody. Macrophages were abundant throughout the atherosclerotic lesion of apoe-/- mice, and constituted most of the cells in the lesion (Fig. 3.3.6 A). In contrast, markedly fewer macrophages were present in the aortic sinuses of B6.SM/ apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.6 B). There was a significant reduction in 43% of MAC-3 positive cells in atherosclerotic lesions in B6.SM/ apoe-/- male compared to apoe-/- male (P=0.029) (Fig. 3.3.6 G). These data suggest that the decrease in the size of the atherosclerotic lesions is associated with a reduction in the number of macrophage in the lesion, implying that sialidase was important in homing of monocytes as well as recruitment and maturation of macrophages into atherosclerotic lesions. To assess whether the decrease in atherosclerotic lesion is associated with the quantity of T cells in the lesion, aortic root sections from male mice were immunostained with anti-CD-3, a T-cell-specific antibody (Fig. 3.3.6 C and D). No significant difference in % of CD-3 positive cells in atherosclerotic lesions in B6.SM/apoe-/- male compared to apoe-/- male (P=0.37) (Fig. 3.3.6 H). To assess whether the decrease in atherosclerotic lesion is associated with the quantity of smooth muscle cells in the lesion, aortic root sections from male mice were immunostained with anti-SMA, a smooth muscle cell-specific antibody. Markedly more smooth muscle cells were present in media layer of *apoe-/-* male compared to

B6.SM/*apoe-/-* male (Fig. 3.3.6 E and F). These data suggest that the decrease in atherosclerotic lesion is associated with a reduction in number of smooth muscle cells in the media layer. Overall, B6.SM/*apoe-/-* male mice have less macrophages, T cells and smooth muscle cells in the atherosclerotic lesions compared to *apoe-/-* male mice. These results point to a reduced degree of inflammation within atherosclerotic lesions.

Fig. 3.3.6 Macrophages and T cells quantities in atherosclerotic lesions in *apoe-/-* **and B6.SM***/apoe-/-* **mice.** (A) Macrophage, (C) T cells, and (E) smooth muscle cells infiltration of the aortic sinus in *apoe-/-* male mice are shown. (B) Macrophage, (D) T cells, and (F) smooth muscle cells infiltration of the aortic sinus in B6.SM*/apoe-/-* male mice are shown. Macrophages were detected with MAC-3 (red). T cells were detected with CD-3. Smooth muscle cells were detected with SMA. Hematoxylin (blue) was used for nuclei staining. Shown are representative sections from mice of male *apoe-/-*, male B6.SM*/apoe-/-*. Scale bar = 50μm for MAC-3, CD-3, SMA. (G) Quantification of the frequency of MAC-3 positive cells and frequency of CD-3 positive cells in atherosclerotic lesions. B6.SM*/apoe-/-* male show a 43% reduction of MAC-3 positive cells in atherosclerotic lesions in comparison to controls (P=0.029). (H) No significant difference in % of CD-3 positive cells is found (P=0.37). Fig. 3.3.6



3.3.7 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases serum cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis in western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* mice.

In order to assess the role of hypomorphic sialidase expression in an accelerated atherosclerotic model, we fed B6.SM/*apoe-/-* and *apoe-/-* mice with western diet for 4 weeks. To determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on the serum lipoprotein profile after feeding the western diet, the serum was fractionated and lipoprotein cholesterol levels were measured. Our result shows reduced serum cholesterol concentrations in the IDL/LDL-sized particles in western diet-fed male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to controls (Fig. 3.3.7). In addition, cholesterol concentrations in the VLDL-sized particles appear to decrease in the B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice although the decrease is not statistically significant. No significant difference in cholesterol profiles was observed in female *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Although the reduction in cholesterol level is not as dramatic as that seen in *apoe-/-* mice fed normal diet, these results indicate that hypomorphic sialidase expression results in reduced cholesterol concentrations in IDL/LDL-sized particles in apoe-/- mice fed western diet.

The changes in cholesterol levels in FPLC profiles of *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice fed western diet led us to assess whether there are differences in the ratio of free cholesterol to cholesteryl esters. We demonstrate a decrease in serum levels of cholesteryl ester in male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to male *apoe-/-* mice fed western diet. Serum triglyceride and free cholesterol concentrations are not significantly different (Table 3.3.3). Therefore, the decrease in total serum cholesterol is reflective of a decrease in cholesterol concentration in IDL/LDL-sized particles

seen on the FPLC profile. Since cholesteryl ester is a major component of LDL, this decrease in cholesterol ester concentrations actually reflects the decreased cholesterol concentration in IDL/LDL-sized particles. Furthermore, atherosclerotic lesion areas and volumes in western diet-fed male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice are significantly reduced compared to controls (P=0.0085 and P=0.016 for lesion area and volume respectively) (Fig. 3.3.8 A and B). These results show that hypomorphic sialidase expression protects from accelerated atherosclerosis.

Fig. 3.3.7 FPLC cholesterol profiles in western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* **and B6.SM/***apoe-/-* **mice.** There is a decrease in serum cholesterol levels in LDL-sized particles in unfasted male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3) compared to *apoe-/-* controls (n=3) at 1 month of age after feeding with western diet for 1 month. Mean±SE are shown. * denotes P<0.05. (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle).

Fig. 3.3.7



Table 3.3.3 Serum total cholesterol levels in western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* and **B6.SM/***apoe-/-* mice. Serum total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triglyceride concentrations in western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* (n=3) and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=3). Western diet-fed male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice have a decreased level of total cholesterol (* denotes P<0.05) and decreased level of cholesteryl esters concentration and no significant difference in free cholesterol and triglyceride concentration compared to western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* controls.

Table 3.3.3

	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Serum fize cholesterol (mM)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
ApoE-/- Male	25.64±0.81	11.37±0.37	14.27±0.75	21.18±1.62
B6.SM/ApoE-4 Male	20.78±1.09*	9.78±0.64	11.00±0 <i>5</i> 3*	28.16±4.25

Fig. 3.3.8 Atherosclerotic lesion area in western diet-fed male *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. There is decreased atherogenesis in male hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* mice at 2 month of age after feeding with western diet for 1 month. (A) Atherosclerotic lesion area and (B) volume are significantly reduced in male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to male *apoe-/-* mice (P=0.0085 and P=0.016 for lesion area and volume respectively). Each bar represents mean \pm SE. * denotes P<0.05.

Fig 3.3.8



3.3.8 The impact of pharmacological inhibition of sialidase on levels of serum cholesterol and atherosclerosis in male *apoe-/-* mice.

Male double homozygous mutant mice had decreased IDL and LDL-cholesterol levels compared to ApoE-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.1). In addition, aortic atherosclerotic lesions in double homozygous mutant mice were significantly reduced ~50% in males when compared to ApoE-/- male mice (Fig. 3.3.5). The atheroprotective impact of sialidase deficiency on ApoE-/- mice makes it a potential target for inhibition. In our study, we utilized one common mammalian sialidase inhibitor, 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-Nacetylneuraminic acid (DANA) (Meindl and Tuppy, 1969; Meindl et al., 1971; Meindl et al., 1974). DANA is used to determine the effects of sialidase inhibition on atherosclerosis in male apoe-/- mice. The non-permeability of DANA allows it to inhibit the sialidase on the surface of the cell membrane without affecting the intracellular sialidase. We therefore administered DANA to male apoe-/- mice using mini-osmotic pumps (0.06µg per hour) and analyzed serum lipoprotein levels at various intervals for 6 weeks. Our results show no differences in serum cholesterol FPLC profile between DANA-treated and saline-treated male apoe-/- mice (Fig. 3.3.9). In addition, levels of serum triglyceride, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters show no significant differences. However, we observe a significant decrease in hepatic free cholesterol, a significant increase in hepatic cholesteryl esters and no change in hepatic triglycerides when comparing DANA-treated to saline-treated male apoe-/mice (Table 3.3.4).

After administering DANA or saline for 6 weeks, mice were sacrificed, their aortic root sinus was dissected, sectioned and stained with Oil Red O. Histologically, lesions

from DANA-treated male *apoe-/-* mice were significantly smaller than lesions from saline-treated control male *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.10 A, B and C). Quantitatively, attenuation of atherosclerosis progressionin the aortic root in the DANA-treated male *apoe-/-* mice are noted, compared with those treated with saline and baseline (P<0.001) (Fig. 3.3.10 D). Similar results were obtained when we determined the volumes of atherosclerotic lesions (Fig. 3.3.10 E). These results suggested that sialidase inhibition by DANA is effective in halting atherosclerotic lesion progression at the aortic sinus.

In order to assess the specificity of DANA on atherogenesis, we have treated male *apoe-/-* mice with a viral sialidase inhibitor, Oseltamivir. Oseltamivir is the drug used to treat influenza virus with common name called Tamiflu. Male *apoe-/-* male mice (7-month old) are administered the sialidase inhibitor Oseltamivir for 6 weeks. Our results show no difference in cholesterol FPLC profile of Oseltamivir-treated compared to saline-treated male *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 3.3.11 A). Quantitatively, no significant difference of atherosclerotic lesion area in the aortic sinus in the Oseltamivir-treated male *apoe-/-* mice is noted in comparison to controls (P=0.12) (Fig. 3.3.11 B). In addition, no differences are observed in the volumes of atherosclerotic lesions (P=0.34) (Fig. 3.3.11 C). Therefore, the atheroprotective effects of sialidase inhibition in male *apoe-/-* mice are specifically caused by mammalian sialidase inhibition.

Fig. 3.3.9 FPLC cholesterol profiles in male *apoe-/-* treated with DANA and control male *apoe-/-* mice. Comparison of serum cholesterol profiles of saline-treated male *apoe-/-* (open circle) and DANA-treated male *apoe-/-* mice (black circle). All male *apoe-/-* mice were fasted before collection of serum. There is no significant difference in serum cholesterol levels in VLDL-sized, IDL/LDL-sized and HDL-sized particles in male *apoe-/-* mice treated with DANA for (A) 0 week, (B) 4 weeks and (C) 6 weeks compared to saline-treated male *apoe-/-* controls. Cholesterol levels in different lipoproteins were determined by FPLC (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle).

Fig. 3.3.9



Table 3.3.4 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in male *apoe-/-* treated with DANA and control male *apoe-/-* mice. Total serum cholesterol, triglyceride, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters show no significant differences which explain the FPLC profiles. However, there are significant decreases in total cholesterol and free cholesterol in the liver when comparing DANA-treated mice (n=8) to saline-treated mice (n=8). There is a trend of decrease in triglyceride although it is not significant. In addition, there is a significant increase in cholesteryl esters. * denotes P<0.05.

PhD Thesis - A. Yang McMaster University - Biology

Table 3.3.4

	Hepatic total cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum fice cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mg/g liver)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mg/g liver)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
Baseline	361±0.02	26.04±2.11	336±0.09	9.01±1.01	0.25±0.08	17.03±1.38	13.60±3.21	2.61±0.30
Saline	4.48±0.07	19.16±3.29	382±021	8.62±1.35	0.66±0.25	10.54±2.57	10.07±1.77	226±025
DANA	3.44±0.20*	24.77±1.84	1.82±0.32*	9.14±0.45	1.62±0.35*	15.63±1.61	7.02±0.62	2 <i>5</i> 6±031

Fig. 3.3.10 Atherosclerotic lesion area in male *apoe-/-* treated with DANA and control male *apoe-/-* mice. Cross-sections of the aortic sinus from (A) baseline (n=8), (B) male *apoe-/-* (n=8) and (C) male *apoe-/-* mice treated with DANA (n=8). Sections were stained with Oil Red O for neutral lipid and hematoxylin for nuclei. Scale bar = 200μ m. Atherosclerotic lesion area (D) and volume (E) are significantly reduced in DANA-treated male *apoe-/-* mice compared to untreated male *apoe-/-* mice. Each bar represents mean ± SE. * denotes P<0.05 and ** denotes P<0.001.

Fig. 3.3.10



D

E



Fig. 3.3.11. The effects of sialidase inhibition using Oseltamivir on spontaneous atherosclerosis in male *apoe-/-* mice. (A) There is no significant difference in serum cholesterol FPLC profile in Oseltamivir-treated male *apoe-/-* mice (n=7) compared to *apoe-/-* controls (n=7). There is no significant difference in (B) atherosclerotic lesion area and (C) volume in Oseltamivir-treated male *apoe-/-* mice (n=7) compared to untreated male *apoe-/-* mice (n=7) (P=0.12 and P=0.34 for lesion area and volume respectively). The mean values \pm standard error are shown.



А



3.3.9 Impact of androgen withdrawal on serum cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis in hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* mice .

Our previous results indicated that both the areas and volumes of aortic atherosclerotic lesions in male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice were significantly reduced by ~50% in males when compared to apoe-/- mice. However, there was no significant difference in both lesion areas and volumes of atherosclerotic lesions in female apoe-/- compared to female B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. These data suggest that hypomorphic sialidase expression affected atherosclerosis in a gender-specific manner, such that male mice are more protected than females. In view of these results, we set to examine whether the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis are dependent on male sex hormones. In order to determine whether the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis are dependent on male sex hormones, we compared the cholesterol concentrations in different lipoprotein particles and atherosclerotic lesion areas and volumes between castrated male B6.SM/apoe-/- and sham male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. The mice were castrated at 4 months of age. Sham or castrated B6.SM/apoe-/- males fed western diet for 4 weeks show no significant difference in cholesterol concentrations of VLDL, IDL/LDL, or HDL-sized particles (Fig. 3.3.12 A). In addition, there are no significant difference in both the areas and volumes of atherosclerotic lesions between sham and castrated B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (P=0.38 and P=0.47 for lesion area and volume respectively) (Fig. 3.3.12 B and C). Therefore, androgens may not be the only source of this gender-specific effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis in apoe-/-.

Fig. 3.3.12 The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on castrated and sham male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. (A) No significant difference in serum cholesterol concentrations was observed between sham (n=4) and castrated B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (n=5)) after feeding with western diet for 1 month. Each circle represents mean±SE. (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle). There is no significant difference in the size of (B) the atherosclerotic lesion area and (C) volume in sham (n=4) and castrated B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=5) (P=0.38 and P=0.47 for lesion area and volume respectively). Each bar represents mean±SE.



А



3.4 Discussion

Neu1 is implicated in the activation of blood cells, including macrophages, T cells, B cells, and neutrophils (Landolfi et al., 1985; Landolfi and Cook, 1986; Cross and Wright, 1991; Stamatos et al., 2005). In addition, neu1 is implicated in the desialylation of blood cell surface adhesion molecules including CD44 and sialyl Lewis X motifs (Katoh et al., 1999; Gee et al., 2003; Gadhoum et al., 2008; Katoh et al., 2010). Furthermore, neu1 plays roles in blood cell Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signalling which activates the sescretion of inflammatory cytokines (Amith et al., 2009; Amith et al., 2010; Stamatos et al., 2010). In addition to inflammatory processes, modification of sialylation on apolipoproteins has impacts on lipoprotein metabolism (Orekhov et al., 1989; Sobenin et al., 1991; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Orekhov et al., 1992; Filipovic et al., 1979). In addition, patients of coronary artery disease (CAD) have lower LDL sialylation compared to healthy individuals (Orekhov et al., 1989; Orekhov et al., 1991; Tertov et al., 1992a; Tertov et al., 1992b; Ruelland et al., 1993). However, no in vivo studies of the impact of sialidase on atherogenesis and lipoprotein metabolism have been performed. Therefore, we aim to determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis. The data we have presented here show that in response to hypomorphic sialidase expression, cholesterol level decreased in the male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice especially in the VLDL and LDL-sized particles. The size of atherosclerotic lesions was also decreased in the male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. However, no difference was found in female B6.SM/apoe-/- mice compared to the apoe-/controls. In fact, we have also analyzed 1-month-old male apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/-

mice treated with western diet for 1 month. Similar results were observed for the male mice. Thus, these results showed that western diet does not have significant impact on the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherosclerosis, hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases atherosclerosis under both normal diet and western diet-treated mice and there appears to be a gender-specific effect. We have already eliminated that androgen is the only source of causing this gender-specific effects because no significant difference in cholesterol concentrations in different lipoprotein particles and atherosclerotic lesion area and volume between sham and castrated B6.SM/apoe-/- mice was observed. SM/J has Th1 cells, but not Th2 cells (Clark et al., 1981). Th1 cells produce IFN- γ and Th2 cells produce IL4 (Constant et al., 1997). Whitman et al. (2002) demonstrated that the decrease in atherosclerotic lesion areas in *apoe-/-* mice with a deficiency of IFN- γ is more pronounced in male compared to female (Whitman et al., 2002). This is consistent with our results as we showed that there was a significant decrease in atherosclerotic lesion area and volume in male hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* but not in the female. Thus, this may be an IFN- γ mediated effect.

We have observed that B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice have more cholesteryl esters and less free cholesterol in liver, and less cholesteryl esters in serum compared to *apoe-/-* mice. In the hepatocyte, cholesteryl esters are hydrolyzed to free cholesterol by lysosomal cholesterol esterase (Rudel and Shelness, 2000). The conversion of cholesterol esters into free cholesterol by lysosomal cholesterol esterase in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice may not be as efficient as the conversion in *apoe-/-* mice. We have demonstrated that the decrease in VLDL-triglyceride, total cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl

esters production rates in hypomorphic sialidase mice is not caused by decreased VLDL particle production as illustrated by a non-significant difference in the ApoB production between the mice.

Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) regulates the loading of lipids to ApoB during VLDL assembly in the ER (Wetterau and Zilversmit, 1985; Gregg and Wetterau, 1994; Gordon et al., 1995). Nevertheless, MTP requires supply of cholesterol esters in the ER. We have shown that MTP has sufficient supply of cholesterol esters by studying the expression of ACAT2, the major cholesterol esterifying enzyme in liver (Anderson et al., 1998; Cases et al., 1998; Oelkers et al., 1998). Nevertheless, the question of how neu1 affects the protein expression of the ER-resident MTP is still unknown. However, the MTP gene is a SREBP responsive gene and is directly affected by lower levels of hepatic cholesterol. Typically, the regulatory domain in the C-terminal of SREBP-2 interacts with cleavage activating protein (SCAP) in the ER which can escort SREBP to Golgi where Site-1 and Site-2 protease can cleave SREBP to its active form. Cleaved SREBP-2 activates genes involved in cholesterol synthesis during cholesterol deprivation (Nohturfft et al., 2000; Espenshade et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2005). When there is high intracellular cholesterol as in hypomorphic sialidase mice, cholesterol binds to Scap, which causes a structural change in SCAP that enables Insig to bind to Scap. When Insig binds to Scap, the Scap/SREBP complex remains in the ER (Sun et al., 2005). As a result, the transcription activation of the target gene, i.e., MTP, does not occur and the expression of MTP as a result is reduced.

147

We have previously shown that hepatic microcirculation in hypomorphic sialidase mice show increased rolling and decreased adhesion of leukocytes (Champigny et al., 2009). Sialidase (neu1) plays roles in the desialylation of cell surface cell adhesion molecules including CD44 (Katoh et al., 1999; Katoh et al., 2000; Gee et al., 2003; Katoh et al., 2010) and sialyl Lewis X motifs contained in selectin ligands such as Pselectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) and E-selectin ligand 1 (ESL-1) (Gadhoum et al., 2008). These imply that sialidase may play roles in intercellular adhesion and may impact the recruitment and infiltration of blood cells into atherosclerostic lesions. We have observed that there are fewer macrophages and T cells in the atherosclerotic lesions in the aortic sinuses of B6.SM/apoe-/- mice compared to apoe-/- mice. Therefore, sialylation may play an important role in macrophage recruitment and homing. In fact, our results demonstrate that low sialidase reduced the numbers of macrophages and T cells in the atherosclerotic lesions. Hypomorphic sialidase expression is likely to cause a reduction in macrophage recruitment and homing to the endothelium by negatively affecting the binding of cell adhesion molecules such as Pselectin, E-selectin and hyaluronic acid. Further experiments to determine whether the decreased atherosclerosis is caused by a decreased number of leukocytes infiltration and/or the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by the leukocytes such as $TNF\alpha$, IL-1 β , IL-6 and MCP-1 will be worthwhile.

Our discovery of the novel role for sialidase in atherosclerosis makes it a potential target for pharmacological inhibition. There are different kinds of sialidase inhibitors, such as, 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid (DANA). In 1969, DANA was developed as a synthetic sialic acid derivative which differs from naturally occurring

sialic acid by one double bond between carbon atom 2 and carbon atom 3. DANA can inhibit mammalian, viral and bacterial sialidases (Meindl and Tuppy, 1969; Meindl et al., 1971; Meindl et al., 1974). Other viral sialidase inhibitors include Zanamivir (von Itzstein et al., 1993), Oseltamivir (Kim et al., 1997), and Peramivir (Babu et al., 2000). We used DANA, the modified form of sialic acid, to determine the effects of sialidase inhibition on spontaneous atherosclerosis in apoe-/- mice because of its nonpermeability of cell membrane and non-toxicity. The non-permeability of DANA allows it to inhibit the sialidase on the surface of the cell membrane without affecting the intracellular sialidase. Therefore, the DANA-injected mice will not develop sialidosis, a lysosomal disease caused by hypomorphic sialidase expression. Normally, sialidase has an active site that allows the sialic acid to bind. During the binding, the sialic acid is in the transition-state conformation. DANA resembles this transitionstate conformation and binds to the active site of sialidase. Thus, DANA competes with sialic acid to bind to the active site of sialidase. Treating apoe-/- mice with DANA for 6 weeks is prominent to reduce atherogenesis as shown by the atherosclerotic lesion areas. The reduced atherosclerotic lesion areas can be due to attenuation in the progression of atherogenesis which is illustrated by the DANA treatment slowing down atherogenesis to comparable baseline levels. Nevertheless, regression of atherosclerosis may occur concurrently which reduces the atherosclerotic area directly. Several studies were done showing the atherosclerotic plaque regression by emigration of monocyte-derived cells from atherosclerotic lesions in response to normalization of serum cholesterol in a CCR7-dependent manner (Feig et al., 2009; Llodra et al., 2004; Trogan et al., 2006; Trogan et al., 2004).

149

Sialidase plays roles in the activation of leukocytes. During the activation, sialidase migrates to the cell surface to interact with cell surface molecules such as TLR4, CD44 and CD15 (Amith et al., 2009; Amith et al., 2010; Katoh et al., 1999; Katoh et al., 2010; Gadhoum et al., 2008; Gee et al., 2003). Sialidase inhibition was shown to be able to decrease the pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and binding of leukocytes to endothelial cells (Katoh et al., 1999; Katoh et al., 2010; Nan et al., 2007). Although leukocytes are important contributors to confer atheroprotection, lipoprotein metabolism may be able to have synergistic impact with leukocytes. LIGHT and lymphotoxin, are members of the tumor necrosis factor super family (TNFSF) and ligands that bind to lymphotoxin β receptor (LT β R), and can promote inflammation, immune host defense, cell death and survival, and atherosclerosis. LIGHT mainly expresses on the surface of T cells and dendrite cells (Schnelder et al., 2004). Lo and colleagues have shown that overexpressing LIGHT on T cells causes the transgenic mice to have an increase in triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations in blood (Lo et al., 2007). Therefore, the changes in lipoprotein cholesterol levels can be affected by the activation of leukocytes.

When *apoe-/-* mice were treated with Oseltamivir, no significant difference in atherosclerotic lesion areas was observed. In fact, Oseltamivir is the drug used to treat influenza virus with brand name called Tamiflu. Thus, it is only specific to viral sialidase and does not inhibit mammalian sialidase. Therefore, *apoe-/-* mice treated with Oseltamvir do not show a reduction in atherosclerosis as observed in DANA-treated *apoe-/-* mice. Taken together, it appeared that non-cell membrane permeable sialidase inhibitor, DANA, can serve as an effective agent to reduce atherosclerosis.

In this study, we provide *in vivo* evidence that hypomorphic sialidase expression reduces serum cholesterol levels and reduces atherosclerosis in *apoe-/-* mice. In addition to genetic approach, we demonstrate that sialidase inhibition on the cell membrane is effective to reduce atherosclerosis. In conclusion, our studies so far present evidence that hypomorphic sialidase expression can protect against the atherogenic effects of ApoE deficiency in mice and inhibiting sialidase is a potent treatment for atherosclerosis.

References

Achyuthan KE, Achyuthan AM. Comparative enzymology, biochemistry and pathophysiology of human exo-alpha-sialidases (neuraminidases). Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol. 2001 May;129(1):29-64.

Amith SR, Jayanth P, Finlay T, Franchuk S, Gilmour A, Abdulkhalek S, Szewczuk MR. Detection of Neu1 sialidase activity in regulating Toll-like receptor activation. J Vis Exp. 2010 Sep 7;(43). pii: 2142. doi: 10.3791/2142.

Amith SR, Jayanth P, Franchuk S, Siddiqui S, Seyrantepe V, Gee K, Basta S, Beyaert R, Pshezhetsky AV, Szewczuk MR. Dependence of pathogen molecule-induced tolllike receptor activation and cell function on Neu1 sialidase. Glycoconj J. 2009 Dec;26(9):1197-212.

Anderson RA, Joyce C, Davis M, Reagan JW, Clark M, Shelness GS, Rudel LL. Identification of a form of acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase specific to liver and intestine in nonhuman primates. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26747-54.

Babu YS, Chand P, Bantia S, Kotian P, Dehghani A, El-Kattan Y, Lin TH, Hutchison TL, Elliott AJ, Parker CD, Ananth SL, Horn LL, Laver GW, Montgomery JA. BCX-1812 (RWJ-270201): discovery of a novel, highly potent, orally active, and selective influenza neuraminidase inhibitor through structure-based drug design. J Med Chem. 2000 Sep 21;43(19):3482-6.

Carrillo MB, Milner CM, Ball ST, Snoek M, Campbell RD. Cloning and characterization of a sialidase from the murine histocompatibility-2 complex: low levels of mRNA and a single amino acid mutation are responsible for reduced sialidase activity in mice carrying the Neu1a allele. Glycobiology. 1997 Oct;7(7):975-86.

Cases S, Novak S, Zheng YW, Myers HM, Lear SR, Sande E, Welch CB, Lusis AJ, Spencer TA, Krause BR, Erickson SK, Farese RV Jr. ACAT-2, a second mammalian acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase. Its cloning, expression, and characterization. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26755-64.

Champigny MJ, Mitchell M, Fox-Robichaud A, Trigatti BL, Igdoura SA. A point mutation in the neu1 promoter recruits an ectopic repressor, Nkx3.2 and results in a mouse model of sialidase deficiency. Mol Genet Metab. 2009 May;97(1):43-52.

Champigny MJ, Perry R, Rudnicki M, Igdoura SA. Overexpression of MyoDinducible lysosomal sialidase (neu1) inhibits myogenesis in C2C12 cells. Exp Cell Res. 2005 Nov 15;311(1):157-66. Epub 2005 Oct 10.

Chang CC, Huh HY, Cadigan KM, Chang TY. Molecular cloning and functional expression of human acyl-coenzyme A:cholesterol acyltransferase cDNA in mutant Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem. 1993 Oct 5;268(28):20747-55.

Chang TY, Li BL, Chang CC, Urano Y. Acyl-coenzyme A:cholesterol acyltransferases. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2009 Jul;297(1):E1-9.

Clark EA, Engel D, Windsor NT. Immune responsiveness of SM/J mice: hyper NK cell activity mediated by NK 1+ Qa 5- cells. J Immunol. 1981 Dec;127(6):2391-5.

Comelli EM, Amado M, Lustig SR, Paulson JC. Identification and expression of Neu4, a novel murine sialidase. Gene. 2003 Dec 4;321:155-61.

Constant SL, Bottomly K. Induction of Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses: the alternative approaches. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:297-322.

Corfield T. Bacterial sialidases--roles in pathogenicity and nutrition. Glycobiology. 1992 Dec;2(6):509-21.

Cross AS, Wright DG. Mobilization of sialidase from intracellular stores to the surface of human neutrophils and its role in stimulated adhesion responses of these cells. J Clin Invest. 1991 Dec;88(6):2067-76.

de Geest N, Bonten E, Mann L, de Sousa-Hitzler J, Hahn C, d'Azzo A. Systemic and neurologic abnormalities distinguish the lysosomal disorders sialidosis and galactosialidosis in mice. Hum Mol Genet. 2002 Jun 1;11(12):1455-64.

Espenshade PJ, Li WP, Yabe D. Sterols block binding of COPII proteins to SCAP, thereby controlling SCAP sorting in ER. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Sep 3;99(18):11694-9.

Feig JE, Quick JS, Fisher EA. The role of a murine transplantation model of atherosclerosis regression in drug discovery. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2009 Mar;10(3):232-8.

Ferrari J, Harris R, Warner TG. Cloning and expression of a soluble sialidase from Chinese hamster ovary cells: sequence alignment similarities to bacterial sialidases. Glycobiology. 1994 Jun;4(3):367-73

Filipovic I, Schwarzmann G, Mraz W, Wiegandt H, Buddecke E. Sialic-acid content of low-density lipoproteins controls their binding and uptake by cultured cells. Eur J Biochem. 1979 Jan 2;93(1):51-5.

Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. 1957 May;226(1):497-509.

Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 expression in human myeloid cell differentiation is regulated by sialidase activity. Nat Chem Biol. 2008 Dec;4(12):751-7.

Gee K, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces functionally active hyaluronan-adhesive CD44 by activating sialidase through p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytic cells. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37275-87.

Gordon DA, Jamil H, Gregg RE, Olofsson SO, Boren J. Inhibition of the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein blocks the first step of apolipoprotein B lipoprotein assembly but not the addition of bulk core lipids in the second step. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 20;271(51):33047-53.

Gordon DA, Wetterau JR, Gregg RE. Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein: a protein complex required for the assembly of lipoprotein particles. Trends Cell Biol. 1995 Aug;5(8):317-21.

Gregg RE, Wetterau JR. The molecular basis of abetalipoproteinemia. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1994 Apr;5(2):81-6.

Hansson GK, Jonasson L, Lojsthed B, Stemme S, Kocher O, Gabbiani G. Localization of T lymphocytes and macrophages in fibrous and complicated human atherosclerotic plaques. Atherosclerosis. 1988 Aug;72(2-3):135-41.

Horton JD, Shimomura I, Brown MS, Hammer RE, Goldstein JL, Shimano H. Activation of cholesterol synthesis in preference to fatty acid synthesis in liver and adipose tissue of transgenic mice overproducing sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. J Clin Invest. 1998 Jun 1;101(11):2331-9.

Igdoura SA, Gafuik C, Mertineit C, Saberi F, Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M, Trasler JM, Gravel RA. Cloning of the cDNA and gene encoding mouse lysosomal sialidase and correction of sialidase deficiency in human sialidosis and mouse SM/J fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Jan;7(1):115-21.

Jonasson L, Holm J, Skalli O, Bondjers G, Hansson GK. Regional accumulations of T cells, macrophages, and smooth muscle cells in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Arteriosclerosis. 1986 Mar-Apr;6(2):131-8.

Katoh S, Maeda S, Fukuoka H, Wada T, Moriya S, Mori A, Yamaguchi K, Senda S, Miyagi T. A crucial role of sialidase Neu1 in hyaluronan receptor function of CD44 in T helper type 2-mediated airway inflammation of murine acute asthmatic model. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010 Aug;161(2):233-41.

Katoh S, Miyagi T, Taniguchi H, Matsubara Y, Kadota J, Tominaga A, Kincade PW, Matsukura S, Kohno S. Cutting edge: an inducible sialidase regulates the hyaluronic acid binding ability of CD44-bearing human monocytes. J Immunol. 1999 May 1;162(9):5058-61.

Katsuda S, Boyd HC, Fligner C, Ross R, Gown AM. Human atherosclerosis. III. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cell composition of lesions of young adults. Am J Pathol. 1992 Apr;140(4):907-14.

Kim CU, Lew W, Williams MA, Liu H, Zhang L, Swaminathan S, Bischofberger N, Chen MS, Mendel DB, Tai CY, Laver WG, Stevens RC. Influenza neuraminidase inhibitors possessing a novel hydrophobic interaction in the enzyme active site: design, synthesis, and structural analysis of carbocyclic sialic acid analogues with potent anti-influenza activity. J Am Chem Soc. 1997 Jan 29;119(4):681-90.

Kuipers F, Jong MC, Lin Y, Eck M, Havinga R, Bloks V, Verkade HJ, Hofker MH, Moshage H, Berkel TJ, Vonk RJ, Havekes LM. Impaired secretion of very low density lipoprotein-triglycerides by apolipoprotein E- deficient mouse hepatocytes. J Clin Invest. 1997 Dec 1;100(11):2915-22.

Landolfi NF, Cook RG. Activated T-lymphocytes express class I molecules which are hyposialylated compared to other lymphocyte populations. Mol Immunol. 1986 Mar;23(3):297-309.

Landolfi NF, Leone J, Womack JE, Cook RG. Activation of T lymphocytes results in an increase in H-2-encoded neuraminidase. Immunogenetics. 1985;22(2):159-67.

Li X, Catalina F, Grundy SM, Patel S. Method to measure apolipoprotein B-48 and B-100 secretion rates in an individual mouse: evidence for a very rapid turnover of VLDL and preferential removal of B-48- relative to B-100-containing lipoproteins. J Lipid Res. 1996 Jan;37(1):210-20.

Llodrá J, Angeli V, Liu J, Trogan E, Fisher EA, Randolph GJ. Emigration of monocyte-derived cells from atherosclerotic lesions characterizes regressive, but not progressive, plaques. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Aug 10;101(32):11779-84.

Lo JC, Wang Y, Tumanov AV, Bamji M, Yao Z, Reardon CA, Getz GS, Fu YX. Lymphotoxin beta receptor-dependent control of lipid homeostasis. Science. 2007 Apr 13;316(5822):285-8.

Malmendier CL, Delcroix C, Fontaine M. Effect of sialic acid removal on human low density lipoprotein catabolism in vivo. Atherosclerosis. 1980 Oct;37(2):277-84.

Meindl P, Bodo G, Lindner J, Palese P. Influence of 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-Nacetylneuraminic acid on Myxovirus-neuraminidases and the replication of influenzaand Newcastle disease virus. Z Naturforsch B. 1971 Aug;26(8):792-7.

Meindl P, Bodo G, Palese P, Schulman J, Tuppy H. Inhibition of neuraminidase activity by derivatives of 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid. Virology. 1974 Apr;58(2):457-63.

Meindl P, Tuppy H. 2-Deoxy-2,3-dehydrosialic acids. II. Competitive inhibition of Vibrio cholerae neuraminidase by 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acylneuraminic acids. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem. 1969 Sep;350(9):1088-92.
Millar JS, Cromley DA, McCoy MG, Rader DJ, Billheimer JT. Determining hepatic triglyceride production in mice: comparison of poloxamer 407 with Triton WR-1339. J Lipid Res. 2005 Sep;46(9):2023-8.

Miyagi T, Wada T, Iwamatsu A, Hata K, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Sawada M. Molecular cloning and characterization of a plasma membrane-associated sialidase specific for gangliosides. J Biol Chem. 1999 Feb 19;274(8):5004-11.

Monti E, Bassi MT, Bresciani R, Civini S, Croci GL, Papini N, Riboni M, Zanchetti G, Ballabio A, Preti A, Tettamanti G, Venerando B, Borsani G. Molecular cloning and characterization of NEU4, the fourth member of the human sialidase gene family. Genomics. 2004 Mar;83(3):445-53.

Monti E, Preti A, Rossi E, Ballabio A, Borsani G. Cloning and characterization of NEU2, a human gene homologous to rodent soluble sialidases. Genomics. 1999 Apr 1;57(1):137-43.

Nan X, Carubelli I, Stamatos NM. Sialidase expression in activated human T lymphocytes influences production of IFN-gamma. J Leukoc Biol. 2007 Jan;81(1):284-96.

Nohturfft A, Yabe D, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Espenshade PJ. Regulated step in cholesterol feedback localized to budding of SCAP from ER membranes. Cell. 2000 Aug 4;102(3):315-23.

Oelkers P, Behari A, Cromley D, Billheimer JT, Sturley SL. Characterization of two human genes encoding acyl coenzyme A:cholesterol acyltransferase-related enzymes. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26765-71.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN, Mikhailenko IA. Modification of low density lipoprotein by desialylation causes lipid accumulation in cultured cells: discovery of desialylated lipoprotein with altered cellular metabolism in the blood of atherosclerotic patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1989 Jul 14;162(1):206-11.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN. Desialylated low density lipoprotein--naturally occurring modified lipoprotein with atherogenic potency. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Feb;86(2-3):153-61.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Smirnov VN, Via DP, Guevara J Jr, Gotto AM Jr, Morrisett JD. Sialic acid content of human low density lipoproteins affects their interaction with cell receptors and intracellular lipid accumulation. J Lipid Res. 1992 Jun;33(6):805-17.

Otway S, Robinson DS. The effect of a non-ionic detergent (Triton WR 1339) on the removal of triglyceride fatty acids from the blood of the rat. J Physiol. 1967 May;190(2):309-19.

Paulson JC. Glycoproteins: what are the sugar chains for? Trends Biochem Sci. 1989 Jul;14(7):272-6.

Pilatte Y, Bignon J, Lambre CR. Sialic acids as important molecules in the regulation of the immune system: pathophysiological implications of sialidases in immunity. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):201-18.

Potier M, Lu Shun Yan D, Womack JE. Neuraminidase deficiency in the mouse. FEBS Lett. 1979 Dec 15;108(2):345-8.

Pshezhetsky AV, Ashmarina M. Lysosomal multienzyme complex: biochemistry, genetics, and molecular pathophysiology. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol. 2001;69:81-114.

Pshezhetsky AV, Richard C, Michaud L, Igdoura S, Wang S, Elsliger MA, Qu J, Leclerc D, Gravel R, Dallaire L, Potier M. Cloning, expression and chromosomal mapping of human lysosomal sialidase and characterization of mutations in sialidosis.Nat Genet. 1997 Mar;15(3):316-20.

Reuter G, Gabius HJ. Sialic acids structure-analysis-metabolism-occurrence-recognition. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler. 1996 Jun;377(6):325-42.

Rubin D, Schneider-Muntau A, Klapper M, Nitz L, Helwig U, Folsch UR, Schrezenmeir J, Rudel LL, Shelness GS. Cholesterol esters and atherosclerosis-a game of ACAT and mouse. Nat Med. 2000 Dec;6(12):1313-4.

Rudel LL, Shelness GS. Cholesterol esters and atherosclerosis-a game of ACAT and mouse. Nat Med. 2000 Dec;6(12):1313-4.

Ruelland A, Gallou G, Legras B, Paillard F, Cloarec L. LDL sialic acid content in patients with coronary artery disease. Clin Chim Acta. 1993 Nov 30;221(1-2):127-33.

Sato R, Miyamoto W, Inoue J, Terada T, Imanaka T, Maeda M. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein negatively regulates microsomal triglyceride transfer protein gene transcription. J Biol Chem. 1999 Aug 27;274(35):24714-20.

Schneider K, Potter KG, Ware CF. Lymphotoxin and LIGHT signaling pathways and target genes. Immunol Rev. 2004 Dec;202:49-66.

Sobenin IA, Tertov VV, Orekhov AN, Smirnov VN. Synergetic effect of desialylated and glycated low density lipoproteins on cholesterol accumulation in cultured smooth muscle intimal cells. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Aug;89(2-3):151-4.

Stamatos NM, Carubelli I, van de Vlekkert D, Bonten EJ, Papini N, Feng C, Venerando B, d'Azzo A, Cross AS, Wang LX, Gomatos PJ. LPS-induced cytokine production in human dendritic cells is regulated by sialidase activity. J Leukoc Biol. 2010 Dec;88(6):1227-39.

Stamatos NM, Liang F, Nan X, Landry K, Cross AS, Wang LX, Pshezhetsky AV. Differential expression of endogenous sialidases of human monocytes during cellular differentiation into macrophages. FEBS J. 2005 May;272(10):2545-56.

Sun LP, Li L, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Insig required for sterol-mediated inhibition of Scap/SREBP binding to COPII proteins in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 2005 280: 26483-26490.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Gabbasov ZA, Popov EG, Jaakkola O, Solakivi T, Nikkari T, Smirnov VN, Orekhov AN. Multiple-modified desialylated low density lipoproteins that cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Isolation, fractionation and characterization. Lab Invest. 1992 Nov;67(5):665-75.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Orekhov AN. Characterization of desialylated low-density lipoproteins which cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Int J Tissue React. 1992;14(4):155-62.

Trogan E, Fayad ZA, Itskovich VV, Aguinaldo JG, Mani V, Fallon JT, Chereshnev I, Fisher EA. Serial studies of mouse atherosclerosis by in vivo magnetic resonance imaging detect lesion regression after correction of dyslipidemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Sep;24(9):1714-9.

Trogan E, Feig JE, Dogan S, Rothblat GH, Angeli V, Tacke F, Randolph GJ, Fisher EA. Gene expression changes in foam cells and the role of chemokine receptor CCR7 during atherosclerosis regression in ApoE-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Mar 7;103(10):3781-6.

Varki A. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J. 1997 Mar;11(4):248-55.

Vimr E, Lichtensteiger C. To sialylate, or not to sialylate: that is the question. Trends Microbiol. 2002 Jun;10(6):254-7.

von Itzstein M, Wu WY, Kok GB, Pegg MS, Dyason JC, Jin B, Van Phan T, Smythe ML, White HF, Oliver SW, et al. Rational design of potent sialidase-based inhibitors of influenza virus replication. Nature. 1993 Jun 3;363(6428):418-23.

Wada T, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Kuwabara M, Akita H, Miyagi T. Cloning, expression, and chromosomal mapping of a human ganglioside sialidase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999 Jul 22;261(1):21-7.

Wetterau JR, Gregg RE, Harrity TW, Arbeeny C, Cap M, Connolly F, Chu CH, George RJ, Gordon DA, Jamil H, Jolibois KG, Kunselman LK, Lan SJ, Maccagnan TJ, Ricci B, Yan M, Young D, Chen Y, Fryszman OM, Logan JV, Musial CL, Poss MA, Robl JA, Simpkins LM, Slusarchyk WA, Sulsky R, Taunk P, Magnin DR, Tino JA, Lawrence RM, Dickson JK Jr, Biller SA. An MTP inhibitor that normalizes atherogenic lipoprotein levels in WHHL rabbits. Science. 1998 Oct 23;282(5389):751-4.

Wetterau JR, Zilversmit DB. Purification and characterization of microsomal triglyceride and cholesteryl ester transfer protein from bovine liver microsomes. Chem Phys Lipids. 1985 Aug 30;38(1-2):205-22.

Whitman SC, Ravisankar P, Daugherty A. IFN-gamma deficiency exerts genderspecific effects on atherogenesis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2002 Jun;22(6):661-70.

Yamaguchi K, Hata K, Koseki K, Shiozaki K, Akita H, Wada T, Moriya S, Miyagi T. Evidence for mitochondrial localization of a novel human sialidase (NEU4). Biochem J. 2005 Aug 15;390(Pt 1):85-93.

Zhou J, Lhoták S, Hilditch BA, Austin RC. Activation of the unfolded protein response occurs at all stages of atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2005 Apr 12;111(14):1814-21.

Chapter 4

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression in Bone Marrow Derived Leukocytes Reduces Atherogenesis in ApoE Knockout Mice

Abraham E. Yang^{1‡}, Elizabeth J. White^{1‡}, Gabriel Gyulay¹, Bernardo L. Trigatti², Suleiman A. Igdoura^{1,3}

Department of ¹Biology, ²Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, ³Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada,

⁺Abraham E. Yang and Elizabeth J. White contributed equally to this work and are co-

first authors.

Preface

Abraham Yang performed the followings: weights of male and female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow after feeding with western diet (Fig. 4.3.2), serum and hepatic lipids levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow (Table 4.3.1), blood cells lipids levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with apoe-/- or B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow (Fig. 4.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area of B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow (Fig. 4.3.4). Elizabeth White performed peripheral blood immunophenotyping, selectin and hyaluronic acid binding assay (Fig. 4.3.1, 4.3.6-4.3.8), serum cytokine measurement (Fig. 4.3.5). Gabriel Gyulay contributed to folch lipid extraction. Aline Fiebig contributed to technical assistance for measuring weights and bone marrow transplantation (Fig. 4.3.2).

Chapter 4

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression in Bone Marrow Derived Leukocytes Reduces Atherogenesis in ApoE Knockout Mice

Summary

Atherosclerosis is dependent on both lipoprotein metabolism and inflammatory cascades, involving immune cells and cytokine signaling in the peripheral blood and within developing lesion areas. We have shown previously that hypomorphic sialidase expression in macrophages results in reduced secretion of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and MCP-1 when stimulated with LPS. We have generated a congenic mouse strain with hypomorphic sialidase expression which shows significantly reduced atherosclerotic lesion development on an ApoE knockout background. In this study, we examined whether hematopoietic cell derived sialidase contributes significantly to atherogenesis. We first assessed the effect of hypomorphic sialidase expression on immunophenotypes of peripheral blood cells in apoe-/- mice, and its consequences on in vivo cytokine secretion and in vitro function of cell surface cell adhesion molecules. In addition, we transplanted male B6.SM/apoe-/- or apoe-/bone marrow to female and male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice to test if normal sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells affects atherosclerosis in B6.SM/apoe-/-mice. Our results show increased populations of CD4⁺ T and CD11b^{hi} cells, but significantly reduced proportions of CD11b^{lo} cells in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice compared to apoe-/controls. When challenged with LPS, B6.SM/apoe-/- mice show delayed secretion of IFNy and secrete less IL-10 than apoe-/-mice, indicating decreased inflammatory potential as a result of hypomorphic sialidase expression. B6.SM/apoe-/- peripheral blood shows decreased adhesion function of P-selectin ligands on CD3ɛ+ cells, as well as a trend for decreased hyaluronic acid binding on CD11b+ cells, which suggests compromised extravasation. Furthermore, female or male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow show a significant decrease in both the atherosclerotic lesion area and volume compared to female or male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice treated with male *apoe-/-* bone marrow. No significant differences in serum and hepatic levels of cholesterol and triglyceride are observed between bone marrow transplanted mice with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow. Therefore, we conclude that sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells is a major contributor to atherogenesis via modulating leukocytes homing and their overall inflammatory function without any effect on serum lipoprotein levels.

4.1 Introduction

Sialidases belong to a family of hydrolytic enzymes that cleave sialic acid, an acidic sugar, from glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides (Reuter and Gabius, 1996). The enzyme exists in a multi-enzyme complex consisting of β -galactosidase, cathepsin A and sialidase (GCS complex) (van der Horst et al., 1989; van der Spoel et al., 1998; Bonten et al., 1995; Galjart et al., 1988, Galjart et al., 1991). The functional consequences of sialidases on the cell surface include cellular differentiation, tumorigenicity and metastatic behaviour of tumor cells (Collard et al., 1986; Pilatte et al., 1993; Varki A., 1997; Bonten et al., 1996). Sialylaton plays a role in the regulation of receptor-ligand interaction, dimerization, activation, as well as the activity of cell surface molecules, such as, CD44 and CD45 (Cuff et al., 2001; Katoh et al., 1995; Khan et al., 2004). Sialidase and sialic acid play key roles in inflammatory responses involving the activation of macrophages (Lambré et al., 1990; Liang et al., 2006; Stamatos et al., 2005), T cells (Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Xu and Weiss, 2002) and neutrophils (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004) indicating their effects in chronic inflammation such as atherosclerosis.

The mammalian sialidases differ in subcellular localization and substrate specificity. To date, genes encoding four sialidase isozymes have been cloned. These are lysosomal, *neu1* (Igdoura et al., 1998; Carrillo et al., 1997; Pshezhetsky et al., 1997), cytosolic, *neu2* (Monti et al., 1999; Ferrari et al., 1994), plasma membrane-bound, *neu3* (Miyagi et al., 1999; Wada et al., 1999) and mitochondrial forms, *neu4* (Comelli et al., 2003; Monti et al., 2004; Seyranptepe et al., 2004). Deficiency of the lysosomal

sialidase (Neu1) causes the autosomal recessive disease sialidosis, which is characterized by the accumulation of sialylated glycoconjugates such as ganglioside GM3 within the lysosomes in the central nervous system as well as in peripheral tissues (O'Brien and Warner, 1980). Sialidosis has two distinct phenotypes differentiated by the severity of symptoms and age of onset.Type I sialidosis has a late onset and is associated with less severe symptoms, while Type II sialidosis has an early onset and is accompanied by severe symptoms (O'Brien and Warner, 1980; Sasagasako et al., 1993; Bonten et al., 2000).

In 1979, it was first demonstrated that SM/J mouse has a partial deficiency of sialidase (Potier et al., 1979; Womack et al., 1981). SM/J mice have an impaired immune response resulting from the altered processing of sialic acids present on cell surface molecules of T cells. Also, SM/J mice can stimulate a Th1-mediated immune response (IFN- γ -producing T cells), but not a Th2-mediated immune response (IL-4-producing T cells) (Clark et al., 1981; Constant et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1997; Chen et al., 2000). It was reported that SM/J sialidase deficiency resulted from a missense mutation (Rottier et al., 1988). In addition, we identified a point mutation (-519G \rightarrow A) in the mouse lysosomal sialidase promoter (*neu1*). This mutation creates a binding site for a transcriptional repressor, Nkx3.2, resulting in reduced gene expression (Champigny et al., 2009). We have isolated this mutation from the SM/J mice by backcrossing onto the C57BI/6 strain, generating a hypomorphic sialidase congenic mouse strain namely, B6.SM, providing us with the opportunity to test whether this mutation in isolation can affect atherosclerosis susceptibility. We have shown recently that LPS-stimulated hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow derived macrophages show reduced secretion of inflammatory cytokines, such as, TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and MCP-1. In addition, there have been many reports demonstrating the protective role of reduced cytokines during atherosclerosis in *apoe-/-* mice. For example, mice with a double knockout for ApoE and IL4 show decreased atherosclerosis compared to ApoE knockout mice (Davenport and Tipping, 2003). In addition, atherogenesis is decreased by inhibiting tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) in *apoe-/-* mice (Branen et al., 2004).

Leukocytes include monocytes, granulocytes, T cells and natural killer cells. Common markers that have been used for these cell typtes include CD11b for monocytes, Gr-1 for granulocytes, CD3 ϵ for T cells, NK1.1 for natural killer cells. Leukocyte recruitment starts with capturing of leukocytes to the endothelium. Capture of leukocytes is followed by rolling of leukocytes along the endothelium. The capture and rolling depend on cell surface molecules such as P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) and CD44. This process involves interaction between PSGL-1 and CD44 with P-selectin and E-selectin on endothelial cells (McEver and Cummings, 1997). CD44 can also interact with hyaluronic acid (HA) (Ponta et al., 2003). Leukocyte capture and rolling is followed by leukocyte activation and adhesion which involves chemokine receptors and integrins such as CD11b. This is followed by transmigration which allows leukocytes to migrate through the endothelium into the intima layer of the artery (Springer T., 1994).

Sialylation plays a significant role in the regulation of the cell adhesion molecules, CD44 and CD45, which both play roles in the activation and/or recruitment of monocytes/macrophages after LPS stimulation (Gee et al., 2003; Katoh et al., 1999;

Xu and Weiss, 2002). Furthermore, CD44 promotes atherosclerosis by inducing activation of inflammatory cells (DeGrendele et al., 1996; Hodge-Dufour et al., 1997; McKee et al., 1996). Cuff and colleagues have also demonstrated that CD44-null mice had reduced atherosclerosis compared with wild-type mice (Cuff et al., 2001). Therefore, there is much interest in defining major determinants for the pro-inflammatory cascade leading to atherogenesis. One may hypothesize that the modulation of sialylation on leukocytes by neu1 sialidase may be one of these determinants.

Our recent work has shown that hypomorphic sialidase expression significantly reduces atherosclerosis in ApoE knockout mice. Furthermore, administration of a sialidase inhibitor, 2,3-dehydro-2-deoxy-N-acetylneuraminic acid (DANA), significantly reduced atherosclerotic lesion area and volume in *apoe-/-* mice compared to controls. Thus, it became imperative to determine whether hematopoietic cells with reduced or inhibited sialidase underlie this atheroprotective effect. In this report, we demonstrate that hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells may reduce extravasation leading to reduced atherosclerosis with no effect on serum and hepatic levels of total cholesterol and triglyceride. These results demonstrate that reduced neul sialidase activity in blood cells can be protective from atherosclerosis.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Generation of the donor and recipient mice

B6.SM mice were generated by crossing SM/J mice with C57Bl/6 mouse strain six times. B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were generated by crossing the B6.SM mice with *apoe-/-* mice on a C57Bl/6 background. B6.SM/*apoe-/-* and *apoe-/-* mice were used for the bone marrow transplantation studies in which B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were used as the recipients and *apoe-/-* or B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were used as the donors. Mice were housed in microisolator cages, and had unlimited access to food and water. All experimental procedures involving animals were approved by the McMaster Animal Research Ethics Board.

4.2.2 Peripheral blood immunophenotyping

Peripheral blood was collected from male *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice by terminal cardiac puncture with a heparinized needle. Erythrocytes were lysed using ACK lysis buffer (150 mM NH₄Cl, 10 mM KHCO₃, 100 mM Na₂EDTA), leukocytes were counted and cells were pre-incubated with rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (10 µg/ml, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, Canada) and immunostained for cell surface markers using 1 µg of each antibody for 10⁶ cells in FACS buffer (PBS, 0.2% BSA): hamster anti-mouse CD3ε-APC-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11), rat anti-mouse CD11b-APC (clone M1/70), rat anti-mouse CD19-V450 (clone 1D3), rat anti-mouse Gr-1-FITC (clone RB6-8C5), and mouse anti-mouse NK1.1-PE-Cy7 (clone PK136). Separate reactions were used to assess hamster anti-mouse CD3ε-APC-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11), rat anti-mouse CD4-PE (clone GK1.5) and rat anti-mouse CD8a-Pacific BlueTM (clone 53-6.7).

Samples were washed with FACS buffer, fixed with BD CytofixTM Fixation Buffer (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Canada) and washed again before they were run on a LSR II flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter).

4.2.3 Selectin and hyaluronic acid binding assay

Peripheral blood was isolated by cardiac puncture and red blood cells were lysed using ACK lysis buffer (150 mM NH₄Cl, 10 mM KHCO₃, 100 mM Na₂EDTA). Cells were incubated in Hank's balanced salt solution containing calcium and magnesium at 37°C for 1h with 4 µg P-selectin-human IgG chimera, 4 µg E-selectin-human IgG chimera or 200 µg hyaluronic acid conjugated to fluorescein. To detect bound selectin chimera protein, cells were incubated on ice with anti-human-IgG conjugated to Alexa Fluor 488. Cells were incubated on ice with hamster anti-mouse CD3ε-Pacific Blue (clone 145-2C11) and rat anti-mouse CD11b-APC (clone M1/70) to detect T cells and monocyte/granulocyte populations, respectively. Samples were fixed with BD CytofixTM Fixation Buffer (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Canada) and run on a LSR II flow cytometer.

4.2.4 Serum cytokine measurement

Male *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were injected with 200 µg lipopolysaccharide (*E. coli* 026:B6 LPS, Sigma-Aldrich) or 25 µg anti-CD3ε antibody (clone 145-2C11, BD Pharmingen, Mississauga, Canada) in sterile saline. Blood was harvested at 2h, 4h and 8h, in serum collection tubes, spun at 10 000 x g for 5 min. and stored at -80°C until analysis. For time 0h, blood was collected from untreated animals and used to determine baseline levels. Serum IL-2, IL-4, IL-10 and IFNγ cytokine levels were

analyzed according to the mouse Th1/Th2 Ready-SET-Go! ELISA Set (eBioscience, California, USA).

4.2.5 Treatment of mice

The transplanted mice were given septra antibiotic water and jello for 4 weeks after transplantation. Mice wee fed with western diet 4 weeks post transplantation for 2 months. After 3 months post transplantation, the mice were sacrificed for atherosclerosis and lipoprotein analyses.

4.2.6 Bone marrow transplantation

One week before irradiation, the recipient mice were given septra antibiotic water and jello. On the day of transplantation, the donor mice were euthanized by cervical dislocation. Femurs and humurus were harvested from the donor mice. Femurs and humurus were then placed in a 35mm tissue culture dish containing 1ml of the following filtered medium: Iscove minimum Dulbecco medium (IMDM) with penicillin and streptomycin and fungizone. The ends of the femurs and humurus were cut. The femurs and humurus were flushed with filtered IMDM with penicillin and streptomycin and fungizone three times using 26G 1/2 and 26G 3/4 needles. The solution was put through a sterile 40-um nylon Cell Strainer (Falcon 352340) and collected in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube. The solution was centrifuged at 3300 rpm for 10 minutes at 4C. The upper phase was disposed and the cells were resuspended in 300ul of filtered IMDM with penicillin and streptomycin and fungizone. Cell suspension (5ul) was added to ACK buffer (45ul). Number of cells was determined by mixing the cell suspension (5ul) and ACK buffer (45ul) and the mixture (15ul) was then counted

170

using a hemocytometer. The recipient mice were irradiated with 11Gy.The recipient mice were then retro orbital-injected with 295 ul of the cell suspension, equivalent to 1×10^{6} cells. Transplantation efficacy was assessed by genotyping blood cells using PCR.

4.2.7 Blood and tissue collection

Under anesthesia with ketamine/xylazine, mouse was flushed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) through the left ventricle of the heart. Heart was then harvested and was placed in Krebs Henseleit Solution for 30 min. After 30 min, the heart was fixed in 4% formaldehyde. Under anesthesia and before the perfusion, blood was obtained by cardiac puncture. Serum was prepared by centrifugation of blood for 5 min at 15,000 rpm using serum collection tubes. The liver was removed and was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen.

4.2.8 Serum lipids analysis

Serum total cholesterol levels were measured by Infinity reagent as described by manufacturer (Thermo) and the absorbance of the reaction product was read at 500nm. Serum free cholesterol levels were measured using free cholesterol E regent (Wako Diagnostics) and was read at 600nm. Serum triglyceride levels were measured with L-Type Triglyceride H Reagents 1 and 2 (Wako Diagnostics) and were read at 600nm.

4.2.9 Hepatic and blood cell lipid analyses

Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride levels were determined after lipid extraction using an enzymatic assay. Briefly, liver was homogenized in 1ml of TNES (10 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 400mM NaCl, 100mM EDTA, 0.6% SDS). Folch mixture (6ml of chloroform/methanol, 2:1) was added to 300ul of liver homogenates. After vortexing, 1.2ml of distilled water was added and the tube was vortexed. The extraction mixture was left at 4°C for 2 hours. The tubes were centrifuged at low speed to facilitate phase separation. The upper phase (methanol/water phase) was discarded and the lower phase was saved for the hepatic lipid enzymatic assay. The lower phase (chloroform phase) was dried completely. The dry chloroform phase was resuspended in 60ul of isopropanol. Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride concentrations were measured using an enzymatic method as described in serum lipids analysis. Blood cell lipid analysis was performed the same as the hepatic lipid analysis except that the lipids concentrations were normalized to protein concentrations after performing protein assays.

4.2.10 Analysis of lesions in the aortic sinus

Hearts were processed as described in blood and tissues collection. After 4% formaldehyde fixation, hearts were placed in 30% sucrose in PBS overnight at 4°C. Hearts were embedded in cryomatrix (Shandon Thermo) and were frozen on dry ice. Serial 10 um sections were collected using a Shandon Cryostat. Sections were stained with Oil Red O for neutral lipids and stained with hematoxylin for cell nuclei. Atherosclerosis was quantified as the total cross sectional area of atherosclerotic plaque in each given section using a Zeiss Axiovision light microscope software. Lesion volume was determined by measuring the cross sectional area of lesions in

sections spaced 100 μ m apart as the average lesion area for the 100 μ m stretch of the aortic sinus, multiplying by 100 μ m, and then adding these values together.

4.2.11 Statistical analysis

One-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by Tukey's Post Hoc Multiple Comparison Test, and additional statistical analyses were conducted using Prism 5 (version 5.04, GraphPad). Mean±SE were shown with error bars. Comparison of data was considered statistically significant different only if P < 0.05, determined by Student's *t* test.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice have increased $CD3\epsilon^+$ and decreased $CD11b^{lo}$ populations.

Peripheral blood leukocytes from *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice were analyzed by flow cytometry (Fig. 4.3.1). The peripheral blood $CD3\epsilon^+$ cell population was significantly increased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (39±5%) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (15±2%) (p=0.0006, Fig. 4.3.1 A). Within the $CD3\epsilon^+$ subset, the $CD3\epsilon^+CD4^+$ population was significantly increased in the B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (39±6%) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (22±1%) (p=0.014, Fig. 4.3.1 B), but the $CD3\epsilon^+CD8^+$ subset was not different between B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (38±5%) and mice (35±6%).

Two CD11b⁺ subsets were apparent in both *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-*mice (Fig. 4.3.1 A), including CD11b^{lo} and CD11b^{hi} subsets. CD11b^{lo} was significantly decreased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* ($33\pm9\%$) compared to *apoe-/-* mice ($58\pm7\%$) (p=0.0086), while the CD11b^{hi} subset was significantly increased in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice ($3.5\pm2\%$) compared to *apoe-/-* controls ($1\pm0.1\%$) (p=0.045). Populations of CD11b^{lo}Gr-1^{lo} and CD11b^{lo}Gr-1^{hi} were not significantly different between B6.SM/*apoe-/-* and *apoe-/-*mice (Fig. 4.3.1 C). In CD11b^{hi} cells, no difference was observed in CD11b^{hi}Gr-1^{lo} populations in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice, but a significant decrease in the CD11b^{hi}Gr-1^{hi} population was observed in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice ($1.0\pm0.6\%$) compared to *apoe-/-* mice ($7\pm3\%$) (p=0.014, Fig. 4.3.1 D). The proportion of CD19⁺ cells was not significantly different in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* ($34\pm4\%$) peripheral blood compared to *apoe-/-* ($27\pm8\%$) (Fig. 4.3.1 A). As well, there is no difference in

NK1.1⁺ cell populations in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (14 \pm 3%) peripheral blood compared to *apoe-/-* (14 \pm 1%) (Fig. 4.3.1 A).

Fig. 4.3.1 Peripheral blood immmunophenotype comparison between *apoe-/-* and hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/*apoe-/-*. Samples were treated with ACK lysis buffer, blocked with CD16/CD32 antibody, stained with directly conjugated antibodies for cell surface markers, fixed and run on a LSR II flow cytometer. (A) Proportions of CD3 ϵ^+ (T cell marker, epsilon chain of the T cell receptor associated complex), CD11b^{lo} and CD11b^{hi} (monocyte/granulocyte marker α M integrin), CD19⁺ (B cell differentiation antigen) and NK1.1⁺ (NK and NK T cell antigen) cells in peripheral blood. (B) CD4+ (helper T cells) and CD8⁺ (cytotoxic T cells) subsets in the CD3 ϵ^+ gate are presented. (C) Proportions of Gr-1^{lo} and Gr-1^{hi} cells in the CD11b^{hi} gate. Mean proportion \pm standard deviation is presented in each graph.

Fig. 4.3.1





В



D

С





177

4.3.2 The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells on serum and hepatic lipids levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice.

In order to test the effects of sialidase expression in blood cells on atherosclerosis in vivo, we performed bone marrow transplantation experiments. Bone marrow (BM) from the femurs of apoe-/- or B6.SM/apoe-/- mice was harvested and then injected intravenously into 2-month-old, lethally irradiated B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. Mice were fed western diet 30 days post transplantation for 60 days. Weights of the mice were measured weekly (Fig. 4.3.2). Weights of the male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/apoe-/- bone marrow are significantly higher than those of B6.SM/apoe-/-mice transplanted with apoe-/- bone marrow, after 5 weeks of western diet (Fig. 4.3.2 B). However, there is no difference in weights of the female B6.SM/apoe-/mice transplanted with B6.SM/apoe-/-bone marrow and the female B6.SM/apoe-/mice transplanted with apoe-/- bone marrow (Fig. 4.3.2 A). After 3 months post transplantation, the mice were sacrificed for atherosclerosis and lipid analyses. No significant difference in hepatic or serum total cholesterol, triglyceride, cholesteryl esters and free cholesterol concentrations were found in B6.SM/apoe-/- female transplanted with B6.SM/apoe-/- or apoe-/- bone marrow (Table 4.3.1). Similar results were observed for the male recipients. In addition, mice transplanted with either bone marrow from normal sialidase apoe-/- or from hypomorphic sialidase apoe-/- mice show no significant differences in the levels of cholesterol and triglyceride within blood cells (Fig. 4.3.3 A-D).

Fig. 4.3.2 Weights of male and female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow after feeding with western diet. There is no significant difference in weights (%) between (A) female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (n=10) and *apoe-/-* (n=10) bone marrow. There is an increase in weights (%) for the (B) male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (n=9) bone marrow compared to those transplanted with *apoe-/-*(n=7) bone marrow. Each dot represents mean \pm SE. * denotes P<0.05.









Table 4.3.1 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow. There is no significant difference in hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triglyceride concentrations in bone marrow transplanted mice with (A) female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (n=5) or *apoe-/-* bone marrow and (B) male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=5). In addition, there is no significant difference in serum total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triglyceride concentrations in bone marrow transplanted mice with female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=7) or *apoe-/-* bone marrow and male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice trans

Table 4.3.1

А

	Hepatic total cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum fite cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mg/g liver)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mg/g liver)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
B6.SM/ApoE-4 -> Female B6.SM.ApoE-4	4.30±0.40	32.85±1.41	229±053	13.89±0.72	2.02±0.41	18 <i>9</i> 5±1 24	15.06±1.55	221±0.06
ApoE-/- -> Female B6.SM.ApoE-4	3.38±0.48	30.18±2.15	2.15±0.40	11.53±090	1 23±0.42	18.65±1.66	16.00±1 37	2.89±0.60

В

	Hepatic total cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum fæe cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mg/g liver)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mg/g liver)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
B6.SM/ApoE-4 -> Male	3.13±0.18	31. 39± 0.84	193±023	10.78±0.63	1 20±0.35	2081±081	13.72±1.22	2.82±0.34
B6.SM.ApoE-4								
ApoE-/- -> Male B6.SM.ApoE-/-	3.43±0.59	31.31±0.64	1 54±0 24	12.66±1.48	1 89±0.45	18.65±0.98	12.94±2.46	287±033

Fig. 4.3.3 Blood cells lipids levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with apoe-/or B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow. Blood cell cholesterol and triglyceride levels in bone marrow transplanted mice with (A and B) female B6.SM/ApoE mice transplanted with B6.SM/ apoe-/-(n=6) or *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=3) and with (C and D) male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (n=6) or *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=8). There is no significant difference in blood cell cholesterol and triglyceride levels in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow and those transplanted with *apoe-/-* bone marrow. Peripheral blood cell cholesterol and triglyceride were determined using an enzymatic method after extracting blood cell lipids by folch extraction. The mean values \pm standard error are shown. Fig. 4.3.3

А



4.3.3 Hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells reduces atherosclerosis.

Transplantation of female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice with bone marrow from male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice resulted in significantly reduced area and volume of atherosclerotic plaques when compared to similar mice transplanted with bone marrow from male *apoe-/-* mice (Fig. 4.3.4 A and B). Transplantation of male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow into male B6.SM/*apoe-/-*mice also showed decreased atherosclerosis compared to controls (Fig. 4.3.4 C and D). Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression in blood cells reduces atherogenesis.

Fig. 4.3.4 Atherosclerotic lesion area of B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* or *apoe-/-* bone marrow. Oil Red O stained sections (Quantification data are shown in E to H) of aortic sinuses of female B6.SM/*apoe-/*mice transplanted with (A) *apoe-/-* bone marrow and (B) B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow, and male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with (C) *apoe-/-* bone marrow and (D) B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow. (E and F) Transplantation of male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow into female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=10) shows decreased atherosclerosis compared to female B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with male *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=10) (P=0.016 and P=0.015 for lesion area and volume respectively). (G and H) Transplantation of male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow into male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice (n=7) shows decreased atherosclerosis compared to male B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with male *apoe-/-* bone marrow (n=9) (P=0.000010 and P=0.000055 for lesion area and volume respectively). Each bar represents mean±SE. * denotes P<0.05; ** denotes P<0.001. Scale bar = 200μ m.





4.3.4 LPS-injected B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice secrete less IL-10 and show delayed IFNγ secretion.

Cytokines were measured in blood serum in untreated animals and at 2h, 4h, and 8h after intraperitoneal LPS injection (Fig. 4.3.5 A). IL-2 and IL-4 were not induced by LPS within 8h of treatment (Fig. 4.3.5 A). IL-10 was produced within 2h of LPS injection, but B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice produced significantly less IL-10 (3778±824 pg/ml IL-10) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (10126±2015 pg/ml IL-10) at 2h (p<0.05). Within 2-4h post LPS injection, IL-10 secretion was reduced but B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice continued to secrete significantly less IL-10 (1515±500 pg/ml IL-10) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (3540±3268 pg/ml IL-10) (p<0.05). Within 4-8h post LPS injection, IL-10 serum levels dropped even further but B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice produced significantly less than *apoe-/-* mice (358±192 pg/ml and 1000±177 pg/ml IL-10, respectively, p<0.05). IFNγ secretion was significantly higher in blood serum at 4h in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* (1241±680 pg/ml IFNγ) compared to *apoe-/-* mice (1028±657 pg/ml IFNγ) and *apoe-/-* mice (1300±471 pg/ml IFNγ).

4.3.5 Anti-CD3ɛ injected B6.SM/apoe-/- mice secrete less IL-4 and IFNy.

Soluble anti-CD3ɛ antibody (145-2C11) was injected IP to induce signal transduction and cytokine secretion from T cell receptor expressing cells (Fig. 4.3.5 B). IL-2 secretion was induced within 2h of anti-CD3c injection, but was not different between B6.SM/apoe-/- (4727±1606 pg/ml) and apoe-/-mice (4159±953 pg/ml). At 4h and 8h, IL-2 secretion was reduced but similar quantities were observed in both B6.SM/apoe-/- $(1066\pm 205 \text{ pg/ml} \text{ at } 4h, 128\pm 76 \text{ pg/ml} \text{ at } 8h)$ and *apoe-/-*mice $(1459\pm 405 \text{ pg/ml} \text{ at}$ 4h, 94 ± 26 pg/ml at 8h). IL-4 secretion was induced within 2h of anti-CD3 ε injection, but B6.SM/apoe-/- mice produced significantly less IL-4 (493±184 pg/ml) than apoe-/-mice (839±386 pg/ml). By 4h, IL-4 production was not detectable. Within 2h post anti-CD3ɛ injection, IL-10 was secreted into the serum of B6.SM/apoe-/-(4517±1028 pg/ml) and *apoe-/-*mice (3375±2667 pg/ml), but hypomorphic sialidase expression did not significantly affect secretion. At 4h, IL-10 secretion was reduced, and B6.SM/apoe-/- (1020±722 pg/ml) and apoe-/-mice (1168±461 pg/ml) produced similar amounts. By 8h, IL-10 secretion dropped further in both B6.SM/apoe-/-(470±196 pg/ml) and apoe-/- mice (885±276 pg/ml), but was not different with hypomorphic sialidase expression. IFNy was not detectable until 4h post anti-CD3E injection, and was only found in apoe-/- serum at this time point (801±764 pg/ml, p<0.05). By 8h post anti-CD3ɛ injection, IFNy secretion was detectable but significantly less in B6.SM/apoe-/- (280±167 pg/ml) than apoe-/- mice (1066±484 pg/ml).

Fig. 4.3.5 Blood serum cytokine levels in male *apoe-/-* **and B6.SM/***apoe-/-* **in response to stimulation by (A) LPS (n=4 each time point) or (B) anti-CD3ε antibody (n=3 each time point)**. Untreated animals were used to determine baseline cytokine levels at time 0. The Wilcoxon Rank Sum test was used to determine differences in cytokine concentration at each time point between *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-*. Asterisks (*) indicate p<0.05.

6000 5000

4000

3000

Fig. 4.3.5

A

ApoE-/-- ApoE-/-B6.SM



LPS

В

ApoE-/-ApoE-/-B6.SM


4.3.6 B6.SM/*apoe-/-* hematopoietic cells show impaired cell adhesion function *in vitro*.

To assess the function of cell adhesion molecules on the cell surface of $CD11b^+$ and $CD3\epsilon^+$ peripheral blood cells, we incubated peripheral blood with P-selectin-human IgG, E-selectin-human-IgG or fluoroscein-labeled hyaluronic acid. There was no significant difference (p=0.70) in the geometric mean fluorescence intensity of Pselectin on CD11b⁺ cells isolated from apoe-/- (100.0±10.2% of average apoe-/geometric MFI) and B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (101.7±7.6% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI), (Fig. 4.3.6). On the other hand, $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells from B6.SM/apoe-/- mice bound significantly less P-selectin fusion protein (80.7±22.8% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI) compared to apoe-/- $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells (100.0±9.8% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI)(p=0.043). No difference was observed in E-selectin fusion protein binding to the cell surface of apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/- CD11b⁺ cells (100.0±19.9% versus 81.1±6.1% of average *apoe-/-* geometric MFI, respectively, p=0.19) or CD3 ε^+ (100.0±13.4% versus 88.1±4.1% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI, respectively, p=0.21) (Fig. 4.3.7). Finally, there was a significant decrease (p=0.015) in hyaluronic acid binding to the cell surface of CD11b⁺ cells from hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (60.6±8.1% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI) compared to apoe-/- (100.0 \pm 35.9% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI) (Fig. 4.3.8). CD3 ϵ^+ cells bound hyaluronic acid at two distinct levels in both apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/-, HA^{lo} and HA^{hi}, and showed a significant reduction of hyaluronic acid binding in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice (81.8±12.6% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI) versus apoe-/mice (100.0±9.7% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI) at the HA^{lo}level (P=0.011) and 85.9±7.8% of average apoe-/- geometric MFI in B6.SM/apoe-/- versus 100.0±14.4%

of average *apoe-/-* geometric MFI in *apoe-/-* mice at the HA^{hi} level (P=0.042) (Fig. 4.3.8).

Fig. 4.3.6 P-selectin binding assay in CD11b⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood subsets in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* peripheral blood showed no difference in P-selectin binding on CD11b⁺ subsets (P=0.70), but a significant reduction of P-selectin binding on CD3 ϵ^+ subsets was observed (P=0.043). Peripheral blood was incubated with 4 µg P-selectin-human-IgG chimera for 1h, then incubated with anti-human-IgG-AF488, anti-CD11b-APC and anti-CD3 ϵ -Pacific Blue. Samples were analyzed on an LSR II, n=3 each group, data analyzed using two-tailed student's *t* test.

Fig. 4.3.6



Fig. 4.3.7 E-selectin binding assay in CD11b⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood subsets in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* peripheral blood showed no difference in E-selectin binding on CD11b⁺ subsets (P=0.19) and CD3 ϵ^+ subsets (P=0.21). Peripheral blood was incubated with 4 µg E-selectin-human-IgG chimera for 1h, then incubated with anti-human-IgG-AF488, anti-CD11b-APC and anti-CD3 ϵ -Pacific Blue. Samples were analyzed on an LSR II, n=8 *apoe-/-*, n=9 B6.SM/*apoe-/-* each group, data analyzed using two-tailed student's *t* test.

Fig. 4.3.7



Fig. 4.3.8 Hyaluronic acid binding assay in CD11b⁺ and CD3 ϵ^+ peripheral blood subsets in *apoe-/-* and B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice. Hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/*peripheral blood CD11b⁺ cells show significantly reduced hyaluronic acid binding (P=0.015), while CD3 ϵ^+ cells show two distinct populations that bind hyaluronic acid at different amounts, HA^{lo} and HA^{hi}, and show significantly reduced hyaluronic acid binding in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* cells (P=0.042 for the HA^{hi} group, P=0.011 for the HA^{lo} group, two-tailed student's *t* test).

Fig. 4.3.8



4.4 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate that hypomorphic sialidase expression in *apoe-/-* mice alters immune cell proportions in the peripheral blood, and also that these hematopoietic derived cells have lower pro-inflammatory cytokine production and extravasation potential. These data provide support for a significant role of sialidase in peripheral blood cells in the inflammatory component of atherogenesis. Our results indicate that hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells decreases atherosclerotic lesion area and volume in *apoe-/-* mice with hypomorphic sialidase expression. This effect is demonstrated in both the male and female recipients with male bone marrow donors. In addition, sialidase expression in *apoe* deficient hematopoietic cells does not affect serum and hepatic cholesterol and triglyceride levels. These data imply that sialidase activity in hematopoietic cells contributes significantly to atherogenesis and is enough to affect atherogenesis without a synergic effect of lipoprotein metabolism.

Immunophenotyping data shows increased proportions of $CD3\epsilon^+CD4^+$ T cells and $CD11b^{hi}$ monocytes, but reduced numbers of $CD11b^{lo}$ cells, in the hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice compared to *apoe-/-* mice.This indicates that hypomorphic sialidase expression alters the development of hematopoietic cells in *apoe-/-* mice, or the expression of these molecular markers is abnormal with reduced sialidase activity. The increased proportion of $CD4^+$ T cells could reflect a bias to the development of lymphoid lineages, since this is accompanied by a decrease in the $CD11b^{lo}$ myeloid lineage. Gr-1^{hi} populations are mobilized from the bone marrow and

spleen in response to inflammatory stimuli, and include myeloid progenitors, neutrophils and inflammatory monocyte subpopulations (Swirski et al., 2009). The reduced proportion of Gr-1^{hi} cells observed in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice may reflect decreased pro-inflammatory activity in these mice. In contrast to the B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice, Neu1^{-/-} mice show increased production of granulocyte/erythroid/macrophage/megakaryocyte colony forming units due to extramedullary hematopoiesis (De Geest et al., 2002).

Hypomorphic sialidase expression in hematopoietic cells decreases atherosclerosis in a hepatic and serum cholesterol independent manner. Lipopolysaccharide is first detected by cells expressing TLR4 including monocytes, dendritic cells, mast cells and NK cells (Chow et al., 1999; Palsson-McDermott and O'Neill, 2004; Lauzon et al., 2006). The resultant signaling in these cells leads to the expression and secretion of cytokines, predominantly TNF α from antigen presenting cells and IFN γ from NK cells (Beutler and Rietschel, 2003). LPS-free, minimally modified LDL (mmLDL) has also been shown to stimulate the TLR4 pathway, and presents as an endogenous ligand in the context of atherogenesis (Bae et al., 2009). Our LPS-stimulation experiments suggest B6.SM/apoe-/- mice would be less sensitive to minimally modified LDL (mmLDL) and secrete less pro-inflammatory cytokines. Early IL-10 release after LPS treatment is considered an anti-inflammatory response to reduce the toxicity of LPS, and has been demonstrated to suppress inflammatory cytokine release including IFN γ (Marchant et al., 1994). The early and transient peak in IL-10 in apoe-/- blood serum could explain the delay in IFNy induction. Decreased IL-10 production by early responding cells in B6.SM/apoe-/- is likely responsible for the relatively early

increase in IFNy in these animals at 4h compared to levels produced in apoe-/-, although this difference between IFNy production in apoe-/- and B6.SM/apoe-/disappears sometime between 4h and 8h. The cell type that rapidly releases IL-10 after LPS may be NK or NK T cells, and dysfunction of these cell types could contribute to the effect of hypomorphic sialidase expression on altered immune response and reduced atherosclerosis in male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. Anti-CD3E in vivo immune stimulations reveal reduced production of Th2-type cytokine IL-4 in male B6.SM/apoe-/- mice, which is expected given that SM/J and B10.SM mice show defective IL-4 production and IL-4 signaling as a result of hypomorphic sialidase expression (Chen et al., 1997; Wang et al., 2004). Although IL-4 and IFNy characteristically suppress each other's production, IL-4 has also been shown to induce IFNy production by NK and NK T cells (Morris et al., 2006), both of which are found in atherosclerotic plaques. IFNy is one essential component to the development of atherosclerosis in *apoe-/*-mice as demonstrated in male ApoE^{-/-}IFN $\gamma^{-/-}$ and ApoE^{-/-} IFN $\gamma R^{-/-}$ mice that have attenuated plaque formation (Gupta et al., 1997; Whitman et al., 2002). Inhibition of sialidase using DANA also directly interferes with IFNy production (Nan et al., 2007). This could be a major underlying reason for the reduced development of atherosclerosis in B6.SM/apoe-/- transplanted with B6.SM/apoe-/bone marrow compared to those transplanted with apoe-/- bone marrow.

The extravasation of blood cells into the vessel wall is a critical pathological component of atherogenesis, and allows the accumulation of peripheral blood cells into sites of inflammation. Leukocyte rolling on endothelial cells requires the coordinated expression of selectins and selectin ligands. Inflamed endothelial cells

express P-selectin and E-selectin, which recognize the sialyl Lewis X motif contained in ligands such as P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1), CD44 and CD34 expressed on leukocytes (reviewed in Sperandio et al., 2009). These interactions trigger intracellular signaling and up regulate the expression of integrins (I-CAM or V-CAM) on the leukocyte cell surface, permitting firm adhesion and recruitment of the leukocytes into the tissue (Sperandio et al., 2009). Hyaluronic acid, a component of the extracellular matrix, can act as a ligand for CD44, and has been shown to have greater binding when CD44 is desialylated (Gee et al., 2003; Katoh et al. 2010; Katoh et al., 1999; Katoh et al., 1995). We have previously observed reduced infiltration of CD11b+ cells and a trend for reduced infiltration of CD3+ cells into atherosclerotic lesions in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice. By incubating leukocytes with P- and E-selectin fusion proteins or fluorescent labeled hyaluronic acid, we get a functional assessment of the selectin ligands and functional CD44 expressed by the leukocytes. In B6.SM/apoe-/- CD11b⁺ cells, we observe a trend for reduced E-selectin and hyaluronic acid binding, while in $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells, we observed a reduction of functional P-selectin binding. Since hypomorphic sialidase expression should be associated with hypersialylation of cell surface molecules, and selectin ligands require a sialylated motif, we suggest the motifs are obscured by hyper-sialylation, or the presentation of selectin ligands is reduced. Reduced hyaluronic acid binding on CD11b⁺ cells provides evidence that CD44 is hyper-sialylated in the B6.SM/apoe-/- mice and thus reduces the migratory and extravasation potential of peripheral blood monocytes, and thereby causes a reduction in atherosclerotic lesion areas in B6.SM/apoe-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/apoe-/- bone marrow compared to those transplanted with apoe-/- bone marrow.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that hypomorphic sialidase expression in blood cells is sufficient to reduce atherosclerosis in hypomorphic sialidase *apoe-/-* mice. The analysis of the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression in B6.SM/*apoe-/-* peripheral blood cells shows altered hematopoietic development of myeloid and lymphoid lineages as well as decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine production and extravasation potential. This atheroprotective effect is independent of the hepatic and serum lipids levels.

References

Bae YS, Lee JH, Choi SH, Kim S, Almazan F, Witztum JL, Miller YI. Macrophages generate reactive oxygen species in response to minimally oxidized low-density lipoprotein: toll-like receptor 4- and spleen tyrosine kinase-dependent activation of NADPH oxidase 2. Circ Res. 2009 Jan 30;104(2):210-8.

Beutler B, Rietschel ET. Innate immune sensing and its roots: the story of endotoxin. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003 Feb;3(2):169-76

Bonten E, van der Spoel A, Fornerod M, Grosveld G, d'Azzo A. Characterization of human lysosomal neuraminidase defines the molecular basis of the metabolic storage disorder sialidosis. Genes Dev. 1996 Dec 15;10(24):3156-69.

Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal neuraminidase. Catalytic activation in insect cells is controlled by the protective protein/cathepsin A. J Biol Chem. 2000 Dec 1;275(48):37657-63

Bonten EJ, Galjart NJ, Willemsen R, Usmany M, Vlak JM, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal protective protein/cathepsin A. Role of the "linker" domain in catalytic activation. J Biol Chem. 1995 Nov 3;270(44):26441-5.

Branen L, Hovgaard L, Nitulescu M, Bengtsson E, Nilsson J, Jovinge S.Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. ArteriosclerThrombVasc Biol. 2004 Nov;24(11):2137-42.

Carrillo MB, Milner CM, Ball ST, Snoek M, Campbell RD. Cloning and characterization of a sialidase from the murine histocompatibility-2 complex: low levels of mRNA and a single amino acid mutation are responsible for reduced sialidase activity in mice carrying the Neu1a allele. Glycobiology. 1997 Oct;7(7):975-86.

Champigny MJ, Mitchell M, Fox-Robichaud A, Trigatti BL, Igdoura SA. A point mutation in the neu1 promoter recruits an ectopic repressor, Nkx3.2 and results in a mouse model of sialidase deficiency. Mol Genet Metab. 2009 May;97(1):43-52.

Chen XP, Ding X, Daynes RA.Ganglioside control over IL-4 priming and cytokine production in activated T cells. Cytokine. 2000 Jul;12(7):972-85.

Chen XP, Enioutina EY, Daynes RA. The control of IL-4 gene expression in activated murine T lymphocytes: a novel role for neu-1 sialidase. J Immunol. 1997 Apr 1;158(7):3070-80.

Chow JC, Young DW, Golenbock DT, Christ WJ, Gusovsky F. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. J Biol Chem. 1999 Apr 16;274(16):10689-92.

Clark EA, Engel D, Windsor NT.Immune responsiveness of SM/J mice: hyper NK cell activity mediated by NK 1+ Qa 5- cells. J Immunol. 1981 Dec;127(6):2391-5.

Collard JG, Schijven JF, Bikker A, La Riviere G, Bolscher JG, Roos E. Cell surface sialic acid and the invasive and metastatic potential of T-cell hybridomas. Cancer Res. 1986 Jul;46(7):3521-7.

Comelli EM, Amado M, Lustig SR, Paulson JC.Identification and expression of Neu4, a novel murine sialidase. Gene. 2003 Dec 4;321:155-61.

Constant SL, Bottomly K.Induction of Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses: the alternative approaches. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:297-322.

Cross AS, Sakarya S, Rifat S, Held TK, Drysdale BE, Grange PA, Cassels FJ, Wang LX, Stamatos N, Farese A, Casey D, Powell J, Bhattacharjee AK, Kleinberg M, Goldblum SE. Recruitment of murine neutrophils in vivo through endogenous sialidase activity. J Biol Chem. 2003 Feb 7;278(6):4112-20.

Cross AS, Wright DG. Mobilization of sialidase from intracellular stores to the surface of human neutrophils and its role in stimulated adhesion responses of these cells. J Clin Invest. 1991 Dec;88(6):2067-76.

Cuff CA, Kothapalli D, Azonobi I, Chun S, Zhang Y, Belkin R, Yeh C, Secreto A, Assoian RK, Rader DJ, Pure E.The adhesion receptor CD44 promotes atherosclerosis by mediating inflammatory cell recruitment and vascular cell activation. J Clin Invest. 2001 Oct;108(7):1031-40.

Davenport P, Tipping PG.The role of interleukin-4 and interleukin-12 in the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am J Pathol. 2003 Sep;163(3):1117-25.

DeGrendele HC, Estess P, Picker LJ, Siegelman MH. CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: a novel lymphocyte-endothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. J Exp Med. 1996;183:1119–1130.

Ferrari J, Harris R, Warner TG. Cloning and expression of a soluble sialidase from Chinese hamster ovary cells: sequence alignment similarities to bacterial sialidases. Glycobiology. 1994 Jun;4(3):367-73

Galjart NJ, Gillemans N, Harris A, van der Horst GT, Verheijen FW, Galjaard H, d'Azzo A. Expression of cDNA encoding the human "protective protein" associated with lysosomal beta-galactosidase and neuraminidase: homology to yeast proteases. Cell. 1988 Sep 9;54(6):755-64.

Galjart NJ, Morreau H, Willemsen R, Gillemans N, Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Human lysosomal protective protein has cathepsin A-like activity distinct from its protective function. J Biol Chem. 1991 Aug 5;266(22):14754-62.

Gee K, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces functionally active hyaluronan-adhesive CD44 by activating sialidase through p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytic cells. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37275-87.

Gupta S, Pablo AM, Jiang X, Wang N, Tall AR, Schindler C. IFN-gamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice. J Clin Invest. 1997 Jun 1;99(11):2752-61.

Hodge-Dufour J, et al. Induction of IL-12 and chemokines by hyaluronan requires adhesion dependent priming of resident but not elicited macrophages. J Immunol. 1997;159:2492–2500.

Igdoura SA, Gafuik C, Mertineit C, Saberi F, Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M, Trasler JM, Gravel RA. Cloning of the cDNA and gene encoding mouse lysosomal sialidase and correction of sialidase deficiency in human sialidosis and mouse SM/J fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Jan;7(1):115-21.

Katoh S, Maeda S, Fukuoka H, Wada T, Moriya S, Mori A, Yamaguchi K, Senda S, Miyagi T. A crucial role of sialidase Neu1 in hyaluronan receptor function of CD44 in T helper type 2-mediated airway inflammation of murine acute asthmatic model. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010 Aug;161(2):233-41.

Katoh S, Miyagi T, Taniguchi H, Matsubara Y, Kadota J, Tominaga A, Kincade PW, Matsukura S, Kohno S. Cutting edge: an inducible sialidase regulates the hyaluronic acid binding ability of CD44-bearing human monocytes. J Immunol. 1999 May 1;162(9):5058-61.

Katoh S, Zheng Z, Oritani K, Shimozato T, Kincade PW. Glycosylation of CD44 negatively regulates its recognition of hyaluronan. Glycosylation of CD44 negatively regulates its recognition of hyaluronan. J Exp Med. 1995 Aug 1;182(2):419-29.

Khan AI, Kerfoot SM, Heit B, Liu L, Andonegui G, Ruffell B, Johnson P, Kubes P. Role of CD44 and hyaluronan in neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol. 2004 Dec 15;173(12):7594-601.

Lambré CR, Greffard A, Gattegno L, Saffar L. Modifications of sialidase activity during the monocyte-macrophage differentiation in vitro. ImmunolLett. 1990 Jan;23(3):179-82.

Lauzon NM, Mian F, MacKenzie R, Ashkar AA. The direct effects of Toll-like receptor ligands on human NK cell cytokine production and cytotoxicity. Cell Immunol. 2006 Jun;241(2):102-12.

Liang F, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Ahmad R, Ahmad A, Stamatos NM, Pshezhetsky AV. Monocyte differentiation up-regulates the expression of the lysosomal sialidase, Neu1, and triggers its targeting to the plasma membrane via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive compartments. J Biol Chem. 2006 Sep 15;281(37):27526-38.

Marchant A, Bruyns C, Vandenabeele P, Ducarme M, Gérard C, Delvaux A, De Groote D, Abramowicz D, Velu T, Goldman M. Interleukin-10 controls interferongamma and tumor necrosis factor production during experimental endotoxemia. Eur J Immunol. 1994 May;24(5):1167-71.

McEver RP, Cummings RD. Perspectives series: cell adhesion in vascular biology. Role of PSGL-1 binding to selectins in leukocyte recruitment. J Clin Invest. 1997 Aug 1;100(3):485-91.

McKee CM, Penno MB, Cowman M, Bao C, Noble PW. Hyaluronan (HA) fragments induce chemokine gene expression in alveolar macrophages. The role of HA size and CD44. J Clin Invest. 1996;98:2403–2413.

Miyagi T, Wada T, Iwamatsu A, Hata K, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Sawada M. Molecular cloning and characterization of a plasma membrane-associated sialidase specific for gangliosides. J Biol Chem. 1999 Feb 19;274(8):5004-11.

Monti E, Bassi MT, Bresciani R, Civini S, Croci GL, Papini N, Riboni M, Zanchetti G, Ballabio A, Preti A, Tettamanti G, Venerando B, Borsani G.Molecular cloning and characterization of NEU4, the fourth member of the human sialidase gene family. Genomics. 2004 Mar;83(3):445-53.

Monti E, Preti A, Rossi E, Ballabio A, Borsani G. Cloning and characterization of NEU2, a human gene homologous to rodent soluble sialidases. Genomics. 1999 Apr 1;57(1):137-43.

Morris SC, Orekhova T, Meadows MJ, Heidorn SM, Yang J, Finkelman FD. IL-4 induces in vivo production of IFN-gamma by NK and NKT cells. J Immunol. 2006 May 1;176(9):5299-305.

Nan X, Carubelli I, Stamatos NM. Sialidase expression in activated human T lymphocytes influences production of IFN-gamma. J Leukoc Biol. 2007 Jan;81(1):284-96.

O'Brien JS, Warner TG. Sialidosis: delineation of subtypes by neuraminidase assay. Clin Genet. 1980 Jan;17(1):35-8.

Pappu BP, Shrikant PA. Alteration of cell surface sialylation regulates antigeninduced naive CD8+ T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004 Jul 1;173(1):275-84.

Pålsson-McDermott EM, O'Neill LA. Signal transduction by the lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor-4. Immunology. 2004 Oct;113(2):153-62.

Pilatte Y, Bignon J, Lambre CR. Sialic acids as important molecules in the regulation of the immune system: pathophysiological implications of sialidases in immunity. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):201-18.

Ponta H, Sherman L, Herrlich PA. CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Jan;4(1):33-45.

Potier M, Lu Shun Yan D, Womack JE. Neuraminidase deficiency in the mouse. FEBS Lett. 1979 Dec 15;108(2):345-8.

Pshezhetsky AV, Richard C, Michaud L, Igdoura S, Wang S, Elsliger MA, Qu J, Leclerc D, Gravel R, Dallaire L, Potier M. Cloning, expression and chromosomal mapping of human lysosomal sialidase and characterization of mutations in sialidosis.Nat Genet. 1997 Mar;15(3):316-20.

Reuter G, Gabius HJ. Sialic acids structure-analysis-metabolism-occurrence-recognition.BiolChem Hoppe Seyler.1996 Jun;377(6):325-42.

Rottier RJ, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. A point mutation in the neu-1 locus causes the neuraminidase defect in the SM/J mouse. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Feb;7(2):313-21.

Sakarya S, Rifat S, Zhou J, Bannerman DD, Stamatos NM, Cross AS, Goldblum SE. Mobilization of neutrophil sialidase activity desialylates the pulmonary vascular endothelial surface and increases resting neutrophil adhesion to and migration across the endothelium. Glycobiology. 2004 Jun;14(6):481-94.

Sasagasako N, Miyahara S, Saito N, Shinnoh N, Kobayashi T, Goto I. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital sialidosis. Clin Genet. 1993 Jul;44(1):8-11.

Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Trudel S, Hassan JA, Morales CR, Pshezhetsky AV. Neu4, a novel human lysosomal lumen sialidase, confers normal phenotype to sialidosis and galactosialidosis cells. J Biol Chem. 2004 Aug 27;279(35):37021-9.

Sperandio M, Gleissner CA, Ley K. Glycosylation in immune cell trafficking. Immunol Rev. 2009 Jul;230(1):97-113.

Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. Cell. 1994 Jan 28;76(2):301-14.

Stamatos NM, Liang F, Nan X, Landry K, Cross AS, Wang LX, Pshezhetsky AV. Differential expression of endogenous sialidases of human monocytes during cellular differentiation into macrophages. FEBS J. 2005 May;272(10):2545-56.

Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M, Etzrodt M, Wildgruber M, Cortez-Retamozo V, Panizzi P, Figueiredo JL, Kohler RH, Chudnovskiy A, Waterman P, Aikawa E, Mempel TR, Libby P, Weissleder R, Pittet MJ. Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites. Science. 2009 Jul 31;325(5940):612-6.

van der Horst GT, Galjart NJ, d'Azzo A, Galjaard H, Verheijen FW. Identification and in vitro reconstitution of lysosomal neuraminidase from human placenta. J Biol Chem. 1989 Jan 15;264(2):1317-22.

van der Spoel A, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. Transport of human lysosomal neuraminidase to mature lysosomes requires protective protein/cathepsin A. EMBO J. 1998 Mar 16;17(6):1588-97.

Varki A. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J. 1997 Mar;11(4):248-55.

Wada T, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Kuwabara M, Akita H, Miyagi T. Cloning, expression, and chromosomal mapping of a human ganglioside sialidase. BiochemBiophys Res Commun. 1999 Jul 22;261(1):21-7.

Wang P, Zhang J, Bian H, Wu P, Kuvelkar R, Kung TT, Crawley Y, Egan RW, Billah MM. Induction of lysosomal and plasma membrane-bound sialidases in human T-cells via T-cell receptor. Biochem J. 2004 Jun 1;380(Pt 2):425-33.

Whitman SC, Ravisankar P, Daugherty A. IFN-gamma deficiency exerts genderspecific effects on atherogenesis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2002 Jun;22(6):661-70.

Womack JE, Yan DL, Potier M. Gene for neuraminidase activity on mouse chromosome 17 near h-2: pleiotropic effects on multiple hydrolases. Science. 1981 Apr 3;212(4490):63-5.

Xu Z, Weiss A. Negative regulation of CD45 by differential homodimerization of the alternatively spliced isoforms. Nat Immunol. 2002 Aug;3(8):764-71.

Chapter 5

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Modulates Serum Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis by Enhancing Monocytic Uptake of Serum Lipoproteins in LDLR Knockout Mice

Abraham E. Yang¹, Gabriel Gyulay¹, Elizabeth J. White¹, Vivienne C. Tedesco², Mohamed Alsaied¹, Bernardo L. Trigatti², Suleiman A. Igdoura^{1,3}

Department of ¹Biology, ²Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, ³Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Preface

Abraham Yang performed the following: FPLC cholesterol profiles of LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.1), Serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Table 5.3.1), blood cells lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.2), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.2), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.7), FPLC cholesterol profiles of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.1), serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Table S5.3.1), hepatic VLDL production in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Table S5.3.2), hepatic VLDL ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.2), hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.3), atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice after feeding western diet for 6 weeks (Fig. S5.3.4).

Gabriel Gyulay performed the followings: bone marrow derived macrophages from hypomorphic sialidase mice have increased efflux to HDL compared to C57Bl/6 controls (Fig. 5.3.8), B6.SM BMDMs have higher levels of ABCG1 protein and lower levels of LDLR protein (Fig. 5.3.9) and intraperitoneal hypomorphic sialidase macrophages accumulate more lipids after LDL treatment compared to C57Bl/6 and LDLR -/- controls as measured using ORO staining (Fig. 5.3.10). Gabriel Gyulay also contributed to folch lipid extraction.

Elizabeth White performed the followings: $CD11b^+$ and $CD3\epsilon^+$ subsets in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (Fig. 5.3.3 and Fig. 5.3.5), free cholesterol content of $CD11b^+$ and s $CD3\epsilon^+$ subsets in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- peripheral blood (Fig. 5.3.4 and Fig. 5.3.6).

Vivienne Tedesco and Mohamed Alsaied contributed to bone marrow transplantation for LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ and B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow. Aline Fiebig and Hatem Abo-ouf contributed to technical assistance for bone marrow transplantation.

Chapter 5

Hypomorphic Sialidase Expression Modulates Serum Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis by Enhancing Monocytic Uptake of Serum Lipoproteins in LDLR Knockout Mice

Summary

Bone marrow-derived blood cells, including monocyte-derived macrophages, express lipoprotein receptors which endocytose atherogenic lipoproteins, i.e., VLDL, IDL and LDL. The dynamic of lipoprotein uptake by monocytes is tightly controlled by the expression and the down regulation of lipoproteins receptors. Sialidase (neu1) desialylates lipoproteins and their receptors and thereby, has an impact on receptor efficacy and specificity and consequently lipoprotein metabolism. In this study, we examined whether sialidase plays a role in blood cellmediated lipoprotein cholesterol uptake and reverse cholesterol transport. First, we generated LDLR knockout mice expressing hypomorphic levels of sialidase (B6.SM/LDLR-/-). Second, bone marrow from LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/-donors were transplanted into lethally irradiated LDLR-/- recipients. LDLR-/- mice receiving B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow showed a significant decrease in IDL/LDL cholesterol compared with LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ bone marrow. In addition, LDLR-/- mice receiving B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow showed significantly smaller lesion area than LDLR-/- mice receiving LDLR+/+ bone. The decrease in cholesterol levels and lesion size in mice with hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells appears to be a result of an increase in lipoprotein uptake by leukocytes. Our results indicate that peripheral blood monocytes (CD11b⁺) of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/mice contain significantly higher free cholesterol levels than LDLR-/- mice. In addition, hypomorphic sialidase macrophages appear to upregulate ABCG1 expression and to increase cholesterol efflux to HDL. Taken together, we conclude that hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells confer atheroprotection in LDLR-/mice primarily due to reduced serum lipoprotein cholesterol levels and increased cholesterol efflux. In addition, the absence of LDLR in leukocytes, including monocytes, amplifies the extent of lipoprotein cholesterol uptake. Therefore, we demonstrate a novel role for hematopoietic cells in the regulation of lipoprotein cholesterol levels.

5.1 Introduction

Sialidases are hydrolytic enzymes that cleave sialic acid from glycoproteins, glycolipids and oligosaccharides (Reuter and Gabius, 1996). Neu1 sialidase is expressed ubiquitously in the cell membrane in addition to the lysosome, and cleaves terminal α 2-3 and α 2-6 sialic acid residues (Igdoura et al., 1998; Pattison et al., 2004; Liang et al., 2006; Millar J., 2001; Rottier et al., 1998). These processes influence a number of important biological processes including cell-cell interactions, macrophage and T-cell activation, catabolism and antigenicity (Varki, 1997; Pilatte et al., 1993; Corfield, 1992; Reuter and Gabius, 1996). Since inflammation and immune response are directly related to the progression of atherosclerosis, sialidases which are essential for the activation of macrophages (Lambré et al., 1990; Liang et al., 2006; Stamatos et al., 2005), T cells (Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Xu and Weiss, 2002) and neutrophils (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004) would have to play a role in atherosclerosis. THP-1 monocyte differentiation involves upregulation of neu1 sialidase and its targeting to the cell membrane (Liang et al., 2006). In addition, desialylation of T-cell enhances its activation and secretion of inflammatory factors, such as, IL-4 (Chen et al., 1997; Pappu and Shrikant, 2004; Wang et al., 2004). Furthermore, sialidase activation contributes to CD44-HA adhesion in LPS and TNF stimulated THP-1 monocytes (Gee et al., 2002; Gee et al., 2003). For neutrophils, sialidase movement to the plasma membrane plays role in its activation, adhesion and migration (Cross et al., 1991; Cross et al., 2003; Sakarya et al., 2004). The activation of these leukocytes is important because recruitment and differentiation of monocytes and leukocytes play an important role in the inflammatory response that is prominent in atherosclerosis (Ross R., 1999). Therefore, sialidase has atheroprotective potential on atherosclerosis.

In addition to inflammation, lipoprotein uptake also plays a significant role in the progression of atherosclerosis. The majority of cholesterol in the blood is transported by low density lipoprotein (LDL) (Steinberg and Witztum, 1990). Enzymatic modification and specifically oxidation increase significantly when LDLs accumulate in the subendothelium (Parthasarathy et al., 1992; Schwenke et al., 1989). Uptake of LDL occurs through its binding and internalization by the LDL receptor (LDLR). LDLR is a transmembrane protein that is expressed ubiquitously. The unglycosylated precursor and glycosylated mature form are about 120kDa and 164kDa in size respectively (Filipovic I., 1989; Gent and Braakman, 2004). The LDLR is heavily glycosylated with 80% of the O-linked glycosylation occurring in the extracellular region of the protein near the membrane spanning region (Davis et al., 1986; Kozarsky et al., 1988; Kingsley et al., 1986). These glycans are not responsible for normal function of the LDLR, as their deletion does not hamper LDLR function. However, it was demonstrated that 20% of the O-linked glycosylation near the Nterminal (ligand binding) region of the receptor, is essential for LDLR function along with the 2 N-linked oligosaccharides (Kozarsky et al., 1988; Kingsley et al., 1986). It was shown that sialidase treatment of LDLR utilizing Clostridium perfringens neuraminidase with preference in the order of $\alpha 2-3 > \alpha 2-6 > \alpha 2-8$ resulted in a 7-11 kDa reduction of the receptor in human fibroblast cells, indicating the presence of terminal sialic acids (Schneider et al., 1982). In addition, sialic acids on the LDLR not only contribute a net negative charge, but also play a significant role for regulating LDL-LDLR interaction. Furthermore, treatment of human fibroblasts with sialidase results in reduced LDL binding and internalization compared to LDLR with normal sialylation (Sprague et al., 1988). LDLR-deficient mice were generated as an animal model to study western diet induced atherosclerosis with the majority of its cholesterol being accumulated in the VLDL and LDL-sized particles (Ishibashi et al, 1993).

There have been many studies published utilizing bone marrow transplantation as a method to assess the impact of bone marrow-derived blood cells during atherosclerosis (Boisvert et al., 1997; Fazio et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). Lipoprotein receptors such as LDLR, VLDLR and LRP, on leukocytes have been shown to modulate VLDL- and/or IDL/LDL-cholesterol levels as demonstrated by the FPLC profiles (Boisvert et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999; Van Eck et al, 2005; Overton et al., 2007). However, monocytic uptake of lipoprotein cholesterol has yet to be investigated (Nguyen et al., 1988; Pietsch et al., 1996). In addition to the uptake of lipoprotein cholesterol, macrophages can shed excess intracellular cholesterol by effluxing cholesterol via ATP-binding cassette transporter AI (ABCAI) and ATP-binding cassette transporter GI (ABCG1) (Wang et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004). This initial efflux of cellular cholesterol is critical for the reverse cholesterol transport pathway which transfers excess cholesterol from peripheral tissues to the liver for catabolism and excretion (Fielding and Fielding, 2001). The efflux of cholesterol involves acceptors such as high density lipoprotein (HDL) and/or lipidpoor apoproteins. HDL levels in blood are inversely related to the susceptibility of atherosclerosis (Hayden et al., 2000). Transplantation of bone marrow from mice

lacking ABCG1 affects atherogenesis (Baldan et al., 2006; Out et al., 2006; Ranalletta et al., 2006). Inactivation of ABCA1 in macrophages increases atherosclerosis (Aiello et al., 2002; van Eck et al., 2002). However, the effects of sialidase on the function of these lipoprotein receptors and transporters, and the consequences of these effects on atherogenesis are largely unknown.

To test the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression in leukocytes on atherosclerosis in LDLR-/- mice, we have compared atherogenesis in LDLR-/- mice with C57Bl/6 (LDLR+/+), B6.SM/LDLR+/+, transplanted LDLR-/-, or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. In this report, we have demonstrated that hypomorphic sialidase hematopoetic cells significantly reduce serum VLDL and LDL cholesterol levels in LDLR-/- mice fed western diet for 6 weeks. The decrease in serum cholesterol levels appears to be a result of an increase in cholesterol uptake and an increase in reverse cholesterol transport. In addition, the decrease in serum lipoprotein levels resulted in reduced atherogenesis. This study illustrates a potential role for leukocytes in the modulation of serum lipoprotein and as a consequence atherosclerosis.

219

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Mice

B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice were generated by crossing LDLR-/- and B6.SM mice. All mice were maintained in microisolator cages and had free access to food and water. Atherosclerosis studies were performed in 3-month-old male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice fed western diet for 6 weeks. For flow cytometry, male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- were fed western diet for 3 weeks before peripheral blood was collected by cardiac puncture. Western diet used contains 21% butterfat and 0.15% cholesterol diet with 1% safflower oil (Modified Stanford University, Dyets Inc, catalogue #112286). Animal care and experimental procedures were performed in accordance with institutional guidelines and were approved by Animal Research Ethics Board at McMaster University.

5.2.2 Bone marrow transplantation

Bone marrow was collected from donor mice by flushing femurs and humurus with Iscove minimum Dulbecco medium (IMDM) with penicillin, streptomycin and fungizone. Recipient mice were irradiated 11Gy. Bone marrow cells (10⁷ cells in 295ul) were administered retro orbitally under anesthesia. One week pre-transplantation and 4 weeks post-bone marrow transplantation, the recipient mice were given septra antibiotic water and jello.

5.2.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of genomic DNA

Genomic DNA was prepared from the tail of LDLR-/-, B6.SM/LDLR-/- and peripheral blood cells of BMT mice. For the identification of B6.SM, the following primer sequences were used: 5' ATC CCT GTC CAG GAA CTG GT 3' (Primer ML-07-06, Mobix, McMaster University) and 5' CTT AAG GGC ATT GGG GTC AT 3' (Primer ML-07-07, Mobix, McMaster University). PCR (40 cycles) was performed with denaturation temperature at 94°C for 2 minutes, annealing temperature at 60°C for 30 seconds and elongation temperature at 72°C for 30 seconds. PCR products were digested with MspA1I (New England BioLab R0577) in order to genotype for *neu1* mutation specific for B6.SM mice. The digested products were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel, 1X TBE buffer. This reaction yields a 450-bp band which is specific for the wild type and both the 275-bp and 225-bp which are specific for the mutant (B6.SM). Two different PCR amplifications were performed for the LDLR allele. The first reaction was performed for the normal LDLR allele and the second reaction was performed for the targetted allele. Primer sequences for the normal LDLR allele are: 5' ACC CCA AGA CGT GCT CCC AGG ATG A 3' (Primer ML-07-4550, Mobix, McMaster University) and 5' CGC AGT GCT CCT CAT CTG ACT TCT 3' (Primer ML-07-1200, Mobix, McMaster University); primer sequences for the disrupted allele which hybridize to a region in the Neo-R gene close to the 5' end of the coding region are: 5' GGC AAG ATG GCT CAG CAA GCA AAG GC 3' (Primer ML-07-4243, Morbix, McMaster University) and 5' GAT TGG GAA GAC AAT AGC AGG CAT GC 3' (Primer ML-07-4244, Morbix, McMaster University). PCR (40 cycles) was performed with denaturation temperature at 94°C for 2 minutes, annealing temperature at 57°C for 2 minutes and elongation temperature at 65°C for 5 minutes. PCR products were separated on a 1% agarose gel, 1X TBE buffer. The reaction for the normal LDLR allele yields a 383-bp band which is specific for the normal allele. The reaction for the targetted allele yields a 260-bp band from the disrupted LDLR allele, and no amplification from the normal allele.

5.2.4 Lipoprotein and serum lipids analysis

In order to examine serum lipoprotein cholesterol profile, mice were anesthesized with ketamine/xylazine i.p. and blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture. Serum was prepared by centrifugation of blood for 5 min at 15000 rpm using serum collection tubes. Serum was fractionated by Gel Filtration Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography AKTA P-950 (GE Healthcare). Serum (100 ul) was injected into the Superose 6 column (GE Heathcare) and was run at a rate of 0.5ml/min. At the termination of the fractionation, 100 ul fractions in FPLC buffer were collected in as 96-well microplate. Serum cholesterol levels in VLDL-sized, IDL/LDL-sized and HDL-sized particles were measured by Infinity reagent (Thermo) and the absorbance of the reaction product was read at 500nm. Serum total cholesterol levels were also measured using Infinity reagent (Thermo) and was read at 500nm. Serum free cholesterol levels were measured using free cholesterol E reagent (Wako Diagnostics) and was read at 600nm. Serum triglyceride levels were measured with L-Type Triglyceride H Reagents 1 and 2 (Wako Diagnostics) and were read at 600nm.

5.2.5 Hepatic and blood cell lipid analysis

Hepatic or blood cell total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and triglyceride were determined using an enzymatic method after lipid extraction from

222

the liver or blood cell. Briefly, liver or blood cell homogenates were suspended in 900 ul of TNES (10 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 400 mM NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 0.6% SDS). Chloroform/methanol mixture (6 ml) in a ratio of 2:1 was added to 300 ul of liver homogenates. Distilled water (1.2 ml) was added, and the extraction mixture was allowed to stay at 4°C for 2 hours for phase separation. The lower phase was dried completely and was resuspended in 60 ul of isopropanol. Hepatic or blood cell total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters and triglyceride concentrations were measured as described in lipoprotein and serum lipids analysis.

5.2.6 In vivo measurement of hepatic VLDL-triglyceride secretion

Three-month-old male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice were fasted overnight. Twenty four hours later, the mice were injected with Triton WR1339 mixture (Tyloxapol T0307-10G, Sigma BioXtra) at 500mg/kg body weight. Blood samples were drawn into serum collection tubes at 0, 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours after Triton WR1339 administration. Serum was obtained by centrifugation and was assayed for total cholesterol, triglyceride, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters using enzymatic assays as described in lipoprotein and serum lipids analysis. Hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters production rates were calculated from the slope of the linear regression over a time interval of 4 hours and were expressed in mM/hour.

5.2.7 Immunoblot analysis

Serum was separated on SDS/polyacrylamid gel and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Bone marrow-derived macrophages were lysed in RIPA buffer with protease inhibitors and homogenized then boiled in Laemmli Sample Buffer prior to loading. Blots were probed using anti-apoB antibodies (1:6000, Midland Bioproducts, Boone, USA), anti-LDLR (1:1000, R&D systems), anti-GADPH (1:1000, R&D systems), anti-ABCG1 (1:1000, Novus Biologicals), anti-ABCA1 (1:1000, GenScript), secondary HRP-conjugated antibodies (1:10000, Santa Crutz Biotechnology) and finally visualized with chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham). Intensities of bands were measured by ImageJ densitometry software.

5.2.8 Flow cytometry

In order to perform flow cytometry, peripheral blood was obtained and erythrocytes were lysed using 1X BD Pharm Lyse. Leukocytes were re-suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 1% fetal bovine serum (FBS). For blocking, cells were treated with rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (Fc Block, 10 µg/ml, BD Pharmingen). Cells were incubated with primary antibodies for 40 min. on ice including 1 µg each of hamster anti-mouse-CD3ε-APC-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11) and rat anti-mouse CD11b-APC (clone M1/70) (BD Biosciences). After primary antibodies incubation, cells were washed with PBS 1% FBS and fixed with BD Cytofix for 20 min on ice. Cells were washed with PBS 1% FBS again and then were incubated with 50 µg/ml filipin III (diluted from fresh 10 µg/ml filipin in DMSO stock, stored under nitrogen gas) for 50 min. After 50 min. of filipin III incubation, cells were washed with PBS 1% FBS, were run through a cell strainer, and then were read on a BD FacsAria III cell sorter. Filipin III was excited using a 375 nm near-UV laser and emission wavelengths were detected using a 450/20 band pass filter. Data was analyzed using FlowJo (Treestar).

224

5.2.9 Quantification of atherosclerotic lesion at aortic sinus

Mice were perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) through the left ventricle with drainage via the right atrium. Hearts were removed and placed in Krebs Henseleit Solution for 30 min. After treatment with Krebs Henseleit Solution, hearts were fixed in 4% formaldehyde. After fixation, hearts were placed in 30% sucrose in PBS overnight at 4°C. Hearts were embedded in cryomatrix (Shandon Thermo) and were frozen on dry ice. Serial 10 um cryosections were obtained using a Cryostat (Shandon Thermo). Cryosections were stained with Oil Red O for neutral lipids for 10 minutes and stained with hematoxylin for nuclei for 10 minutes. Atherosclerosis was quantified as the total cross sectional area of atherosclerotic lesion in each section using a Zeiss Axiovision Microscopic Software.

5.2.10 Macrophages

Sources of macrophages included mouse intraperitoneal isolation or those from mouse bone marrow isolation and differentiation. These cells were grown in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% antibacterial solution and 0.1% fungizone. For BMDM culture, bone marrow cells isolated from mouse femurs were differentiated with M-CSF (monocyte colony stimulating factor) (Invitrogen) for 9 days. For IP macrophage isolation, mice were injected intraperitoneally with thioglycollate and sacrificed 4 days after. The peritoneal cavity was injected with PBS to loosen elicited macrophages for removal and plating. Cells were cultured at 37°C at 5% CO₂ and 90% humidity in a standard Incubator. Macrophages were cholesterol starved prior to lipoprotein uptake studies in order to upregulate receptors by using lipoprotein deficient serum (LPDS) for 48 hours.

225

5.2.11 Lipoproteins

Lipoproteins for in vitro work were purchased from Biomedical Technologies Inc. These were used with their Lipoprotein deficient serum (LPDS) RPMI media to avoid any medium-resident lipoprotein interference. Concentrations are 50ug/mL with 48 hours incubation unless otherwise stated.

5.2.12 Macrophage Oil Red O Staining and Quantification

For visual quantification, IP macrophages were plated on glass cover slips placed in 24-well plates. After LPDS starvation and 50ug/mL LDL incubation for 48 hours, cells were rinsed, fixed in formaldehyde, ORO stained and washed. Hematoxylin staining was then performed followed by water washes and mounting of glass cover slips onto microscope slides using aqueous mounting media. Quantification was then performed by measuring the red stained area normalized to the nuclear stained area on an individual cell basis using AxioVision software. 200-300 cells were counted and quantified for each treatment.

5.2.13 Cholesterol Efflux Assay

Differentiated BMDMs were loaded with [³H] cholesterol (American Radiolabeled Chemicals Inc.) in FBS for 2 days. Cells were washed and incubated overnight in equilibration medium then provided with efflux medium containing 50ug/mL HDL or LDL. Media was sampled at various timepoints and radioactivity was measured using a liquid scintillation counter. Efflux at each time point is expressed as a percentage of total radioactive cholesterol in the cells at time 0. BSA was used as a control acceptor, instead of HDL and LDL, and accumulated minimal radioactivity.

5.2.14 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses of data were performed by one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by Tukey's Post Hoc Multiple Comparison Test, and additional statistical tests for comparison from Prism 5 (version 5.04, GraphPad). Mean \pm SE were shown with error bars. Data were considered statistically significant different only if P < 0.05.
5.3 Results

5.3.1 Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells decreases cholesterol levels in VLDL and LDL-sized lipoproteins in LDLR-/- mice.

In order to assess the role of hematopoietic cells in lipoprotein metabolism in LDLR-/versus hypomorphic sialidase LDLR-/- mice, we transplanted bone marrow from LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/-donors into lethally irradiated LDLR-/- recipients. Bone marrow of LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice was harvested and then injected intravenously into recipient mice. Mice were fed western diet 1 month post transplantation for 6 weeks. After 6 weeks of western diet, transplanted mice were sacrificed for atherosclerosis and lipoprotein analyses.

LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow appears to have lower cholesterol concentrations in IDL/LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- mice with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.1 A). In addition, hypomorphic sialidase blood cells with intact LDLR show lower cholesterol concentrations in HDL-sized particles compared to the group with LDLR+/+ bone marrow. Furthermore, there was a shift in the FPLC profile only in the HDL-sized particles range. This shift implied that LDLR-/- mice with hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow with the presence of LDLR had a smaller average size of the HDL-sized particles. LDLR-/- mice with LDLR-/- bone marrow have higher cholesterol concentrations in VLDL-sized particles and IDL/LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.1 B). These implied that hypomorphic sialidase expression specific in blood cells with

the presence of LDLR causes lower cholesterol concentrations in IDL/LDL-sized particles. And, hypomorphic sialidase expression specific in blood cells with the absence of LDLR causes lower cholesterol concentrations in VLDL-sized and IDL/LDL-sized particles. Thus, mice with hypomorphic sialidase expression in blood cells may show higher atherogenic lipoprotein clearance rate compared to control mice.

Fig. 5.3.1 FPLC cholesterol profiles of LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. LDLR-/- mice were transplanted with bone marrow and after 4 weeks were fed western for 6 weeks. (A) LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=4) has lower cholesterol concentrations in IDL/LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- mice receiving LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=4). In addition, (B) LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR-/bone marrow (n=5) has lower cholesterol concentrations in VLDL-sized and IDL/LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=5). Each circle represents mean ±SE. (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, HDL-sized: High density lipoprotein sized particle). * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. 5.3.1

А



В



5.3.2 The effects of hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells on serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice.

The total serum cholesterol concentration in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR-/bone marrow was significantly decreased (Table 5.3.1). There was a trend toward a reduction in total serum cholesterol concentration in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (Table 5.3.1). The total serum cholesterol concentrations in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow appeared to be consistent with the FPLC profiles (Fig. 5.3.1). There was a reduction in total serum cholesteryl esters concentration in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ bone marrow and LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR-/bone marrow (Table 5.3.1). For the hepatic cholesterol concentration, there was a reduction in cholesterol concentration when there is a hypomorphic sialidase expression in blood cells (Table 5.3.1). In addition, there was a reduction in free cholesterol concentration when there is a hypomorphic sialidase expression in blood cells. On the other hand, a trend of increase in cholesteryl esters concentration was observed with hypomorphic sialidase expression in bone marrow transplantation with intact LDLR (Table 5.3.1).

Table 5.3.1 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. Serum total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triglyceride concentrations in bone marrow transplanted mice with female B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ (n=4) or B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=4) or LDLR-/- (n=6) or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=6). Total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride in serum were determined using an enzymatic method. Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, and triglyceride concentrations in bone marrow transplanted mice with female B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ (n=4) or B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=4) or LDLR-/- (n=4) or B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=4) or LDLR-/- (n=4) or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=3). Hepatic total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride were determined using an enzymatic method after extracting hepatic lipids by folch extraction. The mean values ± standard error are shown.

PhD Thesis - A. Yang McMaster University - Biology

Table 5.3.1

	Hepatic total cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum total cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic free cholesterol (mg/g liver)	Serum fize cholesterol (mM)	Hepatic cholesteryl esters (mg/g liver)	Serum cholesteryl esters (mM)	Hepatic triglyceride (mg/g liver)	Serum triglyceride (mM)
-> LDLR+/+	3.48±0.19	22.00±2.45	2.54±0.14	9.87±0 <i>5</i> 4	0 <i>9</i> 4±0.18	12.13±2.08	9.29±1 93	12.48±3.61
B6.SM/LDLR+/+ -> LDLR-/-	293±0.67	18.81±0.31	1 <i>52±0.6</i> 0*	9.08±0.12	1.41±0.19	9.73±0.40	8 <i>5</i> 7 1 2 <i>9</i> 9	6.05±1.08
-> LDLR-/-	327±0.74	26.49±1 91	228±0_0	10.19±1 27	0 <i>9</i> 9±0.26	1630±233	11.92±3.58	14.10±1.72
B6.SM/LDLR-4 -> LDLR-/-	2.11±0.18	18.12±2.27*	1 25±0 23	836±0 <i>9</i> 0	0.86±0.15	9.75±1.45*	435±1 <i>5</i> 6	10 <i>.</i> 69±2.87

5.3.3 Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells have higher blood cells lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice.

After we observed that there was a significant decrease in the cholesterol levels in the IDL/LDL sized particles in mice with hypomorphic sialidase blood cells, we wanted to determine whether the decrease in the cholesterol levels is caused by an increased uptake by the peripheral blood cells. Most importantly, this would explain whether the significant decrease in cholesterol levels in the VLDL-sized particles in mice with hypomorphic sialidase blood cells when LDLR is absent is caused by the different extent of uptake of VLDL compared to mice with hypomorphic sialidase blood cells when LDLR is present. Thus, we performed enzymatic lipid assays after extracting lipids from blood cell pellets obtained from the lower phrase of the serum collection tubes. There was an increase in the cholesterol, triglyceride, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters concentrations in hypomorphic sialidase blood cells compared to controls (Fig. 5.3.2 A-D). Specifically, this increase is significantly greater when LDLR is absent in the hypomorphic sialidase blood cells compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with bone marrow with intact sialidase. Critically, the increase is greatest in the cholesteryl esters concentrations when LDLR is absent in the hypomorphic sialidase blood cells compared to blood cells with intact sialidase. These implied that hypomorphic sialidase blood cells can uptake cholesterol and cholesteryl esters more efficiently, and, specifically, the uptake is more pronounced when LDLR is absent. Blood cell cholesterol in the LDLR-/- mice with LDLR-/- bone marrow appears to be higher than that for LDLR-/- mice with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.2 A). This is supported by studies showing that VLDLR and LRP play a significant role in uptaking ApoB48-containing lipoproteins when LDLR is absent (Veniant et al., 1998; Martins et al., 2000; Tacken et al., 2000). Nevertheless, ACAT, which plays a role in esteriflying free cholesterol to become esterified cholesterol, may be modulated by hypomorphic sialidase expression. In fact, hypomorphic sialidase expression alters hepatic ACAT levels as shown in Chapters 2 and 3.

Fig. 5.3.2 Blood cells lipids levels in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow. Blood cell (A) total cholesterol, (B) triglyceride (C) free cholesterol, and (D) cholesteryl esters concentrations in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ (n=4) or B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=5) or LDLR-/- (n=7) or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=7). There is a significant increase in cholesterol and cholesteryl esters concentrations in mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ or B6.SM/LDLR-/- blood cells. This increase is most notable in mice with B6.SM/LDLR-/- blood cells, i.e., when LDLR is absent indicating an up-regulation in LDL-independent VLDL/LDL lipoprotein uptake mechanism, e.g., VLDLR. Peripheral blood cell total cholesterol, free cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglyceride were determined using an enzymatic method after extracting blood cell lipids by folch extraction. The mean values ± standard error are shown.

Fig. 5.3.2



5.3.4 Peripheral blood CD11b⁺ subsets of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice contain higher free cholesterol than LDLR-/- mice after 3 weeks of western diet feeding.

In combination with CD11b, a monocyte/granulocyte marker, filipin III was used to detect intracellular free cholesterol by flow cytometry within leukocytes. In both LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- CD11b⁺ subsets, two populations were observed, i.e., are CD11b¹⁰ and CD11b^{hi} (Fig. 5.3.3 A). Peripheral blood of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice had a trend for an increased proportion of each of the CD11b⁺ subsets in the leukocyte gate with 32.8±10% CD11b¹⁰ and 15±11% CD11b^{hi}, compared to 24.3±5.1% CD11b¹⁰, and 2.7±4.5% CD11b^{hi} in LDLR-/- mice (Fig. 5.3.3 B and C). Most importantly, free cholesterol levels were significantly higher in each CD11b⁺ subset in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- mice (Fig. 5.3.4 A to C). Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of filipin III (using arbitrary units) in CD11b¹⁰ cells was 11742±2675 in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- mice (P=0.037, Fig.5.3.4 B); in CD11b^{hi} cells filipinIII MFI was 37076±4471 in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- mice and 57548±3042 in peripheral blood of B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (P=0.0014, Fig.5.3.4 C).

Fig. 5.3.3 CD11b⁺ subsets in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/mice fed western diet for 3 weeks. (A) Two populations of CD11b⁺ cells (CD11b^{lo}, CD11b^{hi}) show a trend for increased abundance in B6.SM/LDLR-/- peripheral blood (representative graph of n=3 for each genotype is shown). The abundance of each subset (B) CD11b^{lo}, and (C) CD11b^{hi} is compared between LDLR-/- (n=3) and B6.SM/LDLR-/- (n=3) peripheral blood gated on leukocytes.

Fig. 5.3.3

А





В

CD11b^{lo} frequency in leukocyte subset







С

Fig. 5.3.4 Free cholesterol content of CD11b⁺ subsets in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- peripheral blood. (A) An increase in free cholesterol content is demonstrated by filipin III staining which correlates with the level of CD11b⁺ expression. CD11b^{lo} subsets show the lowest free cholesterol and CD11b^{hi} subsets show the highest levels of free cholesterol. Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of filipin staining in each (B) CD11b^{lo} and (C) CD11b^{hi} subsets in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- reveals that each B6.SM/LDLR-/- CD11b⁺ subset has significantly higher free cholesterol content than each LDLR-/- CD11b⁺ subset.



А



В





С

free cholesterol in CD11b^{NI} leukocytes



5.3.5 Peripheral blood CD3ε⁺ subset of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/shows a trend for increased free cholesterol compared to LDLR-/- after 3 weeks of western diet feeding.

Peripheral blood of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice had a trend for a decreased abundance of $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells at 20.6±3.7% of the leukocyte gate versus 25.2±1.8% of the leukocyte gate in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- mice (P=0.06, Fig. 5.3.5 A and B). Most importantly, a trend for increased free cholesterol levels was also observed in peripheral blood $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells of hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice with MFI 4850±121 compared to 3698±971 in the peripheral blood $CD3\epsilon^+$ subset of LDLR-/- mice (P=0.055, Fig. 5.3.6 A and B).

5.3.6 Hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells confer atheroprotection in LDLR-/- mice.

LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow developed smaller atherosclerotic plaques compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (Fig. 5.3.7). In addition, LDLR-/- mice transplanted with B6.SM/LDLR-/bone marrow developed smaller atherosclerotic plaques compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR-/- bone marrow. Thus, the groups with higher blood cell lipid levels correlate with lower atherosclerotic lesion areas. This implies that cholesterol efflux may occur which transports cholesterol from blood cells. Fig. 5.3.5 CD3 ε^+ subsets in peripheral blood of LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/mice fed western diet for 3 weeks. Representative of n=3 are presented in (A). There was a trend for decreased abundance of CD3 ε^+ cells in the leukocyte gate of B6.SM/LDLR-/- peripheral blood compared to LDLR-/- peripheral blood (B). Leukocytes from peripheral blood were incubated with hamster anti-mouse-CD3 ε -APC-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11). After primary antibodies incubation, leukocytes were incubated with 50 µg/ml filipin III. After filipin III incubation, cells were run through a cell strainer, and then were read on a BD FacsAria III cell sorter. Filipin III was excited using a 375 nm near-UV laser and emission wavelengths were detected using a 450/20 band pass filter. Data was analyzed using FlowJo.

```
Fig. 5.3.5
```

A



В



Fig. 5.3.6 Free cholesterol content of $CD3\epsilon^+$ subsets in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/-peripheral blood. Representative histograms of n=3 are presented in (A). A trend for increased free cholesterol content in hypomorphic sialidase LDLR^{-/-} B6.SM peripheral blood $CD3\epsilon^+$ cells can be observed compared to LDLR^{-/-}. Leukocytes from peripheral blood were incubated with hamster anti-mouse-CD3 ϵ -APC-Cy7 (clone 145-2C11). After anti-mouse-CD3 ϵ -APC-Cy7 incubation, leukocytes were incubated with filipin III and were read on a BD FacsAria III cell sorter with 375 nm emission wavelengths. Data was analyzed using FlowJo.

```
Fig. 5.3.6
```

A





В



Fig. 5.3.7 Atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow after feeding western diet for 6 weeks. LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=15; dark grey circle) has lower lesion area compared to LDLR-/- mice with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=12; white circle); LDLR-/- mice with B6.SM/LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=5; light grey circle) has lower lesion area compared to LDLR-/- mice with LDLR+/+ bone marrow (n=5; light grey circle) has lower lesion area compared to LDLR-/- mice with LDLR-/- bone marrow (n=5; black circle). Scale bar = 200μm. Atherosclerosis was quantified as the total cross sectional area of atherosclerotic plaque in each section. * denotes P<0.05; ** denotes P<0.001.

Fig. 5.3.7



C57Bl/6 to LDLR-/-

B6.SM to LDLR-/-

LDLR-/- to LDLR-/-

B6.SM/LDLR-/- to LDLR-/-

Е



5.3.7 Hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow derived macrophages have increased cholesterol efflux to HDL.

We assayed cholesterol efflux of bone marrow derived macrophages to HDL. B6.SM macrophages have significantly higher efflux to HDL compared to C57Bl/6 controls (Fig. 5.3.8 A), enabling them to clear intracellular cholesterol more efficiently. In addition, B6.SM macrophages have significantly lower efflux to LDL compared to C57Bl/6 controls (Fig. 5.3.8 B). Efflux to BSA control acceptor is minimal. This data can aid in explaining how increased lipid uptake by the macrophage can be beneficial, if these lipids can leave the cell via reverse cholesterol transport. Hypomorphic sialidase expression appears to accelerate cholesterol uptake followed by increased efflux, which could result in a net clearance of lipids from the atherosclerotic liesion and cause atheroprotection.

5.3.8 Hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow derived macrophages have an increased expression of ABCG1.

B6.SM mouse BMDMs have lower levels of LDLR protein when untreated or with VLDL, while showing no difference when treated with LDL or acLDL (Fig. 5.3.9). ABCG1 protein levels are higher in B6.SM BMDMs treated with LDL acLDL or VLDL, compared to C57Bl/6 controls, while showing no changes in ABCA1 protein (Fig. 5.3.9). Increased ABCG1 would lead to increased cholesterol efflux to HDL and atheroprotection, as cholesterol would be removed from foam cells in atherosclerotic lesions. This data implicates sialidase in regulation of macrophage cholesterol levels and regulation of uptake and efflux, although the exact mechanism is still unknown. Hypomorphic sialidase expression is reducing the quantity of LDLR protein, either by

reducing the cell's cholesterol need or through other post transcriptional mechanisms. Nevertheless, this is indicative of increased lipid levels in the cell. The combined uptake of lipid and increase efflux can be atheroprotective by having a higher rate of efflux compared to uptake. Higher ratio of efflux to uptake is a causative factor in plaque regression (Ibanez et al., 2007). Hypomorphic sialidase expression also causes increases in ABCG1 protein levels, but not ABCA1, after lipid loading of macrophages, which will lead to increased efflux to HDL.

5.3.9 Hypomorphic sialidase intraperitoneal macrophages accumulate more lipids after LDL treatment.

We analyzed LDL uptake *in vitro* using Oil Red O staining of mouse intraperitoneal thiglycollate-elicited macrophages. B6.SM macrophages have significantly higher Oil Red O staining after LDL treatment, whereas C57Bl/6 and LDLR-/- macrophages do not (Fig. 5.3.10). These macrophages show just slight increases in lipid staining after LDL treatment, as expected, but nevertheless, hypomorphic sialidase expression resulted in more lipid accumulation in IP macrophages. This increase could be explained by modulation of LDLR function and/or expression due to hypomorphic sialidase expression.

Fig. 5.3.8 Bone marrow derived macrophages from hypomorphic sialidase mice have increased efflux to HDL compared to C57Bl/6 controls. Hypomorphic sialidase expression increases cholesterol efflux in C57Bl/6 macrophages. BMDMs were loaded with [³H] cholesterol and assayed for efflux to (A) HDL and (B) LDL in the media. B6.SM macrophages show a significant increase in efflux to HDL at 6 and 8 hours, and a significant decrease in efflux to LDL at 8 hours. These imply that increased cholesterol uptake by the hypomorphic sialidase macrophage can be atheroprotective, providing that the cholesterol can leave the macrophage via reverse cholesterol transport. n=3, * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. 5.3.8

А



B



Fig. 5.3.9 B6.SM BMDMs have higher levels of ABCG1 protein and lower levels of LDLR protein. ABCG1 levels are higher in B6.SM cells when treated with lipoproteins, while LDLR levels are lower. ABCA1 shows no significant difference in any group. Lysates of bone marrow derived macrophages were analyzed by immunoblotting and band intensity was normalized to GAPDH. Hypomorphic sialidase expression results in protein expression changes that indicate increased cholesterol uptake and efflux. n=3, * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. 5.3.9



ABCG1 Densitometry of LDL treated BMDMs



ABCG1 Densitometry of VLDL treated BMDMs



ABCG1 Densitometry of acLDL treated BMDMs



LDLR Densitometry of untreated BMDMs 돉 º.ºㄱ ____*___



LDLR Densitometry of VLDL treated BMDMs



Fig. 5.3.10 Intraperitoneal hypomorphic sialidase macrophages accumulate more lipids after LDL treatment compared to C57Bl/6 and LDLR -/- controls as measured using ORO staining. Hypomorphic sialidase expression increases LDL uptake in thioglycollate-elicited macrophages compared to LDLR-/- and C57BL/6, after 48hour. Hypomorphic sialidase intraperitoneal macrophages accumulate more lipids after 48 hour LDL incubation than controls. Visual quantification of Oil Red O stained cells shows a significant increase in B6.SM cells that received LDL vs. no LDL with no such effect in wild-type and LDLR-/- controls. n=3, * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. 5.3.10

Oil Red O Quantification of Intraperitoneal Macrophages



5.4 Discussion

In the 1980s, Brown and Goldstein have identified LDLR as the receptor that can affect lipoprotein cholesterol levels via binding and uptaking LDL (Tolleshaug et al., 1983; Ishibashi et al., 1993). After the discovery of LDLR, other family members of LDLR have been identified, including VLDL (Sakai et al., 1994) and LRP (Kristensen et al., 1990). From the 1990s to the 2000s, researchers have started to focus at the effects of bone marrow-derived blood cells, including monocytes-derived macrophages, in affecting lipoprotein cholesterol uptake and atherosclerosis (Boisvert et al., 1997; Fazio et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). Blood cell LDLR has been shown to play roles in affecting VLDL- and/or IDL/LDL-cholesterol levels as demonstrated by the FPLC profiles (Boisvert et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 1997; Herijgers et al., 2000; Linton et al., 1999). In addition to blood cell LDLR, blood cell VLDLR and LRP have been shown to play roles in affecting cholesterol levels (Van Eck et al, 2005; Overton et al., 2007). Blood cell LDLR and VLDLR deficiency appears to play a prominent role in in increasing VLDL-cholesterol after feeding western diet (Linton et al., 1999; Herijgers et al., 2000; Van Eck et al., 2005). These studies imply that blood cell lipoprotein receptors, including monocytic LDLR, VLDL and LRP may be able to take up lipoprotein cholesterol in blood. Nevertheless, this implication is not addressed in these studies. Instead of the monocytic uptake of lipoprotein cholesterol, they have shown that macrophage lipoprotein receptors are capable of binding and taking up VLDLcholesterol (Herijgers et al, 2000; Overton et al., 2007). Up to the year of 2012, only a few studies have been published showing monocytic uptake of lipoprotein cholesterol (Nguyen et al., 1988; Pietsch et al., 1996). Monocytic uptake of lipoprotein cholesterol via VLDLR and/or LRP is still unknown. Most importantly, the effects of sialidase on blood cell lipoprotein receptor function and subsequently lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis as a whole, are largely unknown. Therefore, we have addressed this question by determining the effects of blood cell hypomorphic sialidase expression on lipoprotein cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis Our studies have shown that LDLR-/- mice with bone marrow transplanted from hypomorphic sialidase mice had less atherosclerotic lesion area than LDLR-/- mice transplanted with intact sialidase bone marrow. Interestingly, our results have shown that this decrease in atherosclerotic lesion area corresponds to a reduction in serum lipoprotein cholesterol levels in mice transplanted with hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells which is caused by an increase in the cholesterol levels in hypomorphic sialidase peripheral leukocytes, possibly via an increase in VLDL uptake.

We have observed that the decrease in the cholesterol concentrations in VLDL is much greater when LDLR is absent in hypomorphic sialidase blood cells. These results implied that the absence of LDLR in blood cells can enhance the extent of the reduction of cholesterol concentrations in VLDL-sized particles. In addition, the presence or absence of LDLR in blood cells seemed to play a role for the extent of decrease caused by hypomorphic sialidase expression. In other words, the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression appeared to be dependent on the presence or absence of LDLR in blood cells. We observed that there was still a difference in the VLDL-lipids production rates between mice with and without hypomorphic sialidase expression in the absence of LDLR (Fig. S5.3.2). Therefore, LDLR could not be the only contributing factor for the decreased cholesterol concentration in the VLDL-sized particles. Nonetheless, the decrease in the VLDL-sized particles was greater when LDLR was absent in the blood cells. Therefore, other receptors (LRP and VLDLR) that can take up VLDL must be playing a role when the LDLR is absent. VLDLR and LRP play roles in the removal of ApoB48-containing lipoproteins from the blood and are present in macrophages (Willnow et al., 1994; Kobayashi et al., 1996; Kozarsky et al., 1996; Rohlmann et al., 1998; van Dijk et al., 1998; Oka et al., 2001). Also, it has been suggested that VLDLR and LRP play a significant role in ApoB48-containing lipoproteins uptake when LDLR is absent (Veniant et al., 1998; Martins et al., 2000; Tacken et al., 2000). Overall, hypomorphic sialidase monocytes may be playing a role in affecting the uptake of cholesterol via VLDLR and/or LRP contributing to the decrease in cholesterol levels in the serum. Nevertheless, we are still uncertain whether monocyte is the only cell type responsible for this cholesterol uptake in the peripheral blood.

In order to answer the question from our previous discussion emphasizing which cell type(s) is/are responsible for governing the uptake of cholesterol in the peripheral blood, we have measured the abundance of monocytes and granulocytes with CD11b primary antibody through flow cytometry. There is a trend of increased abundance of monocytes in B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice compared to LDLR-/- mice. Most importantly, this increased abundance of monocytes is accompanied by a significant increased cellular quantity of free cholesterol as illustrated by the filipin marker which detects non-esterified cholesterol. In addition to monocytes and granulocytes, B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice also have slight changes in abundance of T cells as illustrated by the CD3 ϵ

marker. Specifically, the B6.SM/LDLR-/- T cells also have higher free cholesterol levels compared to LDLR-/- as demonstrated by filipin marker although the increase is not as great as that of the $CD11b^+$ cells. Taken together, these results suggest that CD11b⁺ cells, such as, monocytes, are more important in regulating the uptake of cholesterol compared to T cells. In addition, these results tell us that monocyte is a cell type that is responsible for the observed increase in blood cell lipid contents in our previous section showing that LDLR-/- mice transplanted with hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow has higher blood cell total cholesterol levels compared to LDLR-/- mice transplanted with bone marrow with the presence of sialidase. Our results have indicated that a decrease in atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow corresponds to an increase in cholesterol levels in monocytes. Reverse cholesterol transport may be playing a role such that hypomorphic sialidase macrophages in intima have a higher rate of cholesterol efflux although they are higher in cholesterol levels before they migrate into the intima. The downstream effect of higher cholesterol efflux causes a reduction in the atherosclerotic lesion area in LDLR-/- mice transplanted with hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow. In fact, results have shown that the expression of ABCG1 in the bone marrow-derived macrophages of hypomorphic sialidase mice is significantly higher compared to controls. In addition, bone marrow-derived macrophages isolated from B6.SM mice have a significantly higher rate of cholesterol efflux to HDL compared with bone marrow macrophages isolated from C57Bl/6 mice. Furthermore, peritoneal macrophages of B6.SM mice have higher cholesterol contents compared to C57Bl/6 mice as shown by Oil Red O staining. Higher cholesterol contents in macrophages can cause the activation of liver X recepters (LXRs) (Zelcer and Tontonoz, 2006). LXR,

being an important transcriptional regulator of lipoprotein metabolism, can enhance transcription of target genes, including ABCG1 (Repa et al., 2000; Kennedy et al., 2005). Taken together, higher cholesterol uptake exists in serum hypomorphic sialidase monocytes. These monocytes with higher cholesterol levels are differentiated to macrophages in the intima. Concurrently, higher cholesterol levels cause the activation of LXR which increases the expression of ABCG1 in hypomorphic sialidase macrophages. Increased ABCG1 expression in hypomorphic sialidase macrophages causes an increase in cholesterol efflux. The downstream effect of these causes a reduction in atherosclerotic lesions in mice with hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow-derived blood cells.

Overall, these studies lead us to a novel concept of blood cells manipulating the lipoprotein metabolism in serum. In conclusion, our results demonstrated that hypomorphic sialidase hematopoietic cells confer atheroprotection in LDLR-/- mice by having lower serum lipoprotein cholesterol levels. Specifically, the absence of LDLR in leukocytes, e.g., monocytes, increases the extent of lipoprotein cholesterol uptake. Furthermore, this study shows a novel role for hypomorphic sialidase leukocytes in the regulation of lipoprotein metabolism. Most importantly, these sialidase mediated effects of cholesterol uptake in leukocytes are prominent in reducing atherosclerosis, and thus, will shed light on anti-atherosclerotic therapy.
Supplementary Section

S5.3.1 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases cholesterol levels in VLDL and LDL-sized lipoproteins in male LDLR-/- mice.

In order to test the impact of combined deficiencies in LDLR and sialidase on serum cholesterol levels of VLDL and LDL, serum collected from male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice, fed western diet for 6 weeks, were fractionated by Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography (FPLC). Male hypomorphic sialidase B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice show significantly lower cholesterol levels of VLDL and LDL when compared with male LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.1). Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression has impacts on cholesterol levels in the VLDL and LDL.

S5.3.2 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases serum and increases hepatic lipids levels in male LDLR-/- mice.

Enzymatic lipid analysis revealed a significant decrease in both serum cholesterol and cholesteryl esters concentrations in hypomorphic sialidase LDLR-/- male mice (Table S5.3.1). These results were consistent with our FPLC cholesterol profiles which also showed a decrease in the cholesterol concentrations (Table S5.3.1). The decrease in the cholesterol concentrations originates mainly from reduced cholesterol levels of VLDL and IDL/LDL-sized particles. The VLDL, IDL and LDL particles contain a significant amount of cholesteryl esters. Therefore, the decrease in the total serum cholesteryl esters in hypomorphic sialidase LDLR-/- male mice was reflected in the FPLC profile. Hepatic lipid concentrations were determined and an increase in the hepatic cholesteryl esters and triglyceride concentrations were observed in

hypomorphic sialidase LDLR-/- male mice compared to LDLR-/- male mice (Table S5.3.1). The increase in the cholesteryl esters in the liver and the decrease in the cholesteryl esters in the serum implied that hypomorphic sialidase expression may affect the cholesteryl esters to be secreted from the liver. Cholesteryl esters are mainly secreted from the liver in VLDL. Therefore, we performed VLDL–lipids production rate analysis in LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- male mice.

Fig. S5.3.1 FPLC cholesterol profiles of male LDLR-/- and male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. B6.SM/LDLR-/- male mice (n=3) fed western diet for 6 weeks starting at age of 3 months have a significant decrease in cholesterol level in VLDL and LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- mice (n=3). (VLDL-sized: Very low density lipoprotein sized particle, IDL-sized: Intermediate density lipoprotein sized particle, LDL-sized: Low density lipoprotein sized particle, sized particle, Each circle represents mean±SE. * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. S5.3.1



Table S5.3.1 Serum and hepatic lipids levels in male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. An increase in the hepatic triglyceride (P=0.02) and a trend of increase in cholesteryl esters levels (P=0.12) in male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=5) fed western diet for 6 weeks was observed compared to male LDLR-/- mice (n=4). Consistent with the FPLC, a significant decrease in total serum cholesterol and cholesteryl esters were observed in B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=3) compared to LDLR-/- mice (n=4) fed western diet for 6 weeks (* denotes P<0.05). Mean±SE are shown.

Table S5.3.1

	Henatic total	Semm total	Henatic free	Semm free	Henatic cholesterzl	Senum cholesterizl	Henstic	Samm
	cholesterol	cholesterol	cholesterol	cholesterol	esters	esters	triglyceride	triglyceride
	(mg/g liver)	(mM)	(mg/g liver)	(mM)	(mg/g liver)	(mM)	(mg/g liver)	(mM)
LDLR-/-	3.66±0.21	29.23±0.20	2.88±0.17	13.50±1.51	0.78±0.04	15.76±1.52	8.65±1.71	15.12±0.70
Male								
B6.SM/LDLR-4	3.54±0.36	22.19±0.83*	2.21±0.50	10.75±0.20	1.33±0.38	11.37±0.69*	14.33±1.54*	17 <i>.</i> 79±3.76
Male								

S5.3.3 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases hepatic VLDL production in male LDLR-/- mice.

Majority of the VLDL is produced by the liver. In order to assess the kinetics of the lipoprotein secretion in the presence of hypomorphic sialidase expression, cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations were measured after lipoprotein lipase inhibition with Triton WR1339. Our results indicate a significant increase in VLDL-triglyceride concentration over the time period of 4 hours in the male B6.SM/LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- mice (Fig. S5.3.2 A). There were still differences in VLDL-triglyceride concentrations in 4-hour period after inhibiting lipoprotein lipase. Similar results were obtained for the VLDL-cholesterol, VLDL-free cholesterol and VLDL-cholesteryl esters (Fig. S5.3.2 B, C and D). In order to assess any difference in VLDL-lipids production rate between hypomorphic sialidase mice and controls with the absence of LDLR., the slope of the regression line over a 4-hour period of time was determined and found to show a significant decrease in VLDL-triglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol and found to show a significant decrease in VLDL-triglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol and VL

Fig. S5.3.2 Hepatic VLDL production in male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/mice. LDLR-/- (n=3) and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=3) were fasted overnight and injected with Triton WR1339 (500mg/kg). Serum samples were drawn at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the injection of Triton WR1339. There is a decrease in hepatic (A) VLDL-triglyceride, (B) VLDL-cholesterol, (C) VLDL-free cholesterol and (D) VLDL-cholesteryl esters concentrations in different indicated times after 0 hour in LDLR-/- mice and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. Each circle represents mean±SE. * denotes P<0.05.

Fig. S5.3.2



Table S5.3.2 Hepatic VLDL production rates in male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. Male LDLR-/- (n=3) and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=3) were fasted overnight and Triton WR1339 was administered (500mg/kg). Serum was collected at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the administration of Triton WR1339. There is a decrease in hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol, and VLDL-cholesteryl esters esters production rates in male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice compared to LDLR-/- mice. Mean±SE are shown.

Table S5.3.2

	Triglyceride PR (mM/hr	Total Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Free Cholesterol PR (mM/hr	Cholesteryl Esters PR (mM/hr)
LDLR-/- Male	4.94 + 0.27	4.31 + 0.12	0.51 + 0.06	3.80 + 0.15
B6.SM/LDLR-/- Mai	3.38 + 0.33	3.01 + 0.17	0.38 + 0.02	2.63 + 0.18
P value	0.02	0.003	0.1	0.004

S5.3.4 The effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in male LDLR-/- mice.

After observing changes in the VLDL-lipid production rare between male B6.SM/LDLR-/- and LDLR-/- mice, we want to determine whether the observed difference is caused by decreased VLDL particle production. Thus, we measured the protein expression of ApoB-100 and ApoB-48. We did not observe any significant changes in rate of ApoB-100 secretion in the 4-hour period after Triton WR1339 injection (Fig. 5.3.3 A). However, a trend toward a decrease in ApoB-48 levels were observed in male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice compared to male LDLR-/- mice (Fig. 5.3.3 B). This implies that receptors that can bind ApoB-48 may be involved in the uptake of VLDL particle that contains ApoB-48.

S5.3.5 Hypomorphic sialidase expression decreases atherogenesis in male LDLR-/- mice.

In order to see whether the decrease in cholesterol level is reflective of atherosclerosis in hypomorphic sialidase LDLR-/- male mice, atherosclerotic lesion areas were evaluated at the aortic sinus of male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. There was a trend of decrease in atherosclerotic lesion area at the aortic sinus of male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice compared to male LDLR-/- mice (P=0.06) (Fig. 5.3.4). Thus, hypomorphic sialidase expression is atheroprotective in male LDLR-/- mice.

Fig. S5.3.3 Hepatic VLDL-ApoB-100 and –ApoB-48 secretion in male LDLR-/-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice. (A) Serum ApoB-100 levels between male LDLR-/-(n=3) and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=3). No differences in ApoB-100 levels were found between the two mice strain at each time interval. (B) Serum ApoB-48 levels between male LDLR-/- (n=3) and male B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice (n=3). Differences in ApoB-48 levels were found between male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice indicating differences in the uptake of VLDL via ApoB-48 receptors. For the determination of ApoB-100 and ApoB-48 secretion, serum samples were obtained at 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours were probed with ApoB (goat anti-ApoB, 1:6000) and HRPconjugated antibodies (donkey anti-goat, 1:10000). ApoB levels were determined by the intensities of ApoB bands normalized to IgG bands.



А



В



Fig. S5.3.4 Atherosclerotic lesion area in male LDLR-/- and B6.SM/LDLR-/mice after feeding western diet for 6 weeks. A decrease in atherosclerotic lesion area at the aortic sinus of B6.SM/LDLR-/- male mice (n=4) compared to LDLR-/male mice (n=5) was observed (P=0.06). Atherosclerosis was quantified as the total cross sectional area of atherosclerotic plaque in each section. Fig. S5.3.4



P=0.06

References

Aiello RJ, Brees D, Bourassa PA, Royer L, Lindsey S, Coskran T, Haghpassand M, Francone OL. Increased atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice with inactivation of ABCA1 in macrophages. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002 Apr 1;22(4):630-7.

Baldan A, Pei L, Lee R, Tarr P, Tangirala RK, Weinstein MM, Frank J, Li AC, Tontonoz P, Edwards PA. Impaired development of atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic Ldlr-/- and ApoE-/- mice transplanted with Abcg1-/- bone marrow. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006 Oct;26(10):2301-7.

Boisvert WA, Spangenberg J, Curtiss LK. Role of leukocyte-specific LDL receptors on plasma lipoprotein cholesterol and atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Feb;17(2):340-7.

Chen XP, Enioutina EY, Daynes RA. The control of IL-4 gene expression in activated murine T lymphocytes: a novel role for neu-1 sialidase. J Immunol. 1997 Apr 1;158(7):3070-80.

Corfield T. Bacterial sialidases--roles in pathogenicity and nutrition. Glycobiology. 1992 Dec;2(6):509-21.

Cross AS, Sakarya S, Rifat S, Held TK, Drysdale BE, Grange PA, Cassels FJ, Wang LX, Stamatos N, Farese A, Casey D, Powell J, Bhattacharjee AK, Kleinberg M, Goldblum SE. Recruitment of murine neutrophils in vivo through endogenous sialidase activity. J Biol Chem. 2003 Feb 7;278(6):4112-20.

Cross AS, Wright DG. Mobilization of sialidase from intracellular stores to the surface of human neutrophils and its role in stimulated adhesion responses of these cells. J Clin Invest. 1991 Dec;88(6):2067-76.

Davis CG, Elhammer A, Russell DW, Schneider WJ, Kornfeld S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Deletion of clustered O-linked carbohydrates does not impair function of low density lipoprotein receptor in transfected fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1986 February 25;261(6):2828-38.

Fazio S, Hasty AH, Carter KJ, Murray AB, Price JO, Linton MF. Leukocyte low density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) does not contribute to LDL clearance in vivo: bone marrow transplantation studies in the mouse. J Lipid Res. 1997 Feb;38(2):391-400.

Fielding CJ, Fielding PE. Cellular cholesterol efflux. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2001 Oct 31;1533(3):175-89.

Filipovic I. Effect of inhibiting N-glycosylation on the stability and binding activity of the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem 1989 May 25;264(15):8815-20.

Gee K, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces functionally active hyaluronan-adhesive CD44 by activating sialidase through p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytic cells. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37275-87.

Gee K, Lim W, Ma W, Nandan D, Diaz-Mitoma F, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Differential regulation of CD44 expression by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and TNFalpha in human monocytic cells: distinct involvement of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in LPS-induced CD44 expression. J Immunol. 2002 Nov 15;169(10):5660-72.

Gent J, Braakman I. Low-density lipoprotein receptor structure and folding. Cell Mol Life Sci 2004 October;61(19-20):2461-70.

Hayden MR, Clee SM, Brooks-Wilson A, Genest J Jr, Attie A, Kastelein JJ. Cholesterol efflux regulatory protein, Tangier disease and familial high-density lipoprotein deficiency. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2000 Apr;11(2):117-22.

Herijgers N, Van Eck M, Groot PH, Hoogerbrugge PM, Van Berkel TJ. Effect of bone marrow transplantation on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Oct;17(10):1995-2003.

Herijgers N, Van Eck M, Groot PH, Hoogerbrugge PM, Van Berkel TJ._Low density lipoprotein receptor of macrophages facilitates atherosclerotic lesion formation in C57Bl/6 mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Aug;20(8):1961-7.

Ibanez B, Vilahur G, Badimon JJ. Plaque progression and regression in atherothrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2007 Jul;5 Suppl 1:292-9.

Igdoura SA, Gafuik C, Mertineit C, Saberi F, Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M, Trasler JM, Gravel RA. Cloning of the cDNA and gene encoding mouse lysosomal sialidase and correction of sialidase deficiency in human sialidosis and mouse SM/J fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Jan;7(1):115-21.

Ishibashi S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Gerard RD, Hammer RE, Herz J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. J Clin Invest. 1993 Aug;92(2):883-93.

Kennedy MA, Barrera GC, Nakamura K, Baldán A, Tarr P, Fishbein MC, Frank J, Francone OL, Edwards PA. ABCG1 has a critical role in mediating cholesterol efflux to HDL and preventing cellular lipid accumulation. Cell Metab. 2005 Feb;1(2):121-31.

Kingsley DM, Kozarsky KF, Hobbie L, Krieger M. Reversible defects in O-linked glycosylation and LDL receptor expression in a UDP-Gal/UDP-GalNAc 4-epimerase deficient mutant. Cell 1986 March 14;44(5):749-59.

Kobayashi K, Oka K, Forte T, Ishida B, Teng B, Ishimura-Oka K, Nakamuta M, Chan L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout

mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem. 1996 Mar 22;271(12):6852-60.

Kozarsky KF, Jooss K, Donahee M, Strauss JF 3rd, Wilson JM. Effective treatment of familial hypercholesterolaemia in the mouse model using adenovirus-mediated transfer of the VLDL receptor gene. Nat Genet. 1996 May;13(1):54-62. Erratum in: Nat Genet 1996 Jul;13(3):374.

Kozarsky K, Kingsley D, Krieger M. Use of a mutant cell line to study the kinetics and function of O-linked glycosylation of low density lipoprotein receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988 June;85(12):4335-9.

Kristensen T, Moestrup SK, Gliemann J, Bendtsen L, Sand O, Sottrup-Jensen L. Evidence that the newly cloned low-density-lipoprotein receptor related protein (LRP) is the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor. FEBS Lett. 1990 Dec 10;276(1-2):151-5.

Lambré CR, Greffard A, Gattegno L, Saffar L. Modifications of sialidase activity during the monocyte-macrophage differentiation in vitro. Immunol Lett. 1990 Jan;23(3):179-82.

Liang F, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Ahmad R, Ahmad A, Stamatos NM, Pshezhetsky AV. Monocyte differentiation up-regulates the expression of the lysosomal sialidase, Neu1, and triggers its targeting to the plasma membrane via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive compartments. J Biol Chem. 2006 Sep 15;281(37):27526-38.

Linton MF, Babaev VR, Gleaves LA, Fazio S. A direct role for the macrophage low density lipoprotein receptor in atherosclerotic lesion formation. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jul 2;274(27):19204-10.

Martins IJ, Hone E, Chi C, Seydel U, Martins RN, Redgrave TG. Relative roles of LDLr and LRP in the metabolism of chylomicron remnants in genetically manipulated mice. J Lipid Res. 2000 Feb;41(2):205-13.

Millar JS. The sialylation of plasma lipoproteins. Atherosclerosis. 2001 Jan;154(1):1-13.

Nguyen LB, Shefer S, Salen G, Horak I, Tint GS, McNamara DJ. The effect of abnormal plasma and cellular sterol content and composition on low density lipoprotein uptake and degradation by monocytes and lymphocytes in sitosterolemia with xanthomatosis. Metabolism. 1988 Apr;37(4):346-51.

Oka K, Pastore L, Kim IH, Merched A, Nomura S, Lee HJ, Merched-Sauvage M, Arden-Riley C, Lee B, Finegold M, Beaudet A, Chan L. Long-term stable correction of low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice with a helper-dependent adenoviral vector expressing the very low-density lipoprotein receptor. Circulation. 2001 Mar 6;103(9):1274-81.

Out R, Hoekstra M, Hildebrand RB, Kruit JK, Meurs I, Li Z, Kuipers F, Van Berkel TJ, Van Eck M. Macrophage ABCG1 deletion disrupts lipid homeostasis in alveolar macrophages and moderately influences atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006 Oct;26(10):2295-300.

Overton CD, Yancey PG, Major AS, Linton MF, Fazio S. Deletion of macrophage LDL receptor-related protein increases atherogenesis in the mouse. Circ Res. 2007 Mar 16;100(5):670-7.

Pappu BP, Shrikant PA. Alteration of cell surface sialylation regulates antigeninduced naive CD8+ T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004 Jul 1;173(1):275-84.

Parthasarathy S, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. The role of oxidized low-density lipoproteins in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Med. 1992;43:219-25.

Pattison S, Pankarican M, Rupar CA, Graham FL, Igdoura SA. Five novel mutations in the lysosomal sialidase gene (NEU1) in type II sialidosis patients and assessment of their impact on enzyme activity and intracellular targeting using adenovirus-mediated expression. Hum Mutat. 2004 Jan;23(1):32-9.

Pietsch A, Erl W, Lorenz RL. Lovastatin reduces expression of the combined adhesion and scavenger receptor CD36 in human monocytic cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 1996 Aug 9;52(3):433-9.

Pilatte Y, Bignon J, Lambre CR. Sialic acids as important molecules in the regulation of the immune system: pathophysiological implications of sialidases in immunity. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):201-18.

Ranalletta M, Wang N, Han S, Yvan-Charvet L, Welch C, Tall AR. Decreased atherosclerosis in low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice transplanted with Abcg1-/- bone marrow. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006 Oct;26(10):2308-15.

Repa JJ, Turley SD, Lobaccaro JA, Medina J, Li L, Lustig K, Shan B, Heyman RA, Dietschy JM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of absorption and ABC1-mediated efflux of cholesterol by RXR heterodimers. Science. 2000 Sep 1;289(5484):1524-9.

Reuter G, Gabius HJ. Sialic acids structure-analysis-metabolism-occurrence-recognition. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler. 1996 Jun;377(6):325-42.

Rohlmann A, Gotthardt M, Hammer RE, Herz J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants. J Clin Invest. 1998 Feb 1;101(3):689-95.

Ross R. Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. Am Heart J. 1999 Nov;138(5 Pt 2):S419-20.

Rottier RJ, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. A point mutation in the neu-1 locus causes the neuraminidase defect in the SM/J mouse. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Feb;7(2):313-21.

Sakarya S, Rifat S, Zhou J, Bannerman DD, Stamatos NM, Cross AS, Goldblum SE. Mobilization of neutrophil sialidase activity desialylates the pulmonary vascular endothelial surface and increases resting neutrophil adhesion to and migration across the endothelium. Glycobiology. 2004 Jun;14(6):481-94.

Sakai J, Hoshino A, Takahashi S, Miura Y, Ishii H, Suzuki H, Kawarabayasi Y, Yamamoto T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene. J Biol Chem. 1994 Jan 21;269(3):2173-82.

Schneider WJ, Beisiegel U, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Purification of the low density lipoprotein receptor, an acidic glycoprotein of 164,000 molecular weight. Biol Chem. 1982 Mar 10;257(5):2664-73.

Schwenke DC, Carew TE. Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. I. Focal increases in arterial LDL concentration precede development of fatty streak lesions. Arteriosclerosis. 1989 Nov-Dec;9(6):895-907.

Sprague EA, Moser M, Edwards EH, Schwartz CJ. Stimulation of receptor-mediated low density lipoprotein endocytosis in neuraminidase-treated cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells. J Cell Physiol. 1988 Nov;137(2):251-62.

Stamatos NM, Liang F, Nan X, Landry K, Cross AS, Wang LX, Pshezhetsky AV. Differential expression of endogenous sialidases of human monocytes during cellular differentiation into macrophages. FEBS J. 2005 May;272(10):2545-56.

Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Lipoproteins and atherogenesis. Current concepts. JAMA. 1990 Dec 19;264(23):3047-52.

Tacken PJ, Teusink B, Jong MC, Harats D, Havekes LM, van Dijk KW, Hofker MH. LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice. J Lipid Res. 2000 Dec;41(12):2055-62.

Tolleshaug H, Hobgood KK, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. The LDL receptor locus in familial hypercholesterolemia: multiple mutations disrupt transport and processing of a membrane receptor. Cell. 1983 Mar;32(3):941-51.

van Dijk KW, van Vlijmen BJ, van der Zee A, van't Hof B, van der Boom H, Kobayashi K, Chan L, Havekes LM, Hofker MH. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in apolipoprotein E2 and apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice by adenovirusmediated gene transfer of the VLDL receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998 Jan;18(1):7-12.

van Eck M, Bos IS, Kaminski WE, Orso E, Rothe G, Twisk J, Bottcher A, Van Amersfoort ES, Christiansen-Weber TA, Fung-Leung WP, Van Berkel TJ, Schmitz G. Leukocyte ABCA1 controls susceptibility to atherosclerosis and macrophage recruitment into tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Apr 30;99(9):6298-303.

van Eck MV, Oost J, Goudriaan JR, Hoekstra M, Hildebrand RB, Bos IS, van Dijk KW, Van Berkel TJ. Role of the macrophage very-low-density lipoprotein receptor in atherosclerotic lesion development. Atherosclerosis. 2005 Dec;183(2):230-7.

Varki A. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J. 1997 Mar;11(4):248-55.

Véniant MM, Zlot CH, Walzem RL, Pierotti V, Driscoll R, Dichek D, Herz J, Young SG. Lipoprotein clearance mechanisms in LDL receptor-deficient "Apo-B48-only" and "Apo-B100-only" mice. J Clin Invest. 1998 Oct 15;102(8):1559-68.

Wang N, Lan D, Chen W, Matsuura F, Tall AR. ATP-binding cassette transporters G1 and G4 mediate cellular cholesterol efflux to high-density lipoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Jun 29;101(26):9774-9.

Wang N, Silver DL, Costet P, Tall AR. Specific binding of ApoA-I, enhanced cholesterol efflux, and altered plasma membrane morphology in cells expressing ABC1. J Biol Chem. 2000 Oct 20;275(42):33053-8.

Wang P, Zhang J, Bian H, Wu P, Kuvelkar R, Kung TT, Crawley Y, Egan RW, Billah MM. Induction of lysosomal and plasma membrane-bound sialidases in human T-cells via T-cell receptor. Biochem J. 2004 Jun 1;380(Pt 2):425-33.

Willnow TE, Sheng Z, Ishibashi S, Herz J. Inhibition of hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake by gene transfer of a receptor antagonist. Science. 1994 Jun 3;264(5164):1471-4.

Xu Z, Weiss A. Negative regulation of CD45 by differential homodimerization of the alternatively spliced isoforms. Nat Immunol. 2002 Aug;3(8):764-71.

Zelcer N, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors as integrators of metabolic and inflammatory signaling. J Clin Invest. 2006 Mar;116(3):607-14.

Chapter 6 Significance, Conclusions and Looking Forward

Atherosclerosis is an inflammatiory event which is dependent on lipoprotein metabolism. Sialylation of certain cell surface molecules on leukocytes, including macrophages, neutrophils and T-cells, may modulate inflammation. Modulation of the level of sialylation on apolipoproteins in lipoproteins, including VLDL, LDL and HDL, may affect lipoprotein metabolism. We have generated hypomorphic sialidase (*neu1*) mice, B6.SM, by backcrossing a mutation in the inbred mouse strain, SM/J, on C57Bl/6 background. B6.SM mice have decreased serum cholesterol levels compared to C57B1/6 mice. In addition, the hepatic VLDL-triglyceride, total cholesterol, free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters production rates of the B6.SM mice are decreased compared to C57Bl/6 mice. Furthermore, B6.SM mice have decreased hepatic expression of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP), which loads triglyceride and cholestesteryl esters onto ApoB during the formation of VLDL particle, compared to C57Bl/6 mice. B6.SM mice also have decreased hepatic expression of sterol responsive element binding protein-2 (SREBP-2), a transcription factor that activates transcription of genes including MTP. Taken together, reduced SREBP-2 expression causes a decrease in MTP expression which causes a reduction in hepatic VLDL-lipid production. In addition to VLDL production, hypomorphic sialidase expression also plays a role in VLDL/LDL cholesterol clearance by maintaining the hepatic protein expression of LDLR without any changes in the LDLR mRNA levels. B6.SM mice have reduced expression of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9), a SREBP-2 target gene that affects recycling of the LDLR. Taken together, reduced SREBP-2 expression causes a decrease in PCSK9 expression which causes an increase in LDLR recycling. The increase in LDLR recycling causes an increase in VLDL/LDL clearance in B6.SM mice compared to C57Bl/6 mice. In conclusion, hypomorphic sialidase expression alters lipoprotein metabolism by both decreasing hepatic cholesterol production and increasing cholesrerol clearance.

We have generated B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice harboring a mutated neul sialidase gene by crossing B6.SM mice with *apoe-/-* mice in order to determine the effects of hypomorphic sialidase expression on atherogenesis. B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice have decreased atherosclerotic lesion areas at the aortic sinus compared to *apoe-/-* mice. When *apoe-/-* mice were treated with 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid (DANA), a sialidase inhibitor, atherosclerotic lesion areas were decreased compared to saline-treated *apoe-/-* mice. In addition, B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice transplanted with B6.SM/*apoe-/-* bone marrow have decreased atherosclerotic lesion areas compared to B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice receiving *apoe-/-* bone marrow. We have dissected the mechanism for the atheroprotective effect of B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice by showing that B6.SM/*apoe-/-* mice have decreased atherogenic VLDL-lipid production rate and decreased recruitment and infiltration of monocytes in the atherosclerotic lesions compared to *apoe-/-* mice. In conclusion, hypomorphic sialidase expression is atheroprotective in *apoe-/-* mice and inhibiting sialidase is a potential treatment for atherosclerosis.

Leukocytes, including monocyte-derived macrophages, express lipoprotein receptors which enable the binding and uptaking of atherogenic lipoproteins, i.e., VLDL, IDL and LDL. Many lipoproteins are sialylated and their receptors have different efficiency of their binding and uptake with modulation of sialylation. We have transplanted bone marrow from LDLR+/+, B6.SM/LDLR+/+, LDLR-/- or B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice into LDLR-/- mice in order to determine whether sialidase affects leukocyte mediated lipoprotein cholesterol uptake, and therby affects atherogenesis. LDLR-/- mice receiving B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow have decreased cholesterol levels in IDL/LDL-sized particles compared to LDLR-/- mice Concurrently, LDLR-/- mice receiving receiving LDLR+/+ bone marrow. B6.SM/LDLR+/+ bone marrow have decreased atherosclerotic lesion areas at the aortic sinus compared to LDLR-/- mice receiving LDLR+/+ bone. In addition, peripheral blood monocytes (CD11b⁺) of B6.SM/LDLR-/- mice have increased free cholesterol levels compared to LDLR-/- mice. Furthermore, sialidase-deficient macrophages have increased cholesterol efflux to HDL with increased expression of adenosine triphosphate binding cassette G1 (ABCG1), a transporter which plays roles in transporting intracellular cholesterol to HDL. Taken together, hypomorphic sialidase bone marrow-derived cells, including monocytes/macrophages, confer atheroprotection in LDLR-/- mice with reduced serum lipoprotein cholesterol levels and increased cholesterol efflux from macrophages. Specifically, the absence of LDLR in leukocytes, including monocytes, amplifies the extent of lipoprotein cholesterol uptake. This uptake is most prominent for VLDL-cholesterol when LDLR is absent. In conclusion, we have discovered a novel role for monocytes in the regulation of lipoprotein cholesterol levels via hypomorphic sialidase expression.

In order to target sialidase as therapy for treating atherosclerosis, we need to confirm that using DANA as a sialidase inhibitior is not toxic. In fact, this is supported by previous studies showing that DANA is not toxic (Hunt and Brown, 2007). In addition, we need to confirm whether DANA has any effect on atherosclerotic progression in female mice at the same age compared to male mice. Furthermore, performing experiments on the effects of sialidase inhibition using DANA can be done by extracting the intracellular organelles and measuring the sialidase activity. Last but not least, delivering sialidase inhibitor to specific cell types in the body can be done by liposomes. Studies on administrating a monosaccharide mimetic by targeted liposome delivery have been done with success (Pollock et al., 2008). These will shed light on the potential therapy for treating atherosclerosis with minimization of off-target effects.

References

Aalto-Setälä K, Fisher EA, Chen X, Chajek-Shaul T, Hayek T, Zechner R, Walsh A, Ramakrishnan R, Ginsberg HN, Breslow JL. Mechanism of hypertriglyceridemia in human apolipoprotein (apo) CIII transgenic mice. Diminished very low density lipoprotein fractional catabolic rate associated with increased apo CIII and reduced apo E on the particles. J Clin Invest. 1992 Nov;90(5):1889-900.

Abifadel M, Varret M, Rabes JP, Allard D, Ouguerram K, Devillers M, Cruaud C, Benjannet S, Wickham L, Erlich D, Derre A, Villeger L, Farnier M, Beucler I, Bruckert E, Chambaz J, Chanu B, Lecerf JM, Luc G, Moulin P, Weissenbach J, Prat A, Krempf M, Junien C, Seidah NG, Boileau C. Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat Genet. 2003 Jun;34(2):154-6.

Achyuthan KE, Achyuthan AM. Comparative enzymology, biochemistry and pathophysiology of human exo-alpha-sialidases (neuraminidases). Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol. 2001 May;129(1):29-64.

Acton SL, Kozarsky KF, Rigotti A. The HDL receptor SR-BI: a new therapeutic target for atherosclerosis? Mol Med Today. 1999 Dec;5(12):518-24.

Aiello RJ, Brees D, Bourassa PA, Royer L, Lindsey S, Coskran T, Haghpassand M, Francone OL. Increased atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic mice with inactivation of ABCA1 in macrophages. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002 Apr 1;22(4):630-7.

Allain CC, Poon LS, Chan CSG, Richmond W, Fu PC. Enzymatic determination of total serum cholesterol. Clin Chem. 1974 Apr;20(4):470-5.

Amith SR, Jayanth P, Finlay T, Franchuk S, Gilmour A, Abdulkhalek S, Szewczuk MR. Detection of Neu1 sialidase activity in regulating Toll-like receptor activation. J Vis Exp. 2010 Sep 7;(43). pii: 2142. doi: 10.3791/2142.

Anber V, Millar JS, McConnell M, Shepherd J, Packard CJ. Interaction of very-lowdensity, intermediate-density, and low-density lipoproteins with human arterial wall proteoglycans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Nov;17(11):2507-14.

Anderson RA, Joyce C, Davis M, Reagan JW, Clark M, Shelness GS, Rudel LL. Identification of a form of acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase specific to liver and intestine in nonhuman primates. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26747-54.

Attie AD, Weinstein DB, Freeze HH, Pittman RC, Steinberg D. Unaltered catabolism of desialylated low-density lipoprotein in the pig and in cultured rat hepatocytes. Biochem J. 1979 Jun 15;180(3):647-54.

Aviram M, Rosenblat M. Macrophage-mediated oxidation of extracellular low density lipoprotein requires an initial binding of the lipoprotein to its receptor. J Lipid Res. 1994 Mar;35(3):385-98.

Aydilek N, Aksakal M. Effects of Testosterone on Lipid Peroxidation, Lipid Profiles and some Coagulation Parameters in Rabbits*. J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med. 2005 Nov;52(9):436-9.

Babitt J, Trigatti B, Rigotti A, Smart EJ, Anderson RG, Xu S, Krieger M. Murine SR-BI, a high density lipoprotein receptor that mediates selective lipid uptake, is Nglycosylated and fatty acylated and colocalizes with plasma membrane caveolae. J Biol Chem. 1997 May 16;272(20):13242-9.

Babu YS, Chand P, Bantia S, Kotian P, Dehghani A, El-Kattan Y, Lin TH, Hutchison TL, Elliott AJ, Parker CD, Ananth SL, Horn LL, Laver GW, Montgomery JA. BCX-1812 (RWJ-270201): discovery of a novel, highly potent, orally active, and selective influenza neuraminidase inhibitor through structure-based drug design. J Med Chem. 2000 Sep 21;43(19):3482-6.

Barrett PH, Bell BM, Cobelli C, Golde H, Schumitzky A, Vicini P, Foster DM. SAAM II: Simulation, Analysis, and Modeling Software for tracer and pharmacokinetic studies. Metabolism. 1998 Apr;47(4):484-92.

Bartels ED, Lauritsen M, Nielsen LB. Hepatic expression of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein and in vivo secretion of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins are increased in obese diabetic mice. Diabetes. 2002 Apr;51(4):1233-9.

Berman M, Shahn E, Weiss MF. The routine fitting of kinetic data to models: a mathematical formalism for digital computers. Biophys J. 1962 May;2:275-87.

Berneis KK, Krauss RM. Metabolic origins and clinical significance of LDL heterogeneity. J Lipid Res. 2002 Sep;43(9):1363-79.

Benoit P, Emmanuel F, Caillaud JM, Bassinet L, Castro G, Gallix P, Fruchart JC, Branellec D, Denefle P, Duverger N. Somatic gene transfer of human ApoA-I inhibits atherosclerosis progression in mouse models. Circulation. 1999 Jan 5-12;99(1):105-10.

Bett AJ, Prevec L, Graham FL. Packaging capacity and stability of human adenovirus type 5 vectors. J Virol. 1993 Oct;67(10):5911-21.

Beutler B, Cerami A. Cachectin and tumour necrosis factor as two sides of the same biological coin. Nature. 1986 Apr 17-23;320(6063):584-8.

Bietrix F, Yan D, Nauze M, Rolland C, Bertrand-Michel J, Comera C, Schaak S, Barbaras R, Groen AK, Perret B, Terce F, Collet X. Accelerated lipid absorption in mice overexpressing intestinal SR-BI. J Biol Chem. 2006 Mar 17;281(11):7214-9.

Boisvert WA, Spangerberg J, Curtiss LK. Role of Leukocyte-specific LDL receptors on plasma lipoprotein cholesterol and Atherosclerosis in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Feb;17(2):340-7.

Bonten EJ, Campos Y, Zaitsev V, Nourse A, Waddell B, Lewis W, Taylor G, d'Azzo A. Heterodimerization of the sialidase NEU1 with the chaperone protective protein/cathepsin A prevents its premature oligomerization. J Biol Chem. 2009 Oct 9;284(41):28430-41.

Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal neuraminidase. Catalytic activation in insect cells is controlled by the protective protein/cathepsin A. J Biol Chem. 2000 Dec 1;275(48):37657-63.

Bonten E, van der Spoel A, Fornerod M, Grosveld G, d'Azzo A. Characterization of human lysosomal neuraminidase defines the molecular basis of the metabolic storage disorder sialidosis. Genes Dev. 1996 Dec 15;10(24):3156-69.

Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal neuraminidase. Catalytic activation in insect cells is controlled by the protective protein/cathepsin A. J Biol Chem. 2000 Dec 1;275(48):37657-63.

Bonten EJ, Galjart NJ, Willemsen R, Usmany M, Vlak JM, d'Azzo A. Lysosomal protective protein/cathepsin A. Role of the "linker" domain in catalytic activation. J Biol Chem. 1995 Nov 3;270(44):26441-5.

Boren J, Veniant MM, Young SG. Apo B100-containing lipoproteins are secreted by the heart. J Clin Invest. 1998 Mar 15;101(6):1197-202.

Bourassa PA, Milos PM, Gaynor BJ, Breslow JL, Aiello RJ. Estrogen reduces atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Sep 17;93(19):10022-7.

Branen L, Hovgaard L, Nitulescu M, Bengtsson E, Nilsson J, Jovinge S. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Nov;24(11):2137-42.

Braun A, Trigatti BL, Post MJ, Sato K, Simons M, Edelberg JM, Rosenberg RD, Schrenzel M, Krieger M. Loss of SR-BI expression leads to the early onset of occlusive atherosclerotic coronary artery disease, spontaneous myocardial infarctions, severe cardiac dysfunction, and premature death in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circ Res. 2002 Feb 22;90(3):270-6.

Braunwald E. Shattuck lecture--cardiovascular medicine at the turn of the millennium: triumphs, concerns, and opportunities. N Engl J Med. 1997 Nov 6;337(19):1360-9.

Brecher P, Chobanian AV, Small DM, Van Sickle W, Tercyak A, Lazzari A, Baler J. Relationship of an abnormal plasma lipoprotein to protection from atherosclerosis in the cholesterol-fed diabetic rabbit. J Clin Invest. 1983 Nov;72(5):1553-62.

Breslow JL. Apolipoprotein genetic variation and human disease. Physiol Rev. 1988 Jan;68(1):85-132.

Briggs MR, Yokoyama C, Wang X, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Nuclear protein that binds sterol regulatory element of low density lipoprotein receptor promoter. I. Identification of the protein and delineation of its target nucleotide sequence. J Biol Chem. 1993 Jul 5;268(19):14490-6.

Brown MS and Goldstein JL. The SREBP pathway: Regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell. 1997 89: 331-340.

Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Biochem. 1983;52:223-61.

Buhman KK, Accad M, Novak S, Choi RS, Wong JS, Hamilton RL, Turley S, Farese RV Jr. Resistance to diet-induced hypercholesterolemia and gallstone formation in ACAT2-deficient mice. Nat Med. 2000 Dec;6(12):1341-7.

Burnett JR, Barrett PH. Apolipoprotein B metabolism: tracer kinetics, models, and metabolic studies. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2002;39(2):89-137.

Caligiuri G, Nicoletti A, Zhou X, Tornberg I, Hansson GK. Effects of sex and age on atherosclerosis and autoimmunity in apoE-deficient mice. Atherosclerosis. 1999 Aug;145(2):301-8.

Camejo G, López A, López F, Quiñones J. Interaction of low density lipoproteins with arterial proteoglycans. The role of charge and sialic acid content. Atherosclerosis. 1985 Apr;55(1):93-105.

Carrillo MB, Milner CM, Ball ST, Snoek M, Campbell RD. Cloning and characterization of a sialidase from the murine histocompatibility-2 complex: low levels of mRNA and a single amino acid mutation are responsible for reduced sialidase activity in mice carrying the Neu1a allele. Glycobiology. 1997 Oct;7(7):975-86.

Carter CP, Howles PN, Hui DY. Genetic variation in cholesterol absorption efficiency among inbred strains of mice. J Nutr. 1997 Jul;127(7):1344-8.

Cases S, Novak S, Zheng YW, Myers HM, Lear SR, Sande E, Welch CB, Lusis AJ, Spencer TA, Krause BR, Erickson SK, Farese RV Jr. ACAT-2, a second mammalian acyl-CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase. Its cloning, expression, and characterization. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26755-64.

Champigny MJ, Johnson M, Igdoura SA. Characterization of the mouse lysosomal sialidase promoter. Gene. 2003 Nov 13;319:177-87.

Champigny MJ, Mitchell M, Fox-Robichaud A, Trigatti BL, Igdoura SA. A point mutation in the neu1 promoter recruits an ectopic repressor, Nkx3.2 and results in a mouse model of sialidase deficiency. Mol Genet Metab. 2009 May;97(1):43-52.

Champigny MJ, Perry R, Rudnicki M, Igdoura SA. Overexpression of MyoDinducible lysosomal sialidase (neu1) inhibits myogenesis in C2C12 cells. Exp Cell Res. 2005 Nov 15;311(1):157-66.

Chan DC, Barrett PH, Watts GF. Lipoprotein transport in the metabolic syndrome: methodological aspects of stable isotope kinetic studies. Clin Sci (Lond). 2004 Sep;107(3):221-32.

Chang BH, Liao W, Li L, Nakamuta M, Mack D, Chan L. Liver-specific inactivation of the abetalipoproteinemia gene completely abrogates very low density lipoprotein/low density lipoprotein production in a viable conditional knockout mouse. J Biol Chem. 1999 Mar 5;274(10):6051-5.

Chappell DA, Medh JD. Receptor mediated mechanisms of lipoprotein remnant catabolism. Prog Lipid Res. 1998 Dec;37(6):393-422.

Chen Q, Reis SE, Kammerer CM, McNamara DM, Holubkov R, Sharaf BL, Sopko G, Pauly DF, Bairey Merz CN, Kamboh MI. APOE polymorphism and angiographic coronary artery disease severity in the Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) study. Atherosclerosis. 2003 Jul;169(1):159-67.

Chen XP, Ding X, Daynes RA. Ganglioside control over IL-4 priming and cytokine production in activated T cells. Cytokine. 2000 Jul;12(7):972-85.

Chen XP, Enioutina EY, Daynes RA. The control of IL-4 gene expression in activated murine T lymphocytes: a novel role for neu-1 sialidase. J Immunol. 1997 Apr 1;158(7):3070-80.

Cheverud JM, Pletscher LS, Vaughn TT, Marshall B. Differential response to dietary fat in large (LG/J) and small (SM/J) inbred mouse strains. Physiol Genomics. 1999 Jul 15;1(1):33-9.

Clark EA, Engel D, Windsor NT. Immune responsiveness of SM/J mice: hyper NK cell activity mediated by NK 1+ Qa 5- cells. J Immunol. 1981 Dec;127(6):2391-5.

Clavey V, Lestavel-Delattre S, Copin C, Bard JM, Fruchart JC. Modulation of lipoprotein B binding to the LDL receptor by exogenous lipids and apolipoproteins CI, CII, CIII, and E. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995 Jul;15(7):963-71.

Cohn JS, Patterson BW, Uffelman KD, Davignon J, Steiner G. Rate of production of plasma and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) apolipoprotein C-III is strongly related to the concentration and level of production of VLDL triglyceride in male subjects with different body weights and levels of insulin sensitivity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Aug;89(8):3949-55.

Cobelli C, Foster DM. Compartmental models: theory and practice using the SAAM II software system. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1998;445:79-101.

Cohen JC, Boerwinkle E, Mosley TH Jr, Hobbs HH. Sequence variations in PCSK9, low LDL, and protection against coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2006 Mar 23;354(12):1264-72.

Cohen JC, Kimmel M, Polanski A, Hobbs HH. Molecular mechanisms of autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2003 Apr;14(2):121-7.

Cohen J, Pertsemlidis A, Kotowski IK, Graham R, Garcia CK, Hobbs HH. Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet. 2005 Feb;37(2):161-5.

Collard JG, Schijven JF, Bikker A, La Riviere G, Bolscher JG, Roos E. Cell surface sialic acid and the invasive and metastatic potential of T-cell hybridomas. Cancer Res. 1986 Jul;46(7):3521-7.

Colman PM, Tulip WR, Varghese JN, Tulloch PA, Baker AT, Laver WG, Air GM, Webster RG. Three-dimensional structures of influenza virus neuraminidase-antibody complexes. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1989 Jun 12;323(1217):511-8.

Comelli EM, Amado M, Lustig SR, Paulson JC. Identification and expression of Neu4, a novel murine sialidase. Gene. 2003 Dec 4;321:155-61.

Constant SL, Bottomly K. Induction of Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses: the alternative approaches. Annu Rev Immunol. 1997;15:297-322.

Corfield T. Bacterial sialidases--roles in pathogenicity and nutrition. Glycobiology. 1992 Dec;2(6):509-21.

Covey SD, Krieger M, Wang W, Penman M, Trigatti BL. Scavenger receptor class B type I-mediated protection against atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-negative mice involves its expression in bone marrow-derived cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003 Sep 1;23(9):1589-94.

Cross AS, Sakarya S, Rifat S, Held TK, Drysdale BE, Grange PA, Cassels FJ, Wang LX, Stamatos N, Farese A, Casey D, Powell J, Bhattacharjee AK, Kleinberg M, Goldblum SE. Recruitment of murine neutrophils in vivo through endogenous sialidase activity. J Biol Chem. 2003 Feb 7;278(6):4112-20.

Cross AS, Wright DG. Mobilization of sialidase from intracellular stores to the surface of human neutrophils and its role in stimulated adhesion responses of these cells. J Clin Invest. 1991 Dec;88(6):2067-76.

Cuff CA, Kothapalli D, Azonobi I, Chun S, Zhang Y, Belkin R, Yeh C, Secreto A, Assoian RK, Rader DJ, Pure E. The adhesion receptor CD44 promotes atherosclerosis by mediating inflammatory cell recruitment and vascular cell activation. J Clin Invest. 2001 Oct;108(7):1031-40.

Cummings RD, Kornfeld S, Schneider WJ, Hobgood KK, Tolleshaug H, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Biosynthesis of N- and O-linked oligosaccharides of the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem. 1983 Dec 25;258(24):15261-73.

Cybulsky MI, Iiyama K, Li H, Zhu S, Chen M, Iiyama M, Davis V, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Connelly PW, Milstone DS. A major role for VCAM-1, but not ICAM-1, in early atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2001 May;107(10):1255-62.

D'Azzo A, Andria G, Strisciuglio P, Galjaard H. Galactosialidosis. 8th ed. Scriver CR Beaudet AL Sly WS Valle D Childs B Kinzler KW Vogelstein B eds. The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease 2001;III:3811-3826.

D'Azzo A, Hoogeveen A, Reuser AJ, Robinson D, Galjaard H. Molecular defect in combined beta-galactosidase and neuraminidase deficiency in man. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1982 Aug;79(15):4535-9.

Dabagh M, Jalali P, Tarbell JM. The transport of LDL across the deformable arterial wall: the effect of endothelial cell turnover and intimal deformation under hypertension. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009 Sep;297(3):H983-96.

Dansky HM, Charlton SA, Harper MM, Smith JD. T and B lymphocytes play a minor role in atherosclerotic plaque formation in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Apr 29;94(9):4642-6.

Daugherty A, Pure E, Delfel-Butteiger D, Chen S, Leferovich J, Roselaar SE, Rader DJ. The effects of total lymphocyte deficiency on the extent of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. J Clin Invest. 1997 Sep 15;100(6):1575-80.

Daugherty A, Webb NR, Rateri DL, King VL. Thematic review series: The immune system and atherogenesis. Cytokine regulation of macrophage functions in atherogenesis. J Lipid Res. 2005 Sep;46(9):1812-22.

Davenport P, Tipping PG. The role of interleukin-4 and interleukin-12 in the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am J Pathol. 2003 Sep;163(3):1117-25.

Davis CG, Elhammer A, Russell DW, Schneider WJ, Kornfeld S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Deletion of clustered O-linked carbohydrates does not impair function of low density lipoprotein receptor in transfected fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1986 February 25;261(6):2828-38.

Davis RA. Cell and molecular biology of the assembly and secretion of apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins by the liver. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Aug 25;1440(1):1-31.

de Geest N, Bonten E, Mann L, de Sousa-Hitzler J, Hahn C, d'Azzo A. Systemic and neurologic abnormalities distinguish the lysosomal disorders sialidosis and galactosialidosis in mice. Hum Mol Genet. 2002 Jun 1;11(12):1455-64.

de Silva HV, Mas-Oliva J, Taylor JM, Mahley RW. Identification of apolipoprotein B-100 low density lipoproteins, apolipoprotein B-48 remnants, and apolipoprotein E-rich high density lipoproteins in the mouse. J Lipid Res. 1994 Jul;35(7):1297-310.

DeGrendele HC, Estess P, Picker LJ, Siegelman MH. CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: a novel lymphocyte-endothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. J Exp Med. 1996;183:1119–1130.

Demant T, Packard CJ, Demmelmair H, Stewart P, Bedynek A, Bedford D, Seidel D, Shepherd J. Sensitive methods to study human apolipoprotein B metabolism using stable isotope-labeled amino acids. Am J Physiol. 1996 Jun;270(6 Pt 1):E1022-36.

Dichek HL, Agrawal N, El Andaloussi N, Qian K. Attenuated corticosterone response to chronic ACTH stimulation in hepatic lipase-deficient mice: evidence for a role for hepatic lipase in adrenal physiology. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006 May;290(5):E908-15.

Dong ZM, Brown AA, Wagner DD. Prominent role of P-selectin in the development of advanced atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Circulation. 2000 May 16;101(19):2290-5.

Dove DE, Su YR, Swift LL, Linton MF, Fazio S. ACAT1 deficiency increases cholesterol synthesis in mouse peritoneal macrophages. Atherosclerosis. 2006 Jun;186(2):267-74.

Drew AF, Tipping PG. Cyclosporine treatment reduces early atherosclerosis in the cholesterol-fed rabbit. Atherosclerosis. 1995 Aug;116(2):181-9.

Duncan EA, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Sakai J. Cleavage site for sterol-regulated protease localized to a leu-Ser bond in the lumenal loop of sterol regulatory elementbinding protein-2. J Biol Chem. 1997 May 9;272(19):12778-85.

Duncan EA, Davé UP, Sakai J, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Second-site cleavage in sterol regulatory element-binding protein occurs at transmembrane junction as determined by cysteine panning. J Biol Chem. 1998 Jul 10;273(28):17801-9.

Dwek RA, Edge CJ, Harvey DJ, Wormald MR, Parekh RB. Analysis of glycoproteinassociated oligosaccharides. Annu Rev Biochem. 1993;62:65-100.

Eck MV, Oost J, Goudriaan JR, Hoekstra M, Hildebrand RB, Bos IS, van Dijk KW, Van Berkel TJ. Role of the macrophage very-low-density lipoprotein receptor in atherosclerotic lesion development. Atherosclerosis. 2005 Dec;183(2):230-7.

Elhage R, Arnal JF, Pieraggi MT, Duverger N, Fievet C, Faye JC, Bayard F. 17 betaestradiol prevents fatty streak formation in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Nov;17(11):2679-84. Emeson EE, Robertson AL Jr. T lymphocytes in aortic and coronary intimas. Their potential role in atherogenesis. Am J Pathol. 1988 Feb;130(2):369-76.

Emeson EE, Shen ML. Accelerated atherosclerosis in hyperlipidemic C57BL/6 mice treated with cyclosporin A. Am J Pathol. 1993 Jun;142(6):1906-15.

Endemann G, Pronzcuk A, Friedman G, Lindsey S, Alderson L, Hayes KC. Monocyte adherence to endothelial cells in vitro is increased by beta-VLDL. Am J Pathol. 1987 Jan;126(1):1-6.

Engel D, Clark EA, Held L, Kimball H, Clagett J. Immune responsiveness of SM/J mice. Cellular characteristics and genetic analysis of hyperresponsiveness to B cell mitogens. J Exp Med. 1981 Sep 1;154(3):726-36.

Espenshade PJ, Cheng D, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Autocatalytic processing of site-1 protease removes propeptide and permits cleavage of sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins. J Biol Chem. 1999 Aug 6;274(32):22795-804.

Espenshade PJ, Li WP, Yabe D. Sterols block binding of COPII proteins to SCAP, thereby controlling SCAP sorting in ER. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Sep 3;99(18):11694-9.

Fayad ZA, Fallon JT, Shinnar M, Wehrli S, Dansky HM, Poon M, Badimon JJ, Charlton SA,

Febbraio M, Podrez EA, Smith JD, Hajjar DP, Hazen SL, Hoff HF, Sharma K, Silverstein RL. Targeted disruption of the class B scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice. J Clin Invest. 2000 Apr;105(8):1049-56.

Feng L, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Ahmad R, Ahmad A, Stamatos NM, Pshezhetsky AV. Monocyte differentiation upregulates the expression of the lysosomal sialidase, neu1 and triggers its targeting to the plasma membrane via MHC class II-positive compartments. J Biol Chem. 2006 Jul 10

Ferrari J, Harris R, Warner TG. Cloning and expression of a soluble sialidase from Chinese hamster ovary cells: sequence alignment similarities to bacterial sialidases. Glycobiology. 1994 Jun;4(3):367-73

Filipovic I, Schwarzmann G, Mraz W, Wiegandt H, Buddecke E. Sialic-acid content of low-density lipoproteins controls their binding and uptake by cultured cells. Eur J Biochem. 1979 Jan 2;93(1):51-5.

Filipovic I. Effect of inhibiting N-glycosylation on the stability and binding activity of the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem 1989 May 25;264(15):8815-20.

Fishbein MC. The vulnerable and unstable atherosclerotic plaque. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2010 Jan-Feb;19(1):6-11.

Fisher EA, Breslow JL, Fuster V. Noninvasive In vivo high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging of atherosclerotic lesions in genetically engineered mice. Circulation. 1998 Oct 13;98(15):1541-7.

Fojo SS, Taam L, Fairwell T, Ronan R, Bishop C, Meng MS, Hoeg JM, Sprecher DL, Brewer HB Jr. Human preproapolipoprotein C-II. Analysis of major plasma isoforms. J Biol Chem. 1986 Jul 25;261(21):9591-4.

Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. 1957 May;226(1):497-509.

Fukuda M, Bao X. Seeing cellular sialidase transform sugars. Nat Chem Biol. 2008 Dec;4(12):721-2.

Fyfe AI, Qiao JH, Lusis AJ. Immune-deficient mice develop typical atherosclerotic fatty streaks when fed an atherogenic diet. J Clin Invest. 1994 Dec;94(6):2516-20.

Gabelli C, Gregg RE, Zech LA, Manzato E, Brewer HB Jr. Abnormal low density lipoprotein metabolism in apolipoprotein E deficiency. J Lipid Res. 1986 Mar;27(3):326-33.

Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 expression in human myeloid cell differentiation is regulated by sialidase activity. Nat Chem Biol. 2008 Dec;4(12):751-7.

Galjart NJ, Gillemans N, Harris A, van der Horst GT, Verheijen FW, Galjaard H, d'Azzo A. Expression of cDNA encoding the human "protective protein" associated with lysosomal beta-galactosidase and neuraminidase: homology to yeast proteases. Cell. 1988 Sep 9;54(6):755-64.

Galjart NJ, Morreau H, Willemsen R, Gillemans N, Bonten EJ, d'Azzo A. Human lysosomal protective protein has cathepsin A-like activity distinct from its protective function. J Biol Chem. 1991 Aug 5;266(22):14754-62.

Garcia CK, Wilund K, Arca M, Zuliani G, Fellin R, Maioli M, Calandra S, Bertolini S, Cossu F, Grishin N, Barnes R, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia caused by mutations in a putative LDL receptor adaptor protein. Science. 2001 May 18;292(5520):1394-8.

Gee K, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces functionally active hyaluronan-adhesive CD44 by activating sialidase through p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytic cells. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):37275-87.

Gee K, Lim W, Ma W, Nandan D, Diaz-Mitoma F, Kozlowski M, Kumar A. Differential regulation of CD44 expression by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and TNF-
alpha in human monocytic cells: distinct involvement of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in LPS-induced CD44 expression. J Immunol. 2002 Nov 15;169(10):5660-72.

Gent J, Braakman I. Low-density lipoprotein receptor structure and folding. Cell Mol Life Sci 2004 October;61(19-20):2461-70.

Ghiselli G, Beigel Y, Soma M, Gotto AM Jr. Plasma catabolism of human apolipoprotein E isoproteins: lack of conversion of the doubly sialylated form to the asialo form in plasma. Metabolism. 1986 May;35(5):399-403.

Ghosh P, Chirtel SJ, Lakshman MR. Effect of chronic ethanol on apolipoprotein (Apo) E synthesis and glycosylation in rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1991 Aug;15(4):725-9.

Ghosh P, Hale EA, Lakshman R. Long-term ethanol exposure alters the sialylation index of plasma apolipoprotein J (Apo J) in rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1999 Apr;23(4):720-5.

Gibbons GF. Assembly and secretion of hepatic very-low-density lipoprotein. Biochem J. 1990 May 15;268(1):1-13.

Gil G, Faust JR, Chin DJ, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Membrane-bound domain of HMG CoA reductase is required for sterol-enhanced degradation of the enzyme. Cell. 1985 May;41(1):249-58.

Glass CK, Witztum JL. Atherosclerosis. the road ahead. Cell. 2001 Feb 23;104(4):503-16.

Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Anderson RG, Russell DW, Schneider WJ. Receptormediated endocytosis: concepts emerging from the LDL receptor system. Annu Rev Cell Biol. 1985;1:1-39.

Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Lipoprotein receptors, cholesterol metabolism, and atherosclerosis. Arch Pathol. 1975 Apr;99(4):181-4.

Goldstein JL, DeBose-Boyd RA, Brown MS. Protein sensors for membrane sterols. Cell. 2006 Jan 13;124(1):35-46.

GOFMAN JW, RUBIN L, McGINLEY JP, JONES HB. Hyperlipoproteinemia. Am J Med. 1954 Oct;17(4):514-20.

Gordon DA, Jamil H, Gregg RE, Olofsson SO, Boren J. Inhibition of the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein blocks the first step of apolipoprotein B lipoprotein assembly but not the addition of bulk core lipids in the second step. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 20;271(51):33047-53.

Gordon DA, Wetterau JR, Gregg RE. Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein: a protein complex required for the assembly of lipoprotein particles. Trends Cell Biol. 1995 Aug;5(8):317-21.

Gossen M, Bujard H. Studying gene function in eukaryotes by conditional gene inactivation. Annu Rev Genet. 2002;36:153-73.

Gossen M, Freundlieb S, Bender G, Müller G, Hillen W, Bujard H. Transcriptional activation by tetracyclines in mammalian cells. Science. 1995 Jun 23;268(5218):1766-9.

Graham FL, Smiley J, Russell WC, Nairn R. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. J Gen Virol. 1977 Jul;36(1):59-74.

Gregg RE, Wetterau JR. The molecular basis of abetalipoproteinemia. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1994 Apr;5(2):81-6.

Gross HJ, Brossmer R. Characterization of human plasma sialytransferase using a novel fluorometric assay. Clin Chim Acta. 1991 Mar 29;197(3):237-47.

Gu X, Trigatti B, Xu S, Acton S, Babitt J, Krieger M. The efficient cellular uptake of high density lipoprotein lipids via scavenger receptor class B type I requires not only receptor-mediated surface binding but also receptor-specific lipid transfer mediated by its extracellular domain. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26338-48. Erratum in: J Biol Chem 1998 Dec 25;273(52):35388.

Gubareva LV, Kaiser L, Hayden FG. Influenza virus neuraminidase inhibitors. Lancet. 2000 Mar 4;355(9206):827-35.

Guertl B, Noehammer C, Hoefler G. Metabolic cardiomyopathies. Int J Exp Pathol. 2000 Dec;81(6):349-72.

Hanson VA, Shettigar UR, Loungani RR, Nadijcka MD. Plasma sialidase activity in acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J. 1987 Jul;114(1 Pt 1):59-63.

Hansson GK, Holm J, Jonasson L. Detection of activated T lymphocytes in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Am J Pathol. 1989 Jul;135(1):169-75.

Hansson GK, Jonasson L, Lojsthed B, Stemme S, Kocher O, Gabbiani G. Localization of T lymphocytes and macrophages in fibrous and complicated human atherosclerotic plaques. Atherosclerosis. 1988 Aug;72(2-3):135-41.

Hansson GK. Cell-mediated immunity in atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1997 Oct;8(5):301-11.

Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med. 2005 Apr 21;352(16):1685-95.

Harmon KJ, Couper LL, Lindner V. Strain-dependent vascular remodeling phenotypes in inbred mice. Am J Pathol. 2000 May;156(5):1741-8.

Hatton MW, Regoeczi E, Kaur H. Bovine transferrin glycopeptide: the relevance of its structure to interaction with the mammalian hepatic lectin that binds asialoglycoproteins. Can J Biochem. 1978 May;56(5):339-44.

Hearing P, Samulski RJ, Wishart WL, Shenk T. Identification of a repeated sequence element required for efficient encapsidation of the adenovirus type 5 chromosome. J Virol. 1987 Aug;61(8):2555-8.

Hegele RA. Gene-environment interactions in atherosclerosis. Mol Cell Biochem. 1992 Aug 18;113(2):177-86.

Hegele RA. Plasma lipoproteins: genetic influences and clinical implications. Nat Rev Genet. 2009 Feb;10(2):109-21.

Hehlgans T, Pfeffer K. The intriguing biology of the tumour necrosis factor/tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily: players, rules and the games. Immunology. 2005 May;115(1):1-20.

Hennighausen L, Wall RJ, Tillmann U, Li M, Furth PA. Conditional gene expression in secretory tissues and skin of transgenic mice using the MMTV-LTR and the tetracycline responsive system. J Cell Biochem. 1995 Dec;59(4):463-72.

Herijgers N, Van Eck M, Groot PH, Hoogerbrugge PM, Van Berkel TJ. Effect of bone marrow transplantation on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-knockout mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Oct;17(10):1995-2003.

Herijgers N, Van Eck M, Groot PH, Hoogerbrugge PM, Van Berkel TJ._Low density lipoprotein receptor of macrophages facilitates atherosclerotic lesion formation in C57Bl/6 mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Aug;20(8):1961-7.

Hille-Rehfeld A. Mannose 6-phosphate receptors in sorting and transport of lysosomal enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1995 Jul 17;1241(2):177-94.

Hitt MM, Addison CL, Graham FL. Human adenovirus vectors for gene transfer into mammalian cells. Adv Pharmacol. 1997;40:137-206.

Hitt MM, Graham FL. Adenovirus vectors for human gene therapy. Adv Virus Res. 2000;55:479-505.

Hodge-Dufour J, et al. Induction of IL-12 and chemokines by hyaluronan requires adhesion dependent priming of resident but not elicited macrophages. J Immunol. 1997;159:2492–2500.

Hodgin JB, Maeda N. Minireview: estrogen and mouse models of atherosclerosis. Endocrinology. 2002 Dec;143(12):4495-501.

Hof L, Loegering DJ. Increase of plasma neuraminidase activity in experimental peritonitis. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1982 Apr;169(4):501-5.

Holm TM, Braun A, Trigatti BL, Brugnara C, Sakamoto M, Krieger M, Andrews NC. Failure of red blood cell maturation in mice with defects in the high-density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI. Blood. 2002 Mar 1;99(5):1817-24.

Horton JD, Goldstein JL, Brown MS.SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. J Clin Invest. 2002 May;109(9):1125-31.

Horton JD, Shimomura I, Brown MS, Hammer RE, Goldstein JL, Shimano H. Activation of cholesterol synthesis in preference to fatty acid synthesis in liver and adipose tissue of transgenic mice overproducing sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2. J Clin Invest. 1998 Jun 1;101(11):2331-9.

Horton JD, Shimano H, Hamilton RL, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Disruption of LDL receptor gene in transgenic SREBP-1a mice unmasks hyperlipidemia resulting from production of lipid-rich VLDL. J Clin Invest. 1999 Apr;103(7):1067-76.

Hua X, Nohturfft A, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Sterol resistance in CHO cells traced to point mutation in SREBP cleavage-activating protein. Cell. 1996 Nov 1;87(3):415-26.

Hua X, Yokoyama C, Wu J, Briggs MR, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Wang X. SREBP-2, a second basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that stimulates transcription by binding to a sterol regulatory element. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Dec 15;90(24):11603-7.

Hunt ME, Brown DR. Role of sialidase in Mycoplasma alligatoris-induced pulmonary fibroblast apoptosis. Vet Microbiol. 2007 Mar 31;121(1-2):73-82.

Huszar D, Varban ML, Rinninger F, Feeley R, Arai T, Fairchild-Huntress V, Donovan MJ, Tall AR. Increased LDL cholesterol and atherosclerosis in LDL receptor-deficient mice with attenuated expression of scavenger receptor B1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Apr;20(4):1068-73.

Igdoura SA, Gafuik C, Mertineit C, Saberi F, Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M, Trasler JM, Gravel RA. Cloning of the cDNA and gene encoding mouse lysosomal sialidase and correction of sialidase deficiency in human sialidosis and mouse SM/J fibroblasts. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Jan;7(1):115-21.

Illingworth DR, Connor WE, Lin DS, Diliberti J. Lipid metabolism in abetalipoproteinemia: a study of cholesterol absorption and sterol balance in two patients. Gastroenterology. 1980 Jan;78(1):68-75.

Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Enhanced binding by cultured human fibroblasts of apo-E-containing lipoproteins as compared with low density lipoproteins. Biochemistry. 1978 Apr 18;17(8):1440-7.

Ishibashi S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Gerard RD, Hammer RE, Herz J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. J Clin Invest. 1993 Aug;92(2):883-93.

Ishibashi S, Herz J, Maeda N, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. The two-receptor model of lipoprotein clearance: tests of the hypothesis in "knockout" mice lacking the low density lipoprotein receptor, apolipoprotein E, or both proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 May 10;91(10):4431-5.

Ishida BY, Blanche PJ, Nichols AV, Yashar M, Paigen B. Effects of atherogenic diet consumption on lipoproteins in mouse strains C57BL/6 and C3H. J Lipid Res. 1991 Apr;32(4):559-68.

Ishikawa T, Fidge N. Changes in the concentration of plasma lipoproteins and apoproteins following the administration of Triton WR 1339 to rats. J. Lipid Res. 1979;20: 254-264.

Ishimori N, Iwabuchi K, Fujii S, Watano K, Iwabuchi C, Ato M, Chiba H, Tanaka S, Kitabatake A, Onoe K. Mixed allogeneic chimerism with wild-type strains ameliorates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2001 May;69(5):732-40.

Ito Y, Breslow JL, Chait BT. Apolipoprotein C-IIIO lacks carbohydrate residues: use of mass spectrometry to study apolipoprotein structure. J Lipid Res. 1989 Nov;30(11):1781-7.

Itoh K, Oyanagi K, Takahashi H, Sato T, Hashizume Y, Shimmoto M, Sakuraba H. Endothelin-1 in the brain of patients with galactosialidosis: its abnormal increase and distribution pattern. Ann Neurol. 2000 Jan;47(1):122-6.

Jacob CO, Tashman NB. Disruption in the AU motif of the mouse TNF-alpha 3' UTR correlates with reduced TNF production by macrophages in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res. 1993 Jun 11;21(11):2761-6.

Jamieson BD, Zack JA. Murine models for HIV disease. AIDS. 1999;13 Suppl A:S11. Jiao S, Cole TG, Kitchens RT, Pfleger B, Schonfeld G. Genetic heterogeneity of lipoproteins in inbred strains of mice: analysis by gel-permeation chromatography. Metabolism. 1990 Feb;39(2):155-60.

Janowski BA. The hypocholesterolemic agent LY295427 up-regulates INSIG-1, identifying the INSIG-1 protein as a mediator of cholesterol homeostasis through SREBP. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Oct 1;99(20):12675-80.

Jonasson L, Holm J, Skalli O, Bondjers G, Hansson GK. Regional accumulations of T cells, macrophages, and smooth muscle cells in the human atherosclerotic plaque. Arteriosclerosis. 1986 Mar-Apr;6(2):131-8.

Joseph SB, McKilligin E, Pei L, Watson MA, Collins AR, Laffitte BA, Chen M, Noh G, Goodman J, Hagger GN, Tran J, Tippin TK, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Hsueh WA, Law RE, Collins JL, Willson TM, Tontonoz P. Synthetic LXR ligand inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 May 28;99(11):7604-9.

Joyce CW, Amar MJ, Lambert G, Vaisman BL, Paigen B, Najib-Fruchart J, Hoyt RF Jr, Neufeld ED, Remaley AT, Fredrickson DS, Brewer HB Jr, Santamarina-Fojo S. The ATP binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) modulates the development of aortic atherosclerosis in C57BL/6 and apoE-knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Jan 8;99(1):407-12.

Kang S, Davis RA. Cholesterol and hepatic lipoprotein assembly and secretion. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000 Dec 15;1529(1-3):223-30.

Karpe F, Hamsten A, Uffelman K, Steiner G. Apolipoprotein B-48. Methods Enzymol. 1996;263:95-104.

Kashyap ML. Cholesterol and atherosclerosis: a contemporary perspective. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 1997 Jul;26(4):517-23.

Kashyap VS, Santamarina-Fojo S, Brown DR, Parrott CL, Applebaum-Bowden D, Meyn S, Talley G, Paigen B, Maeda N, Brewer HB Jr. Apolipoprotein E deficiency in mice: gene replacement and prevention of atherosclerosis using adenovirus vectors. J Clin Invest. 1995 Sep;96(3):1612-20.

Katoh S, Maeda S, Fukuoka H, Wada T, Moriya S, Mori A, Yamaguchi K, Senda S, Miyagi T. A crucial role of sialidase Neu1 in hyaluronan receptor function of CD44 in T helper type 2-mediated airway inflammation of murine acute asthmatic model. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010 Aug;161(2):233-41.

Katoh S, Miyagi T, Taniguchi H, Matsubara Y, Kadota J, Tominaga A, Kincade PW, Matsukura S, Kohno S. Cutting edge: an inducible sialidase regulates the hyaluronic acid binding ability of CD44-bearing human monocytes. J Immunol. 1999 May 1;162(9):5058-61.

Katsuda S, Boyd HC, Fligner C, Ross R, Gown AM. Human atherosclerosis. III. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cell composition of lesions of young adults. Am J Pathol. 1992 Apr;140(4):907-14.

Keidar S, Kaplan M, Rosenblat M, Brook GJ, Aviram M. Apolipoprotein E and lipoprotein lipase reduce macrophage degradation of oxidized very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), but increase cellular degradation of native VLDL. Metabolism. 1992 Nov;41(11):1185-92.

Kemp CJ, Drinkwater NR. Genetic variation in liver tumor susceptibility, plasma testosterone levels, and androgen receptor binding in six inbred strains of mice. Cancer Res. 1989 Sep 15;49(18):5044-7.

Kennedy MA, Barrera GC, Nakamura K, Baldán A, Tarr P, Fishbein MC, Frank J, Francone OL, Edwards PA. ABCG1 has a critical role in mediating cholesterol efflux to HDL and preventing cellular lipid accumulation. Cell Metab. 2005 Feb;1(2):121-31.

Khan AI, Kerfoot SM, Heit B, Liu L, Andonegui G, Ruffell B, Johnson P, Kubes P. Role of CD44 and hyaluronan in neutrophil recruitment. J Immunol. 2004 Dec 15;173(12):7594-601.

Kim CU, Lew W, Williams MA, Liu H, Zhang L, Swaminathan S, Bischofberger N, Chen MS, Mendel DB, Tai CY, Laver WG, Stevens RC. Influenza neuraminidase inhibitors possessing a novel hydrophobic interaction in the enzyme active site: design, synthesis, and structural analysis of carbocyclic sialic acid analogues with potent anti-influenza activity. J Am Chem Soc. 1997 Jan 29;119(4):681-90.

Kim DW, Lassar AB. Smad-dependent recruitment of a histone deacetylase/Sin3A complex modulates the bone morphogenetic protein-dependent transcriptional repressor activity of Nkx3.2. Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Dec;23(23):8704-17.

Kingsley DM, Kozarsky KF, Hobbie L, Krieger M. Reversible defects in O-linked glycosylation and LDL receptor expression in a UDP-Gal/UDP-GalNAc 4-epimerase deficient mutant. Cell 1986 March 14;44(5):749-59.

Kirby RJ, Howles PN, Hui DY. Rate of gastric emptying influences dietary cholesterol absorption efficiency in selected inbred strains of mice. J Lipid Res. 2004 Jan;45(1):89-98.

Kornfeld S, Sly WS. Lysosomal storage defects. Hosp Pract (Off Ed). 1985 Aug 15;20(8):71-5, 78-82.

Korstanje, R., Eriksson, P., Samnegard, A., Olsson, P.G., Forsman-Semb, K., Sen, S., Churchill, G.A., Rollins, J., Harris, S., Hamsten, A., Paigen, B. 2004. Locating Ath8, a locus for murine atherosclerosis susceptibility and testing several of its candidate genes in mice and humans. Atherosclerosis 177, 443-450.

Kobayashi K, Oka K, Forte T, Ishida B, Teng B, Ishimura-Oka K, Nakamuta M, Chan L. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the very low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem. 1996 Mar 22;271(12):6852-60.

Kozarsky KF, Jooss K, Donahee M, Strauss JF 3rd, Wilson JM. Effective treatment of familial hypercholesterolaemia in the mouse model using adenovirus-mediated transfer of the VLDL receptor gene. Nat Genet. 1996 May;13(1):54-62.

Kozarsky K, Kingsley D, Krieger M. Use of a mutant cell line to study the kinetics and function of O-linked glycosylation of low density lipoprotein receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1988 June;85(12):4335-9.

Kraal G, Rep M, Janse M. Macrophages in T and B cell compartments and other tissue macrophages recognized by monoclonal antibody MOMA-2. An immunohistochemical study. Scand J Immunol. 1987 Dec;26(6):653-61.

Kranias EG. Commentary on the special topic section on the use of transgenic models. Annu Rev Physiol. 2000;62:965-9.

Kratzer A, Buchebner M, Pfeifer T, Becker TM, Uray G, Miyazaki M, Miyazaki-Anzai S, Ebner B, Chandak PG, Kadam RS, Calayir E, Rathke N, Ahammer H, Radovic B, Trauner M, Hoefler G, Kompella UB, Fauler G, Levi M, Levak-Frank S, Kostner GM, Kratky D. Synthetic LXR agonist attenuates plaque formation in apoE-/-mice without inducing liver steatosis and hypertriglyceridemia. J Lipid Res. 2009 Feb;50(2):312-26.

Kristensen T, Moestrup SK, Gliemann J, Bendtsen L, Sand O, Sottrup-Jensen L. Evidence that the newly cloned low-density-lipoprotein receptor related protein (LRP) is the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor. FEBS Lett. 1990 Dec 10;276(1-2):151-5.

Kuipers F, Jong MC, Lin Y, Eck M, Havinga R, Bloks V, Verkade HJ, Hofker MH, Moshage H, Berkel TJ, Vonk RJ, Havekes LM. Impaired secretion of very low density lipoprotein-triglycerides by apolipoprotein E- deficient mouse hepatocytes. J Clin Invest. 1997 Dec 1;100(11):2915-22.

Kurosaka D, Teramoto T, Matsushima T, Yokoyama T, Yamada A, Aikawa T, Miyamoto Y, Kurokawa K. Apolipoprotein E deficiency with a depressed mRNA of normal size. Atherosclerosis. 1991 May;88(1):15-20.

Lambré CR, Greffard A, Gattegno L, Saffar L. Modifications of sialidase activity during the monocyte-macrophage differentiation in vitro. Immunol Lett. 1990 Jan;23(3):179-82.

Landolfi NF, Cook RG. Activated T-lymphocytes express class I molecules which are hyposialylated compared to other lymphocyte populations. Mol Immunol. 1986 Mar;23(3):297-309.

Landolfi NF, Leone J, Womack JE, Cook RG. Activation of T lymphocytes results in an increase in H-2-encoded neuraminidase. Immunogenetics. 1985;22(2):159-67. Lavrovsky Y, Song CS, Chatterjee B, Roy AK. A rapid and reliable PCR-based assay for gene transmission and sex determination in newborn transgenic mice. Transgenic Res. 1998 Jul;7(4):319-20.

Lee RG, Kelley KL, Sawyer JK, Farese RV Jr, Parks JS, Rudel LL. Plasma cholesteryl esters provided by lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase and acyl-coenzyme

a:cholesterol acyltransferase 2 have opposite atherosclerotic potential. Circ Res. 2004 Nov 12;95(10):998-1004.

Lefebvre JC, Giordanengo V, Doglio A, Cagnon L, Breittmayer JP, Peyron JF, Lesimple J. Altered sialylation of CD45 in HIV-1-infected T lymphocytes. Virology. 1994 Mar;199(2):265-74.

Levin N, Bischoff ED, Daige CL, Thomas D, Vu CT, Heyman RA, Tangirala RK, Schulman IG. Macrophage liver X receptor is required for antiatherogenic activity of LXR agonists. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005 Jan;25(1):135-42.

Levin Perlman S, Jordan M, Brossmer R, Greengard O, Moscona A. The use of a quantitative fusion assay to evaluate HN-receptor interaction for human parainfluenza virus type3. Virology. 1999 Dec 5;265(1):57-65.

Li X, Catalina F, Grundy SM, Patel S. Method to measure apolipoprotein B-48 and B-100 secretion rates in an individual mouse: evidence for a very rapid turnover of VLDL and preferential removal of B-48- relative to B-100-containing lipoproteins. J Lipid Res. 1996 Jan;37(1):210-20.

Liang F, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Ahmad R, Ahmad A, Stamatos NM, Pshezhetsky AV. Monocyte differentiation up-regulates the expression of the lysosomal sialidase, Neu1, and triggers its targeting to the plasma membrane via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive compartments. J Biol Chem. 2006 Sep 15;281(37):27526-38.

Libby P, Hansson GK. Involvement of the immune system in human atherogenesis: current knowledge and unanswered questions. Lab Invest. 1991 Jan;64(1):5-15.

Lichtman AH, Clinton SK, Iiyama K, Connelly PW, Libby P, Cybulsky MI. Hyperlipidemia and atherosclerotic lesion development in LDL receptor-deficient mice fed defined semipurified diets with and without cholate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999 Aug;19(8):1938-44.

Lillis AP, Van Duyn LB, Murphy-Ullrich JE, Strickland DK. LDL receptor-related protein 1: unique tissue-specific functions revealed by selective gene knockout studies. Physiol Rev. 2008 Jul;88(3):887-918.

Lin MC, Arbeeny C, Bergquist K, Kienzle B, Gordon DA, Wetterau JR. Cloning and regulation of hamster microsomal triglyceride transfer protein. The regulation is independent from that of other hepatic and intestinal proteins which participate in the transport of fatty acids and triglycerides. J Biol Chem. 1994 Nov 18; 269(46): 29138-45.

Lin MC, Gordon D, Wetterau JR. Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) regulation in HepG2 cells: insulin negatively regulates MTP gene expression. J Lipid Res. 1995 May:36(5):1073-81.

Linton MF, Babaev VR, Gleaves LA, Fazio S. A direct role for the macrophage low density lipoprotein receptor in atherosclerotic lesion formation. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jul 2;274(27):19204-10.

Liscum L, Finer-Moore J, Stroud RM, Luskey KL, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Domain structure of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase, a glycoprotein of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem. 1985 Jan 10;260(1):522-30.

Lo JC, Wang Y, Tumanov AV, Bamji M, Yao Z, Reardon CA, Getz GS, Fu YX. Lymphotoxin beta receptor-dependent control of lipid homeostasis. Science. 2007 Apr 13;316(5822):285-8.

Lowden JA, O'Brien JS Sialidosis: a review of human neuraminidase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet. 1979 Jan;31(1):1-18.

Luc G, Bard JM, Arveiler D, Evans A, Cambou JP, Bingham A, Amouyel P, Schaffer P, Ruidavets JB, Cambien F, et al. Impact of apolipoprotein E polymorphism on lipoproteins and risk of myocardial infarction. The ECTIM Study. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994 Sep;14(9):1412-9.

Lucas AD, Greaves DR. Atherosclerosis: role of chemokines and macrophages. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2001 Nov 5;3(25):1-18.

Lukong KE, Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Trudel S, Ahmad A, Gahl WA, Lefrancois S, Morales CR, Pshezhetsky AV. Intracellular distribution of lysosomal sialidase is controlled by the internalization signal in its cytoplasmic tail. J Biol Chem. 2001 Dec 7;276(49):46172-81.

Lyons MF and Searle AG. Genetic variants and strains of the laboratory mouse. Oxford University Press, New York. 1989:632-48.

Mabuchi H, Itoh H, Takeda M, Kajinami K, Wakasugi T, Koizumi J, Takeda R, Asagami C. A young type III hyperlipoproteinemic patient associated with apolipoprotein E deficiency. Metabolism. 1989 Feb;38(2):115-9.

Magesh S, Suzuki T, Miyagi T, Ishida H, Kiso M. Homology modeling of human sialidase enzymes NEU1, NEU3 and NEU4 based on the crystal structure of NEU2: hints for the design of selective NEU3 inhibitors. J Mol Graph Model. 2006 Oct;25(2):196-207.

Mahley RW, Innerarity TL, Rall SC Jr, Weisgraber KH. Plasma lipoproteins: apolipoprotein structure and function. J Lipid Res. 1984 Dec 1;25(12):1277-94.

Mahley RW. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. Science. 1988 Apr 29;240(4852):622-30.

Major AS, Dove DE, Ishiguro H, Su YR, Brown AM, Liu L, Carter KJ, Linton MF, Fazio S. Increased cholesterol efflux in apolipoprotein AI (ApoAI)-producing

macrophages as a mechanism for reduced atherosclerosis in ApoAI((-/-)) mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001 Nov;21(11):1790-5.

Malek G, Li CM, Guidry C, Medeiros NE, Curcio CA. Apolipoprotein B in cholesterol-containing drusen and basal deposits of human eyes with age-related maculopathy. Am J Pathol. 2003 Feb;162(2):413-25.

Malmendier CL, Delcroix C, Fontaine M. Effect of sialic acid removal on human low density lipoprotein catabolism in vivo. Atherosclerosis. 1980 Oct;37(2):277-84.

Malorny U, Michels E, Sorg C. A monoclonal antibody against an antigen present on mouse macrophages and absent from monocytes. Cell Tissue Res. 1986;243(2):421-8.

Manickan E, Satoi J, Wang TC, Liang TJ. Conditional liver-specific expression of simian virus 40 T antigen leads to regulatable development of hepatic neoplasm in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. 2001 Apr 27;276(17):13989-94.

Mardones P, Quinones V, Amigo L, Moreno M, Miquel JF, Schwarz M, Miettinen HE, Trigatti B, Krieger M, VanPatten S, Cohen DE, Rigotti A. Hepatic cholesterol and bile acid metabolism and intestinal cholesterol absorption in scavenger receptor class B type I-deficient mice. J Lipid Res. 2001 Feb;42(2):170-80.

Marmillot P, Rao MN, Liu QH, Lakshman MR. Desialylation of human apolipoprotein E decreases its binding to human high-density lipoprotein and its ability to deliver esterified cholesterol to the liver. Metabolism. 1999 Sep;48(9):1184-92.

Marsh JB, Welty FK, Lichtenstein AH, Lamon-Fava S, Schaefer EJ. Apolipoprotein B metabolism in humans: studies with stable isotope-labeled amino acid precursors. Atherosclerosis. 2002 Jun;162(2):227-44.

Marsh JB, Welty FK, Schaefer EJ. Stable isotope turnover of apolipoproteins of highdensity lipoproteins in humans. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2000 Jun;11(3):261-6.

Martins IJ, Hone E, Chi C, Seydel U, Martins RN, Redgrave TG. Relative roles of LDLr and LRP in the metabolism of chylomicron remnants in genetically manipulated mice. J Lipid Res. 2000 Feb;41(2):205-13.

Matsuo T, Egawa I, Okada S, Suetsugu M, Yamamoto K, Watanabe M. Sialidosis type 2 in Japan. Clinical study in two siblings' cases and review of literature. J Neurol Sci. 1983 Jan;58(1):45-55.

Maxfield FR, Wüstner D. Intracellular cholesterol transport. J Clin Invest. 2002 Oct;110(7):891-8.

Maxwell KN, Breslow JL. Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 May 4;101(18):7100-5.

May P, Herz J, Bock HH. Molecular mechanisms of lipoprotein receptor signalling. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2005 Oct;62(19-20):2325-38.

McFarlane AS. Efficient trace-labelling of proteins with iodine. Nature. 1958 Jul 5;182(4627):53.

McKee CM, Penno MB, Cowman M, Bao C, Noble PW. Hyaluronan (HA) fragments induce chemokine gene expression in alveolar macrophages. The role of HA size and CD44. J Clin Invest. 1996;98:2403–2413.

Meindl P, Bodo G, Lindner J, Palese P. Influence of 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid on Myxovirus-neuraminidases and the replication of influenzaand Newcastle disease virus. Z Naturforsch B. 1971 Aug;26(8):792-7.

Meindl P, Bodo G, Palese P, Schulman J, Tuppy H. Inhibition of neuraminidase activity by derivatives of 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid. Virology. 1974 Apr;58(2):457-63.

Meindl P, Tuppy H. 2-Deoxy-2,3-dehydrosialic acids. II. Competitive inhibition of Vibrio cholerae neuraminidase by 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acylneuraminic acids. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem. 1969 Sep;350(9):1088-92.

Meir KS, Leitersdorf E. Atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein-E-deficient mouse: a decade of progress. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Jun;24(6):1006-14.

Melanitou E, Cohn DA, Bardin CW, Janne OA. Genetic variation in androgen regulation of ornithine decarboxylase gene expression in inbred strains of mice. Mol Endocrinol. 1987 Mar;1(3):266-73.

Mensenkamp AR, Jong MC, van Goor H, van Luyn MJ, Bloks V, Havinga R, Voshol PJ, Hofker MH, van Dijk KW, Havekes LM, Kuipers F. Apolipoprotein E participates in the regulation of very low density lipoprotein-triglyceride secretion by the liver. J Biol Chem. 1999 Dec 10;274(50):35711-8.

Meusser B, Hirsch C, Jarosch E, Sommer T. ERAD: the long road to destruction. Nat Cell Biol. 2005 Aug;7(8):766-72.

Mezdour H, Jones R, Dengremont C, Castro G, Maeda N. Hepatic lipase deficiency increases plasma cholesterol but reduces susceptibility to atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Biol Chem. 1997 May 23;272(21):13570-5.

Millar JS, Anber V, Shepherd J, Packard CJ. Sialic acid-containing components of lipoproteins influence lipoprotein-proteoglycan interactions. Atherosclerosis. 1999 Aug;145(2):253-60.

Millar JS, Cromley DA, McCoy MG, Rader DJ, Billheimer JT. Determining hepatic triglyceride production in mice: comparison of poloxamer 407 with Triton WR-1339. J Lipid Res. 2005 Sep;46(9):2023-8.

Millar JS, Maugeais C, Fuki IV, Rader DJ. Normal Production Rate of Apolipoprotein B in LDL Receptor–Deficient Mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002 Jun 1;22(6):989-94.

Millar JS. The sialylation of plasma lipoproteins. Atherosclerosis. 2001 Jan;154(1):1-13.

Milne RW, Weech PK, Blanchette L, Davignon J, Alaupovic P, Marcel YL. Isolation and characterization of apolipoprotein B-48 and B-100 very low density lipoproteins from type III hyperlipoproteinemic subjects. J Clin Invest. 1984 Mar;73(3):816-23.

Miyagi T, Wada T, Iwamatsu A, Hata K, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Sawada M. Molecular cloning and characterization of a plasma membrane-associated sialidase specific for gangliosides. J Biol Chem. 1999 Feb 19;274(8):5004-11.

Monti E, Bassi MT, Bresciani R, Civini S, Croci GL, Papini N, Riboni M, Zanchetti G, Ballabio A, Preti A, Tettamanti G, Venerando B, Borsani G. Molecular cloning and characterization of NEU4, the fourth member of the human sialidase gene family. Genomics. 2004 Mar;83(3):445-53.

Monti E, Bassi MT, Papini N, Riboni M, Manzoni M, Venerando B, Croci G, Preti A, Ballabio A, Tettamanti G, Borsani G. Identification and expression of NEU3, a novel human sialidase associated to the plasma membrane. Biochem J. 2000 Jul 1;349(Pt 1):343-51.

Monti E, Preti A, Rossi E, Ballabio A, Borsani G. Cloning and characterization of NEU2, a human gene homologous to rodent soluble sialidases. Genomics. 1999 Apr 1;57(1):137-43.

Monti E, Preti A, Venerando B, Borsani G. Recent development in mammalian sialidase molecular biology. Neurochem Res. 2002 Aug;27(7-8):649-63.

Morell AG, Gregoriadis G, Scheinberg IH, Hickman J, Ashwell G. The role of sialic acid in determining the survival of glycoproteins in the circulation. J Biol Chem. 1971 Mar 10;246(5):1461-7.

Munro JM, van der Walt JD, Munro CS, Chalmers JA, Cox EL. An immunohistochemical analysis of human aortic fatty streaks. Hum Pathol. 1987 Apr;18(4):375-80.

Nagoshi E, Imamoto N, Sato R, Yoneda Y. Nuclear import of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2, a basic helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper (bHLH-Zip)-containing transcription factor, occurs through the direct interaction of importin beta with HLH-Zip. Mol Biol Cell. 1999 Jul;10(7):2221-33.

Nakashima Y, Plump AS, Raines EW, Breslow JL, Ross R. ApoE-deficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994 Jan;14(1):133-40.

Narcisi TM, Shoulders CC, Chester SA, Read J, Brett DJ, Harrison GB, Grantham TT, Fox MF, Povey S, de Bruin TW, et al. Mutations of the microsomal triglyceride-transfer-protein gene in abetalipoproteinemia. Am J Hum Genet. 1995 Dec;57(6):1298-310.

Navab M, Berliner JA, Watson AD, Hama SY, Territo MC, Lusis AJ, Shih DM, Van Lenten BJ, Frank JS, Demer LL, Edwards PA, Fogelman AM. The Yin and Yang of oxidation in the development of the fatty streak. A review based on the 1994 George Lyman Duff Memorial Lecture. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1996 Jul;16(7):831-42.

Nestel PJ, Fidge NH. Apoprotein C metabolism in man. Adv Lipid Res. 1982;19:583.

Nguyen LB, Shefer S, Salen G, Horak I, Tint GS, McNamara DJ. The effect of abnormal plasma and cellular sterol content and composition on low density lipoprotein uptake and degradation by monocytes and lymphocytes in sitosterolemia with xanthomatosis. Metabolism. 1988 Apr;37(4):346-51.

Nicklin SA, Baker AH. Tropism-modified adenoviral and adeno-associated viral vectors for gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther. 2002 Sep;2(3):273-93.

Nielsen LB, Veniant M, Boren J, Raabe M, Wong JS, Tam C, Flynn L, Vanni-Reyes T, Gunn MD, Goldberg IJ, Hamilton RL, Young SG. Genes for apolipoprotein B and microsomal triglyceride transfer protein are expressed in the heart: evidence that the heart has the capacity to synthesize and secrete lipoproteins. Circulation. 1998 Jul 7;98(1):13-6.

Nishina PM, Verstuyft J, Paigen B. Synthetic low and high fat diets for the study of atherosclerosis in the mouse. J Lipid Res. 1990 May;31(5):859-69.

Nishina PM, Wang J, Toyofuku W, Kuypers FA, Ishida BY, Paigen B. Atherosclerosis and plasma and liver lipids in nine inbred strains of mice. Lipids. 1993 Jul;28(7):599-605.

Nohturfft A, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Sterols regulate processing of carbohydrate chains of wild-type SREBP cleavage-activating protein (SCAP), but not sterol-resistant mutants Y298C or D443N. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Oct 27;95(22):12848-53.

Nohturfft A, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Topology of SREBP cleavage-activating protein, a polytopic membrane protein with a sterol-sensing domain. J Biol Chem. 1998 Jul 3;273(27):17243-50.

Nohturfft A, Yabe D, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Espenshade PJ. Regulated step in cholesterol feedback localized to budding of SCAP from ER membranes. Cell. 2000 Aug 4;102(3):315-23.

Nong Z, Gonzalez-Navarro H, Amar M, Freeman L, Knapper C, Neufeld EB, Paigen BJ, Hoyt RF, Fruchart-Najib J, Santamarina-Fojo S. Hepatic lipase expression in macrophages contributes to atherosclerosis in apoE-deficient and LCAT-transgenic mice. J Clin Invest. 2003 Aug;112(3):367-78.

O'Brien JS, Warner TG. Sialidosis: delineation of subtypes by neuraminidase assay. Clin Genet. 1980 Jan;17(1):35-8.

Oelkers P, Behari A, Cromley D, Billheimer JT, Sturley SL. Characterization of two human genes encoding acyl coenzyme A:cholesterol acyltransferase-related enzymes. J Biol Chem. 1998 Oct 9;273(41):26765-71.

O'Gorman S, Fox DT, Wahl GM. Recombinase-mediated gene activation and site-specific integration in mammalian cells. Science. 1991 Mar 15;251(4999):1351-5.

Ohashi R, Mu H, Yao Q, Chen C. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of atherosclerosis with mouse models. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2004 Jul;14(5):187-90.

Ohno T, Ishih A, Tanaka S, Nishimura M, Terada M. Chromosomal mapping of host susceptibility loci to Angiostrongylus costaricensis nematode infection in mice. Immunogenetics. 2002 Feb;53(10-11):925-9.

Oka K, Pastore L, Kim IH, Merched A, Nomura S, Lee HJ, Merched-Sauvage M, Arden-Riley C, Lee B, Finegold M, Beaudet A, Chan L. Long-term stable correction of low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice with a helper-dependent adenoviral vector expressing the very low-density lipoprotein receptor. Circulation. 2001 Mar 6;103(9):1274-81.

Olofsson SO, Bjursell G, Bostrom K, Carlsson P, Elovson J, Protter AA, Reuben MA, Bondjers G. Apolipoprotein B: structure, biosynthesis and role in the lipoprotein assembly process. Atherosclerosis. 1987 Nov;68(1-2):1-17.

Olsson PA, Korhonen L, Mercer EA, Lindholm D. MIR is a novel ERM-like protein that interacts with myosin regulatory light chain and inhibits neurite outgrowth. J Biol Chem. 1999 Dec 17;274(51):36288-92.

Olynyk JK, Clarke SL. Isolation and primary culture of rat Kupffer cells. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1998 Aug;13(8):842-5.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN, Mikhailenko IA. Modification of low density lipoprotein by desialylation causes lipid accumulation in cultured cells: discovery of desialylated lipoprotein with altered cellular metabolism in the blood of atherosclerotic patients. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1989 Jul 14;162(1):206-11.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Mukhin DN. Desialylated low density lipoprotein--naturally occurring modified lipoprotein with atherogenic potency. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Feb;86(2-3):153-61.

Orekhov AN, Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Smirnov VN, Via DP, Guevara J Jr, Gotto AM Jr, Morrisett JD. Sialic acid content of human low density lipoproteins affects their interaction with cell receptors and intracellular lipid accumulation. J Lipid Res. 1992 Jun;33(6):805-17.

Osuga J, Yonemoto M, Yamada N, Shimano H, Yagyu H, Ohashi K, Harada K, Kamei T, Yazaki Y, Ishibashi S. Cholesterol lowering in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice overexpressing apolipoprotein E. J Clin Invest. 1998 Jul 15;102(2):386-94.

Otway S, Robinson DS. The effect of a non-ionic detergent (Triton WR 1339) on the removal of triglyceride fatty acids from the blood of the rat. J Physiol. 1967 May;190(2):309-19.

Overton CD, Yancey PG, Major AS, Linton MF, Fazio S. Deletion of macrophage LDL receptor-related protein increases atherogenesis in the mouse. Circ Res. 2007 Mar 16;100(5):670-7.

Packard CJ, Demant T, Stewart JP, Bedford D, Caslake MJ, Schwertfeger G, Bedynek A, Shepherd J, Seidel D. Apolipoprotein B metabolism and the distribution of VLDL and LDL subfractions. J Lipid Res. 2000 Feb;41(2):305-18.

Packard CJ, Munro A, Lorimer AR, Gotto AM, Shepherd J. Metabolism of apolipoprotein B in large triglyceride-rich very low density lipoproteins of normal and hypertriglyceridemic subjects. J Clin Invest. 1984 Dec;74(6):2178-92.

Paigen B, Morrow A, Brandon C, Mitchell D, Holmes P. Variation in susceptibility to atherosclerosis among inbred strains of mice. Atherosclerosis. 1985 Oct;57(1):65-73.

Paigen B, Morrow A, Holmes PA, Mitchell D, Williams RA. Quantitative assessment of atherosclerotic lesions in mice. Atherosclerosis. 1987 Dec;68(3):231-40.

Paigen B. Genetics of responsiveness to high-fat and high-cholesterol diets in the mouse. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Aug;62(2):458S-462S.

Pappu BP, Shrikant PA. Alteration of cell surface sialylation regulates antigeninduced naive CD8+ T cell responses. J Immunol. 2004 Jul 1;173(1):275-84.

Parhofer KG, Hugh P, Barrett R, Bier DM, Schonfeld G. Determination of kinetic parameters of apolipoprotein B metabolism using amino acids labeled with stable isotopes. J Lipid Res. 1991 Aug;32(8):1311-23.

Park SW, Moon YA, Horton JD. Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. J Biol Chem. 2004 Nov 26;279(48):50630-8.

Parthasarathy S, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. The role of oxidized low-density lipoproteins in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Med. 1992;43:219-25.

Paszty C, Maeda N, Verstuyft J, Rubin EM. Apolipoprotein AI transgene corrects apolipoprotein E deficiency-induced atherosclerosis in mice. J Clin Invest. 1994 Aug;94(2):899-903.

Pattison S, Pankarican M, Rupar CA, Graham FL, Igdoura SA. Five novel mutations in the lysosomal sialidase gene (NEU1) in type II sialidosis patients and assessment of their impact on enzyme activity and intracellular targeting using adenovirus-mediated expression. Hum Mutat. 2004 Jan;23(1):32-9.

Paul A, Ko KW, Li L, Yechoor V, McCrory MA, Szalai AJ, Chan L. C-reactive protein accelerates the progression of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2004 Feb 10;109(5):647-55.

Paulson JC. Glycoproteins: what are the sugar chains for? Trends Biochem Sci. 1989 Jul;14(7):272-6.

Perrin C, Giordanengo V, Bannwarth S, Blaive B, Lefebvre JC. Altered sialylation of alveolar macrophages in HIV-1-infected individuals. Clin Exp Immunol. 1997 Oct;110(1):22-5.

Piedrahita JA, Zhang SH, Hagaman JR, Oliver PM, Maeda N. Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein E gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 May 15;89(10):4471-5.

Pietsch A, Erl W, Lorenz RL. Lovastatin reduces expression of the combined adhesion and scavenger receptor CD36 in human monocytic cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 1996 Aug 9;52(3):433-9.

Pilatte Y, Bignon J, Lambre CR. Sialic acids as important molecules in the regulation of the immune system: pathophysiological implications of sialidases in immunity. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):201-18.

Pitman WA, Hunt MH, McFarland C, Paigen B. Genetic analysis of the difference in diet-induced atherosclerosis between the inbred mouse strains SM/J and NZB/BINJ. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998 Apr;18(4):615-20.

Pitman WA, Korstanje R, Churchill GA, Nicodeme E, Albers JJ, Cheung MC, Staton MA, Sampson SS, Harris S, Paigen B. Quantitative trait locus mapping of genes that regulate HDL cholesterol in SM/J and NZB/B1NJ inbred mice. Physiol Genomics. 2002;9(2):93-102.

Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, Aalto-Setala K, Walsh A, Verstuyft JG, Rubin EM, Breslow JL. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in ES cells. Cell. 1992 Oct 16;71(2):343-53.

Pollock S, Dwek RA, Burton DR, Zitzmann N. N-Butyldeoxynojirimycin is a broadly effective anti-HIV therapy significantly enhanced by targeted liposome delivery. AIDS. 2008 Oct 1;22(15):1961-9.

Ponting CP. Proteins of the endoplasmic-reticulum-associated degradation pathway: domain detection and function prediction. Biochem J. 2000 Oct 15;351 Pt 2:527-35. Potier M, Lu Shun Yan D, Womack JE. Neuraminidase deficiency in the mouse. FEBS Lett. 1979 Dec 15;108(2):345-8.

Potier M, Mameli L, Bélisle M, Dallaire L, Melançon SB. Fluorometric assay of neuraminidase with a sodium (4-methylumbelliferyl-alpha-D-N-acetylneuraminate) substrate. Anal Biochem. 1979 Apr 15;94(2):287-96.

Pshezhetsky AV, Ashmarina M. Lysosomal multienzyme complex: biochemistry, genetics, and molecular pathophysiology. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol. 2001;69:81-114.

Pshezhetsky AV, Potier M. Association of N-acetylgalactosamine-6-sulfate sulfatase with the multienzyme lysosomal complex of beta-galactosidase, cathepsin A, and neuraminidase. Possible implication for intralysosomal catabolism of keratan sulfate. J Biol Chem. 1996 Nov 8;271(45):28359-65.

Pshezhetsky AV, Richard C, Michaud L, Igdoura S, Wang S, Elsliger MA, Qu J, Leclerc D, Gravel R, Dallaire L, Potier M. Cloning, expression and chromosomal mapping of human lysosomal sialidase and characterization of mutations in sialidosis.Nat Genet. 1997 Mar;15(3):316-20.

Qiao JH, Xie PZ, Fishbein MC, Kreuzer J, Drake TA, Demer LL, Lusis AJ. Pathology of atheromatous lesions in inbred and genetically engineered mice. Genetic determination of arterial calcification. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994 Sep;14(9):1480-97.

Qin W, Sundaram M, Wang Y, Zhou H, Zhong S, Chang CC, Manhas S, Yao EF, Parks RJ, McFie PJ, Stone SJ, Jiang ZG, Wang C, Figeys D, Jia W, Yao Z. Missense mutation in APOC3 within the C-terminal lipid binding domain of human ApoC-III results in impaired assembly and secretion of triacylglycerol-rich very low density lipoproteins: evidence that ApoC-III plays a major role in the formation of lipid precursors within the microsomal lumen. J Biol Chem. 2011 Aug 5;286(31):27769-80.

Quarfordt SH, Greenfield MF. Estimation of cholesterol and bile acid turnover in man by kinetic analysis. J Clin Invest. 1973 Aug;52(8):1937-45.

Quarfordt SH, Oswald B, Landis B, Xu HS, Zhang SH, Maeda N. In vivo cholesterol kinetics in apolipoprotein E-deficient and control mice. J Lipid Res. 1995 Jun;36(6):1227-35.

Raabe M, Flynn LM, Zlot CH, Wong JS, Veniant MM, Hamilton RL, Young SG. Knockout of the abetalipoproteinemia gene in mice: reduced lipoprotein secretion in heterozygotes and embryonic lethality in homozygotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Jul 21;95(15):8686-91.

Raabe M, Veniant MM, Sullivan MA, Zlot CH, Bjorkegren J, Nielsen LB, Wong JS, Hamilton RL, Young SG. Analysis of the role of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in the liver of tissue-specific knockout mice. J Clin Invest. 1999 May;103(9):1287-98.

Ravindranaths MH, Paulson JC, Irie RF. Human melanoma antigen O-acetylated ganglioside GD3 is recognized by Cancer antennarius lectin. J Biol Chem. 1988 Feb 5;263(4):2079-86.

Reddick RL, Zhang SH, Maeda N. Atherosclerosis in mice lacking apo E. Evaluation of lesional development and progression. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994 Jan;14(1):141-7. Erratum in: Arterioscler Thromb 1994 May;14(5):839.

Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by densitygradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem. 1975 May 12;65(1-2):42-9.

Redgrave TG. Formation and metabolism of chylomicrons. Int Rev Physiol. 1983;28:103-30.

Repa JJ, Turley SD, Lobaccaro JA, Medina J, Li L, Lustig K, Shan B, Heyman RA, Dietschy JM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of absorption and ABC1-mediated efflux of cholesterol by RXR heterodimers. Science. 2000 Sep 1;289(5484):1524-9.

Reuter G, Gabius HJ. Sialic acids structure-analysis-metabolism-occurrence-recognition. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler. 1996 Jun;377(6):325-42.

Richmond W. Preparation and properties of a cholesterol oxidase from Nocardia sp. and its application to the enzymatic assay of total cholesterol in serum. Clin Chem. 1973 Dec;19(12):1350-6.

Rigotti A, Trigatti BL, Penman M, Rayburn H, Herz J, Krieger M. A targeted mutation in the murine gene encoding the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor scavenger receptor class B type I reveals its key role in HDL metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Nov 11;94(23):12610-5.

Roderick TH, Wimer RE, Wimer CC, Schwartzkroin PA. Genetic and phenotypic variation in weight of brain and spinal cord between inbred strains of mice. Brain Res. 1973 Dec 21;64:345-53.

Roitelman J, Olender EH, Bar-Nun S, Dunn WA Jr, Simoni RD. Immunological evidence for eight spans in the membrane domain of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase: implications for enzyme degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol. 1992 Jun;117(5):959-73.

Rong JX, Li J, Reis ED, Choudhury RP, Dansky HM, Elmalem VI, Fallon JT, Breslow JL, Fisher EA. Elevating high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice remodels advanced atherosclerotic lesions by decreasing macrophage and increasing smooth muscle cell content. Circulation. 2001 Nov 13;104(20):2447-52.

Roeschlau P, Bernt E, Gruber W. Enzymatic determination of total cholesterol in serum. Z Klin Chem Klin Biochem. 1974 May;12(5):226.

Roggentin P, Schauer R, Hoyer LL, Vimr ER. The sialidase superfamily and its spread by horizontal gene transfer. Mol Microbiol. 1993 Sep;9(5):915-21.

Rohlmann A, Gotthardt M, Hammer RE, Herz J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants. J Clin Invest. 1998 Feb 1;101(3):689-95.

Roselaar SE, Kakkanathu PX, Daugherty A. Lymphocyte populations in atherosclerotic lesions of apoE -/- and LDL receptor -/- mice. Decreasing density with disease progression. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1996 Aug;16(8):1013-8.

Roselaar SE, Schonfeld G, Daugherty A. Enhanced development of atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed rabbits by suppression of cell-mediated immunity. J Clin Invest. 1995 Sep;96(3):1389-94.

Ross R. Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. Am Heart J. 1999 Nov;138(5 Pt 2):S419-20.

Ross R. Cell biology of atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:791-804.

Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature. 1993 Apr 29;362(6423):801-9.

Rottier RJ, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. A point mutation in the neu-1 locus causes the neuraminidase defect in the SM/J mouse. Hum Mol Genet. 1998 Feb;7(2):313-21.

Rubin D, Schneider-Muntau A, Klapper M, Nitz L, Helwig U, Folsch UR, Schrezenmeir J,

Doring F. Functional analysis of promoter variants in the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTTP) gene. Hum Mutat. 2008 Jan;29(1):123-9.

Roitelman J, Olender EH, Bar-Nun S, Dunn WA Jr, Simoni RD. Immunological evidence for eight spans in the membrane domain of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl

coenzyme A reductase: implications for enzyme degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol. 1992 Jun;117(5):959-73.

Rudel LL, Shelness GS. Cholesterol esters and atherosclerosis-a game of ACAT and mouse. Nat Med. 2000 Dec;6(12):1313-4.

Rudenko G, Bonten E, d'Azzo A, Hol WG. Three-dimensional structure of the human 'protective protein': structure of the precursor form suggests a complex activation mechanism. Structure. 1995 Nov 15;3(11):1249-59.

Ruelland A, Gallou G, Legras B, Paillard F, Cloarec L. LDL sialic acid content in patients with coronary artery disease. Clin Chim Acta. 1993 Nov 30;221(1-2):127-33.

Sakai J, Hoshino A, Takahashi S, Miura Y, Ishii H, Suzuki H, Kawarabayasi Y, Yamamoto T. Structure, chromosome location, and expression of the human very low density lipoprotein receptor gene. J Biol Chem. 1994 Jan 21;269(3):2173-82.

Sakai J, Nohturfft A, Cheng D, Ho YK, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Identification of complexes between the COOH-terminal domains of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBPs) and SREBP cleavage-activating protein. J Biol Chem. 1997 Aug 8;272(32):20213-21.

Sakai J, Nohturfft A, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Cleavage of sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins (SREBPs) at site-1 requires interaction with SREBP cleavageactivating protein. Evidence from in vivo competition studies. J Biol Chem. 1998 Mar 6;273(10):5785-93.

Sakarya S, Rifat S, Zhou J, Bannerman DD, Stamatos NM, Cross AS, Goldblum SE. Mobilization of neutrophil sialidase activity desialylates the pulmonary vascular endothelial surface and increases resting neutrophil adhesion to and migration across the endothelium. Glycobiology. 2004 Jun;14(6):481-94.

Santamarina-Fojo S, Gonzalez-Navarro H, Freeman L, Wagner E, Nong Z. Hepatic lipase, lipoprotein metabolism, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Oct;24(10):1750-4.

Saraswathi V, Hasty AH. The role of lipolysis in mediating the proinflammatory effects of very low density lipoproteins in mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Lipid Res. 2006 Jul;47(7):1406-15.

Sasagasako N, Miyahara S, Saito N, Shinnoh N, Kobayashi T, Goto I. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital sialidosis. Clin Genet. 1993 Jul;44(1):8-11.

Sato R, Miyamoto W, Inoue J, Terada T, Imanaka T, Maeda M. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein negatively regulates microsomal triglyceride transfer protein gene transcription. J Biol Chem. 1999 Aug 27;274(35):24714-20.

Sauer B, Henderson N. Cre-stimulated recombination at loxP-containing DNA sequences placed into the mammalian genome. Nucleic Acids Res. 1989 Jan 11;17(1):147-61.

Schauer R, Veh RW, Wember M. Demonstration of neuraminidase activity in human blood serum and human milk using a modified, radioactively labelled alpha1-glycoprotein as substrate. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem. 1976 Apr;357(4):559-66.

Schieffer B, Selle T, Hilfiker A, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Grote K, Tietge UJ, Trautwein C, Luchtefeld M, Schmittkamp C, Heeneman S, Daemen MJ, Drexler H. Impact of interleukin-6 on plaque development and morphology in experimental atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2004 Nov 30;110(22):3493-500.

Schindler PA, Settineri CA, Collet X, Fielding CJ, Burlingame AL. Site-specific detection and structural characterization of the glycosylation of human plasma proteins lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase and apolipoprotein D using HPLC/electrospray mass spectrometry and sequential glycosidase digestion. Protein Sci. 1995 Apr;4(4):791-803.

Schneider A, Mijalski T, Schlange T, Dai W, Overbeek P, Arnold HH, Brand T. The homeobox gene NKX3.2 is a target of left-right signalling and is expressed on opposite sides in chick and mouse embryos. Curr Biol. 1999 Aug 26;9(16):911-4.

Schneider K, Potter KG, Ware CF. Lymphotoxin and LIGHT signaling pathways and target genes. Immunol Rev. 2004 Dec;202:49-66.

Schneider WJ, Beisiegel U, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Purification of the low density lipoprotein receptor, an acidic glycoprotein of 164,000 molecular weight. Biol Chem. 1982 Mar 10;257(5):2664-73.

Schwarz M, Davis DL, Vick BR, Russell DW. Genetic analysis of intestinal cholesterol absorption in inbred mice. J Lipid Res. 2001 Nov;42(11):1801-11.

Schwarz M, Russell DW, Dietschy JM, Turley SD. Marked reduction in bile acid synthesis in cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase-deficient mice does not lead to diminished tissue cholesterol turnover or to hypercholesterolemia. J Lipid Res. 1998 Sep;39(9):1833-43.

Schwenke DC, Carew TE. Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries. Arteriosclerosis. 1989 Nov-Dec;9(6):908-18.

Schwenke DC, Carew TE. Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. I. Focal increases in arterial LDL concentration precede development of fatty streak lesions. Arteriosclerosis. 1989 Nov-Dec;9(6):895-907.

Sehayek E, Eisenberg S. Mechanisms of inhibition by apolipoprotein C of apolipoprotein E-dependent cellular metabolism of human triglyceride-rich

lipoproteins through the low density lipoprotein receptor pathway. J Biol Chem. 1991 Sep 25;266(27):18259-67.

Seidah NG, Benjannet S, Wickham L, Marcinkiewicz J, Jasmin SB, Stifani S, Basak A, Prat A, Chretien M. The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Feb 4;100(3):928-33.

Sever N, Song BL, Yabe D, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, DeBose-Boyd RA. Insigdependent ubiquitination and degradation of mammalian 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase stimulated by sterols and geranylgeraniol. J Biol Chem. 2003 Dec 26;278(52):52479-90.

Sever N, Yang T, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, DeBose-Boyd RA. Accelerated degradation of HMG CoA reductase mediated by binding of insig-1 to its sterol-sensing domain. Mol Cell. 2003 Jan;11(1):25-33.

Seyrantepe V, Hinek A, Peng J, Fedjaev M, Ernest S, Kadota Y, Canuel M, Itoh K, Morales CR, Lavoie J, Tremblay J, Pshezhetsky AV. Enzymatic activity of lysosomal carboxypeptidase (cathepsin) A is required for proper elastic fiber formation and inactivation of endothelin-1. Circulation. 2008 Apr 15;117(15):1973-81.

Seyrantepe V, Landry K, Trudel S, Hassan JA, Morales CR, Pshezhetsky AV. Neu4, a novel human lysosomal lumen sialidase, confers normal phenotype to sialidosis and galactosialidosis cells. J Biol Chem. 2004 Aug 27;279(35):37021-9.

Seyrantepe V, Poupetova H, Froissart R, Zabot MT, Maire I, Pshezhetsky AV. Molecular pathology of NEU1 gene in sialidosis. Hum Mutat. 2003 Nov;22(5):343-52.

Sharp D, Blinderman L, Combs KA, Kienzle B, Ricci B, Wager-Smith K, Gil CM, Turck CW, Bouma ME, Rader DJ, et al. Cloning and gene defects in microsomal triglyceride transfer protein associated with abetalipoproteinaemia. Nature. 1993 Sep 2;365(6441):65-9.

Shimokama T, Haraoka S, Watanabe T. Immunohistochemical and ultrastructural demonstration of the lymphocyte-macrophage interaction in human aortic intima. Mod Pathol. 1991 Jan;4(1):101-7.

Shireman RB, Fisher WR. The absence of a role for the carbohydrate moiety in the binding of apolipoprotein B to the low density lipoprotein receptor. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1979 Mar 29;572(3):537-40.

Shite S, Seguchi T, Mizoguchi H, Ono M, Kuwano M. Differential effects of brefeldin A on sialylation of N- and O-linked oligosaccharides in low density lipoprotein receptor and epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 1990 October 15;265(29):17385-8.

Sigmund CD. Viewpoint: are studies in genetically altered mice out of control? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Jun;20(6):1425-9.

Simons K, Ikonen E. How cells handle cholesterol. Science. 2000 Dec 1;290(5497):1721-6.

Singaraja RR, Fievet C, Castro G, James ER, Hennuyer N, Clee SM, Bissada N, Choy JC, Fruchart JC, McManus BM, Staels B, Hayden MR. Increased ABCA1 activity protects against atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2002 Jul;110(1):35-42.

Skålén K, Gustafsson M, Rydberg EK, Hultén LM, Wiklund O, Innerarity TL, Borén J. Subendothelial retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in early atherosclerosis. Nature. 2002 Jun 13;417(6890):750-4.

Skalnik DG, Narita H, Kent C, Simoni RD. The membrane domain of 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase confers endoplasmic reticulum localization and sterol-regulated degradation onto beta-galactosidase. J Biol Chem. 1988 May 15;263(14):6836-41.

Sobenin IA, Tertov VV, Orekhov AN. Optimization of the assay for sialic acid determination in low density lipoprotein. J Lipid Res. 1998 Nov;39(11):2293-9.

Sobenin IA, Tertov VV, Orekhov AN, Smirnov VN. Synergetic effect of desialylated and glycated low density lipoproteins on cholesterol accumulation in cultured smooth muscle intimal cells. Atherosclerosis. 1991 Aug;89(2-3):151-4.

Soccio RE, Breslow JL. Intracellular cholesterol transport. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Jul;24(7):1150-60.

Song BL, Javitt NB, DeBose-Boyd RA. Insig-mediated degradation of HMG CoA reductase stimulated by lanosterol, an intermediate in the synthesis of cholesterol. Cell Metab. 2005 Mar;1(3):179-89.

Song BL, Sever N, DeBose-Boyd RA. Gp78, a membrane-anchored ubiquitin ligase, associates with Insig-1 and couples sterol-regulated ubiquitination to degradation of HMG CoA reductase. Mol Cell. 2005 Sep 16;19(6):829-40.

Sprague EA, Moser M, Edwards EH, Schwartz CJ. Stimulation of receptor-mediated low density lipoprotein endocytosis in neuraminidase-treated cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells. J Cell Physiol. 1988 Nov;137(2):251-62.

Stamatos NM, Curreli S, Zella D, Cross AS. Desialylation of glycoconjugates on the surface of monocytes activates the extracellular signal-related kinases ERK 1/2 and results in enhanced production of specific cytokines. J Leukoc Biol. 2004 Feb;75(2):307-13.

Stamatos NM, Liang F, Nan X, Landry K, Cross AS, Wang LX, Pshezhetsky AV. Differential expression of endogenous sialidases of human monocytes during cellular differentiation into macrophages. FEBS J. 2005 May;272(10):2545-56.

Stancu C, Sima A. Statins: mechanism of action and effects. J Cell Mol Med. 2001 Oct-Dec;5(4):378-87.

Stangl H, Hyatt M, Hobbs HH. Transport of lipids from high and low density lipoproteins via scavenger receptor-BI. J Biol Chem. 1999 Nov 12;274(46):32692-8.

Steinberg D. Low density lipoprotein oxidation and its pathobiological significance. J Biol Chem. 1997 Aug 22;272(34):20963-6.

Steinberg D, Gotto AM Jr. Preventing coronary artery disease by lowering cholesterol levels: fifty years from bench to bedside. JAMA. 1999 Dec 1;282(21):2043-50.

Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Lipoproteins and atherogenesis. Current concepts. JAMA. 1990 Dec 19;264(23):3047-52.

Steinbrecher UP. Receptors for oxidized low density lipoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Jan 4;1436(3):279-98.

Steiner G, Poapst ME, Shumak SL, Foster DM. Metabolism of the apolipoprotein B-containing lipoproteins. Methods Enzymol. 1986;129:395-420.

Stemme S, Holm J, Hansson GK. T lymphocytes in human atherosclerotic plaques are memory cells expressing CD45RO and the integrin VLA-1. Arterioscler Thromb. 1992 Feb;12(2):206-11.

Stemme S, Rymo L, Hansson GK. Polyclonal origin of T lymphocytes in human atherosclerotic plaques. Lab Invest. 1991 Dec;65(6):654-60.

Stollenwerk MM, Schiopu A, Fredrikson GN, Dichtl W, Nilsson J, Ares MP. Very low density lipoprotein potentiates tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression in macrophages. Atherosclerosis. 2005 Apr;179(2):247-54.

Storer JB. Longevity and gross pathology at death in 22 inbred mouse strains. J Gerontol. 1966 Jul;21(3):404-9.

Sun J, Sukhova GK, Wolters PJ, Yang M, Kitamoto S, Libby P, MacFarlane LA, Mallen-St Clair J, Shi GP. Mast cells promote atherosclerosis by releasing proinflammatory cytokines. Nat Med. 2007 Jun;13(6):719-24.

Sun LP, Li L, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Insig required for sterol-mediated inhibition of Scap/SREBP binding to COPII proteins in vitro. J Biol Chem. 2005 Jul 15;280(28):26483-90.

Suzuki H, Kurihara Y, Takeya M, Kamada N, Kataoka M, Jishage K, Ueda O, Sakaguchi H, Higashi T, Suzuki T, Takashima Y, Kawabe Y, Cynshi O, Wada Y, Honda M, Kurihara H, Aburatani H, Doi T, Matsumoto A, Azuma S, Noda T, Toyoda Y, Itakura H, Yazaki Y, Kodama T, et al. A role for macrophage scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis and susceptibility to infection. Nature. 1997 Mar 20;386(6622):292-6.

Swaminathan N, Aladjem F. The monosaccharide composition and sequence of the carbohydrate moiety of human serum low density lipoproteins. Biochemistry. 1976 Apr 6;15(7):1516-22.

Swamy N, Ghosh S, Schneider GB, Ray R. Baculovirus-expressed vitamin D-binding protein-macrophage activating factor (DBP-maf) activates osteoclasts and binding of 25-hydroxyvitamin D(3) does not influence this activity. J Cell Biochem. 2001;81(3):535-46.

Swanson SJ, Rosenzweig A, Seidman JG, Libby P. Diversity of T-cell antigen receptor V beta gene utilization in advanced human atheroma. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994 Jul;14(7):1210-4.

Tacken PJ, Teusink B, Jong MC, Harats D, Havekes LM, van Dijk KW, Hofker MH. LDL receptor deficiency unmasks altered VLDL triglyceride metabolism in VLDL receptor transgenic and knockout mice. J Lipid Res. 2000 Dec;41(12):2055-62.

Takahashi S, Sakai J, Fujino T, Hattori H, Zenimaru Y, Suzuki J, Miyamori I, Yamamoto TT. The very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) receptor: characterization and functions as a peripheral lipoprotein receptor. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2004;11(4):200-8.

Tanaka AR, Abe-Dohmae S, Ohnishi T, Aoki R, Morinaga G, Okuhira K, Ikeda Y, Kano F, Matsuo M, Kioka N, Amachi T, Murata M, Yokoyama S, Ueda K. Effects of mutations of ABCA1 in the first extracellular domain on subcellular trafficking and ATP binding/hydrolysis. J Biol Chem. 2003 Mar 7;278(10):8815-9. Epub 2002 Dec 31. Erratum in: J Biol Chem. 2003 Apr 18;278(16):14586.

Tanaka AR, Ikeda Y, Abe-Dohmae S, Arakawa R, Sadanami K, Kidera A, Nakagawa S, Nagase T, Aoki R, Kioka N, Amachi T, Yokoyama S, Ueda K. Human ABCA1 contains a large amino-terminal extracellular domain homologous to an epitope of Sjogren's Syndrome. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001 May 25;283(5):1019-25.

Tangirala RK, Bischoff ED, Joseph SB, Wagner BL, Walczak R, Laffitte BA, Daige CL, Thomas D, Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Tontonoz P, Schulman IG. Identification of macrophage liver X receptors as inhibitors of atherosclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Sep 3;99(18):11896-901.

Tangirala RK, Rubin EM, Palinski W. Quantitation of atherosclerosis in murine models: correlation between lesions in the aortic origin and in the entire aorta, and

differences in the extent of lesions between sexes in LDL receptor-deficient and apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Lipid Res. 1995 Nov;36(11):2320-8.

Tertov VV, Orekhov AN. Effect of lipoprotein(a) on lipid metabolism of cultured human intimal aortic cells. Chem Phys Lipids. 1994 Jan;67-68:161-6.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Gabbasov ZA, Popov EG, Jaakkola O, Solakivi T, Nikkari T, Smirnov VN, Orekhov AN. Multiple-modified desialylated low density lipoproteins that cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Isolation, fractionation and characterization. Lab Invest. 1992 Nov;67(5):665-75.

Tertov VV, Sobenin IA, Orekhov AN. Characterization of desialylated low-density lipoproteins which cause intracellular lipid accumulation. Int J Tissue React. 1992;14(4):155-62.

Thomas GH. Disorders of glycoprotein degradation: alpha-mannosidosis, betamannosidosis, fucosidosis, and sialidosis. The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease. 2001;III:3507-3533.

Thompson GR, Naoumova RP, Watts GF. Role of cholesterol in regulating apolipoprotein B secretion by the liver. J Lipid Res. 1996 Mar;37(3):439-47.

Tolleshaug H, Hobgood KK, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. The LDL receptor locus in familial hypercholesterolemia: multiple mutations disrupt transport and processing of a membrane receptor. Cell. 1983 Mar;32(3):941-51.

Trigatti B, Rayburn H, Vinals M, Braun A, Miettinen H, Penman M, Hertz M, Schrenzel M, Amigo L, Rigotti A, Krieger M. Influence of the high density lipoprotein receptor SR-BI on reproductive and cardiovascular pathophysiology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999 Aug 3;96(16):9322-7.

Trigatti BL, Krieger M, Rigotti A. Influence of the HDL receptor SR-BI on lipoprotein metabolism and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003 Oct 1;23(10):1732-8.

Tsukamoto K, Tangirala R, Chun SH, Pure E, Rader DJ. Rapid regression of atherosclerosis induced by liver-directed gene transfer of ApoE in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999 Sep;19(9):2162-70.

Tsunemitsu M, Ishikawa Y, Taniguchi T, Fukuzaki H. Heterogeneity of N-linked sugar chains of apolipoprotein B-100 in Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic and fasting rabbits. Arteriosclerosis. 1990 May-Jun;10(3):386-93.

Twisk J, Gillian-Daniel DL, Tebon A, Wang L, Barrett PH, Attie AD. The role of the LDL receptor in apolipoprotein B secretion. J Clin Invest. 2000 Feb;105(4):521-32.

Vaisman BL, Klein HG, Rouis M, Berard AM, Kindt MR, Talley GD, Meyn SM, Hoyt RF Jr, Marcovina SM, Albers JJ, et al. Overexpression of human lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase leads to hyperalphalipoproteinemia in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem. 1995 May 19;270(20):12269-75.

van der Horst GT, Galjart NJ, d'Azzo A, Galjaard H, Verheijen FW. Identification and in vitro reconstitution of lysosomal neuraminidase from human placenta. J Biol Chem. 1989 Jan 15;264(2):1317-22.

van der Spoel A, Bonten E, d'Azzo A. Transport of human lysosomal neuraminidase to mature lysosomes requires protective protein/cathepsin A. EMBO J. 1998 Mar 16;17(6):1588-97.

van Dijk KW, van Vlijmen BJ, van der Zee A, van't Hof B, van der Boom H, Kobayashi K, Chan L, Havekes LM, Hofker MH. Reversal of hypercholesterolemia in apolipoprotein E2 and apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice by adenovirusmediated gene transfer of the VLDL receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998 Jan;18(1):7-12.

Van Eck M, Herijgers N, Yates J, Pearce NJ, Hoogerbrugge PM, Groot PH, Van Berkel TJ. Bone marrow transplantation in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Effect of ApoE gene dosage on serum lipid concentrations, (beta)VLDL catabolism, and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997 Nov;17(11):3117-26.

Van Eck M, De Winther MP, Herijgers N, Havekes LM, Hofker MH, Groot PH, Van Berkel TJ. Effect of human scavenger receptor class A overexpression in bone marrow-derived cells on cholesterol levels and atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000 Dec;20(12):2600-6.

van Ree JH, van den Broek WJ, Dahlmans VE, Wieringa B, Frants RR, Havekes LM, Hofker MH. Variability in cholesterol content in serum and aortic tissue in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice is comparable in inbred (129/Sv) and outbred (mixed 129/Sv and C57BL/6) mice. Atherosclerosis. 1995 Nov;118(1):165-7.

Van Tol A, Van Gent T, Van 't Hooft FM, Vlaspolder F. High density lipoprotein catabolism before and after partial hepatectomy. Atherosclerosis. 1978 Apr;29(4):439-48.

VanderLaan PA, Reardon CA, Getz GS. Site specificity of atherosclerosis: siteselective responses to atherosclerotic modulators. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Jan;24(1):12-22.

Varki A. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J. 1997 Mar;11(4):248-55.

Vaughn JE, Matthews DA, Barber RP, Wimer CC, Wimer RE. Genetically-associated variations in the development of hippocampal pyramidal neurons may produce differences in mossy fiber connectivity. J Comp Neurol. 1977 May 1;173(1):41-52.

Véniant MM, Zlot CH, Walzem RL, Pierotti V, Driscoll R, Dichek D, Herz J, Young SG. Lipoprotein clearance mechanisms in LDL receptor-deficient "Apo-B48-only" and "Apo-B100-only" mice. J Clin Invest. 1998 Oct 15;102(8):1559-68.

Verschuren L, de Vries-van der Weij J, Zadelaar S, Kleemann R, Kooistra T. LXR agonist suppresses atherosclerotic lesion growth and promotes lesion regression in apoE*3Leiden mice: time course and mechanisms. J Lipid Res. 2009 Feb;50(2):301-11.

Vieu C, Jaspard B, Barbaras R, Manent J, Chap H, Perret B, Collet X. Identification and quantification of diacylglycerols in HDL and accessibility to lipase. J Lipid Res. 1996 May;37(5):1153-61.

Vimr E, Lichtensteiger C. To sialylate, or not to sialylate: that is the question. Trends Microbiol. 2002 Jun;10(6):254-7.

Vinals M, Xu S, Vasile E, Krieger M. Identification of the N-linked glycosylation sites on the high density lipoprotein (HDL) receptor SR-BI and assessment of their effects on HDL binding and selective lipid uptake. J Biol Chem. 2003 Feb 14;278(7):5325-32.

Vinogradova MV, Michaud L, Mezentsev AV, Lukong KE, El-Alfy M, Morales CR, Potier M, Pshezhetsky AV. Molecular mechanism of lysosomal sialidase deficiency in galactosialidosis involves its rapid degradation. Biochem J. 1998 Mar 1;330 (Pt 2):641-50.

von Dehn G, von Dehn O, Volker W, Langer C, Weinbauer GF, Behre HM, Nieschlag E, Assmann G, von Eckardstein A. Atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice is decreased by the suppression of endogenous sex hormones. Horm Metab Res. 2001 Feb;33(2):110-4.

von Itzstein M, Wu WY, Kok GB, Pegg MS, Dyason JC, Jin B, Van Phan T, Smythe ML, White HF, Oliver SW, et al. Rational design of potent sialidase-based inhibitors of influenza virus replication. Nature. 1993 Jun 3;363(6428):418-23.

Wada T, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Kuwabara M, Akita H, Miyagi T. Cloning, expression, and chromosomal mapping of a human ganglioside sialidase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999 Jul 22;261(1):21-7.

Walzem RL, Hansen RJ, Williams DL, Hamilton RL. Estrogen induction of VLDLy assembly in egg-laying hens. J Nutr. 1999 Feb;129(2S Suppl):467S-472S.

Wang DQ, Paigen B, Carey MC. Genetic factors at the enterocyte level account for variations in intestinal cholesterol absorption efficiency among inbred strains of mice. J Lipid Res. 2001 Nov;42(11):1820-30.

Wang D, Zaitsev S, Taylor G, d'Azzo A, Bonten E. Protective protein/cathepsin A rescues N-glycosylation defects in neuraminidase-1. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2009 Apr;1790(4):275-82.

Wang P, Zhang J, Bian H, Wu P, Kuvelkar R, Kung TT, Crawley Y, Egan RW, Billah MM. Induction of lysosomal and plasma membrane-bound sialidases in human T-cells via T-cell receptor. Biochem J. 2004 Jun 1;380(Pt 2):425-33.

Wang X, Briggs MR, Hua X, Yokoyama C, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Nuclear protein that binds sterol regulatory element of low density lipoprotein receptor promoter. II. Purification and characterization. J Biol Chem. 1993 Jul 5;268(19):14497-504.

Weisgraber KH, Mahley RW, Kowal RC, Herz J, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Apolipoprotein C-I modulates the interaction of apolipoprotein E with beta-migrating very low density lipoproteins (beta-VLDL) and inhibits binding of beta-VLDL to low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. J Biol Chem. 1990 Dec 25;265(36):22453-9.

Wernette-Hammond ME, Lauer SJ, Corsini A, Walker D, Taylor JM, Rall SC Jr (1989) Glycosylation of human apolipoprotein E: the carbohydrate attachment site is threonine 194. J Biol Chem 264:9094–9101.

Wetterau JR, Aggerbeck LP, Bouma ME, Eisenberg C, Munck A, Hermier M, Schmitz J, Gay G, Rader DJ, Gregg RE. Absence of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in individuals with abetalipoproteinemia. Science. 1992 Nov 6;258(5084):999-1001.

Wetterau JR, Gregg RE, Harrity TW, Arbeeny C, Cap M, Connolly F, Chu CH, George RJ, Gordon DA, Jamil H, Jolibois KG, Kunselman LK, Lan SJ, Maccagnan TJ, Ricci B, Yan M, Young D, Chen Y, Fryszman OM, Logan JV, Musial CL, Poss MA, Robl JA, Simpkins LM, Slusarchyk WA, Sulsky R, Taunk P, Magnin DR, Tino JA, Lawrence RM, Dickson JK Jr, Biller SA. An MTP inhibitor that normalizes atherogenic lipoprotein levels in WHHL rabbits. Science. 1998 Oct 23;282(5389):751-4.

Wetterau JR, Zilversmit DB. A triglyceride and cholesteryl ester transfer protein associated with liver microsomes. J Biol Chem. 1984 Sep 10;259(17):10863-6.

Wetterau JR, Zilversmit DB. Localization of intracellular triacylglycerol and cholesteryl ester transfer activity in rat tissues. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1986 Feb 28;875(3):610-7.

Wetterau JR, Zilversmit DB. Purification and characterization of microsomal triglyceride and cholesteryl ester transfer protein from bovine liver microsomes. Chem Phys Lipids. 1985 Aug 30;38(1-2):205-22.

Whitman SC, Ravisankar P, Daugherty A. IFN-gamma deficiency exerts genderspecific effects on atherogenesis in apolipoprotein E-/- mice. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2002 Jun;22(6):661-70.

Willner EL, Tow B, Buhman KK, Wilson M, Sanan DA, Rudel LL, Farese RV Jr. Deficiency of acyl CoA:cholesterol acyltransferase 2 prevents atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Feb 4;100(3):1262-7.

Willnow TE, Sheng Z, Ishibashi S, Herz J. Inhibition of hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake by gene transfer of a receptor antagonist. Science. 1994 Jun 3;264(5164):1471-4.

Womack JE, Yan DL, Potier M. Gene for neuraminidase activity on mouse chromosome 17 near h-2: pleiotropic effects on multiple hydrolases. Science. 1981 Apr 3;212(4490):63-5.

Wu X, Steigelman KA, Bonten E, Hu H, He W, Ren T, Zuo J, d'Azzo A. Vacuolization and alterations of lysosomal membrane proteins in cochlear marginal cells contribute to hearing loss in neuraminidase 1-deficient mice. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010 Feb;1802(2):259-68.

Xu QB, Oberhuber G, Gruschwitz M, Wick G. Immunology of atherosclerosis: cellular composition and major histocompatibility complex class II antigen expression in aortic intima, fatty streaks, and atherosclerotic plaques in young and aged human specimens. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1990 Sep;56(3):344-59.

Xu XH, Shah PK, Faure E, Equils O, Thomas L, Fishbein MC, Luthringer D, Xu XP, Rajavashisth TB, Yano J, Kaul S, Arditi M. Toll-like receptor-4 is expressed by macrophages in murine and human lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques and upregulated by oxidized LDL. Circulation. 2001 Dec 18;104(25):3103-8.

Xu Z, Weiss A. Negative regulation of CD45 by differential homodimerization of the alternatively spliced isoforms. Nat Immunol. 2002 Aug;3(8):764-71.

Yamaguchi K, Hata K, Koseki K, Shiozaki K, Akita H, Wada T, Moriya S, Miyagi T. Evidence for mitochondrial localization of a novel human sialidase (NEU4). Biochem J. 2005 Aug 15;390(Pt 1):85-93.

Yamamoto N, Homma S. Vitamin D3 binding protein (group-specific component) is a precursor for the macrophage-activating signal factor from lysophosphatidylcholine-treated lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991 Oct 1;88(19):8539-43.

Yamamoto Y, Nishimura K. Copurification and separation of beta-galactosidase and sialidase from porcine testis. Int J Biochem. 1987;19(5):435-42.

Ye Y, Shibata Y, Kikkert M, van Voorden S, Wiertz E, Rapoport TA. Recruitment of the p97 ATPase and ubiquitin ligases to the site of retrotranslocation at the

endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Oct 4;102(40):14132-8.

Yogalingam G, Bonten EJ, van de Vlekkert D, Hu H, Moshiach S, Connell SA, d'Azzo A. Neuraminidase 1 is a negative regulator of lysosomal exocytosis. Dev Cell. 2008 Jul;15(1):74-86.

Yokoyama C, Wang X, Briggs MR, Admon A, Wu J, Hua X, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. SREBP-1, a basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper protein that controls transcription of the low density lipoprotein receptor gene. Cell. 1993 Oct 8;75(1):187-97.

Young ID, Young EP, Mossman J, Fielder AR, Moore JR. Neuraminidase deficiency: case report and review of the phenotype. J Med Genet. 1987 May;24(5):283-90. Zahlten RN, Rogoff TM, Steer CJ. Isolated Kupffer cells, endothelial cells and hepatocytes as investigative tools for liver research. Fed Proc. 1981 Aug;40(10):2460-8.

Zanni EE, Kouvatsi A, Hadzopoulou-Cladaras M, Krieger M, Zannis VI (1989) Expression of ApoE gene in Chinese hamster cells with a reversible defect in *O*-glycosylation. Glycosylation is not required for apoE secretion. J Biol Chem 264:9137–9140.

Zanoteli E, van de Vlekkert D, Bonten EJ, Hu H, Mann L, Gomero EM, Harris AJ, Ghersi G, d'Azzo A. Muscle degeneration in neuraminidase 1-deficient mice results from infiltration of the muscle fibers by expanded connective tissue. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010 Jul-Aug;1802(7-8):659-72.

Zelcer N, Hong C, Boyadjian R, Tontonoz P. LXR regulates cholesterol uptake through Idol-dependent ubiquitination of the LDL receptor. Science. 2009 Jul 3;325(5936):100-4.

Zelcer N, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors as integrators of metabolic and inflammatory signaling. J Clin Invest. 2006 Mar;116(3):607-14.

Zelenski NG, Rawson RB, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Membrane topology of S2P, a protein required for intramembranous cleavage of sterol regulatory element-binding proteins. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jul 30;274(31):21973-80.

Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Burkey B, Maeda N. Diet-induced atherosclerosis in mice heterozygous and homozygous for apolipoprotein E gene disruption. J Clin Invest. 1994 Sep;94(3):937-45.

Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. Science. 1992 Oct 16;258(5081):468-71.

Zhang W, Yancey PG, Su YR, Babaev VR, Zhang Y, Fazio S, Linton MF. Inactivation of macrophage scavenger receptor class B type I promotes atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2003 Nov 4;108(18):2258-63.

Zhao D, Letterman J, Schreiber BM. beta-Migrating very low density lipoprotein (beta VLDL) activates smooth muscle cell mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase via G protein-coupled receptor-mediated transactivation of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor: effect of MAP kinase activation on beta VLDL plus EGF-induced cell proliferation. J Biol Chem. 2001 Aug 17;276(33):30579-88.

Zhong X, Shen Y, Ballar P, Apostolou A, Agami R, Fang S. AAA ATPase p97/valosin-containing protein interacts with gp78, a ubiquitin ligase for endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. J Biol Chem. 2004 Oct 29;279(44):45676-84.

Zhou J, Lhoták S, Hilditch BA, Austin RC. Activation of the unfolded protein response occurs at all stages of atherosclerotic lesion development in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation. 2005 Apr 12;111(14):1814-21.

Zhou X, Hansson GK. Detection of B cells and proinflammatory cytokines in atherosclerotic plaques of hypercholesterolaemic apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Scand J Immunol. 1999 Jul;50(1):25-30.

Zhou X, Nicoletti A, Elhage R, Hansson GK. Transfer of CD4(+) T cells aggravates atherosclerosis in immunodeficient apolipoprotein E knockout mice. Circulation. 2000 Dec 12;102(24):2919-22.

Zhou X, Paulsson G, Stemme S, Hansson GK. Hypercholesterolemia is associated with a T helper (Th) 1/Th2 switch of the autoimmune response in atherosclerotic apo E-knockout mice. J Clin Invest. 1998 Apr 15;101(8):1717-25.

Zhou X, Stemme S, Hansson GK. Evidence for a local immune response in atherosclerosis. CD4+ T cells infiltrate lesions of apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice. Am J Pathol. 1996 Aug;149(2):359-66.

Zhou XY, Morreau H, Rottier R, Davis D, Bonten E, Gillemans N, Wenger D, Grosveld FG, Doherty P, Suzuki K, Grosveld GC, d'Azzo A. Mouse model for the lysosomal disorder galactosialidosis and correction of the phenotype with overexpressing erythroid precursor cells. Genes Dev. 1995 Nov 1;9(21):2623-34.

Zilversmit DB, Hughes LB. Validation of a dual-isotope plasma ratio method for measurement of cholesterol absorption in rats. J Lipid Res. 1974 Sep;15(5):465-73.